
Agenda compiled by:
Governance Services
Civic Hall

Gerard Watson
395 2194

Produced on Recycled Paper
1

EXECUTIVE BOARD

Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on
Wednesday, 16th December, 2015 at 1.00 pm

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors

J Blake (Chair)
D Coupar
M Dobson
R Lewis
J Lewis
L Mulherin
M Rafique
L Yeadon

A Carter S Golton

Public Document Pack



2

CONFIDENTIAL AND EXEMPT ITEMS

The reason for confidentiality or exemption is stated on the agenda and on each of the reports in 
terms of Access to Information Procedure Rules 9.2 or 10.4(1) to (7). The number or numbers 
stated in the agenda and reports correspond to the reasons for exemption / confidentiality below:

9.0 Confidential information – requirement to exclude public access
9.1 The public must be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that confidential 
information would be disclosed. Likewise, public access to reports, background papers, 
and minutes will also be excluded.

9.2 Confidential information means
(a) information given to the Council by a Government Department on terms which 

forbid its public disclosure or 
(b) information the disclosure of which to the public is prohibited by or under another 

Act or by Court Order. Generally personal information which identifies an 
individual, must not be disclosed under the data protection and human rights 
rules. 

10.0 Exempt information – discretion to exclude public access
10. 1 The public may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the nature of 

the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt information 
would be disclosed provided:
(a) the meeting resolves so to exclude the public, and that resolution identifies the 

proceedings or part of the proceedings to which it applies, and
(b) that resolution states by reference to the descriptions in Schedule 12A to the 

Local Government Act 1972 (paragraph 10.4 below) the description of the 
exempt information giving rise to the exclusion of the public.

(c) that resolution states, by reference to reasons given in a relevant report or 
otherwise, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

10.2 In these circumstances, public access to reports, background papers and minutes will 
also be excluded. 

10.3 Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights or obligations, or adversely 
affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 establishes a 
presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private hearing is necessary 
for one of the reasons specified in Article 6.

10. 4 Exempt information means information falling within the following categories (subject to 
any condition):
1 Information relating to any individual
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information).
4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or officer-
holders under the authority.

5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings.

6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 

requirements are imposed on a person; or
(b)  to make an order or direction under any enactment

7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime

 



3

A G E N D A

Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

1  

 

APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION 
OF DOCUMENTS

To consider any appeals in accordance with 
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules (in the event of an Appeal the 
press and public will be excluded)

(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written 
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head 
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before 
the meeting)

2  

 

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE 
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

1 To highlight reports or appendices which officers 
have identified as containing exempt information 
within the meaning of Section 100I of the Local 
Government Act 1972, and where officers 
consider that the public interest in maintaining 
the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information, for the reasons 
outlined in the report.

2 To consider whether or not to accept the officers 
recommendation in respect of the above 
information.

3 If the recommendation is accepted, to formally 
pass the following resolution:-

RESOLVED –  That, in accordance with 
Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the 
public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of those parts of the agenda 
designated as exempt  on the grounds that it is 
likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that 
if members of the press and public were present 
there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information.



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

4

3  

 

LATE ITEMS

To identify items which have been admitted to the 
agenda by the Chair for consideration

(The special circumstances shall be specified in 
the minutes)

4  

 

DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS

To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable 
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31 
of the Localism Act 2011 and paragraphs 13-16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct.

5  

 

MINUTES

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the 
previous meeting held on 18th November 2015.

1 - 18

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS

6  

 

OUT OF THE SHADOWS - TIME TO SHINE 
PROJECT

To consider the joint report of the Director Adult 
Social Services and the Director of Public Health 
providing an update on the ‘Time to Shine’ project 
and which details the progress made in the 
development and delivery of its project plan.   The 
report also describes the outcome following the 
commissioning of a number of activities including 
the local evaluation and highlights the impact that 
the project has had on raising the profile of 
loneliness and social isolation across the city.

19 - 
38



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

5

7  

K

TELECARE EQUIPMENT FOR THE LEEDS 
TELECARE SERVICE 2015/16

To consider the report of the Director of Adult 
Social Services which seeks authority to incur 
capital expenditure of the final £1,000,000 on 
telecare equipment for the Leeds Tele Care 
Service from December 2015 in accordance with 
financial procedure rules.

39 - 
48

8  

K

Chapel 
Allerton; Hyde 
Park and 
Woodhouse

DELIVERING THE BETTER LIVES STRATEGY 
ADULT SOCIAL CARE - BME DAY SERVICES

To consider the report of the Director of Adult 
Social Services which provides an update on 
progress made following approval of the 
`Delivering the Better Lives Strategy in Leeds - 
Proposed Next Steps` by Executive Board on 19th 
November 2014. The report provides details of the 
proposed consultation with service users, carers, 
unions, staff, partner organisations and Elected 
Members and how their views will be taken 
forward. In addition, the report also outlines the 
proposed next steps for improving the range of 
services offered to older people from BME 
communities. 

49 - 
74

ECONOMY AND CULTURE

9  

 

INITIAL BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2016/2017

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive seeking approval of the submitted report 
as the Council’s initial budget proposals for 
2016/2017, and also for the proposals to be 
submitted to Scrutiny and used as a basis for wider 
consultation with stakeholders.

75 - 
128



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

6

10 

 

EUROPEAN CAPITAL OF CULTURE 2023 - 
PROGRESS REPORT

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development providing an update on the work 
undertaken towards preparing a Leeds Bid for 
European Capital of Culture 2023. Specifically, the 
report updates Members on the progress made 
over the past eight months with establishing 
governance structures, and the human and 
financial resources for making a bid. It also reflects 
on the results of building a bank of knowledge 
about the process of bidding through access to 
research and also via new links with other 
European cities.

129 - 
144

EMPLOYMENT, ENTERPRISE AND 
OPPORTUNITY

11 

 

STATE OF THE CITY 2015: DRIVING SKILLS 
FOR THE MANUFACTURING SECTOR

To consider the joint report of the Director of City 
Development and the Director of Children’s 
Services which provides details on the outcomes 
arising from the recent State of the City event, with 
reference made in particular to the actions being 
taken to address the issue of skills shortages 
within the city’s manufacturing sector.

145 - 
154

RESOURCES AND STRATEGY

12 

 

FINANCIAL HEALTH MONITORING 2015/16 - 
MONTH 7

To consider the report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive on the Council’s projected financial 
health after seven months of the 2015/16 financial 
year.

155 - 
186



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

7

13 

 

SAFEGUARDING IN TAXI & PRIVATE HIRE 
LICENSING - 12 MONTH REVIEW OF 
PROGRESS

To consider the joint report of the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Citizens and Communities), the Director 
of Children’s Services and the Director of Adult 
Social Services setting out developments to further 
improve safeguarding arrangements in Taxi and 
Private Hire Licensing following the report 
submitted to Executive Board in December 2014. 
The report also recommends the approval of a new 
policy in respect of the ‘fit and proper’ person 
assessment for applicants born outside of the EU.  

187 - 
216

COMMUNITIES

14 

 

EMERGING 2016/17 BEST COUNCIL PLAN 
PRIORITIES, TACKLING POVERTY AND 
DEPRIVATION

To consider the joint report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive and the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Citizens and Communities) which presents the 
emerging 2016/17 Best Council Plan priorities for 
the Board’s early consideration. Such priorities will 
provide the framework for the Council’s response 
to the inequality challenges detailed within the 
report, which are illustrated via the summary of the 
latest analysis on poverty and deprivation.  

217 - 
226



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

8

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND 
COMMUNITY SAFETY

15 

K

UPDATE ON CUTTING CARBON AND 
IMPROVING AIR QUALITY BREAKTHROUGH 
PROJECT

To consider the report of the Director of 
Environment and Housing outlining the significant 
progress that the Council has made in respect of 
the ‘Cutting Carbon and Improving Air Quality’ 
Breakthrough Project and providing some insight 
into the progress made across the city as a whole. 
In addition, the report outlines future priorities and 
highlights the challenges faced. Furthermore, the 
report details the proposed energy policy, its 
associated benefits and the targets contained 
within it, whilst also providing background to the 
Covenant of Mayors and the associated 
Sustainable Energy Action Plan (SEAP). 

227 - 
254

REGENERATION, TRANSPORT AND 
PLANNING

16 

K

City and 
Hunslet; 
Garforth and 
Swillington; 
Harewood; 
Rothwell; 
Temple 
Newsam

RESPONSE TO SIR DAVID HIGGINS' DECISION 
ABOUT THE HS2 STATION LOCATION

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development which provides an update on the 
work on HS2 in the Leeds City Region. This follows 
the approval of the Council’s response to the HS2 
Phase 2 proposed line of route formal consultation 
in December 2013, and its approval to work with 
Government to consider the best way of 
accommodating future rail in the city in December 
2014. This report also sets out the main principles 
for the continued development of the Council’s 
policy in relation to Leeds station, and considers 
how the Council can realise the regeneration and 
economic growth benefits of enhanced 
connectivity.

255 - 
298



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

9

17 

K

LEEDS PARKING SUPPLEMENTARY 
PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD) - ADOPTION

To consider the report of the Director of City 
Development on the Leeds Parking Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) and the outcome of the 
public consultation process, feedback and 
subsequent changes made to the Leeds Parking 
SPD. The report also seeks approval to adopt the 
re-drafted Leeds Parking SPD. 

299 - 
374

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

18 

K

CHILDREN'S SERVICES TRANSPORT POLICY: 
CONSULTATION ON TRANSPORT 
ASSISTANCE FOR  POST-16 STUDENTS WITH  
SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND/OR 
DISABILITIES (SEND)

To consider the joint report of the Director of 
Children’s Services and the Deputy Chief 
Executive providing an update on proposals for the 
future provisions of transport assistance available 
to post-16 students with SEND. In addition, the 
report seeks permission for a new consultation to 
take place, in order to assess the likely impact on 
young people and families of the proposals. 
Furthermore, the report seeks permission for the 
findings of the proposed consultation to be used, if 
appropriate, in the preparation of a new post-16 
SEND transport offer, for approval at a future 
Executive Board. 

375 - 
398



Item
No
K=Key 
Decision

Ward Item Not
Open

Page
No

10

19 

K

Pudsey OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION TO INCREASE 
PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES IN 
PUDSEY/SWINNOW

To consider the joint report of the Director of 
Children’s Services; the Deputy Chief Executive 
and the Director of City Development detailing the 
proposals brought forward to meet the local 
authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school 
places. Specifically, this report describes the 
outcome of a statutory notice regarding proposals 
to expand primary school provision at Park Spring 
and seeks a final decision on these proposals.  

399 - 
408

Third Party Recording 

Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings 
either as they take place (or later) and to enable the reporting of those proceedings.  A copy of the 
recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this agenda.

Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice

a) Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the 
recording was made, the context of the discussion that took place, and a clear identification 
of the main speakers and their role or title.

b) Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to 
misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the proceedings or comments made by 
attendees.  In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts; 
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those 
points must be complete.



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

EXECUTIVE BOARD

WEDNESDAY, 18TH NOVEMBER, 2015

PRESENT: Councillor J Blake in the Chair

Councillors A Carter, D Coupar, M Dobson, 
S Golton, J Lewis, R Lewis, L Mulherin, 
M Rafique and L Yeadon

76 Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public 
RESOLVED – That, in accordance with Regulation 4 of The Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following parts of the agenda designated as exempt on 
the grounds that it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to be 
transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public 
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information so 
designated as follows:-

(a) Appendix 1 to the report entitled, ‘South Bank Regeneration’, referred 
to in Minute No. 81 is designated as exempt from publication in 
accordance with paragraph 10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that the information contained 
within the submitted appendix relates to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information). It is considered that the public interest in maintaining the 
content of appendix 1 as exempt outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information.

(b) Appendix 4 to the report entitled, ‘Design and Cost Report for the 
Acquisition of Tribeca House, Deacon House and Unit 2 Killingbeck 
Court for Council Accommodation’, referred to in Minute No. 87 is 
designated as exempt from publication in accordance with paragraph 
10.4(3) of Schedule 12A(3) of the Local Government Act 1972 on the 
grounds that the information within the appendix relates to the financial 
or business affairs of a particular of a particular person and the 
Council. 

This information is not publicly available from the statutory registers of 
information kept in respect of certain companies and charities. It is 
considered that since this information relates to a financial offer that the 
Council has submitted to purchase the property in a one to one 
negotiation it is not in the public interest to disclose this information at 
this point in time. Also it is considered that the release of such 
information would or would be likely to prejudice the Council’s 
commercial interests in relation to other similar transactions in that 
prospective purchasers of other similar properties would have access 
to information about the nature and level of consideration which may 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

prove acceptable to the Council. It is considered that whilst there may 
be a public interest in disclosure, much of this information will be 
publicly available from the Land Registry following completion of this 
transaction and consequently the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing this information at 
this point in time. 

77 Late Items 
There were no late items as such, however, prior to the meeting, Board 
Members were provided with correspondence for their consideration which 
had been received from interested parties in respect of agenda item 7 entitled, 
‘South Bank Regeneration’ (Minute No. 81 refers).

78 Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
There were no Disclosable Pecuniary Interests declared at the meeting, 
however:

 In relation to the agenda item entitled, ‘Capital Programme Quarter 2 
Update 2015-19’, Councillor Yeadon drew the Board’s attention to her 
position on the Leeds Grand Theatre and Opera House Board of 
Management (Minute No. 82 refers); and

 In relation to the agenda item entitled, ‘Learning Disability Day Service 
Modernisation’, Councillor Golton drew the Board’s attention to his 
position as Board Member of Aspire Community Benefit Society 
Limited (Minute No. 90 refers).

79 Minutes 
RESOLVED - That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 21st October 
2015 be approved as a correct record.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND COMMUNITY SAFETY

80 Recycling Strategy Review 
Further to Minute No. 144, 14th December 2011, the Director of Environment 
and Housing submitted a report providing an update on the Council’s 
recycling strategy and which sought approval to revise the Council’s 
household waste recycling targets in the light of current financial pressures 
and market related factors, and to bring them in line with current EU and 
national targets. In addition, the report also set out a strategy for ensuring a 
continued improvement in recycling performance through maximising existing 
services and infrastructure and also by increasing resident participation.

Members discussed the Council’s current policy by which approximately 80% 
of households received the alternate weekly recycling collection service and 
the criteria used to identify which areas received this service. The Board also 
considered how the proposed revisions to the recycling targets compared to 
the performance of other Core Cities, together with the EU and national 
target. 

Discussion was also had on the innovative approaches currently being taken 
to improve recycling rates, and what further initiatives could be potentially 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

developed, especially in those areas which currently did not receive alternate 
weekly collections, and it was requested that a further report on such matters 
be submitted to a future Executive Board. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the contents of the submitted report and the current context in 

relation to recycling performance, be noted; 

(b) That a revised target to recycle 50% of household waste by 2020 be 
approved, with the longer-term target to exceed 60% remaining 
unchanged;

(c) That the medium-term strategy, as outlined in section 3.2 of the 
submitted report be approved, which will focus upon maximising 
existing capacity and infrastructure, and be supported by an effective 
programme of communications, engagement, enforcement and service 
improvement, but with the acknowledgement that there will be a 
requirement for residents to participate fully if the revised target is to be 
achieved;  

(d) That approval be given to the expansion of recycling collections 
provision on an ‘opt in’ basis (in accordance with the Ash Road, 
Headingley pilot as outlined in 3.2.21 of the submitted report) in areas 
of the city where there is persistently poor recycling participation; 

(e) That approval be given to the removal of excess bins from the kerbside 
where households have more than the number for which they are 
eligible, as set out within the policy agreed by Executive Board in 
January 2014;

(f) That a further report be submitted to a future Executive Board which 
provides information on the innovative approaches and bespoke 
solutions which have been and could potentially be undertaken across 
the city, with the aim of further improving recycling rates in Leeds.

(Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 16.5, Councillor S Golton 
required it to be recorded that he abstained from voting on the matters 
referred to within this minute)  

ECONOMY AND CULTURE

81 South Bank Regeneration 
Further to Minute No. 19, 15th July 2015, the Director of City Development 
submitted a report which sought the Council’s support for a major inward 
investment opportunity for the city. Specifically, this was to support Burberry’s 
initial proposals to relocate their UK manufacturing operations to Leeds South 
Bank. In addition, the report also set out the policy principles by which the 
Council would work with Burberry in order to secure the restoration and long 
term sustainable use of Temple Works as part of further plans for future 
phases of development.

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

Prior to the meeting, Board Members had been provided with correspondence 
which had been received from interested parties regarding the submitted 
report. In considering this, Members were notified of a specific proposal within 
the correspondence which related to the suggested expansion of the Holbeck 
Urban Village Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).   

The Board welcomed the investment into the South Bank by Burberry and 
highlighted the significance of the company’s proposals, both in economic 
terms and with regard to the regeneration opportunities it presented. 

With regard to consultation, it was highlighted that all relevant parties would 
be consulted as part of the proposed development of a Planning Guidance 
document in respect of the Temple Works area. 

Responding to specific enquiries, assurances were provided that appropriate 
housing provision in the South Bank area still remained a priority, whilst the 
Board was also informed of the actions being taken to work with Burberry and 
Leeds City Region (LCR) partners in order to support those businesses and 
organisations within the LCR affected by the proposals.  

In conclusion, it was requested that the Board continue to be updated on the 
development of the matters arising within the submitted report. 

Following consideration of Appendix 1 to the submitted report, designated as 
exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4 (3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the meeting, it was

RESOLVED – That the following be agreed:-

(a) The Council’s support for Burberry’s proposals to relocate a significant 
part of its UK manufacturing operations to Leeds South Bank, as 
detailed within the submitted report;

(b) The Council’s support for Burberry’s initial proposals to restore Temple 
Works and land neighbouring Temple Works as part of future phases of 
development;

(c) The policy principles, as set out in section 5 of the submitted report, 
and the commercial terms, as detailed within exempt appendix 1, as a 
basis by which the Council will seek to help to secure the delivery of 
this inward investment opportunity, and produce legal documents for 
agreement with Burberry;

(d) That the Director of City Development, in accordance with resolutions 
a), b) and c) above:

a. produces and negotiates legal agreements with Burberry for 
the disposal of Council assets at Bath Road, Sweet Street 

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

and Leodis Court, and where necessary develops a vacant 
possession strategy for these assets.

b. produces and negotiates a grant agreement with Burberry 
setting out the terms by which the Council will provide a 
restoration grant to help to restore Temple Works. 

c. produces and negotiates a grant agreement to a cap of 
£750,000 for the provision of  new public open space at the 
front of Temple Works and allocates £560,000 of moneys 
held in the Holbeck Urban Village Public Realm fund for this 
provision. 

d. commences close working with city region partners on how 
to mitigate any potential adverse implications, and develops 
proposals to maximise the economic and employment 
benefits across the city region. 

e. submits a report to Executive Board by June 2016 providing 
an update on progress and seeking approval to enter into 
legal agreements once negotiated and finalised, and, if 
required, approval to make a Compulsory Purchase Order  to 
ensure that the land assembly required to deliver Burberry’s 
scheme can be fulfilled. 

(e) That the Chief Planning Officer prepares a bespoke and updated 
Planning Guidance document for Temple Works and surrounding sites 
to guide the development proposals in this area and for this to be 
submitted to Executive Board by March 2016 as a basis for public 
consultation.  

(f) That the Council’s land at Bath Road, Leodis Court and Sweet Street 
be appropriated for the purposes of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990, as to facilitate Burberry’s proposals and the proper planning of 
the area. 

82 Capital Programme Quarter 2 Update 2015-19 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report providing an update on the 
Council’s Capital Programme position as at period 6, the end of September 
2015. The report included appendices on the Capital Programme funding 
statement at period 6, an Annual Programmes statement, a Major 
Programmes and other schemes statement, together with the latest Capital 
Receipts Incentive Scheme injection. In addition, the report also included an 
analysis of the impact any changes in capital resources may have on the cost 
of borrowing within the revenue budget as a key control of capital investment, 
and sought some specific approvals in relation to funding injections.

Responding to a specific enquiry, it was confirmed that the capital expenditure 
proposals detailed within the Future for Social and Emotional Mental Health 
(SEMH) Education Provision report, which was found elsewhere on the 

Page 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

Board’s agenda, were not included within the submitted report. However, if 
such proposals were approved by the Board, it was noted that such matters 
would be included within a future report. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the latest position, as at period 6 on the General Fund and HRA 

capital programmes, be noted;

(b) That the net increase in the General Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) Capital Programme 2015-2019 of £63.1m since 
Quarter 1 be noted, and that it also be noted that the majority of these 
injections £40.15m relate to the inclusion of annual programmes in 
2018-19, as shown in Appendix B to the submitted report; 

(c) That it be noted that the borrowing required to fund the Capital 
Programme in 2015-16 has reduced by a further £3.3m since the 
Quarter 1 update. That it also be noted that the Capital Programme 
remains affordable within the approved debt budget for 2015-16, and 
that further work is underway through regular capital programme 
reviews to ensure that future debt costs are maintained within the 
overall Medium Term Financial strategy;

(d) That the following injections into the capital programme be approved:-
(i) £40.15m, to reflect the roll forward of annual programmes into 

2018-19, as set out in Appendix B to the submitted report;
(ii) £1.5m for works to adopt 32 highways not included within the 

Little London Beeston Hill and Holbeck PFI scheme;
(iii) £500.0k for bridges structures to address priority works within 

the 2016-17 programme;
(iv) £221.0k for a contribution towards proposed disabled access 

works to the Grand Theatre in 2015-16;
(v) £207.2k in relation to Capital Receipts to be utilised by Ward 

Councillors under the Capital Receipts Incentive Scheme 
(CRIS), as detailed at Appendix D to the submitted report.

(e) That it be noted that the above resolutions to inject funding will be 
implemented by the Chief Officer (Financial Services).  

RESOURCES AND STRATEGY

83 Open Data: Realising the Potential of an untapped resource 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report which provided information on 
the drivers for publishing Council, non-personally sensitive data and 
recommended a particular strategic and policy approach which would facilitate 
the publication of such data. In addition, the report also provided an update on 
the progress and achievements made in this area to date.

Members welcomed the submitted report and highlighted the cutting edge 
work that was being undertaken in this field across the city’s public and 
private sectors. The Board noted the high profile recognition which Leeds had 

Page 6



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

received as a result of such work and highlighted the need for the significant 
progress made in this area to continue and be built upon. 

Responding to an enquiry, the Board was provided with an update on the 
work of the Open Data Academy.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That approval be given to the Council adopting an ‘open by default’ 

approach towards proactively publishing all of its non-personal 
datasets;

(b) That the ‘Leeds: The Data City’ manifesto, as detailed at Appendix 1 to 
the submitted report, be endorsed as the direction of travel for the 
Council and one which will be promoted across the city;

(c) That approval be given to the setting of targets for all services to 
publish open data on Leeds Data Mill;

(d) That support be given to the Council working across all sectors in order 
to get them to open their data for the benefit of the city as a whole.

84 Financial Health Monitoring 2015/16 - Month 6 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report on the Council’s projected 
financial health after six months of the 2015/16 financial year.

With regard to Children’s Services and the issue of external placements, it 
was requested that further discussions be held with Group Leaders on this 
matter, in order to enable greater cross-party working. 

Furthermore, the Board received an update on the current position regarding 
the in-year reduction in the 2015/16 Public Health grant funding.

RESOLVED – That the projected financial position of the Authority for 
2015/16, be noted.

85 Treasury Management Strategy Update 2015/16 
The Deputy Chief Executive submitted a report presenting a review and 
update of the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for the period 
2015/16.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the update on the Council’s Treasury Management borrowing and 

investment strategy for 2015/16, be noted; 

(b) That the changes to investment criteria methodology, as outlined in 
paragraph 3.4 of the submitted report, be noted. 

Page 7



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

REGENERATION, TRANSPORT AND PLANNING

86 Regeneration Progress in East Leeds 
The Director of City Development submitted a report which provided an 
overview of the Council’s positive and proactive enabling activity to progress 
regeneration in the urban areas of East Leeds, which focussed upon the role 
of new housing developments in providing the investment required to deliver 
sustainable neighbourhood improvements. In addition, the report also set out 
the principles and primary proposals within the Neighbourhood Framework for 
Killingbeck and Seacroft and sought approval of this document. Furthermore, 
the report also invited the Board to note the intention to accept a Local Growth 
Fund loan from the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, to be injected into the 
Capital Programme in order to support the Brownfield Land Programme.

In considering this report, emphasis was placed upon the importance of the 
neighbourhood planning process being equally accessible to all communities, 
regardless of size and location. 

In welcoming the contents of the submitted report, a Member highlighted the 
need for such matters to now be progressed as swiftly as possible.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the progress made in bringing forward new housing development 

in East Leeds, be noted;

(b) That it be noted that the Council has secured a Local Growth Fund 
loan to support the development of brownfield sites in East Leeds and 
also that the Deputy Chief Executive can approve that the Council 
enters into the loan agreement under existing delegations;

(c) That the preparation of the Killingbeck and Seacroft Neighbourhood 
Framework be noted;

(d) That the development principles and approach included within the 
framework, as summarised within paragraphs 3.23 - 3.40 of the 
submitted report, be agreed;

(e) That approval be given for the Director of City Development to make 
future changes to the Framework in order to ensure consistency with 
the Site Allocations Plan upon its adoption.

87 Design and Cost Report for the Acquisition of Tribeca House, Deacon 
House and Unit 2 Killingbeck Court for Council Accommodation 
The Director of City Development submitted a report presenting the updated 
position on work to generate revenue savings from the Council’s asset 
portfolio, through the Asset Review Programme which formed part of the 
Council’s Asset Management Plan 2014-17. In addition, the report also sought 
approval to the acquisition of three properties to achieve revenue savings and 

Page 8



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

also to support the delivery of three key corporate programmes: Asset 
Review, Integrated Health & Social Care and Community Hubs.

Following the consideration of Appendix 4 to the submitted report, designated 
as exempt from publication under the provisions of Access to Information 
Procedure Rule 10.4 (3), which was considered in private at the conclusion of 
the meeting it was

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the contents of the submitted report, specifically the progress 

made to deliver revenue savings through asset rationalisation, be 
noted;

(b) That the acquisition of Tribeca House, on the terms identified in exempt 
Appendix 4 to the submitted report, be approved;

(c) That the acquisition of the long lease interest in Deacon House, on the 
terms identified in exempt Appendix 4 to the submitted report, be 
approved, which will provide the Council with the unencumbered 
freehold interest in the site;

(d) That the acquisition of Unit 2, Killingbeck Court, on the terms identified 
in exempt Appendix 4 to the submitted report, be approved;

(e) That the necessary authority be delegated to the Director of City 
Development to agree the final detailed terms for the acquisitions;

(f) That the injection into the Capital Programme of the sums (as identified 
in exempt Appendix 4 to the submitted report), be approved and that 
authority also be given to spend the monies as required;

(g) That the ring fencing of the capital receipt from the sale of the Seacroft 
Library site be approved in order to contribute towards the acquisition 
cost of Deacon House; 

(h) That it be noted that the Head of Asset Management is responsible for 
the implementation of the Asset Review Programme and the proposed 
acquisitions.

HEALTH, WELLBEING AND ADULTS

88 White Paper Response - Cycling Facility Development in Leeds 
The Director of City Development submitted a report presenting the response 
to a White Paper Motion considered by Council on 8th July 2015 and which 
provided details on the progress made in respect of the development of 
cycling facilities in Leeds and the aim of encouraging more people to take up 
cycling, with reference to how the Council was working collaboratively with its 
partners in order to ensure that the successes of world class sporting events 
which had been held in the city continued to be built upon.

Page 9



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

Responding to a Member’s enquiries, the Board was advised of the criteria 
used to identify the 3 locations for the city’s cycling hubs and also received an 
update on the factors which would need to be taken into consideration in 
respect of any proposals to develop an outdoor velodrome in the future.  
Furthermore, responding to a specific question regarding the route of the 
north-south cycle superhighway, officers undertook to provide the Member in 
question with details of the route, together with a further briefing, if required.    

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the contents of the submitted report be noted;

(b) That a report regarding the ‘Cycling Starts Here’ strategy be submitted 
to a future meeting of Executive Board.

89 Developing the range of choices in the older people's housing market: 
Older People's Housing Prospectus 
Further to Minute No. 173, 18th March 2015, the Director of City Development 
and the Director of Adult Social Services submitted a joint report providing an 
approach towards older people’s housing, which included a prospectus to be 
published and which encouraged a new supply of specialist accommodation.

A Member emphasised the need to ensure that the Council was robust in 
ensuring that the development of any sites declared surplus to requirements 
were utilised for older people’s specialist accommodation. In response, 
Members were assured that any offers which were received for those sites 
detailed within the submitted report would be referred to Executive Board for 
determination. 

The Board received further specific details regarding the Windlesford Green 
site and also, responding to an enquiry, Members noted the actions which 
would be taken to ensure that any proposals which were progressed would be 
consistent with the local community’s requirements. 

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the content of the Older People’s Housing Prospectus, as 

attached at Appendices 1 and 2 to the submitted report be approved, 
and that following the graphic design process, the formal publication of 
the document in Autumn 2015 be supported;

(b) That the sites listed at section 3.12 of the submitted report be declared 
surplus to Council requirements and that the identified sites be 
approved for the purposes of marketing for disposal, with a preference 
that such sites be developed for the purposes of older people’s 
specialist accommodation; 

(c) That the necessary authority be delegated to the Director of City 
Development to identify further sites to support the delivery of older 
people’s specialist accommodation provision;

Page 10



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

(d) That it be noted that any offers received for the sites listed at section 
3.12 of the submitted report will be referred to Executive Board for 
consideration.

90 Learning Disability Day Service Modernisation 
The Director of Adult Social Services submitted a report providing an update 
on the outcomes and achievements to date of the Learning Disability Day 
Service Modernisation Project and presenting information on how the final 
phase of the programme would be delivered. The report also sought authority 
to incur expenditure of £870.0k for the refurbishment of Potternewton Fulfilling 
Lives Centre, to be funded from within the current Capital Programme

Responding to an enquiry, the Board received further information on the 
process by which a property would be placed into void management, and if 
appropriate, how a property would then be put forward for disposal. Officers 
then undertook to provide the Member in question with a further briefing on 
such matters, if required.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the achievements to date of the Learning Disability Day Service 

Modernisation Project be noted, which to date had positively 
transformed day opportunities for over 560 adults with learning 
disabilities in the city;

(b) That the plan to complete the Learning Disability Day Service 
Modernisation Project in the East North East of the city, which is in 
accordance with the Better Lives Strategy, be noted.  It also be noted 
that the plan will create three new bases at Wetherby, Cross Gates and 
Richmond Hill in addition to the refurbishment of Potternewton Fulfilling 
Lives Centre.  In turn this will allow both Wetherby and Ramshead 
Wood day centre sites to be released by Adult Social Care and put into 
void management.

(c) That as part of this plan, the proposal to refurbish the existing 
Potternewton Fulfilling Lives Centre be agreed and that authority be 
given to spend a total of £870.0k for this development, which has been 
identified and transferred from existing resources within the current 
Capital Programme.

(d) That it be noted that it is intended for the scheme, as described in 
section 3.5 of the submitted report, will be started and completed 
between February and September 2016 and that the lead officer 
responsible for the implementation of such matters is the Director of 
Adult Social Services.

91 Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2014/15 and Business Plan 
2015/16 
Further to Minute No. 60, 17th September 2014, the Director of Adult Social 
Services submitted a report introducing the eighth and last annual report of 
the previous Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board, prior to its re-constitution as a 

Page 11



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

statutory board under the Care Act 2014. In addition, the report provided an 
update on the work, going forward, of the new statutory Leeds Safeguarding 
Adults Board.

The Board welcomed Richard Jones, Independent Chair of the Leeds 
Safeguarding Adults Board, who was in attendance in order to introduce 
himself and set out his initial priorities for the role.

In terms of Executive Board receiving further, interim updates on the work of 
the Safeguarding Board, it was highlighted that further consideration would be 
given to this matter in order to ensure that this was done in the most effective 
way.

Responding to an enquiry, officers undertook to provide all Executive 
Members with the Local Government Association led Peer Review of 
Safeguarding Adults in Leeds.

In addition, Members also received assurances on the comprehensive and 
co-ordinated work which was ongoing to safeguard those vulnerable 
individuals travelling via private hire taxi vehicles, with reference being made 
to the ongoing involvement of the Safeguarding Boards in such initiatives.

It was also noted that an update report regarding the issue of safeguarding in 
taxi and private hire licensing was scheduled to be submitted to the next 
meeting of the Board. 

In conclusion, it was noted that regular update meetings would be scheduled 
between the Safeguarding Board Chair and the Chief Executive, and it was 
also noted that meetings would be arranged between the Chair and individual 
Group Leaders. 

RESOLVED – That the contents of the submitted report, together with the 
appended 2014/15 annual report be noted and that the work programme of 
the Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board for 2015/16 be endorsed.

CHILDREN AND FAMILIES

92 Leeds Safeguarding Children Board (LCSB) Annual Report (2014/15) 
Evaluating the Effectiveness of Safeguarding Arrangements in Leeds 
Further to Minute No. 61, 17th September 2014, the Independent Chair of
the Leeds Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) submitted a report which 
introduced and presented the key issues from the LSCB Annual Report 
(2014/15).

The Board welcomed Mark Peel, Independent Chair of the Leeds 
Safeguarding Children Board, who was in attendance in order to introduce 
himself and set out his initial priorities for the role.

In terms of Executive Board receiving further, interim updates on the work of 
the Safeguarding Board, it was highlighted that further consideration would be 

Page 12



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

given to this matter in order to ensure that this was done in the most effective 
way.

In addition, Members also received assurances on the comprehensive and 
co-ordinated work which was ongoing to safeguard those vulnerable 
individuals travelling via private hire taxi vehicles, with reference being made 
to the ongoing involvement of the Safeguarding Boards in such initiatives.

It was also noted that an update report regarding the issue of safeguarding in 
taxi and private hire licensing was scheduled to be submitted to the next 
meeting of the Board. 

In conclusion, it was noted that regular update meetings would be scheduled 
between the Safeguarding Board Chair and the Chief Executive, and it was 
also noted that meetings would be arranged between the Chair and individual 
Group Leaders. 

RESOLVED – That the key issues from the LSCB Annual Report for 2014/15 
be noted, specifically:

- The evaluation of the effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements in 
Leeds;

- The challenges identified for strategic bodies in 2015/16; and
- The implications for the work of Leeds City Council.

93 The Future for Social and Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) Education 
Provision in Leeds 
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report which sought 
permission to undertake consultation on the proposal to further develop social 
and emotional mental health (SEMH) education provision in Leeds. In 
addition, the report proposed to take steps to move the governance (cease to 
provide) of some existing providers to become part of an outstanding local 
Academy, which would enable the establishment of additional SEMH 
provision on sites in the east and in the south of the city as part of the 
conversion process with an outstanding preferred sponsor.

A request was made that the matters detailed within the submitted report were 
progressed as swiftly as possible, that liaison with the Department for 
Education continued to take place throughout this process and that the Board 
continued to be kept up to date as appropriate.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the intention to convert the existing Behavioural, Emotional  and 

Social Difficulties (BESD) Specialist Inclusive Learning Centre (SILC) 
into a 4 – 19 SEMH sponsored academy across one primary phase 
and three secondary phase sites, be noted;

(b) That approval and permission be granted to consult upon changing 
(ceasing to provide) provision at North East SILC Oakwood site in 
order to become part of the new academy, from 31 August 2016; 

Page 13



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

(c) That approval be given to establishing a new site in east Leeds for 
Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) as part of the converted BESD 
SILC academy from 2017;

(d) That approval be given to establishing a new site in south Leeds for 
Social Emotional Mental Health (SEMH) as part of the converted BESD 
SILC academy from 2017;

(e) That approval be given to proceed with the design development for the 
first two SEMH projects, with an acceptance of the associated design 
fees incurred;

(f) That the capital expenditure required to create a world class provision 
within the city be approved in principle and subject to further reports 
being submitted to Executive Board, and that the savings, both in the 
revenue costs and social capital costs, of not having to provide for 
children with SEMH outside of the authority be acknowledged;

(g) That it be noted that the officer responsible for the implementation of 
such matters is the Head of Learning Systems, and that the scheme 
will be implemented by September 2017.

94 Outcome of School Admission arrangements 2015 
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report providing statistical 
information on the annual admissions round for entry to Reception and year 7 
for September 2015. In addition, the report considered the potential effect of 
the latest government consultation on changes to the admissions code, and 
also potential for changes within the Leeds City Council admissions policy.

In receiving the submitted report, the Chair acknowledged the extraordinary 
work being undertaken to continue to address the challenges being faced by 
the Council in this area.

RESOLVED – That the following be noted:-
- The numbers of applications for both phases of education; that the 

percentage of successful first preferences for secondary admissions was 
83% and for Reception admissions was 85%;

- The percentage of parents receiving one of their top three preferences 
was 95% for secondary and 93% for primary;

- The percentage of parents getting none of their preferences and made an 
alternative offer instead was 4.5% in secondary (3.2% last year) and 5.5% 
in primary (5% last year);

- The expected contents of the government consultation on changes to the 
admissions code for 2016;

- That the officer responsible for such matters is the Admissions and Family 
Information Service Lead.

Page 14



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

95 Outcome of consultation to increase primary school places and 
establish Special Educational Needs provision at Carr Manor 
Community School 
The Director of Children’s Services submitted a report presenting details of 
proposals submitted to meet the local authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of 
both school and Specialist Educational Needs (SEN) places. Specifically, this 
report described the outcome of the consultation regarding proposals to 
expand primary school provision and establish SEN provision at Carr Manor 
Community School and which also sought permission to publish a statutory 
notice in respect of these proposals.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That approval be given for the publication of a Statutory Notice to 

expand primary provision at Carr Manor Community School from a 
capacity of 210 pupils to 420 pupils, with an increase in the admission 
number from 30 to 60 with effect from September 2017, and also to 
establish provision for pupils with Complex Communication Difficulties 
including children who may have a diagnosis of ASC (Autistic 
Spectrum Condition) for approximately 12 pupils (6 primary, 6 
secondary) with effect from September 2017;

(b) That it be noted that the responsible officers for the implementation of 
such matters are the Capacity Planning and Sufficiency Lead and the 
Head of Complex Needs.

96 Outcome of consultation to increase primary school places in 
Pudsey/Swinnow 
Further to Minute No. 41, 23rd September 2015, the Director of Children’s Services, 
the Deputy Chief Executive and the Director of City Development submitted a joint 
report presenting details of proposals submitted to meet the local authority’s duty to 
ensure sufficiency of school places. Specifically, this report described the outcome of 
consultation regarding proposals to expand primary school provision at Greenside and 
which sought permission to publish a statutory notice in respect of these proposals.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the publication of a Statutory Notice to expand Greenside Primary 

School from a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils with an increase in 
the admission number from 45 to 60 with effect from September 2017, 
be approved;

(b) That it be noted that the responsible officer for the implementation of 
such matters is the Capacity Planning and Sufficiency Lead.

COMMUNITIES

97 Sheltered Housing Investment Strategy 
The Director of Environment and Housing submitted a report providing an 
update on the Council’s investment strategy into older people’s housing 
provision across the city, and which sought authorisation to commence a 
further phase of work in this area.

Page 15



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

As part of the introduction to the report, the Board was asked to take into 
consideration the fact that introductory paragraph 5 of the submitted report 
should read £12.5m, and not £1.25m, as currently presented.

Responding to an enquiry, the Board received further information on the 
actions being taken to ensure that a co-ordinated approach was being taken 
to ensure the effective provision of sheltered housing across the city. In 
addition, where improvements to properties were proposed, Members 
emphasised the importance of prior consultation with those affected. Further 
to this, it was highlighted that a more resident focussed approach was now 
taken in terms of policies associated with sheltered housing.  

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the contents of the submitted report be noted, subject to the 

correction outlined above; 

(b) That approval be given to commence a further phase of work, as 
identified under the ‘Investment’ section at paragraph 3.7 of the 
submitted report.

98 Community Centre Review Update 
Further to Minute No. 106, 19th November 2014, the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Citizens and Communities) submitted a report providing an update on the 
review of ten Community Centres as previously reported to the Board. 
Specifically, the report provides information on the consultation undertaken, 
the actions that have been progressed on all ten Community Centres under 
review and details a specific proposal to move ahead with the closure of two 
centres, one being Gildersome Youth Club and the other being Kippax Youth 
Centre.

RESOLVED – 
(a) That the Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities) be 

requested to undertake the following actions:-
(i) effects the closure of Gildersome Youth Club, Street Lane, 

Gildersome and declares the property surplus to Council’s 
requirement;

(ii) effects the closure of Kippax Youth Centre, known as the Kippax 
Cabin, Cross Hills, Kippax and declares the property surplus to 
Council’s requirement ;

(iii) arranges the relocation of current users of Gildersome Youth Club 
and Kippax Youth Centre to appropriate local venues, and;

(iv) carries out the actions specified in the submitted report relating to 
the future running of the following community centres:
 Bramley Community Centre, Waterloo Lane, Bramley
 Fieldhead Youth and Adult Centre, Naburn Approach, 

Whinmoor
 Lewisham Park Centre, Clough Street, Morley
 Old Cockburn Sports Hall, Primrose Lane, Hunslet

Page 16



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 16th December, 2015

 Meanwood Community Centre, Stainbeck Avenue, 
Meanwood

 St Gabriel's Community Centre, Fall Lane, East Ardsley
 Weston Lane Community Centre, Weston Ridge, Otley
 Windmill Youth Centre, Marsh Street, Rothwell

(b) That approval be given to the ring fencing of the required portion of the 
capital receipt from the sale of the Gildersome Youth Centre site to 
make improvements to Gildersome Meeting Hall, and that it be noted 
that the Director of City Development is responsible for the 
implementation of this resolution.

DATE OF PUBLICATION: FRIDAY, 20TH NOVEMBER 2015

LAST DATE FOR CALL IN
OF ELIGIBLE DECISIONS: 5.00PM, FRIDAY, 27TH NOVEMBER 2015

(Scrutiny Support will notify Directors of any items called in by 12.00noon on 
Monday, 30th November 2015)

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of The Director of Adult Social Services and
The Director of Public Health

Report to Executive Board

Date: 16th December 2015

Subject: Out of the Shadows:  TIME TO SHINE PROJECT

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

On 08 September 2014, following a competitive application and interview process, the city of 
Leeds was awarded a grant of £6 million from the Big Lottery Fund.  Leeds was one of the 15 
successful areas to be awarded funding, selected from an original 100. This significant allocation 
will provide funding for a wide range of innovative and targeted interventions to be spent over six 
years on services to tackle issues of loneliness and isolation amongst older people in the city.  

The pioneering bid was developed in the initial stages by Leeds City Council (LCC) and latterly by 
the Leeds Older People’s Forum (LOPF) in consultation with hundreds of older people, carers and 
community organisations across the city.  LCC and LOPF have a strong history of collaborative 
working, with LOPF having an excellent reputation within the city as being the voice of older people 
and the Third Sector representative group.   

The ‘Time to Shine Project’ aims to reach at least 15,000 older people in Leeds who are currently 
living under the shadow of loneliness and social isolation.  The project will bring these people ‘out 
of the shadows’, providing them with meaningful opportunities for social contacts, which offer them 
pleasure and purpose in life. The project will harness the power of the city’s voluntary sector in 
delivering even more localised and personalised support than has previously been achieved; 
breaking down barriers and building stronger communities. 

Working with a wide range of partner organisations including LCC, Voluntary and Business Sectors 
the project will build on the excellent work already being done across Leeds and focus on the more 
vulnerable, hard to reach people.  The project will:

 Put older people at the heart of managing and designing the work 
 Provide Loneliness Training - a programme of awareness sessions and comprehensive 

values based training 

Report authors:  Lucy Jackson and Mick 
Ward

Tel: 07712 214794/ 07891 274893

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



 Develop inter-generational links
 Improve connections with older people from street level upwards
 Provide support and friendships at home through befriending, arts, food and hobbies aimed 

at carers, people with dementia and frail elders
 Increase number of volunteers in local communities
 Engage older people as researchers to complete a local evaluation of the project, using 

data to inform service development and sharing learning with commissioners to influence 
system change.

To date 15 delivery partners have been commissioned to deliver innovative, targeted activities over 
the next two years.  A full list of these projects is at appendix A.

The Time to Shine Project has been instrumental in raising the profile of social isolation within local 
communities and across the city.  As a result a number of events, activities and projects have been 
initiated ensuring that the issue remains a priority and enabling more socially isolated people to be 
reached and to benefit from the work happening across Leeds.  

This work reports to the Ageing Well Board and the Breakthrough Project on ‘Making Leeds the 
Best City to grow Od In.’ It contributes to the achievement of the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy’s (JHWS) aim for Leeds to be a healthy and caring city for all ages, where people who are 
the poorest will improve their health the fastest.  The work will contribute to the delivery of two of 
the outcomes; (a) that people in Leeds will live full and active independent lives and (b) that people 
will live in healthy and sustainable communities.  

This report is intended to provide an update on the progress made in the development and delivery 
of the project.  It describes the outcome following the commissioning of a number of activities 
including the local evaluation and the wider impact that the project has had on raising the profile of 
social isolation across the city. 

Recommendations

Members of the Executive Board are recommended to:

 Welcome the progress made in the development and delivery of the ‘Time to Shine’ project.

 Recognise the positive impact that the work on tackling loneliness and social isolation will 
have and the contribution it will make towards the breakthrough project ‘Making Leeds the 
Best City to Grow Old In’.

 Commend the excellent work of Leeds Older People’s Forum in leading the project.

 Receive an annual report updating members on the progress of the project.

 Note the lead officers responsible for ensuring updates are brought are the Consultant in 
Public Health (Older People) and the Head of Commissioning, Adult Social Care.

1    Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to brief Executive Board members on the ‘Time to Shine’ 
project and the progress made in the development and delivery of its project plan.   It 
describes the outcome following the commissioning of a number of activities including the 
local evaluation and the impact that the project has had on raising the profile of loneliness 
and social isolation across the city.

Page 20



2 Background information

2.1 There are 246,000 older people living in Leeds, of whom around 14,500 are aged over 
85.  It is estimated that around 15%, or 37,000 older people can be described as lonely or 
socially isolated, due to factors including fear, living alone, retirement, personal and 
financial circumstances, the digital divide, public attitudes and ill-equipped outdoor and 
indoor public spaces.

2.2 LCC is working to address these issues through the ‘Making Leeds the Best City to Grow 
Old In’ breakthrough project, the Ageing Well Board and a broad range of intervention 
services and ways of working; notably the Neighbourhood Networks, asset-based 
community development and targeted work in areas such as libraries, museums and 
sport.  Leeds is also a member of the UK and the World Health Organisation Global 
Network of Age Friendly cities.

2.3 In early 2013 the Big Lottery Fund introduced its ‘Fulfilling Lives:  Ageing Better’ 
programme, aimed at reducing social isolation and loneliness amongst older people 
(defined as 50+).  A bid from Leeds, led by the Local Authority, was one of 32 selected 
from 100 initial applications, to go through to the second round of the programme.  A 
condition of submitting a stage two bid was that it should be led by a voluntary sector 
organisation and the LOPF, as both the ‘local voice of older people’ and the third sector 
older people’s network,  was identified as the lead organisation.

2.4 The Big Lottery’s Ageing Better programme is one of its strategic investments. The 
programme takes two approaches: outcomes based and using a ‘test and learn’ 
approach. Each Ageing Better project must test out methods for identifying and 
supporting socially isolated older people, contributing to a national and local evidence 
base. 

2.5 Older people must be at the heart of the work: meaningfully involved in the design, 
commissioning, delivery and evaluation of the project. 

2.6 Twelve core partners, including LCC, provided leadership in preparing the round two bid, 
with a significant amount of practical, ‘in kind’ assistance being provided to produce the 
submission in time for the deadline.

2.7 The second stage application was submitted on the 30 April 2014 and Leeds heard that 
its bid, for approximately £1 million per year over six years was successful on 08 
September 2014.  

2.8 The work reports to the Ageing Well Board which is jointly chaired by Public Health and 
Adult Social Care and will be a key deliverer of Leeds’ ambition to be the best city to grow 
old in.  It also complements the Council’s ‘Better Lives’ vision and the growing need for 
preventative strategies that divert people from a need for medical or social care support.  
It will support the work of the Health and Social Care Transformation Programme, 
particularly the work on self management.

2.9 As part of developing the bid to Big Lottery the Council’s Public Health Intelligence team 
produced a model for analysing the number of older people who were potentially social 
isolated or lonely within each ward and Community Committee area. This work was 
developed further by colleagues in Adult Social Care to aid future locality based work and 
was tested by the University of Leeds. 

2.10 In addition a number of the Community Committees have chosen social isolation as one 
of their priorities which has now been taken forward by both the Health and Adult Social 

Page 21



Care champions.  The commitment and support of Elected Members has resulted in a 
number of activities being developed and delivered in partnership with local communities 
to address social isolation within their localities.

The Time to Shine Project

2.11 On 08 September 2014 the city of Leeds was awarded a grant from the Big Lottery Fund 
of £6 million to be spent over six years on measures to tackle issues of loneliness and 
isolation amongst older people in the city.  

2.12 The aim of the ‘Time to Shine’ project is defined as ensuring that lonely, isolated people 
have meaningful opportunities for social contacts which offer them pleasure and purpose 
in life.

2.13 To focus the project, work was undertaken to identify gaps in current service provision 
and identify those at greatest risk of social isolation and loneliness.  A mixed method was 
employed, including reviews of local literature, asset mapping by ward and data analysis.  
As a result, older people identified as ‘most at risk’ are those:

 Living lives mainly restricted to their homes, through disability, dementia, physical or 
mental ill-health and caring;

 Coping with the social and emotional void after loss of a partner, friend or role and 
struggling to emerge from those shadows;

 With specific cultural needs relating to ethnicity, faith or sexuality; or
 In poverty.

2.14 The Leeds approach is to build on the existing infrastructure e.g. LOPF, older people’s 
voluntary sector organisations, key initiatives such as social prescribing; to go deeper and 
wider into communities and reach more socially isolated older people. 

2.15 A ‘test and learn’ approach is being taken with learning being fed into the project on an 
ongoing basis to inform the delivery.  In addition, findings will be shared with delivery 
partners and commissioners to influence policy, practice and provision.

Vision

2.16 The vision of the project is that ‘Older people in Leeds need not experience loneliness 
and isolation as an inevitable consequence of ageing’ and that the project will offer 
opportunities for fulfilment by breaking down barriers and building strong communities.  

2.17 The project’s vision is to deliver measures to overcome loneliness and isolation in a 
target cohort of 15,000 Leeds older people who are living under the shadow of loneliness.

Approach

2.18 The project aims to provide personalised activities, acting at individual, neighbourhood 
and city-wide levels to build circles of support.  It will develop preventive social networks 
as well as supporting lonely people out of isolation.  

2.19 This will be delivered through five main areas of work:

 Catalysts – working to change society’s attitudes using intergenerational and cross 
sector approaches. This will include Loneliness Training - a programme of 
awareness sessions and comprehensive values based training for anyone who has 
contact with older people. 

Page 22



 Connections - Better connections with older people from street level upwards will 
be crucial within local neighbourhoods and across services, businesses and 
communities, creating wider and stronger networks. 

 Capacity will be built by nurturing small community groups and strengthening 
volunteer bases.  This will offer opportunities for younger older people and promote 
inter-generational approaches, building social capital and the infrastructure for 
future developments

 Creating Support - Work to develop support and friendships at home and help for 
people to get out will be put under way, offering weekend and evening activities. 
Social opportunities will be developed in the home environment including care 
homes, such as befriending, arts, food, hobbies aimed at carers, people with 
dementia and frail elders. 

 Co-production - Older people will co-produce, manage and design activities and 
engage in their development, evaluation and the dissemination of learning.

3 Main Issues

3.1 Over the last year LOPF, together with key partners have made significant progress in 
developing and delivering the structures and processes within which the Time to Shine 
project will operate.

Partnership Board

3.2 The Partnership Board is chaired by the Chair of LOPF and is responsible for the 
strategic oversight of the project. 

3.3 The membership of the Board was developed through an engagement event where 
expressions of interest were sort from interested partners. These were evaluated by a 
panel comprising of individual older people rather than representatives of organisations.

3.4 There are 12 Core Partners on the Board and this is a real strength of the project.  LCC 
has two seats on the Board (representatives from Adult Social Care and Public Health).  
The Board is governed by a Partnership Agreement which came into operation on 1st 
April 2015.  

3.5 The Partnership Board has three main sub groups which have oversight for evaluation, 
selecting delivery partners and risk management.  LCC representatives provide advice 
and input into these sub-groups. 

3.6 A separate providers group has also been established following the first complete round 
of selecting the delivery partners.

3.7 Older people have been placed at the heart of the decision making; the Time to Shine 
Partnership Board must at all times consist of at least 75% of older people and 50% of 
the Time to Shine Providers Group must also be older people.

Project Plan

3.8 The project plan was submitted to Big Lottery Fund on the 22 December 2014.  The plan 
was assessed whilst further preparatory work took place during January to April. The 
project officially started on 1 April 2015. 

Page 23



3.9 The detailed plan covers issues of governance and the objectives, roles and 
responsibilities of LOPF and the delivery partners.  It provides details of where funding 
will be targeted and the approaches that will be used.  It defines project outcomes and 
change indicators and, importantly, provides an explanation of how older people will lead 
the project and be involved at all levels.  The project plan addresses issues such as 
financial planning and financial appraisal, monitoring and evaluation, equalities, risk 
analysis and the overall exit strategy and sustainability of the project. 

Recruitment of programme management and support team

3.10 LOPF has grown as an organisation to meet the challenge of overseeing this major 
programme and has recruited to a number of posts to form a project team responsible for 
delivering the project plan including the following:

 Programme Manager: Responsibility for the delivery of the plan, including 
governance. Contract management and support of delivery partners. 

 Evaluation and Monitoring Officer: the interface between delivery partners and the 
local and national evaluation. Supporting delivery partners to develop their 
monitoring systems. Reporting on project progress on outcomes

 Administration Officer: project administration support, data entry of monitoring 
information and communications. 

Commissioning of Delivery Partners

3.11 The first round of commissioning for delivery partners was between January and May 
2015.  The commissioning process for each activity included a workshop, application form 
and interviews for shortlisted applicants.

3.12 £1,082,900 has been committed through this first round of commissioning to deliver 
projects over the next two years. 

3.13 15 delivery partners have been commissioned and are starting to work with older people 
and recruit volunteers. Appendix A outlines the range of organisations and activities 
commissioned to date.

3.14 Gaps have been identified in the coverage of projects in terms of geographical areas and 
target groups and these will be focussed on in the next round of commissioning.

3.15 Two citywide projects are still to be commissioned:

 Providing support to isolated older people identified through health and social care 
e.g. social prescribing, Hospital to Home, Memory Support Workers. 

 Action research into the needs of socially isolated learning disabled older people. 
Identifying where people are and developing social support. 

Local and National Evaluation

3.16 The local evaluation has been commissioned from a partnership between the University 
of Sheffield and two Leeds based universities, Leeds Beckett and Leeds Trinity.

3.17 The Centre for International Research on Care, Labour and Equalities (CIRCLE) will lead 
the partnership to provide rigorous, academic, independent and objective evaluation but 

Page 24



at the same time work closely with LOPF to ensure the evaluation meets the needs of the 
Forum, the core partnership, Big Lottery and complements the work of the national 
evaluators ECORYS.

3.18 Involving older people in the evaluation and as ‘peer researchers’ forms a key element to 
the evaluation approach. Training and support will be provided through the Academy of 
Community Research (ACR)1. The ACR is a national programme of support to assist 
‘communities’ gain a greater understanding of research through learning. 

3.19 Delivery partners will be required, as part of their contractual requirements, to provide 
data on the users of the services which will be utilised for both national and local 
evaluation purposes. Training and support will be provided at the beginning of each 
delivery cycle to delivery partners.  The workshops will be jointly developed and delivered 
by the Monitoring and Evaluation Officer at LOPF and the research team.

3.20 The evaluation will consist of:

 Focus groups and semi-structured interviews with a sample of older people who will 
be tracked at three points in the project.  This will provide an in-depth qualitative 
understanding of the impact that the participants’ involvement in Time to Shine has 
had in terms of:  the key anticipated project outcomes (for example decreasing 
unwanted social isolation, increased confidence, increased participation); 
unintended/unanticipated outcomes;  what has worked well, what has not worked so 
well; any specific groups that have particularly benefited, or any specific locations; 
particular processes that have been successful or unsuccessful.

 Case studies will be collected involving focus groups with service users, semi-
structured interviews with delivery partners and key stakeholders and documentary 
analysis.  The case studies will capture:

o A comparative study of different types of 'connections': social prescribing; seniors 
network; and street links, in three areas of the city to understand the strengths, 
limitations and costs of the different approaches and how they relate to the social 
and topographical context within which they work.

o Innovative Service Interventions  (relating to food, exercise and IT)  to examine 
the nature of the people engaged, how successful each are in reaching target 
groups, for example, men or housebound older people, and why.  

The local evaluation will involve older people as peer researchers. 

3.21  ECORYS have been commissioned by the Big Lottery Fund to deliver the national 
evaluation.  The evaluation will consist of:

  Area impact study

  Case studies

  A Common Measurement Framework that involves participants answering a 
questionnaire at the beginning and end of the intervention. 

1 http://care-connect.leeds.ac.uk/academy-of-community-research

Page 25

http://care-connect.leeds.ac.uk/academy-of-community-research


Testing of a Social Isolation Index

3.22 Two social isolation indexes have been developed; the first for the initial Time to Shine 
bid and the second to further target local work.  These have been tested by the University 
of Leeds.  

3.23 The research recommended that the second index was not used by Leeds City Council to 
target areas. They concluded that if a social isolation index is to be developed further 
factors should be included e.g. gender, the ‘younger old’, and those with complex needs, 
such as substance misusers or prison leavers.  Overall, this research suggests that 
attempting to predict social isolation at the individual level alone may be problematic, 
though some factors, such as disability, seem to be highly relevant.  Following the 
recommendations made by the University of Leeds further work is now being undertaken 
to add place based indicators into the index.  

3.24 Nationally this piece of work is being recognised by other local authority areas focussing 
on social isolation.  Locally the findings have been shared at the Healthy Leeds 
Unloneliness Conference on 17 July 2015.  Furthermore the results are being 
disseminated to the Community Committees to support local action and the ‘Time to 
Shine’ Partnership Group.  

Raising the profile of social isolation across the city

3.25 The ‘Time to Shine’ Project has been instrumental in raising the profile of social isolation 
across the city.  As a result a number of events, activities and projects have been initiated 
ensuring that the issue remains a priority and enabling more socially isolated people to be 
reached and benefit from the work happening across the city.   

 Historypin – Additional funding has been secured by Historypin from Big Lottery 
Fund to increase the provision of accessible and sustainable social activities for 
older people at risk of social isolation by unlocking greater capacity within cultural 
organisations to deliver community heritage activities that involve and benefit older 
people.  Leeds will be one of three areas across the country that will be working to 
pilot the project.  Delivery is expected to start in January 2016.

 The Unloneliness Conference - On 17 July, partners from across health and social 
care met for the city’s first Unloneliness Conference. A number of influential 
speakers shared their insight on the diverse and multi-faceted impact of social 
isolation on Leeds.  This event aimed to encourage more people in the city to take 
an assets-based approach to working with communities to help reduce social 
isolation.  Participants were invited to map the assets in their communities and 
develop outcomes-based solutions to local loneliness.

 Age Friendly Smart Cities programme - an innovation lab has been held focussed on 
how technology can help to spot and report signs of social isolation in our 
communities and neighbourhoods.  The event was attended by technologists, 
members of the Neighbourhood Networks and LCC staff.  Three ideas are now being 
worked into a pilot project, one of which will be taken forward to be tested in the 
community.

 Yorkshire Evening Post (YEP) Campaign to End Loneliness: The Hidden Epidemic – 
through their award winning work the YEP has campaigned for loneliness to be 
recognised as a health priority and to encourage their readers to volunteer for 
support services.  They have highlighted many of the services delivered within the 
city to address social isolation including the Neighbourhood Networks.  

Page 26



Next steps

3.26 Commencement of front-line delivery from all delivery partners.

3.27 The sub-group responsible for Selecting Delivery Partners is working to refine the 
commissioning process in preparation for the next round of commissioning activity.

3.28 Two further citywide projects are to be commissioned. 

3.29 Roll out of the Leeds Community Foundation small funds scheme.

3.30 Further refinement of the social isolation index taking account of the recommendations 
made by the University of Leeds research team.  Additional indicators will be added to the 
index with a view to strengthening the reliability of the tool.

3.31 Local and national monitoring systems will be developed and embedded. Training for 
delivery partners will be provided and the first 6 month progress report produced.  

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.6 In drawing up the bid, and developing the vision for ‘Time to Shine’, some 863 older 
people, carers, community workers and decision makers from across the city were 
consulted.  

4.1.7 The Core Partnership comprises 12 organisations with an interest in representing the 
needs of older people:  Age UK Leeds, Alzheimer’s Society, Care & Repair Leeds, Circle 
(University of Sheffield), Feel Good Factor, Growing Old Gracefully, Leeds Irish Health 
and Homes, Leeds Older People’s Forum (lead partner), Men who have sex with men: 
action in the community (MESMAC), Public Health (Leeds City Council), Tenfold (Leeds 
Learning Disability Forum), and West Yorkshire Playhouse.

4.1.8 The project plan includes a section on how older people will lead the project and be 
involved at all levels, which satisfied the assessors and final approval has been granted.

4.1.9 Involving older people in the evaluation and as ‘peer researchers’ forms a key element to 
the evaluation approach.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 Work has been undertaken to identify gaps in current service provision and identify those 
older people at greatest risk of social isolation and loneliness.  From this a number of 
groups have been identified and the project aims to focus on these including older men, 
lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender older people (LGBT), black and minority ethnic 
(BME) elders and learning disabled older people.  

4.2.2 Plans are in place for engaging beneficiaries at all levels and in particular in engaging 
with hard-to-reach groups and overcoming communication barriers.

4.2.3 An equality impact assessment has been completed on the project plan.

Page 27



4.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The approach set out in the ‘Time to Shine’ project reflects the Council’s vision to be both 
the best city in the UK, the best council in the UK and to be both age friendly and 
dementia friendly.

4.3.2 Its ethos reflects the objectives and outcomes within the Best Council Plan (objective 4: 
Delivering the better lives programme and the outcomes: to stay independent for as long as 
possible and to live safely and with dignity). It also recognises the requirements of the 2014 
Care Act.

4.3.3 In addition the project supports the delivery of the JHWS including the overarching aim: to 
improve the health of the poorest the fastest, Outcome 2:  People will live full and 
independent lives; and outcome 5:  people will live in healthy and sustainable 
communities.  

4.4 The project will contribute towards the delivery of the breakthrough project ‘Making Leeds 
the Best City to Grow Old In.’

4.4.4 There are links between health, social inequality and social isolation; many factors 
associated with social isolation are unequally distributed in society.  

4.5 Resources and value for money 

4.5.1 The ‘Time to Shine’ project has secured £6 million of funding into the city and with further 
funding also being secured to deliver additional projects to tackle social isolation. 

4.5.2 Work undertaken by Council officers to support the development and delivery of the 
project has taken place within existing Council budgets.

4.5.3 Whole-system savings can be anticipated in helping people maintain better physical and 
mental health with a reduced need for costly social care and medical interventions.

4.5.4 The evaluations will be used to inform future commissioning activity, including options for 
when this programme funding ends.

4.6 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.6.1 There are no legal implications for the Council 

4.7 Risk Management

4.7.1 An analysis of risk and a plan for managing risk is a part of the project plan and has been 
approved by the Big Lottery Fund.  

4.7.2 The Partnership Board has three main sub groups one of which has oversight for risk 
management.  

5 Conclusions

5.1 Loneliness and social isolation blight both individual lives and society through 
unhappiness and ill-health.  The project has consulted widely among Leeds’s older 
people and professionals and organisations who work with them.  It has identified those 
groups who are most at risk and the barriers lonely people face in building social 
contacts.  

Page 28



5.2 The ‘Time to Shine’ Project has made significant progress over the last year to develop 
and implement its project plan.  This has included the commissioning of 15 delivery 
partners to provide a number of innovative activities across the city to address social 
isolation within the community.  A total of £1 million has been committed through this first 
round of commissioning.

5.3 The ‘Time to Shine’ Project has been instrumental in raising the profile of social isolation 
across the city and a number of events, activities and projects have been initiated 
ensuring social isolation remains a priority for the city.

5.4 The positive engagement and initial successes, including winning the bid in the first 
instance, demonstrates the value of effective co-production with communities.

6 Recommendations

Members of the Executive Board are recommended to:

6.1 Welcome the progress made in the development and delivery of the ‘Time to Shine’ 
project.

6.2 Recognise the positive impact that the work on tackling loneliness and social isolation will 
have and the contribution it will make towards the breakthrough project ‘Making Leeds 
the Best City to Grow Old In’.

6.3 Commend the excellent work of Leeds Older People’s Forum in leading on the project.

6.4 Receive an annual report updating members on the progress of the project.

6.5 Note the lead officers responsible for ensuring updates are brought are the Consultant in 
Public Health (Older People) and the Head of Commissioning, Adult Social Care.

7.   Background documents2 

None

2 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 29



Activity Strand 
/Project Name

Area of Delivery Delivery 
Organisation

Project description

Age Friendly 
Leeds

City-wide / 
neighbourhoods

Leeds Older 
People’s 
Forum 

Working in partnership with Leeds City Council to deliver 
the Age Friendly agenda in Leeds in relation to social 
isolation and loneliness focusing on neighbourhoods.

Loneliness 
Training 

City-wide 
/neighbourhoods 

Leeds Older 
People’s 
Forum

Programme of awareness sessions and comprehensive 
training to a wide range of participants.

Seniors’ 
Networks

Tower blocks in 
Wykebeck Valley 
area of Gipton 

Action for 
Gipton 
Elderly 
(AGE)

Using an asset based community development (ABCD) 
approach more isolated older people in Gipton will 
develop the confidence, interest and networks to be more 
engaged in their communities in meaningful ways. 
Friendships will develop over shared interests. 

Community 
Connect

3 rural areas in 
North Leeds: tbd 

Rural Action 
Yorkshire 
(RAY)

Three village halls will become ‘Community Hubs’ capable 
of identifying and responding to the needs of their 
village’s older residents, who may be experiencing or at 
risk of social isolation and loneliness.  

Seniors 
Networks BME 
Cara Project

City-wide
(50% 
beneficiaries will 
be men)

Leeds Irish 
Health and 
Homes

Cara means friend in Irish. The Cara project will be about 
creation of and sustainment of friendship networks for 
older Irish people in Leeds. 

Seniors 
Networks BME 

Citywide. Working 
with the South 
Asian 
communities

Health for All 
with the 
Sangam 
Forum

Isolated south Asian elders will be less socially isolated 
through increased social contact provided by volunteers 
and peers who understand their cultural needs. 

Street Links North and East of 
the ward 

Richmond 
Hill Elderly 
Action 

‘Build a chain of connections between older people, street 
agents (neighbours), RHEA, statutory and voluntary 
agencies and the community culminating in an unbroken 
circle of support for our most vulnerable, lonely and 
socially isolated older people.

Culture and Arts 
activities

Delivered in 
localities, 
people’s own 
homes and in 
care homes. First 
target areas: 
Rothwell, Gipton 
and Morley

Yorkshire 
Dance in 
partnership 
with the 
LEAF 
Consortium 

Our consortium will co-produce an integrated 2-year 
programme giving socially isolated older people the 
opportunity to connect through cultural encounters, 
creative participation and engagement. Culture Buddies 
invites all older people across the city to come together to 
spark new friendships, experiment, re-imagine 
themselves, forge social adventures, have their say and 
take their place in their neighbourhoods and city.

Appendix A: Activities Commissioned in the first two years of the Time to Shine Project

Page 30



Activity Strand 
/Project Name

Area of Delivery Delivery 
Organisation

Project description

Digital Inclusion

Digital Angels

Target groups 
include BME and 
LD elders.

TBC The project will connect with older people within Leeds 
communities who are feeling isolated and alone. It will 
encourage new digital friendships, gently opening doors 
to new worlds on-line and off.

Walk with Me
Chapel Allerton, 
Chapeltown and 
Harehills. 

Feel Good 
Factor

An intergenerational project which will see volunteers 
(16+) being linked to older people to provide support and 
encouragement to get out of the house. 

Walk with 
Confidence 

City-wide Age UK 
Leeds

The project, Walking with Confidence, will identify older 
people who are socially isolated and restricted to their 
own homes, who would benefit from support to walk and 
get around outside of their home. 

Dinner Dates:

‘Raat Di Roti’ 
Project (or ‘The 

Evening Meal’ 
project).

People isolated 
within their home 
environment

Touchstone’ 
Sikh Elders

Reducing isolation among frail elderly Sikh and other 
Punjabi people who have little or no support.  It will bring 
together people of different generations and similar 
cultural backgrounds to share a nutritious meal.  It will 
foster a greater sense of community and promote healthy 
lives and social inclusion among participants.

More than a 
mealtime – time 
together!

Crossgates Cross gates 
and District 
Good 
Neighbours

The project has two strands:
1. Consideration of people confined to the home

Recruit and train young people to act as volunteer 
befrienders to housebound older people, with some kind 
of shared meal acting as the focus for the visits.

2. Focus on times outside of office hours

Strand 2 will aim to make it easier for single older people 
to eat out in company in our local area by reserving 
shared tables and providing a sociable volunteer to 
facilitate the gathering.

Dinner Dates Citywide Health for All 
with Happy 
Chinese 
Families

Isolated Chinese seniors will have increased sense of 
wellbeing and self-worth through experiencing substantial, 
ongoing friendship, support and social contact provided 
by younger volunteers who understand their language 
and cultural needs. 

Small Funds Citywide Leeds 
Community 
Foundation

A broad range of groups in Leeds will be able to access 
Small Funds in order to significantly increase their 
capacity to reach the most socially isolated older people 
in Leeds. Groups will to be able to pilot and develop 
ideas; learn from their own and others’ experiences and 
disseminate the learning.

Page 31



Activity Strand 
/Project Name

Area of Delivery Delivery 
Organisation

Project description

LGBT 
Community 
Development

Citywide Yorkshire 
MESMAC & 
Age UK 
Leeds

A programme of bespoke services for older LGBT people. 
A community development worker and steering group of 
at least ten LGBT older adults will work together to create 
new activities which will be fun and easy to access. The 
team will also work to strengthen the LGBT inclusivity of 
existing services, through training and partnership work, 
and delivering a truly “gay old time” to people across 
Leeds

Page 32



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Public Health Service area: Older People 

 
Lead person: Liz Messenger 
 

Contact number: 07712 214085 

 
1. Title: The ‘Time to Shine’ Project 
 
Is this a: 
      Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify Project/programme plan 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
There are 246,000 older people living in Leeds, of whom around 14,500 are aged 
over 85.  It is estimated that around 15%, or 37,000 older people can be described 
as lonely or socially isolated, due to factors including fear, living alone, retirement, 
personal and financial circumstances, the digital divide, public attitudes and ill-
equipped outdoor and indoor public spaces. 
 
In early 2013 the Big Lottery Fund introduced its ‘Fulfilling Lives:  Ageing Better’ 
programme, aimed at reducing social isolation and loneliness amongst older people 
(defined as 50+).  A bid from Leeds, led by the Local Authority, was one of 32 
selected from 100 initial applications, to go through to the second round of the 
programme.  A condition of submitting  a stage two bid was that it should be led by a 
voluntary sector organisation and the Leeds Older People’s Forum (LOPF), as both 
the ‘local voice of older people’ and the Third Sector Older People’s Network was 
identified as the lead organisation. 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  X 

Page 33



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

2

On 08 September 2014 the city of Leeds was awarded a grant from Big Lottery Fund 
of £6 million to be spent over six years on measures to tackle issues of loneliness 
and isolation amongst older people in the city.  The aim of the ‘Time to Shine’ project 
is defined as ensuring that lonely, isolated people have meaningful opportunities for 
social contacts which offer them pleasure and purpose in life. 
 
A project plan has been developed and has been submitted to the Big Lottery for 
assessment.  The Time to Shine Project officially started on 1 April 2015.  The 
project is led by LOPF in partnership with a variety of partners including Leeds City 
Council (LCC). 
 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

x  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 x 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

x  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

x  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 

Page 34



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

3

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The Time to Shine Project is targeting socially isolated older people - a group that is 
affected by inequalities and overall the project aims to address and improve these. 
 
To focus the project, work was undertaken as part of the bid to consider equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration.  This was done through the identification of gaps in 
current service provision and those at greatest risk of social isolation and loneliness.  A 
mixed method was employed, including reviews of local literature, asset mapping by 
ward and data analysis.  Results are outlined in the section below.  
 
Plans are in place for engaging beneficiaries at all levels for example through 
governance arrangements, evaluation plans, commissioning activity, and in particular, in 
engaging with hard-to-reach groups and overcoming communication barriers. 
 
Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
The project will be targeting those groups identified by the needs assessment as being at 
high risk of social isolation.  The groups of older people identified as ‘most at risk’ are 
those: 

 Living lives mainly restricted to their homes, through disability, dementia, physical 
or mental ill-health and caring; 

 Coping with the social and emotional void after loss of a partner, friend or role and 
struggling to emerge from those shadows; 

 With specific cultural needs relating to ethnicity, religion or belief or sexual 
orientation; or 

 In poverty. 
 
In particular the project aims to focus on those most likely to experience social isolation 
within these groups and includes the following specific target groups: 

 Older men 
 Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender older people (LGBT) 
 Black and minority ethnic (BME) elders 
 Older people with learning difficulties 

  
The project will bring those at risk of social isolation together with partner organisations 

Page 35



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

4

who have experience of working with these groups and are involved in delivery the 
project.   
 
Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
Delivery partners will be commissioned to provide a range of activities across the city, 
targeting older people at risk of isolation.  Gaps will be identified on an ongoing basis in 
the coverage of these projects in terms of geographical areas and target groups to 
ensure these are focussed on in the next round of commissioning. 
 
A comprehensive evaluation will be completed (locally and nationally) which will involve a 
focus on equality and diversity.  Older people will be involved in the local evaluation as 
peer researchers. A ‘test and learn’ approach is being taken with learning being fed into 
the project on an ongoing basis to inform the delivery.  In addition, findings will be shared 
with delivery partners and commissioners to influence policy, practice and provision. 
 
Older people are at the heart of the decision making within the Time to Shine Project; the  
Partnership Board must at all times consist of at least 75% of older people and 50% of 
the Time to Shine Providers Group must also be older people. 
 
The project will engage with the following numbers of beneficiaries from each of the 
specific target groups: 

 Older men - 2,000 
 LGBT older people – 250 
 BME elders – 600 
 Learning disabled older people - 100  

 
As further insight is obtained from those involved in the delivery of the project actions and 
activities will be adapted to ensure that positive/negative impacts are addressed.  
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

N/A 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

N/A 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

N/A 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Lucy Jackson 
 

Consultant in Public 
Health 

17/11/15 

Page 36



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

5

Date screening completed 16/11/15 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or 
a Significant Operational Decision.  
 
A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and 
Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent 
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 
Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening 
was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 19th November 15 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Director of Adult Social Services

Report to Executive Board

Date: 16th December 2015

Subject: Telecare Equipment for the Leeds Tele Care Service 2015/16 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

    

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?    

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?    

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. In April 2010 Executive Board agreed to release capital expenditure of £3,000,000 
for telecare equipment for Leeds Tele Care Service. The capital was to be released 
in issues of £1,000,000. The first £1,000,000 was released in April 2010. The 
second £1,000,000 was released in July 2012. By December 2015, this second 
capital release will have been spent.

2. The funds have been used to purchase telecare equipment to meet the demand 
resulting from an increase in requests for telecare from assessors.  This increase in 
requests is the outcome of increased awareness of the benefits of technology to 
support older and disabled people to live independently, and of the promotion of 
telecare to assessors across health and social care as a cost effective, non-
intrusive support, and the continued development of the range of types of telecare 
sensors available. In April 2010 there were 2,069 customers using telecare. In 
November 2015 there are 7,600 customers using telecare. 

3. The impact of telecare on the cost of more than 600 individual care packages was 
monitored during 2010/11. Assessors provided information on the service they 
would have expected to have provided without the availability of telecare. An 
average cost deferral (saving) of £2,330 was identified in relation to the 12 months 
following installation.

Report author: Katie Cunningham

Tel:  3783264

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



4. The Director of Adult Social Services is seeking Executive Board authority to spend 
the final capital expenditure of £1,000,000 on telecare equipment for the Leeds Tele 
Care Service from December 2015.  

Recommendations

That the Executive Board authorise the further approval to spend of capital 
expenditure of  £1,000,000 for the Leeds Tele Care Service from December 2015.

            To note that the Service Delivery Manager Assisted Living Leeds is the lead officer 
responsible for implementing the decision.

1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To seek Executive Board authority to incur capital expenditure of the final 
£1,000,000 on telecare equipment for the Leeds Tele Care Service from December 
2015 in accordance with financial procedure rules.

2. Background information

2.1 Telecare is the continuous, automatic and remote monitoring of real time 
emergencies and lifestyle changes over time in order to support vulnerable people 
living independently. It is a development of the community alarm equipment which 
Leeds has provided for older and disabled people since 1986 through the “Care 
Ring” Service. Community alarms are considered as the “first generation” of 
monitoring equipment. Telecare is referred as the “second generation” of 
equipment. 

2.2 Telecare sensors are placed around the home on ceilings, doors and walls or may 
be worn by the service user in the form of a pendant, watch or belt. Sensors include 
smoke detectors, flood detectors, fall sensors, medication dispensers and 
wandering alerts.

2.3 If a telecare sensor activates in an individual’s home an alert is automatically 
raised to the Council’s 24 hour Tele Care response centre, who will make contact 
with the service user to check on their safety. Often practical advice and 
reassurance is all that is required, but on some occasions a personal visit and or 
physical help may be needed. On these occasions the response centre staff will 
arrange the appropriate support by contacting a family member, providing a visit by 
the Tele Care mobile response service, or, if necessary, contacting an emergency 
service. The response centre holds relevant personal information about the service 
user and can identify which sensor in the home has activated to ensure the 
appropriate responses are arranged promptly.

2.4 Leeds City Council took the opportunity to develop telecare through the 
Preventative Technology Grant which was announced by the Department of Health 
in 2004 and was paid to Local Authorities in 2006. As a result a new service was 
established and significant experience and expertise has been gained. 

2.5 In December 2008 a report was provided to ASC Directorate Management Team  
which outlined the progress made in and provided the justification for the delivery of 

Page 40



telecare to be supported by mainstream funding after the Preventative Technology 
grant expired. 

 2.6      The main financial justification for the service to attract mainstream Adult Social Care 
funding was the demonstration of the financial benefit that using telecare equipment 
was shown to make to other community care budgets. (ref 4.4.4)

2.7 From 1st April 2009 the Leeds Tele Care Service has been a mainstream service 
funded by Leeds Adult Social Care. 

2.8 Since October 2010 the Tele Care Service started to install “3rd Generation” 
telecare equipment consisting of lifestyle monitoring systems and GPS location 
systems. GPS location systems are aimed at improving safety and independence 
outside of the home and work through using satellite navigation to locate the 
whereabouts of the user. These systems also include fall detection and an 
emergency button for the user to raise an alert to the response centre. The lifestyle 
monitoring systems are supplied by the Tele Care Service for a period of 
assessment to assist assessors when setting up a care package. The system 
consists of a number of small Passive Infra-Red (PIR) sensors which log the 
movements of a service user and uploads this onto a secure website for carers / 
professionals to analyse. Both the GPS systems and lifestyle monitoring systems 
incur a monthly subscription fee. The service currently has 110 GPS systems in use 
throughout Leeds.

2.9 A review of how telecare equipment is to be funded, once the full 3 million capital 
funding has been spent, will commence in financial year 2016/17. The review will 
look at service activity, annual spend on telecare equipment and staffing for each of 
the user groups that use the service, and consider which budgets have benefited 
from the reduction in demand by the provision of telecare. This review will be 
timetabled so that it is completed and recommendations are made to allow funding 
to be put in place before the existing capital funding is fully committed.

2.10 In 2014 a range of assistive technology (AT) services provided by the Council and 
the NHS were co-located in a single building to provide a “one stop shop” for 
customers and assessors and more joined-up, cost effective services for providers 
of AT .The second phase of this initiative will seek to bring in 3rd sector and private 
sector AT partners. This innovative approach will support Leeds in ensuring 
assistive technology is used effectively to provide personalised and cost effective 
services with a focus on prevention and reablement, to meet the needs of an ageing 
population.  

3. Main issues

3.1 The direction of travel is to further stimulate demand for telecare via a process of 
increased promotion to service users and citizens in Leeds and training to staff in 
health and social care. Assessors are required to consider the merits of using 
telecare as a standalone service or part of a care package to support people to 
remain living independently in all their case work. 

3.2 The increased use of telecare is part of a wider strategy to support older and 
disabled people in their homes for longer and to maximise the opportunities to 
effectively employ new technologies in health and social care.

Page 41



3.3 The projected capital spent on telecare equipment for 2015/16 is £500K with the 
current available capital being committed by end December 2015.

4. Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 Two service user representatives from the user involvement group (Forum for 
Health Innovative Technology and Equipment) sit on the Leeds Community 
Equipment and Telecare Service Board and are involved at all levels in the in the 
governance and development of the services. 

4.1.2 The user group are involved in the evaluation of products as part of the 
procurement process.

4.1.3 The Telecare Delivery Group meets bi-monthly as a multi-agency group whose 
aims are to promote the use of telecare, develop partnership working with NHS, 
Universities and Third Sector organisations to increase awareness of the service 
and its benefits and to monitor service performance via agreed service Performance 
Indicators.  

4.1.4 Telecare equipment is selected, following an assessment, to meet the needs of the 
individual customer, and a range of equipment is available which is appropriate for 
use and cost effective.

4.1.5 Customer satisfaction questionnaires are completed at the 6 week service review 
and the annual review.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 An Equality Impact Assessment screening tool has been undertaken for the 
purposes of this recommendation, and has indicated that an EIA does not need to 
be carried out. There will be no adverse effect on any particular groups of people 
within the city by the proposal.

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The service contributes to the City Priority Plan 2011 to 2015, Best City for health 
and wellbeing: Supporting more people to live safety in their own homes and give 
people choice and control over their health and social care services.

4.3.2 The service contributes to the Council Business plan 2011 to 2015, Adult Social 
Care Directorate Priorities and Performance Measures by ensuring more people 
with poor physical or mental health remain living at home longer.

4.3.3 The service supports adults whose circumstances make them vulnerable to live 
safe and independent lives.

4.3.4 The service provides easier access to joined-up health and social care services. 

Page 42



4.4 Resources and value for money  

Capital programme for Telecare:
 Parent Scheme Number :  15989
 Title : Telecare Adult Social Care Parent 

4.4.1

Funding Approval : Capital Section Reference Number :-
Previous total Authority TOTAL TO MARCH
to Spend on this scheme 2015 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019 on

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
LAND (1) 0.0
CONSTRUCTION (3) 0.0
FURN & EQPT (5) 2000.0 967.1 382.9 0.0 0.0 650.0
DESIGN FEES (6) 0.0
OTHER COSTS (7) 0.0
TOTALS 2000.0 967.1 382.9 0.0 0.0 650.0 0.0

Authority to Spend TOTAL TO MARCH
required for this Approval 2015 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019 on

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's
LAND (1) 0.0
CONSTRUCTION (3) 0.0
FURN & EQPT (5) 1000.0 0.0 450.0 550.0
DESIGN FEES (6) 0.0
OTHER COSTS (7) 0.0
TOTALS 1000.0 0.0 0.0 450.0 550.0 0.0 0.0

Total overall Funding TOTAL TO MARCH
(As per latest Capital 2015 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019 on
Programme) £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

LCC Supported Borrow ing 3100.0 967.1 382.9 450.0 600.0 700.0
Revenue Contribution 0.0
SCE ( R ) 0.0
Departmental USB 0.0
Corporate USB 0.0
Any Other Income ( Specify) 0.0

Total Funding 3100.0 967.1 382.9 450.0 600.0 700.0 0.0

Balance / Shortfall = 100.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 50.0 50.0 0.0

FORECAST

FORECAST

FORECAST

 

4.4.2 Revenue Effects: there are no additional revenue effects caused by this scheme

4.4.3 Telecare products are purchased though a framework contract. A new framework is 
to be procured for implementation in June 2016

4.4.4 The impact of telecare on the cost of individual care packages was investigated in 
2010/11. Assessors provided information on more than 600 customers regarding 
the service they would have expected to have provided without the availability of 
telecare The cost of delivering the service was taken into account and it was 
demonstrated that in 30% of cases there was no change and 70% of cases 
generated a saving. An average cost deferral (saving) of £2,330 in the first 12 
months following installation of second generation telecare was accepted as the 
indicative financial benefit.

Page 43



4.4.5 In April 2015 a target of new installations of second generation telecare was set at 
180 per month to deliver a budget action plan of £500k. This plan is on target.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 No Legal implications. This is a key decision subject to call-in.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 Without the release of further capital, the service would not be able to meet the 
demand for telecare installations, and would have rely totally on recycling used 
equipment. This would result in a waiting list for installations with impact on risks to 
customers including those leaving hospital.

4.6.2 The service would also not being able to buy new telecare products which are 
needed to meet individual complex needs or to make sure that the service is using 
new technologies that come into this market. 

5. Conclusions

5.1 By agreeing to approve the incurring of further capital expenditure, this will enable 
the Leeds Tele Care Service to continue to meet the demand for telecare 
equipment.  

6. Recommendations

6.1 That the Executive Board authorise the authority to spend  of further capital 
expenditure of £1,000,000 for the Leeds Tele Care Service from December 2015.

6.2 To note that the Service Delivery Manager Assisted Living Leeds is the lead officer 
responsible for implementing the decision.

6.1 Background documents – none

  The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 44



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Adult Social Care Service area: Access and  

Tele Care Services 
Lead person: 
Katie Cunningham 

Contact number: 3783264 

 
1. Title: Tender for the supply of Telecare equipment 
 
Is this a: 
      Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
The Tele Care service provides a range of telecare equipment to disabled adults, 
older people and children within Leeds. The Telecare sensors are used to monitor 
the environment (for example to detect smoke or gas) or the person themselves (for 
example to detect a fall or to alert that the person has left their home).  
 
In April 2010 Executive Board agreed to release capital expenditure of £3,000,000 
for telecare equipment for Leeds Tele Care Service. The capital was to be released 
in issues of £1,000,000. The first £1,000,000 was released in April 2010. The second 
£1,000,000 was released in July 2012. By December 2015, this second capital 
release will have been spent. 
 
The funds have been used to purchase telecare equipment to meet the demand 
resulting from an increase in requests for telecare from assessors.  This increase in 
requests is the outcome of increased awareness of the benefits of technology to 
support older and disabled people to live independently, and of the promotion of 
telecare to assessors across health and social care as a cost effective, non intrusive 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

 X  

Page 45



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

2

support, and the continued development of the range of types of telecare sensors 
available. In April 2010 there were 2,069 customers using telecare. In November 
2015 there are 7,600 customers using telecare. 
 
The impact of telecare on the cost of individual care packages was monitored during 
a pilot stage in 2010/11. Assessors provided information on the service they would 
have expected to have provided without the availability of telecare equipment. These 
were evaluated at 30% no change and 70% generated a saving An average cost 
deferral (saving) of £2,330 was accepted as the indicative benefit for the 12 months 
following installation. 
 
The Tele Care Service is requesting the Director of Adult Social Care seeks 
Executive Board authority to release the final capital expenditure of £1,000,000 for 
telecare equipment from December 2015.   
 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 X 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

Page 46



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

3

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details  for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 47



EDCI Screening  Template updated October 2012 
   
   

4

 
 
 
 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
 
Katie Cunningham 

 
Service Delivery Manager 
Assisted Living Leeds 

 
30th September 2015 

 
 
7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
If this screening relates to a Key Delegated Decision, Executive Board, full Council or 
a Significant Operational Decision a copy should be emailed to Corporate Governance 
and will be published along with the relevant report.   
 
A copy of all other screening’s should be sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk. For record 
keeping purposes it will be kept on file (but not published). 
 
Date screening completed 20/12/2015 

 
If relates to a Key Decision - date sent to 
Corporate Governance 

  

Any other decision – date sent to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

 

 

Page 48



$fhv0o23z.doc
p1

Report of Director of Adult Social Services

Report to Executive Board

Date: 16th December 2015

Subject: Delivering the Better Lives Strategy Adult Social Care – BME Day Services.

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Hyde Park & Woodhouse and Chapel Allerton
Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes  No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. This report provides an update on proposals for the future delivery of day support 
for older people from Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) communities at Apna (Hyde 
Park & Woodhouse) and Frederick Hurdle (Chapel Allerton) agreed by Executive 
Board on 23rd September 2015.

2. Following further discussions with elected members and trade unions we are now 
proposing to refocus this approach, recognising that further work is required on the 
nature of any potential model. 

3. This report recommends a revised two stage approach to service change. In Phase 
One, currently anticipated to be between January 2016 and December 2016, a new 
service model would be developed, including producing a service specification in 
co-production with service users, carers, unions, staff, partner organisations, 
community groups and elected members working with ASC Commissioning.  Work 
on the new service model would include consideration of whether the service can 
continue to be provided directly by the Local Authority to meet the needs of the 
BME community or whether commissioning externally provides the best option. The 
proposals arising from the development of the service model would then be subject 
to a formal consultation process. The outcome of the consultation and 
recommendations would be reported back to Executive Board for a decision. This is 
anticipated to be in February 2017 but may be earlier if development of the model 

Report author:  Mick Ward
Tel:  0113 3783912

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



$fhv0o23z.doc
p2

and consultation takes place earlier. Contingent on the approval of the 
recommendation, Phase Two would involve the implementation of the Executive 
Board decision and a move to a new model of delivery. 

4. Recommendations

1. Executive Board is asked to note the proposed change of approach to 
determining the future model for delivering services at Apna and Frederick 
Hurdle day centres from that outlined in the report approved by Executive Board 
in September 2015.

2. That Executive Board approval is given for a revised two stage approach to a 
proposed service change. In Phase One currently anticipated to be between 
January 2016 and December 2016, a new service model would be developed, 
including producing a service specification in co- production with service users, 
carers, unions, staff, partner organisations, community groups and elected 
members working with ASC Commissioning. Work on the new service model 
would include consideration of whether the service can continue to be provided 
directly by the Local Authority to meet the needs of the BME community or 
whether commissioning externally provides the best option. The proposals 
arising from the development of the service model would then be subject to a 
formal consultation process. The outcome of the consultation and 
recommendations would be reported back to Executive Board for a decision. 
Contingent on the approval of the recommendation Phase Two would involve 
the implementation of the Executive Board decision and a move to a new model 
of delivery.

3. To note that the lead officer responsible is the Director of Adult Social Services.

Page 50



$fhv0o23z.doc
p3

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This report provides an update on progress made following Executive Board 
approval of the `Delivering the Better Lives Strategy in Leeds - Proposed Next 
Steps` report of 19th November 2014.

1.2 Executive Board agreed that these services should be subject to review in relation 
to identifying appropriate opportunities for such services to be provided either in 
partnership with other voluntary or Health organisations or by the independent 
sector. This report covers the proposed consultation with service users, carers, 
unions, staff, partner organisations and elected members and how their views will 
be taken forward. This report also outlines the proposed next steps for improving 
the range of services offered to older people from BME communities. 

2 Background information

2.1 As part of the Better Lives Programme, which commenced in 2011, care and 
support services directly provided by Leeds City Council have been subject to a 
review. The review’s terms of reference and review criteria were determined by 
the Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board in 2010.  This focused on whether the 
services were meeting the current and projected needs and aspirations of older 
people and whether they represented value for money.

2.2 During the initial review phases of the Better Lives Programme, Apna and 
Frederick Hurdle day centres were identified as centres providing a specific 
service to a defined community (BME), whose needs may not be met by existing 
alternative provision. As such, the two day centres were highlighted for ‘further 
review’ and a programme of work was established to gauge the demand for these 
services, whether alternative delivery models would be more appropriate and their 
importance to the communities that they serve.

2.3 The review of BME services has to be considered within a context of the wider 
impacts of ASC strategy, but must also bear in mind changes to demographic 
factors affecting the demand for services in the future.

2.4 Leeds is becoming a more diverse city with the challenge of appropriately meeting 
the specific needs of its diverse communities. It is now home to over 140 different 
nationalities. In 2001 the office of National Statistics (ONS) estimated that 10.8 % 
of the total resident population was comprised of people from BME communities 
(including Irish and other white groups), by 2011 the number had increased to 
18.9% of the resident population, with an associated increase in older people in 
this population.

2.5 Demand for BME specific services is driven by this increase in people from BME 
communities, coupled with factors that may prohibit or restrict BME communities 
accessing alternative services such as other mainstream voluntary sector 
provided services. Barriers include language and cultural needs and therefore a 
specific service may be required to ensure BME groups have equality of access 
and choice and control over the services they receive.

Page 51



$fhv0o23z.doc
p4

2.6 Despite a clear demand for culturally appropriate services that meet the needs of 
BME communities, it is not sustainable to run services that only deliver a service 
for a minority of the BME community with eligible needs. As such there needs to 
be a flexible response which ensures more effective links are created and 
maintained between buildings-based services and wider community-based 
services to ensure the maximum possible community benefit.

2.7 The development of new day opportunities for the BME community also needs to 
be addressed alongside the wider aims of the Council. This includes striving 
towards more effective ways of delivering services, with an emphasis on short 
term initiatives to aid recovery, respite services to give carers a break and a 
stronger approach to harnessing the assets within communities. This is in keeping 
with the Care Act (2014) which requires councils to focus on prevention, support 
and wider well-being.

3 Main Issues

3.1 There is a continuing trend of low service utilisation with 37% at Frederick Hurdle 
and 39% at Apna (Oct 2015). This represents a relatively small group of service 
users (45 people at Frederick Hurdle and 24 people at Apna –November 2015). 

3.2 In addition, both centres have few new starters (7 at Apna and 4 at Frederick 
Hurdle in the period January-December 2014) and the majority of users have 
been attending the centres for a considerable time (64% at Frederick Hurdle and 
44% at Apna for 9 years or more), which suggests that while there is a stable user 
group, the services may not be fulfilling a reablement role or having a wider 
impact on the communities as a whole. 

3.3 The majority of service users at Frederick Hurdle live in either post codes LS7 
(69%) or LS 8 (15%) At Apna there is a slightly wider spread of post codes (24% 
living in LS8 and 24% in LS 28If the services are to benefit a wider population, 
links will need to be formed with BME groups outside of these close geographical 
areas.

3.4 There is little evidence of community engagement, a lack of joint working with 
Neighbourhood Networks and other community groups and limited development 
of specialist services, particularly in relation to people with dementia, carers and 
groups for male and female elders.

3.5 The services provide a key role in maintaining social interaction, with ‘improving 
social contacts’ given as the main reason for service users attending Frederick 
Hurdle (67%) while this is cited as the reason for attending by 35% of Apna 
service users. They also play a role in carer respite with 65% at Apna and 28% at 
Frederick Hurdle citing this as a main reason for attending the day centres. 

3.6 The community / social inclusion role of the two centres may also be providing a 
preventative intervention, which may be reflected by the reduced levels of 
personal care support required by service users when compared to the other day 
centres in Leeds (27% at Apna and 30% at Frederick Hurdle had personal care 
needs, compared to an average of 55% at the other older people’s day centres in 

Page 52



$fhv0o23z.doc
p5

Leeds). This may also reflect a lack of referrals to the service for those with higher 
support needs.

3.7 While it is evident that the centres provide some benefits to the people that use 
them, they could have a wider remit, providing a much broader range of services 
and activities to support the wider communities. The services have the potential to 
support both people with eligible social care needs, including those using direct 
payments, as well as those without eligible needs. Opportunities could be 
explored for a wider range of BME communities and age groups to work more 
closely together, including increased opportunities for volunteering and better use 
of, or links to, other community based services.

3.8 Phase one 

3.9 In phase one it is proposed to continue to work with Leeds Involving People, 
building on the strong community consultation carried out with community groups 
between May 2013 and July 2014, to develop a new service model for Adult 
Social Care Black and Minority Ethnic day services. Questionnaires and a series 
of consultation forums aimed at both existing service users and wider minority 
ethnic communities in Leeds as well as trade unions, staff, partner organisations, 
community groups and elected members would be used to develop a new service 
model.  Work on the new service model would include consideration of whether 
the service can continue to be provided directly by the Local Authority to meet the 
needs of the BME community or whether commissioning externally provides the 
best option. This would then be subject to a formal consultation process (usually 
12 weeks). Phase one is anticipated to take place between January 2016 and 
December 2016. 

3.10 This work will be supported by a steering group comprising service users, carers, 
staff, trade unions, partner organisations, elected members and wider community 
representatives using a Co- production approach.

3.11 The outcome of the consultation and recommendations would be reported back to 
Executive Board. It is anticipated that the report will be brought  back to Executive 
Board in February 2017 but this may be earlier dependent on the time taken to 
draw up the model and to consult on the proposals 

3.13       Phase 2

3.14       Contingent on the approval of the recommendation Phase Two would involve the 
              Implementation of the Executive Board decision and a move
              to a new model of delivery. 

               

Page 53



$fhv0o23z.doc
p6

Summary 

3.12 Current service users, carers, staff, trade Unions, partner organisations, elected 
members and the wider community would be involved in developing the new 
service model, which would be followed by formal consultation. A Communication 
and Engagement plan has been developed and included as Appendix One of this 
report.

3.13 Implications for staff

3.14 The proposals contained in this report could have direct implications for the 
fourteen staff employed in these services. HR and service managers would be 
available to offer advice and support to staff on a regular basis. 

3.15 Consultations and engagement with staff and unions would continue throughout 
the development of the service model, and any subsequent commissioning 
process, if applicable, as outlined in the Consultation and Engagement plan. 

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement

4.1.1 It is proposed that a co-production approach is adopted to gain the views of 
service users, carers, partner organisations, staff, trade unions, elected members, 
community groups and other key stakeholders.

4.1.2 “Co-production is a simple idea: it’s about individuals, communities and 
organisations having the skills, knowledge and ability to work together, create 
opportunities and solve problems. Putting this into practice is not so simple, and 
for older people who need support in their lives is a relatively new phenomenon”. 
(Bowers et al (2009) Personalisation – don’t just do it – co-produce it and live it! 
National Development Team for inclusion and HSA).

4.1.3 Leeds Involving People have extensive experience of working with service users, 
carers and other stakeholders from a diverse range of communities in Leeds and 
successfully using a co-production approach. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

An Equality Impact Screening has been produced and is attached as Appendix 2 
of this report.  The consultation is proposed to ensure that Apna and Frederick 
Hurdle day centres and related BME Older Peoples services in the community are 
meeting the needs of both current and potential future service users. Work on 
developing the service delivery model will determine whether the centres should 
have a wider remit, providing a much broader range of services and activities. 

4.2.1 Both services cater for a relatively small group of service users (45 people at 
Frederick Hurdle and 24 people at Apna –November 2015). The majority of 
service users at Frederick Hurdle live in either post codes LS7 (69%) or LS 8 

Page 54



$fhv0o23z.doc
p7

(15%) At Apna there is a slightly wider spread of post codes (24% living in LS8 
and 24% in LS 28).

4.2.2 The majority of users at both Centre’s are women (62% at Apna and 78% at 
Frederick Hurdle) and it is important that consideration is given to the needs of 
this group in planning future provision.

4.2.3 The majority of users have been attending the centres for a considerable time 
(65% at Frederick Hurdle and 50% at Apna for 9 years or more). 

4.2.4 The profile of people using the centres and research findings (Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic Communities and Dementia-Where are we now?  David Truswell. 
Race Equality Foundation 2013) indicates a need to develop improved services 
for people with dementia from BME communities.

 
4.3 Council policies and the Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The review of the provision of services at Apna and Frederick Hurdle day centres 
will be undertaken as part of the Adult Social Care’s Better Lives Programme.  
This strategy focuses on the Council’s capacity to help support the growing 
number of older people with their care and support needs.  It recognises the 
changing expectations and aspirations of people as they grow older and the need 
to match these with appropriate and affordable responses.

4.3.2 Delivering the Better Lives Programme is one of the priorities in the Council’s 
‘Best Council Plan 2015-2020’ from which the Breakthough Project ‘Making 
Leeds the Best Place to Grow Old in’ has been established. The review of 
services at Apna and Frederick Hurdle also supports the Best Council Plan 
priority to “become a more efficient and enterprising council”. 

4.3.3 The approach proposed also supports Leeds ambition to be `The Best city in the 
UK to Grow old in`

4.4 Resources and value for money

4.4.1 As central government funding to local authorities decreases and demand for 
services increases councils are under pressure to find more efficient and cost 
effective ways of doing things.  The review of services provided at Apna and 
Frederick Hurdle takes place as part of a wider review of ASC older people’s 
services. This recognises the need to refocus resources on affordable and 
sustainable models of service delivery that offer better outcomes for older people.

               The combined budget for the two day centres for 2015-16 is £371,250 It is 
proposed that this is the maximum budget provision available to commission the 
new service model. The costs of the new service model will be confirmed as the 
detailed proposals are developed and will be approved through a further report to 
the Executive Board when the proposals are considered.

Page 55



$fhv0o23z.doc
p8

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The review of Apna and Frederick Hurdle day centres has taken into 
consideration the Council’s statutory duties and Adult Social Care’s specific 
duties – including new duties contained in the Care Act (2014).

4.5.2 The Executive Board’s decision is a key decision and will be subject to call-in.  
               Due to an administrative error the notification of this key decision was not 
               Included on the list of forthcoming key decisions for a period of 28 days, however
               this was rectified and was published immediately giving 27 days notice.
   
4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 Risks will be identified and logged throughout the development of the new 
service model and consultation, with mitigating actions suggested. If Executive 
Board does not agree to the development of a new service model for BME day 
centres there is a strong risk that the centres will increasingly fail to meet the 
needs of older people in new and existing BME communities in Leeds.

5.0 Conclusions

5.1 It is proposed that a two stage approach to service change is adopted. In Phase 
One the new service model would be developed, including producing a service 
specification in co- production with service users, carers, trade unions, staff, 
partner organisations, community groups and elected members working with 
ASC Commissioning. Work on the new service model would include 
consideration of whether the service can continue to be provided directly by the 
Local Authority to meet the needs of the BME community or whether 
commissioning externally provides the best option. This would then be subject to 
a formal consultation process. The outcome of the consultation and 
recommendations would be reported back to Executive Board for a decsion

5.2          Contingent on the approval of the recommendation Phase Two would involve the 
               implementation of the Executive Board decision and a move 
               to a new model of delivery.

5.3 The new service model and costs will be confirmed as the detailed proposals are 
developed and will be approved through the further report to Executive Board. 

5.4 Current service users, carers, staff, trade unions, partner organisations, elected 
members and the wider community will be engaged in the development of the 
new service model by means of a Communication and Engagement plan which 
has been produced. 

Page 56



$fhv0o23z.doc
p9

6 Recommendation

1 Executive Board is asked to note the proposed change of approach to determining 
the future model for delivering services at Apna and Frederick Hurdle day centres 
from that outlined in the report approved by Executive Board in September 2015.

2 That Executive Board approval is given for a revised two stage approach to a 
proposed service change. In Phase One currently anticipated to be between 
January 2016 and December 2016, a new service model would be developed, 
including producing a service specification in co- production with service users, 
carers, unions, staff, partner organisations, community groups and elected 
members working with ASC Commissioning. Work on the new service model would 
include consideration of whether the service can continue to be provided directly by 
the Local Authority to meet the needs of the BME community or whether 
commissioning externally provides the best option. The proposals arising from the 
development of the service model would then be subject to a formal consultation 
process. The outcome of the consultation and recommendations would be reported 
back to Executive Board for a decision. Contingent on the approval of the 
recommendation Phase Two would involve the implementation of the Executive 
Board decision and a move to a new model of delivery.

3 To note that the lead officer responsible is the Director of Adult Social Services.

7.0        Background documents1 

None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



1

LEEDS ADULT SOCIAL CARE BME DAY SERVICES

COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT PLAN – V1

December 2015 

P
age 59



2

1 Overview and Document Control 

1.1 Engagement, Consultation and Communication Strategy Revision History and Approval:

Version Status Date Authors Description of Changes

1 DRAFT 25/11/15 David Miles Revision to timescales

1.2 Distribution: 

This document has been distributed to:

Name Title Date of Issue Version

Mick Ward Head of Commissioning, ASC 25-11-15 V1

Sinead Cregan Adult Commissioning Manager, ASC 25-11-15 V1

Cath Roff Director, ASC 25-11-15 V1

Lindsay Richardson ASC Business & Governance Support 25-11-15 V1

Anna Clifford Programme Manager 25-11-15 V1

P
age 60



3

Introduction

Leeds Adult Social Care (ASC) is proposing to develop a new service model for its BME day services provided at Apna and Frederick Hurdle day centres. 

As part of the ASC Better Lives Programme, Black and Minority Ethnic day support services directly provided by LCC are being reviewed to ensure they 
continue to meet the needs of BME groups in Leeds.   

A steering group will manage the transition to the new service model. Membership of the group will include staff, trade unions, ASC commissioning, partner 
organisations, service users and carers, community groups and elected members.

Communication Principles

We will embed the following principles in all our communications, engagement and involvement work:

Accessible and Inclusive: for all sections of the community; 

Clear and Professional: to demonstrate pride and authority in what we do; 

Consistent: with our strategic vision and local priorities; 

Flexible: ensuring communications are undertaken in a variety of different formats to reflect diverse local needs; 

Focussed on Improvement: we want to work with communities to continuously improve our local services; 

Honest and Transparent: we are committed to being clear about why we are engaging, what we will do with your views, and to feeding back the impact 
consultation has had on decisions; 

Inform: people taking part in consultations will be supported by relevant information to help them give informed views and perspectives;

Timely: We will involve people as early as possible in the appropriate phases and process of communication or engagement; Staff will be involved at the 
earliest opportunity and prior to service users.

Two way communication: We won’t just talk - we will also listen; 

P
age 61



4

Targeted: to ensure we get messages across to the right people in the right way; 

Proportional: to the scale of the decision being made; 

Respectful: of perspectives and viewpoints of relevant stakeholders; 

Responsive: We will respond to local needs and concerns, and ensure our services remain relevant; 

Sustainable: We will develop relationships with a wide range of individuals and groups across local communities and enable people to feed in their views at 
the relevant times, without overloading people with information.

Methods of communication and engagement

A wide variety of methods will be used to ensure that we communicate and engage effectively with all stakeholders.

 Briefings (written and face to face)
 Letters
 Newsletters 
 Organisations web sites and social media
 Talking Point consultation calendar and portal
 Consultation forums 
 Staff Meetings
 Stakeholder steering group made up of a broad range of stakeholders
 Questionnaires

P
age 62



5

Our key audiences

We have identified a number of groups and individuals with whom we communicate and engage through a variety of methods. We will build on this as the 
project develops to ensure we are being inclusive of all interested people, groups and organisations.

Key audience groups:

1. Existing and potential  service users, families/next of kin  and carers 
2. Staff affected –unions / wider linked staff with an interest
3. Community – Community based groups /Community representatives /Voluntary, Community and faith groups
4. Partners –NHS/organisations, Clinical Commissioning Groups, other Leeds City Council directorates, third sector partners, Health Watch
5. Political –Elected members / Over view and scrutiny committee /MPs
6. Delivery – ASC Leadership and management teams  / Service Managers / Social workers 

Key project Messages

 This is not a reduction in service. Existing services are being redesigned to better meet changing needs
 The proposal is to improve the scope and quality of services provided to BME communities in Leeds  
 The project will be delivered in two phases:

 In phase one the new service model will be developed with service users, carers, staff, partner organisations and elected members and 
the wider community (nothing for me, without me). Work on the new service model would include consideration of whether the service 
can continue to be provided directly by the Local Authority in a different way, or if not the case, if commissioning externally provides 
the best option. The proposals arising from the development of the service model would then be subject to a formal consultation 
process.

 The outcome of the consultation and recommendations would be reported back to Executive Board for a decision. Contingent on the 
approval of the recommendation, Phase Two would involve the implementation of the Executive Board decision and a move to a new 
model of delivery. 

P
age 63



6

Key project milestones

        1.   Dec 2015 LCC Executive Board confirms proposal to develop a new service model for ASC BME day services

2. January- December 2016 New service model developed & consultation on proposals

3. Feb 2017 (or earlier) Outcome of the consultation and recommendations reported back to Executive Board, implementation of the Executive 
       Board decision and a move to a new model of delivery. 

Risks and Issues

A risk and Issues log will be maintained and regularly updated during the service design and consultation process. Risks and issues will be reported to and 
managed via regular project group meetings. Thought should be given to ensure that this project is seen as part of a wider programme of ASC changes.

Monitoring and Evaluation

This Communications and Engagement Strategy will be reviewed regularly and refreshed as required in line with the issues and risks log. 

P
age 64



7

Adult Social Care BME Day Services commissioning Project: DRAFT Communication and Consultation Plan – Dec 2015 onwards

(A) Internal Governance and Approval Checkpoints

Timescales Who and Why Method Issues/Comments Lead/Attending Status

1 16th Dec 
2015

Executive Board Report Report Seeking approval to proceed with proposal. Cath Roff Amber 

2 Dec 2016 DLT Update Report Outcome of review of delivery options and 
further recommendations.

Sinead Cregan Amber

(B) Stakeholder Group – Elected Members

Timescales Who and Why Method Issues/Comments Lead Status

1 Dec 2015 Briefings for Executive Board 
Member for ASC, Health and Well-
Being and Adults.

Briefing Note This plan assumes regular briefings as 
required throughout the commissioning 
process for the Executive Board Member 

Mick Ward Green

Amber

2 Dec 2015 All 99 ward members to advise of 
intentions to seek EB approval and 
to consult on proposals 

Briefing note 
via email. 

Offer 
meetings if 
required

To coincide with EB report going live. To 
provide briefings throughout the 
commissioning process.

Mick Ward

Amber

Dec 2015 
onwards

Briefings for the Ward members in 
which the 2 services are based

Briefing note 
via email. 

As above, but with a stronger focus on local 
impact/opportunities. 

Mick Ward/ David 
Miles

P
age 65



8

Offer 
meetings if 
required

Amber

3 Dec 2015 To advise on EB decision and 
outline next steps  in 
commissioning project

Briefing To coincide with Executive Board decision Sinead 
Cregan/David 
Miles

Amber

4 Jan 2016 
onwards

Local ward members involvement in 
engagement /consultation process

Consultation 
Forums

Meetings

Involvement at key stages of engagement / 
consultation process

Mick Ward / David 
Miles

Amber

5 Dec 2016 Local Ward members to advise on 
proposed service model and service 
delivery proposal.

 Briefing To coincide with end of consultation / 
development of new service model sessions 

Mick Ward / David 
Miles

Amber

(C) Stakeholder Group – Members of Parliament

Timescales Who and Why Method Issues/Comments Lead Status

1 Dec 2015 Local MPs to advise of intentions to 
seek EB approval and to consult on 
proposed integration project. 
Advise as letters circulated to 
service users, carers and staff.

Letter To coincide with EB report going live. Sinead Cregan 
/David Miles

Amber

2 17th Dec 
2015

MPs -  to advise on EB decision and 
next steps in terms of 
commissioning project

Letter, face to 
face briefing

Sinead 
Cregan/David 
Miles

Amber

3 As and 
when 

Respond to enquiries as requested. Letter 
/briefing

Sinead 
Cregan/David 

Amber

P
age 66



9

required Miles

(D) Stakeholder Group – ASC Staff Working at Apna and Frederick Hurdle Day Centres

Timescales Who and Why Method Issues/Comments Lead Status

1 Nov 2015 ASC Staff working at Apna and 
Frederick Hurdle day centres. To 
update them on the consultation 
process, timescales, their 
involvement in service model 
development and consultation. 
Meeting prior to Executive Board 
meeting.

Staff meetings Ensure regular feedback to ASC staff.

Involve ASC HR.

Ensure inclusion of CEL staff and 
managers in all consultations.

ASC staff will be first point of contact for 
service users/carers who have concerns 
regarding new service proposals.

ASC HR

Bridget Glynn

Sinead Cregan

David Miles

Kuldeep Bajwa

Amber

2 Dec 2015 All staff, to advise on EB decision Letter Inform staff of outcome of Executive Board 
meeting and how they will be kept informed 
and involved in service model development 
and consultation.

Mark Grimes

David Miles Amber

3 Ongoing 
following 
Executive 
Board 
decision

Communicate, consult and support 
staff on employee specific issues 
gather views and concerns. 

Service Manager, to advise on EB 
decision and next steps

Provide support for staff affected

Staff Meetings 

and staff 
individual 
sessions

Staff 
Questionnaire

Develop service specific questionnaire HR

Bridget Glynn

Amber

4 Ongoing All staff to ensure they are kept 
updated on progress 

Staff meetings 
/  FAQ`s

To ensure staff are kept updated and 
involved throughout the service model 

HR Amber

P
age 67



10

Staff one to 
one sessions

development and consultation. Bridget Glynn

David Miles

5 Jan 2016 Staff representatives Stakeholder 
steering group

To ensure staff are involved in co- 
production of the new service model

Sinead Cregan

Bridget Glynn

David Miles

Amber

6 Jan 2016 
Ongoing

Staff to inform development of new 
service model

Visits Arranged as required to better understand 
alternative service models as part of 
stakeholder steering groups work & co 
production approach.

Sinead Cregan

Kuldeep Bajwa

David Miles 

LIP

Amber

(E) Stakeholder Group – Trade Unions

Timescales Who and Why Method Issues/Comments Lead Status

1 Ongoing 
Nov 2015 
onwards

Trade Unions representatives 
Briefing on development of service 
model, consultation process and 
discuss employee matters/staffing 
issues. Determine on going 
involvement in process. 

Meetings Ongoing monthly sessions with Head of 
service throughout the commissioning 
process.

Ensure union representatives invited to 
consultation forums, staff meetings 
stakeholder steering group, visits and any 
one off events.

HR

HOS

Amber

P
age 68



11

(F) Stakeholder Group – Apna and Frederick Hurdle Day Centre Service Users, their relatives/NOK/carers

Timescales Who and Why Method Issues/Comments Lead Status

1 Nov 2015 Apna and Frederick Hurdle day 
service users, their relatives and 
carers.

Letters To inform them of Executive Board Meeting 
on 16th December.

 Sinead 
Cregan/David 
Miles/Kuldeep 
Bajwa

Amber

2 17th Dec 
2015

Advise EB decision and next steps 
in terms of commissioning process

Letter to 
service users, 
relatives, 
carers.

To inform them of the outcome of Executive 
Board Meeting on 16th December.

Kuldeep Bajwa

David Miles

Amber 

3 Jan 2016 Service Users & Carers One to One 
sessions

Ensure advocacy input where required. Use 
questionnaire to ensure responses 
recorded

Bridget Glynn

Kuldeep Bajwa

LIP

Amber

4 Jan 2016 -
Ongoing

Co - produce new service model  
with service users and carers. 
Respond to queries and requests 
for meetings. Ensure proposals 
highlight benefits and rationale for 
changes and, timescales. Invite 
regular feedback as proposals are 
developed.

Meetings

Newsletter

FAQs

Fact sheet

Consultation 
Forums

Stakeholder 
steering group

Questionnaire

Arranged as required to coincide with key 
project milestones or at the request of 
service users and carers

Sinead Cregan

Kuldeep Bajwa

David Miles 

LCC Comms

LIP

Amber

P
age 69



12

5 Jan 2016 -
Ongoing

Service users & carers to inform 
development of new service model

Stakeholder 
Visits

Arranged as required to better understand 
alternative service models as part of 
reference groups work and co- production

Sinead Cregan

Kuldeep Bajwa

David Miles 

LIP

Amber

(G) Stakeholder Group – Wider ASC Directorate Staff / Other LCC Directorates

Timescales Who and Why Method Issues/Comments Lead Status

1 Jan 2016 Wider ASC Staff – update on project ASC 

Newsletter 

Coordinate consistent messages with wider 
transformation programme. 

David Miles

LCC Comms

Amber

2 Access and Care Teams, Contact 
Centre, 

Briefing note, 
fact sheet 
and Key 
contacts

Need to actively engage Access and Care 
staff in design of the new service model.

Call centre briefing circulated Jan 2016

LCC Comms Amber

3 Dec 2015 Access and Care staff to be 
cascaded information/briefed on EB 
decision

Email - 
Briefing note 

To coincide with EB approval Julie Bootle Amber

4 Ongoing 
from Jan 
2016

Other LCC Directorates Existing 
Structures

Ensure other LCC Directorates are aware of 
the proposals

Mick Ward Amber

P
age 70



13

(H) Stakeholder Group – VCF Groups, Community Interest Groups, General Public

Timescale
s Who and Why Method Issues/Comments Lead Status

1 Jan 2016 Establish stakeholder steering group. Letter Inform of Executive Board proposals and 
proposed meeting date.

Ensure all stakeholders represented.  
Agree terms of reference for the group

Sinead Cregan

Kuldeep Bajwa

David Miles

Amber

2 Jan 2016 
and then 
ongoing

VCFS and interest groups – update 
on project  and recommendations 
following outcome of consultation 
and Executive Board decision

Letter 
/attendance at 
meetings.

Briefings

Respond to 
queries raised

To  coincide with EB decision

Use Third Sector Partnership and Older 
People’s Third Sector Group

Mick Ward

Sinead Cregan

Kuldeep Bajwa

David Miles

Amber

3 Ongoing 
from Jan 
2016

Involved in service model 
development. Seek comments on the 
proposals and sector engagement to 
ensure that VCFS and wider publics 
views and concerns are addressed.

Engagement in co –production of 
new service model

Steering group   
Meetings

Questionnaire

Talking Point 
Leeds

Establish the stakeholder steering group. 
Ensure link to existing community groups.

Hold Bi Monthly meetings and ensure 
participants include elected members and 
wider community. Involve LIP in the 
engagement/ communication process.

Sinead Cregan

Kuldeep Bajwa

David Miles

LIP

Amber

4 Jan 2016 & 
ongoing

Seek comments on the proposals and 
sector engagement to ensure that 
VCFS and wider public’s views and 
concerns are addressed.

Consultation 
Forums

Meetings

Ensure involvement in service model 
development/consultation process

Sinead Cregan

Kuldeep Bajwa

David Miles 

LIP

Amber

P
age 71



14

(I) Stakeholder Group – NHS Partners (Commissioning and Care)

Timescales Who and Why Method Issues/Comments Lead Status

1 Ongoing 
from Jan 
2016

Clinical Commissioning Groups Report and 
use existing 
meetings

Use Joint Adults Community Commissioning 
Group .James Woodhead to join Project 
Group and act as link to NHS teams & 
initiatives

Mick Ward/James 
Woodhead

Amber

2 Ongoing NHS partners – awareness raising Letters / 
Email

LCH / LCC 
Comms

Amber

3 Jan 2016 
and ongoing

NHS Partners Consultation 
Forums

Meetings

Ensure health partners engaged in 
engagement and consultation process

Mick Ward/James 
Woodhead

Sinead Cregan

Amber

(J) Stakeholder Group – Media/Press

Timescales Who and Why Method Actions required Lead Status

1 Jan 2016 
onwards

General public to outline proposal 
and advise on progress at key 
stages in development eg EB 
meeting and decisions, engage in 
developing new service model. 
Respond to media queries

Press release Press release produced and sent to Stu 
Robinson for circulation to coincide with 
report going live.

Ensure included as part of wider Health & 
Social care change narrative

LCC Comms Amber

2 Ongoing On-going proactive publicity and 
good news stories

Press release LCC Comms Amber

P
age 72



Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening

Directorate: Adult Social Care Service area:
Adult Social Care directly provided services 

Lead person: Mick Ward Contact number  0113 3783912

1. Title: Delivering the Better Lives Strategy in Leeds – BME Day Services

Is this a:

     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other
                                                                                                               

If other, please specify

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

Following the establishment of the Better Lives for People in Leeds vision in 2011, Adult Social 
Care has been subject to a wide range of service changes. 
As part of this process Leeds Adult Social Care is now proposing a major consultation on its 
directly provided Older Peoples BME day services. This is designed to gain the views of current 
service users, carers, staff, trade unions, partner organisations, elected members and the wider 
BME community on the future delivery model for these services. 
The consultation will cover two centres, APNA (Hyde Park & Woodhouse) and Frederick Hurdle 
(Chapel Allerton).
The consultation will be carried out jointly by Leeds Involving People an independent third sector 
organization with extensive experience of representing the views of service users and carers and 
Leeds Adult Social Care. The consultation and new service development will build on the strong 
community consultation carried out with community groups between May 2013 and July 2014.
The two centres currently provide a day service to approximately 69 people (November 2015), 
mainly from the West Indian (Frederick Hurdle) and Asian communities (Apna).
Leeds Adult Social Care is now proposing a two stage approach to service change. In phase one 
the new service model would be developed, including producing a service specification in co- 
production with service users, carers, trade unions, staff, partner organisations, community 
groups and elected members working with ASC Commissioning. This Phase would also include a 
review to determine whether the services can continue to be provided directly by the Local 
Authority, or if not the case, if commissioning externally provides the best option. The outcome of 
this review and recommendations would be reported back to Executive Board in February 2017.
Phase two would involve the implementation of the Executive Board decision post February 2017.

Criteria for determining the future options for these services have already been assessed with due 
regard to equality. These criteria have been considered and agreed by the Executive Board.

Executive Board will be requested at its meeting on 16th December 2015 to support the proposed 
redesign of these services in co- production with key stakeholders and a review of how these 
services will be delivered in future.

1. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration

Questions Yes No
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics? 

X

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the policy X

X

Page 73



or proposal?
Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom?

X

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment practices? X
Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on

 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 
harassment

 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

X

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration

The full impact on individuals directly affected by the proposals (including service users, 
carers and staff) for each service is not known and to this end an impact assessment will 
be completed as the future service model is developed involving relevant and appropriate 
consultation and involvement through the Adult Social Care Project Group and reference 
group. 
The impact on future users of the services will also be assessed.
An individualised person centred assessment of need will be undertaken with each 
service user.

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
you will need to carry out an impact assessment.

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: January 2016- February 2016

Date to complete your impact assessment March 2016

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

Sinead Cregan:  Adult Commissioning 
Manager  Leeds ASC

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name Job title Date
Cath Roff Director, Adult Social Care
7. Publishing
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity has been 
given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the screening document will 
need to be published.

Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing

Date screening completed 11-11-15
If relates to a Key Decision send to Corporate 
Governance
Any other decision please send to Equality Team 
(equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk)

Page 74



 

 

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
Report to Executive Board 
Date: 16th December 2015 

Subject: Initial Budget Proposals for 2016/17 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

Summary of main issues  

1. The purpose of this report is to set out the Initial Budget Proposals for 2016/17.  
These budget proposals are set within the context of the 2016/17 – 2019/20 
Medium Term Financial Strategy which was agreed by the Executive Board in 
October 2015, updated to recognise the implications following the Spending 
Review and Autumn Statement in November 2015.  The proposals support the 
Council’s Best City/Best Council ambitions, policies and priorities aimed at 
tackling inequalities (please refer to the ‘Emerging 2016/17 Best Council Plan 
Priorities: Tackling Poverty and Deprivation’ report which is on today’s agenda). 

2. Whilst the combined Spending Review and Autumn Statement provided more 
information about the likely scale and timing of future changes in government 
funding beyond 2015/16, the specific implications for Leeds will not be known 
until the provisional local government finance settlement is announced, which is 
likely to be mid-December 2015.   

3. It is clear that the current and future financial climate for local government 
represents a significant risk to the Council’s priorities and ambitions. The 
Council continues to make every effort possible to protect the front line delivery 
of services, and whilst we have been able to successfully respond to the 
financial challenge so far, it is clear that the position is becoming more difficult 
to manage and it will be increasingly difficult over the coming years to maintain 
current levels of service provision without significant changes in the way the 
Council operates.   

4. Pending the announcement of the provisional settlement, the headlines from 
the Initial Budget Proposals are as follows: 

 A forecast reduction of 56% in real-terms by 2019/20 to the Government 
funding for Local Government.  

Report author: Alan Gay  

Tel: 74226 

Page 75

Agenda Item 9



 

 The reduction in the government funding provided to the Council for 
2016/17 is estimated at £24.1m, or 9%. 

 The additional cost of the Council ‘standing still’ in 2016/17 is £87.2m, 
taking into account the estimated reduction in government funding 
together with changes in costs and income. 

 The Initial Budget Proposals outlined in this report total some £73.1m 
and whilst they do cover a range of efficiencies across the Council, they 
also require the Council to make some difficult choices as to service 
provision and charging.  

The budget proposals assume an increase in the Council’s element of the 
council tax of 1.99%, plus the social care precept of 2%. The Council’s 
net revenue budget is estimated to reduce by £22.6m from £523.8m 
down to £501.2m 

 In terms of staffing, the proposals would mean forecast net reductions of 
259 full-time equivalent posts by March 2017. 

 The 2016/17 budget proposals assume an increase in the use of general 
reserves, some non-recurrent cost reductions and also a significant level 
of one-off funding income. This will inevitably increase the financial risk 
across the medium-term and put additional strain on the 2017/18 budget. 

5. In respect of the Housing Revenue Account, whilst there are proposals to 
increase some service charges, the implementation of the rent cap which was 
announced in July 2015, will mean that housing rents will reduce by 1% from 
April 2016. 

Recommendation 

6. Executive Board is asked to agree the Initial Budget Proposals and for them to 
be submitted to Scrutiny and also for the proposals to be used as a basis for 
wider consultation with stakeholders. 

1. Purpose of report 

1.1 In line with the Council’s constitution, the Executive Board is required to publish 
Initial Budget Proposals two months before approval of the budget by full 
Council, which is scheduled for the 24th February 2016. This report sets out the 
initial budget proposals for 2016/17 which are set within the context of the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy which was approved by Executive Board in 
October 2015 updated to recognise the implications following the combined 
Spending Review and Autumn Statement in November 2015.  

 
1.2 Subject to the approval of the Executive Board, this report will be submitted to 

Scrutiny for their consideration and review, with the outcome of their 
deliberations to be reported to the planned meeting of this board on the 10th 
February 2016. The report will also be made available to other stakeholders as 
part of a wider and continuing process of engagement and consultation. 

1.3 In accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, decisions as to 
the Council’s budget are reserved to full Council. As such, the recommendation 

Page 76



 

at 13.1 is not subject to call in as the budget is a matter that will ultimately be 
determined by full Council, and this report is in compliance with the Council’s 
constitution as to the publication of initial budget proposals two months prior to 
adoption. 

 
2. Local Government Funding – the National Context 

2.1 July 2015 Budget 
 
2.1.1 As reported in the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy that was 

considered by the Executive Board at their meeting in October 2015, the 
Chancellor on the 8th July 2015, presented a budget that set out Government’s 
plans to tackle the deficit in the public finances and a broad range of policy 
changes around welfare, housing, tax, a new Living Wage and devolution. The 
key headlines of the summer budget were; 

 
 The deficit to be cut at the same pace as in the last Parliament which is 

marginally slower than previously anticipated. 

 Planned spending reductions amounting to £37 billion over the course of 
the Parliament with £12 billion of reductions in welfare, £5 billion from 
taxation and the remaining £20 billion which will be delivered through a 
Spending Review as summarised in table 1 below. 

 Departmental Expenditure Limits (DELs) totals increased substantially 
compared to the March 2015 budget and in particular in 2016/17 with an 
increase of £4 billion seemingly signalling that the planned spending 
reductions would be managed over a longer time-period than previously 
anticipated. 

 Public Sector pay rises to be capped at 1% a year for four years from 
2016/17. 

 
Table 1 – Summer Budget, spending reduction plans over this Parliament (£billion) 

 

 
 
 Source: Office for Budget Responsibility. HM Treasury costing and HM Treasury 

calculations 
 
2.1.2 The Treasury subsequently asked “unprotected” government departments to 

set out plans for reductions to their resource budgets based on two scenarios: 
25% and 40% savings in real terms by 2019/20.  With Schools, the NHS, 
Defence and International Development continuing to be protected, it was clear 

Page 77



 

that the public sector contribution to tackling the deficit would fall more heavily 
on ‘unprotected’ departments, including Communities & Local Government. 

 
2.2 Spending Review and Autumn Statement 2015  
 
2.2.1 On the 25th November 2015, the Chancellor announced the first combined 

Spending Review and Autumn Statement since 2007.  Compared to the 
Summer Budget 2015, the Office for Budget Responsibility now forecasts 
higher tax receipts and lower debt interest, with a £27 billion improvement in the 
public finances over the Spending Review period. The Spending Review sets 
out firm plans for spending on public services and capital investment by all 
central government departments through to 2019/20.  

 
Table 2 – Consolidation plans set out in this Spending Review and Autumn Statement 
 

 
 

2.2.2 Key points to highlight from the Spending Review and Autumn Statement 
include; 

 
 A target budget surplus of £10.1bn by 2019/20. 
 
 Providing the NHS in England with £10 billion per year more by 2020/21 

in real terms compared to 2014/15, with an additional £6bn in 2016/17. 
 

 Spending 2% of GDP on defence for the rest of the decade. 
 

 Spending 0.7% of Gross National Income on overseas aid. 
 

 Protecting overall police spending in real terms. 
 

 Maintaining funding for the arts, national museums and galleries in cash-
terms over this Parliament. 

 
 Reductions to working tax credits will no longer be introduced. 

 
 The plans in SR2015 will deliver reductions to government spending as 

proportion of GDP from 45% in 2010 to 36.5% by the end of SR2015. 
 

 £12bn of savings to government departments. 
 

Page 78



 

2.2.3 For local government, as per table 3 below, the forecast is a cash terms rise 
from the £40.3 billion baseline in 2015/16 to £40.5 billion in 2019/20. This 
represents an average reduction of 1.7% per year in real terms and a 6.7% fall 
by 2019/20. It should be noted that within these figures Government have 
assumed increases to locally financed expenditure, ie. increasing income from 
Council Tax (including the new Adult Social Care precept) and increasing 
income from the current Business Rates Retention scheme.  Therefore, whilst 
overall Local Government Spending is forecast to reduce by 6.7% in real-terms 
by 2019/20, the DCLG Local Government spending is forecast to reduce by 
56% in real-terms over the period compared to the Treasury request for 
reductions of between 25% and 40%. 

Table 3 – Spending Review and Autumn Statement- forecast Local Government Spending 
 

 

2.2.4 The main points specific for local government include; 
 

 Significant reduction to the central government grant to local authorities. 
 
 Savings in local authority public health spending with average annual real-

terms savings of 3.9% over the next 5 years which will manifest in 
reductions to the public health grant to local authorities.   

 
 Government will also consult on options to fully fund local authorities’ 

public health spending from their retained business rates receipts, as part 
of the move towards 100% business rate retention. In the meantime, 
Government has confirmed that the ring-fence on public health spending 
will be maintained in 2016/17 and 2017/18.  

 
 Introduction of a new power for local authorities with social care 

responsibilities to increase council tax by up to and including 2% per year.  
The money raised will have to be spent exclusively on adult social care. 
Nationally, if all local authorities use this to its maximum effect it could 
raise nearly £2 billion a year by 2019/20 which would be equivalent to over 
£20m per year for Leeds.  Effectively, the introduction of this new precept 
represents a shift in the burden for funding the increasing costs of Adult 
Social Care from national to local taxpayers. The redistribution effect 
should also be noted in that the precept will be most beneficial to the more 
affluent local authorities with the largest council tax bases.  

 

Page 79



 

 The Spending Review continues Government’s commitment to join up 
health and care. Government will continue the Better Care Fund, 
maintaining the NHS’s mandated contribution in real terms over the 
Parliament. From 2017, Government will make funding available to local 
government, worth £1.5 billion by 2019/20, to be included in the Better 
Care Fund. 

 
 The Spending Review 2015 indicated that Government will consult on 

reforms to the New Homes Bonus, including means of sharpening the 
incentive to reward communities for additional homes and reducing the 
length of payments from 6 years to 4 years. This will include a preferred 
option for savings of at least £800 million. The potential impact for Leeds 
could be in the region of £6m and it is anticipated that further detail will be 
set out as part of the local government finance settlement consultation, 
which will include consideration of proposals to introduce a floor so that no 
authority loses out disproportionately.  

 
 Nationally, 26 extended or new Enterprise Zones 
 
 Confirmation of the previous announcement  of the proposal to end  

national uniform business rates with the introduction of 100% retention of 
business rates for local government and the phasing out of the Revenue 
Support Grant as well as introduction of new responsibilities giving 
councils the power to cut business rates to boost growth, and empowering 
elected city-wide mayors.  

  
 Allowing local authorities to use 100% of receipts from asset sales on the 

revenue costs of reform projects. Further detail will be set out by DCLG 
alongside the Local Government settlement in December. 

 
 Capping the amount of rent that Housing Benefit will cover in the social 

sector to the relevant Local Housing Allowance. 
  
 Extending the Small Business Rate Relief for another year. 
 
 Reduce the Education Services Grant by £600m, or 73% signalling that 

“Local authorities running education to become a thing of the past”. The 
remaining grant funding will presumably be used to cover local authority 
statutory duties which the Department for Education will also look to 
reduce.  The 2015/16 allocation for Leeds is £9.2m and based on the 
national totals a proportionate grant cut would be in the region of £6.7m 
per year.   More information is needed around the impact and timing of 
this significant reduction and consultation is expected to start in early 2016 
with the potential changes effective from 2017/18.   

   
 Introduce a new national funding formula for schools to begin to be 

introduced from April 2017. 
 
 Plans to build an additional 400,000 affordable homes. 
 

Page 80



 

 Homelessness - devolving an increased level of funding to local 
authorities while ending the current management fee for temporary 
accommodation, giving them greater flexibility to invest in preventing 
homelessness. 

 
 Redistribution - Government will also shortly consult on changes to the 

local government finance system to rebalance support including to those 
authorities with social care responsibilities by taking into account the main 
resources available to councils, including council tax and business rates. 
 

2.2.5 In terms of the Settlement Funding Assessment for Leeds, the medium-term 
financial strategy reported to the Executive Board in October 2015 assumed a 
reduction of £13m by March 2017. 

 
 Table 4 – Estimated 2016/17 Settlement Funding Assessment – MTFS October 2015 
 

 
 
 

2.2.6 Following the Spending Review and Autumn Statement announcement in 
November, the forecast reduction in the Settlement Funding Assessment in 
2016/17 for Leeds has been increased to £24.1m, or 9.0%.  This increase 
recognises that based on the information released in the Spending Review the 
phasing of the reductions in local government funding has been brought 
forward when compared to the national spending figures included in the 
summer budget.  It should be stressed that there is still a level of uncertainty 
and the actual position for individual local authorities will not be known with any 
degree of certainty until the Local Government settlement is announced, which 
is anticipated in mid-December 2015. 

 
 Table 5 – Forecast Settlement Funding Assessment – Spending Review 2015 
 

 
 
2.2.7 Based on the revised estimated Settlement Funding Assessment and taking 

into account an inflationary factor of 0.8% in the Business Rates Baseline, the 
anticipated split between the Revenue Support Grant and the Business Rates 
Baseline is shown in table 6 below.  This shows an estimated reduction of 
£25.3m or 20.35% in the Council’s Revenue Support Grant from 2015/16 to 
2016/17. 

 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

Settlement Funding Assessment 268.1 255.1
Reduction (£m) (13.0)
Reduction (%) 4.8%

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

Settlement Funding Assessment 268.1 244.0
Reduction (£m) (24.1)
Reduction (%) 9.0%

Page 81



 

Table 6 – Forecast Revenue Support Grant and Business Rates Baseline (Spending Review 
2015)  

  

 
 

2.2.8 On the 5th October 2015, the Chancellor set out major plans to devolve new 
powers from Whitehall to local areas to promote growth and prosperity.  The 
Chancellor confirmed in the Spending Review and Autumn statement 
announcements that by the end of the current Parliament, local government will 
be able to retain 100% of local taxes – including all of the £26 billion of revenue 
from business rates.  It is worth noting that whilst local government as a whole 
will retain 100% of the business rates, some degree of re-distribution across the 
country will still be necessary within the system to take account of the 
significant differences between rate yields and needs in some areas.  The 
Chancellor also confirmed an intention to abolish the Uniform Business Rate 
and give local authorities the power to cut business rates to boost enterprise 
and economic activity in their areas. Local areas which successfully promote 
growth and attract businesses will therefore keep all of the benefit from 
increased business rate revenues. At the same time, the Revenue Support 
Grant will be phased out by 2020, and local government will take on new 
responsibilities. These proposals are not expected to have any impact upon the 
Council in 2016/17. 

 
3. Developing the Medium Term Financial Strategy 

3.1 Since 2010, local government has dealt with a 40% real terms reduction to its 
core government grant. In adult social care alone, funding reductions and 
demographic pressures have meant dealing with a £5 billion funding gap. Even 
in this challenging context, local government has continued to deliver.  Public 
polling nationally has shown that roughly 80% of those surveyed are satisfied 
with local services and that more than 70% of respondents trust councils more 
than central government to make decisions about services provided in the local 
area – a trend that has been sustained during the last five years.  

3.2 Between the 2010/11 and 2015/16 budgets, the Council’s core funding from 
Government has reduced by around £180m and in addition the Council has 
faced significant demand-led cost pressures. This means that the Council will 
have to deliver reductions in expenditure and increases in income totalling 
some £330m by March 2016. To date, the Council has responded successfully 
to the challenge and has marginally underspent in every year since 2010 
through a combination of stimulating good economic growth and creatively 
managing demand for services alongside a significant programme of more 
traditional efficiencies.  However, there is no doubt that it will become 
increasingly difficult over the coming years to identify further financial savings 
unless the Council works differently.   

3.3 Much will depend on redefining the social contract in Leeds: the relationship 
between public services and citizens where there is a balance between rights 

2015/16 2016/17
£m £m £m %

Revenue Support Grant 124.3 99.0 (25.3) 20.35
Business Rates Baseline 143.8 145.0 1.2 0.8
Settlement Funding Assessment 268.1 244.0 (24.1) 9.0

Change

Page 82



 

and responsibilities; a balance between reducing public sector costs and 
managing demand, and improving outcomes.  This builds on the concept of 
civic enterprise, born out of the Leeds-led ‘Commission on the Future of Local 
Government (2012)’, whereby the future of the Council lies in moving away 
from a heavily paternalistic role in which we largely provide services, towards a 
greater civic leadership role underpinned by an approach of restorative 
practice: working with people, not doing things to or for them, so that 
communities become less reliant on the state and more resilient.  If more 
people are able to do more themselves, the Council and its partners can more 
effectively concentrate and prioritise service provision towards those areas and 
communities most at need. 

3.4 This approach will help to tackle the range of inequalities that persist across the 
city as highlighted by this year’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
work and the latest socio-economic analysis on poverty and deprivation 
provided in the ‘Emerging 2016/17 Best Council Plan priorities, tackling poverty 
and deprivation’ report on today’s agenda.  The report draws on the latest 
analysis on poverty and deprivation based on the 2015 Poverty Fact Book and 
recently updated Index of Multiple Deprivation.   

3.5 Poverty Fact Book - the Poverty Fact Book uses national and local data to 
help define and analyse different poverty themes and informs the council’s and 
city’s response to tackling poverty.  It is based on definitions and analysis 
around the two national measures of poverty: Relative and Absolute Poverty. 
Relative Poverty measures the number of individuals who have household 
incomes below 60% of the median average in that year. Absolute Poverty 
measures individuals who have household incomes 60% below the median 
average in 2010/11, adjusted for inflation.  Key findings are: 

 Almost a quarter of the Leeds population – around 175,000 people across 
the city - is classified as being in ‘absolute poverty’.   

 Approximately 20,000 people in Leeds have needed assistance with food 
via a food bank between April 2014-2015.  

 Over 28,000 (19.5%) Leeds children are in poverty, 64% of whom are 
estimated to be from working families (2013/14).   

 As of October 2015, around 73,000 Leeds households were in receipt of 
Council Tax Support.  Of this figure over 25,000 (35%) of these households 
in Leeds now have to pay 25% of their council tax due to changes to 
Council Tax Support.  

 During 2014/15 in-work poverty was estimated to affect 15,000 households 
in Leeds.  Just over 24,000 Leeds residents in full-time work earn less than 
the Living Wage and almost 8,000 Leeds workers are on Zero Hour 
contracts.   

 Almost 38,000 Leeds households are in fuel poverty and over 8,000 of 
these households are paying their fuel bills via prepayment meters (2015).   

 Access to credit and interest rates for those on low incomes or with poor 
credit histories also remains high.  Around 121,000 payday loans were 
estimated to be accessed by Leeds residents in 2013.  

Page 83



 

3.6 Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2015 - the recent update of the IMD 
published by DCLG in September 2015 measures relative levels of deprivation 
in 32,844 small areas called Lower-layer Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in 
England.  The 2015 indices are based on broadly the same methodology as the 
previous 2010 Indices.  Although it is not possible to use the IMD to measure 
changes in the level of deprivation in places over time, it is possible to explore 
changes in relative deprivation, or changes in the pattern of deprivation, 
between this and previous updates of the IMD.  It is also important to note that 
these statistics are a measure of relative deprivation, not affluence, and to 
recognise that not every person in a highly deprived area will themselves be 
deprived.  Likewise, there will be some deprived people living in the least 
deprived areas.  Based on the latest IMD, early analysis has been carried out at 
local ward level and examining Leeds’ relative position nationally.  Key findings 
are: 

 Leeds is ranked 31 out of 326 local authorities, with 105 neighbourhoods in 
the most deprived 10% nationally (22% of all Leeds neighbourhoods).  
Leeds fares relatively well in comparison to other Core City local authority 
areas. 

 

 There are 164,000 people in Leeds who live in areas that are ranked 
amongst the most deprived 10% nationally.  The corresponding figure in the 
2010 Index was 150,000 people, but clearly not everyone living in these 
areas is deprived.  

 

 The IMD shows the geographic concentration of deprivation in the 
communities of Inner East and Inner South, confirming the wider analysis of 
poverty and deprivation undertaken in the recent Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment.   

 

 Analysis of relative change in the city since the last Index suggests that 
there has been some intensification of the concentration of our most 
deprived and least deprived neighbourhoods. 

 

 The age profile of our most deprived neighbourhoods confirms that our 
most deprived communities are also our youngest (and fastest growing).  

  

Page 84



 

 
Chart 1 - Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015 – Ward Analysis 

 

 

3.7 Though much work has already been done and is underway1, the analysis 
confirms the need for more concentrated and integrated efforts to tackle the 
often multiple deprivation encountered by our vulnerable communities.  The 
emphasis on tackling inequalities lies at the heart of the renewed ‘Best City’ 
ambition agreed by the Executive Board in September: to be the ‘Best City’ 
means Leeds must have a Strong Economy and be a Compassionate City, 
with the Council contributing to this by being a more Efficient & Enterprising 
organisation.  We want Leeds to be a city that is fair and sustainable, ambitious, 
fun and creative for all.  This ambition underpins the medium-term financial 
strategy and is informing the development of the Council’s 2016/17 Best 
Council Plan objectives and priorities and the supporting Initial Budget 
Proposals set out here.  The 2016/17 Best Council Plan will be presented to the 
Board and then Full Council in February 2016 alongside the final budget 
proposals. 

  

                                                 
1 Please see the June 2015 Executive Board report, ‘Supporting communities and tackling poverty’ for progress made 
to date and the further actions to be taken under the ‘Citizens@Leeds’ banner; the September  2015 Executive Board 
report, ‘Best Council Plan – Strong Economy and Compassionate City’ summarising a range of successes so far and 
continued challenges against these two themes; and the October 2015 Executive Board report, ‘Strong economy, 
Compassionate city’ that detailed some of the key themes and practical steps the council and its partners can take to 
further the renewed ‘best city’ ambition by better integrating the approach to supporting growth and tackling poverty. 

Page 85



 

 
4. Estimating the Net Revenue budget for 2016/17  
 
4.1 Settlement Funding Assessment – Reduction of £24.1m 
 
 As outlined in Table 5 above, based on the announcement of the Spending 

Review in November, the indicative Settlement Funding Assessment for Leeds 
represents a reduction of £24.1m (9%) for 2016/17 when compared to 2015/16.   
However, these are still estimates based on national figures and the actual 
Settlement Funding Assessment for individual local authorities will not be 
known until the provisional Local Government Finance settlement which is 
expected in December 2015.  

 
4.2 Business Rates Retention – Net pressure of £12.6m 

4.2.1 Leeds has the most diverse economy of all the UK’s main employment centres 
and has seen the fastest rate of private sector jobs growth of any UK city in 
recent years.  Yet this apparent growth in the economy is not being translated 
into business rates growth; in fact the Council’s business rates income has 
declined month by month since the start of the 2015/16 financial year and other 
authorities are reporting similar problems. 

4.2.2 Under the Business Rates Retention (BRR) scheme which was introduced in 
2013/14, business rates income is shared equally between local and central 
government. Local authorities that experience growth in business rates are able 
to retain 50% of that growth locally. The downside is that local authorities also 
bear 50% of the risk if their business rates fall or fail to keep pace with inflation, 
although a safety-net mechanism is in place to limit losses from year to year to 
7.5% of their business rates baseline. Although BRR allows local authorities to 
benefit from business rates growth, it also exposes them to risk from reductions 
in rateable values. The system allows ratepayers and their agents to appeal to 
the Valuation Office against their rateable values if they think they have been 
wrongly assessed or that local circumstances have changed. When agreement 
cannot be reached, appeals may be pursued through the Valuation Tribunal 
and then through the courts. One major issue with the system is that successful 
appeals are usually backdated to the start of the current Valuation List, i.e. 1st 
April 2010, and this greatly increases the losses in cash terms – by nearly six 
times in the current financial year.  At end of September 2015 there were 
approximately 6,500 appeals outstanding in Leeds and the total rateable value 
of the assessments with at least one appeal outstanding totals some £485m, 
which equates to more than half of the total rateable value of the city.  It is 
worth noting that the Council does not set rateable values and nor does it have 
any role in the appeals process, but has to deal with the financial impact of 
appeals. 

4.2.3 The budget proposals include a net general fund cost of £12.6m in 2016/17 
which recognises the worsening position on business rates and the contribution 
required from the general fund to the collection fund.  This £12.6m net pressure 
includes a £22.2m estimated contribution from the General Fund to the 
Collection Fund which in the main recognises the on-going impact of the 

Page 86



 

backdating of appeals.  It should be noted that this £22.2m contribution in 
2016/17 is in addition to the £6.4m contribution to the Collection Fund in 
2015/16.  This contribution assumes £13.4m of business rates growth which 
recognises the continuing improvement of the economic climate across the city. 

  Table 7 – Business Rates Retention scheme 

 

4.2.4 The Spending Review and Autumn Statement further supports small 
businesses by extending the doubling of small business rate relief (SBRR) in 
England for 12 months to April 2017.  However, the Retail Relief Scheme, 
which was a two-year local discount awarded at the Council’s discretion which 
was fully funded by section 31 grant, has not been extended and will end at the 
end of March 2016 as previously announced.  The impact will be to increase 
the income from business rates by £2.1m which is directly offset by a £2.1m 
reduction in the section 31 grant. 

 
4.2.5 The new Enterprise Bill was introduced to the House of Lords on 16th 

September 2015. It contains provisions dealing with two aspects in respect of 
the non-domestic rating system: a) disclosure of information by HMRC and b) 
regulations covering appeals against rateable value that could affect local 
authorities. Whilst these proposals will help a little, they are unlikely to resolve 
the central problems for local authorities with the system of Business Rates 
Retention and specifically the risks associated with the appeals process. 

  
4.3 Council Tax 

 
4.3.1 The 2015/16 budget was supported by a 1.99% increase in the level of Council 

Tax which remains the 2nd lowest of the Core Cities and mid-point of the West 
Yorkshire districts.  

 

Page 87



 

 Table 8 – 2015/16 Council Tax levels (Figures exclude Police and Fire precepts) 
 

 
 
4.3.2 Government previously provided funding for the on-going effect of previous 

Council Tax freezes up to 2015/16. The Council accepted the Council Tax 
freeze grant for the years 2011/12 to 2013/14, and government funding of 
£9.4m was built into the Council’s 2015/16 settlement (the grant for freezing 
Council Tax in 2012/13 was for one year only).   

4.3.3 The 2016/17 Initial Budget Proposals recognise an additional £4.7m of income 
from increases to the Council Tax base (4,015 band D equivalent properties) 
together with a reduction in the contribution from the Collection Fund of £0.8m 
(a budgeted £2.03m surplus on the Collection Fund in 2015/16 reducing to an 
estimated surplus on the Collection Fund of £1.2m in 2016/17). 

 
4.3.4 In previous years the Government has set a limit of up to 2% for Council Tax 

increases above which a Local Authority must seek approval through a local 
referendum.  The referendum ceiling for 2016/17 has yet to be announced; 
when this information is known the Council will need to make a decision about 
the proposed Council Tax increase.  However, subject to an announcement as 
to a referendum ceiling it is proposed that the standard Council tax is increased 
by 1.99%.  In addition it is proposed that the Leeds element of Council tax is 
also increased by the 2% Adult Social Care precept. 

 
4.3.5 Table 9 below sets out the estimated total income from Council Tax in 2016/17.  

This recognises the estimated increase in the Council Tax base, a £1.2m 
surplus on the Collection Fund together with £10.2m of additional income 
generated from the Adult Social Care precept and the general increase in the 
Council Tax rate. 

  

Page 88



 

 
 Table 9 – Estimated Council Tax income in 2016/17 

 
 
4.3.6 The settlement funding assessment includes an element to compensate parish 

and town councils for losses to their council tax bases from the  Local Council 
Tax Support (LCTS). The amount is not separately identifiable and, as in 
previous years, it is proposed that the LCTS grant for parish and town councils 
should be reduced in-line with the assumptions for Leeds’ overall reduction in 
the Settlement Funding Assessment which would be a reduction of 9% for 
2016/17 from £92k to £84k.   

 
4.4 The Net Revenue Budget 2016/17 

 
4.4.1 After taking into account the anticipated changes to the Settlement Funding 

Assessment, Business Rates and Council Tax, the overall Net Revenue Budget 
for the Council is anticipated to reduce by £22.6m from £523.8m down to 
£501.2m, as detailed in table 10 below; 

 
Table 10 – Estimated Net Revenue Budget 2016/17 compared to 2015/16 Net Revenue Budget 
 

 
 

4.4.2  Table 11 below analyses the £22.6m estimated reduction in the net revenue 
budget between the Settlement Funding Assessment and locally determined 
funding sources. 

  

2015/16 Council Tax Funding 251.9

Less: Change in Collection Fund - Increase /(reduction) (0.8)

Add: Increase in tax base 4.7

Add: 1.99% increase in Council Tax level 5.1

Add: 2% Adult Social Care Precept 5.1

2016/17 Council Tax Funding 266.0

£m

2015/16 2016/17 Change
£m £m £m

Revenue Support Grant 124.3 99.0 (25.3)
Business Rates Baseline 143.8 145.0 1.2
Settlement Funding Assessment 268.1 244.0 (24.1)

Business Rates Growth 10.2 13.4 3.2
Business Rates Deficit (6.4) (22.2) (15.8)
Council Tax 249.9 264.8 14.9
Council Tax surplus/(deficit) 2.0 1.2 (0.8)
Net Revenue Budget 523.8 501.2 (22.6)

Page 89



 

 
Table 11 – Reduction in the funding envelope 
 

 
 
5. Developing the Council’s Budget Proposals - consultation 

5.1 The financial strategy and initial budget proposals have both been driven by the 
Council’s ambitions and priorities which have been shaped through past 
consultations and stakeholder engagement. Public perception evidence that 
services and localities already hold about people’s priorities has been brought 
together and a summary of the findings produced to support the preparation of 
the initial budget proposals for 2016/17.    

5.2 As in previous years, residents and wider stakeholders will have the opportunity 
to comment on the initial budget proposals in a variety of ways, for example 
hard-copy feedback forms in public spaces, online and also through city-wide 
networks. 

 
6. Initial Budget Proposals 2016/17   
 
6.1 This section provides an overview of the spending pressures which the Council 

is facing in 2016/17 and the initial budget proposals to balance to the available 
resources. Table 12 below provides a summary of key cost pressures and 
savings areas: 

  

2016/17
£m

Government Funding
Settlement Funding Assessment (24.1)

Sub-total Government Funding (24.1)

Locally Determined Funding
Council Tax 14.1
Business Rates (12.6)

Sub-total Locally Determined Funding 1.5

Reduction in Net Revenue Budget (22.6)

Funding Envelope

Page 90



 

 
   Table 12 Initial Budget Proposals 2016/17  

 

 
  

6.1.1 The pie charts below show the share of the Council’s net managed expenditure 
between directorates for 2015/16 and the proposed allocations for 2016/17 
based on the Initial Budget Proposals. It should be noted that these resource 
allocations may be subject to amendments as we move through the budget 
setting process. Net managed expenditure represents the budgets under the 
control of individual directorates and excludes items such as capital charges 
and pensions adjustments.  

 
6.1.2 It can be seen that the proportion of the Council’s spend on Children’s Services 

and Adult Social Care has increased from  60.2% in 2015/16 to 64.1% in 
2016/17 which reflects the Council’s priorities around supporting the most 
vulnerable across the city and to prioritise spending in these areas. 

  

£m
Reduction in Settlement Funding Assessment 24.1
Business Rates - potential growth offset by impact of backdated appeals 12.6
Inflation 8.4
National Insurance Changes 7.3
Real Living Wage 3.3
National Living Wage - Commissioned Services 5.2
Demand & Demography - Adult Social Care and Children's Services 6.5
Fall-out of Capitalised Pension costs (2.3)
Debt and review of future capital funding (1.3)
Tour de Yorkshire & World Triathlon 0.6

0.4

Income Generation & Inward Investment 0.3
Elections - reinstate budget 0.2
West Yorkshire Transport Fund 0.2
Business Rates - Retail rate relief - fall out of section 31 grant 2.1
Reduction in ring-fenced Public Health Grant 3.9
Other Corporate and Directorate Budget Pressures 15.8

Cost & Funding Changes 87.2

Waste Strategy - full year effect of RERF (4.0)
New Homes Bonus (0.6)
Asset Management savings (1.1)
Changes to Minimum Revenue Provision (21.0)
Reserves/One-off income (2.3)
Directorate Savings - see appendix 2 (44.1)

Total Savings and Efficiencies (73.1)

Potential increase in Council Tax base, rate and Social Care precept (14.1)

Total - Savings, Efficiencies and Council Tax (87.2)

Council Tax Invest to Save - Customer Services Officers & review of Single 
Person Discounts

Page 91



 

 
 Chart 2 – Net Managed budgets 2015/16 and 2016/17 
        

 
 
6.2 Changes in Costs 
 
6.2.1 Inflation - the budget proposals include allowance for £8.4m of net inflation in 

2016/17.  This includes provision of £4.1m for a 1% pay award over and above 
the cost of implementing the real living wage. The budget proposals allow for 
inflation where there is a contractual commitment, but anticipates that the 
majority of other spending budgets are cash-limited.  An anticipated 3% general 
rise in fees and charges has also been built into the budget proposals.  

 
6.2.2 Employer’s National Insurance - employer’s national insurance costs are due 

to increase in 2016/17 as announced in the Chancellor’s Autumn Statement in 
2013. The estimated cost of this in 2016/17 is £7.6m of which £7.3m relates to 
general fund services and £0.3m to the Housing Revenue Account.  In addition, 
the impact on schools will be in the region of £4.9m in 2016/17. 

6.2.3 National Living Wage – as part of the budget in July 2015, Government 
announced the introduction of a new National Living Wage of £7.20 per hour, 
rising to an estimated £9 per hour by 2020.  Implemented from April 2016, this 
National Living Wage would be paid to all employees aged over 25. In addition 
to the additional cost of implementing the Real Living Wage for all directly-
employed staff, the budget proposals also make allowance for implementing the 
cost of the National Living Wage for commissioned services, primarily those 
within Adult Social Care.  The immediate impact in 2016/17 is estimated at an 
additional cost of £5.2m. 

6.2.4 Real Living Wage – at its September 2015 meeting, the Executive Board 
agreed that Council would move towards becoming a real Living Wage 
employer.  

 In November 2015, the Campaign for Living Wage Foundation announced a 
living wage of £8.25 per hour (outside London).  It is proposed to move to 

Page 92



 

becoming a real living wage employer during 2016/17 by implementing a 
minimum rate of £8.01 per hour from April 2016 and consider the impact of a 
further increase with a view to implementing during the year.  A provision of 
£3.3m for 2016/17 has been included in the general fund with a further cost to 
the Housing Revenue Account of £0.1m and an impact for schools-based staff 
of £2.7m.   

6.2.5 Demand and Demography  
 
6.2.5.1 In Adult Social Care, the budget proposals recognise the increasing 

demographic pressures with provision of £5.8m in 2016/17.  The population 
growth forecast assumes a steady increase from 2015 in the number of people 
aged 85 - 89 during 2016 and 2017 (2.9% and 2.8% respectively) followed by 
further increases but at a lower rate of 1.8% for the later years of the strategy, 
resulting in additional costs for domiciliary care and care home placements. In 
addition, the budget proposals reflect the anticipated increase in the number of 
customers opting for cash personal budgets. The Learning Disability 
demography is expected to grow by £3.7m per annum, which includes an 
anticipated growth in numbers of 3.5% (based on ONS data) through to 2020; 
but noting that the high cost increase is primarily a combination of increasingly 
complex (and costly) packages for those entering adult care, as well as meeting 
the costs of the increasing need for existing clients whose packages may last a 
lifetime. 

 
6.2.5.2 In addition, there are increasing demographic and demand pressures in 

Children’s Services.  Across the city, the birth rate is increasing with a projected 
3.3% increase in the number of children and young people rising from 183,000 
in 2012 to 189,000 by 2017.  This rising birth rate is further compounded by the 
impact of net migration into the city and typically, an increase of 6,000 children 
and young people would generate pressure of £2m across the Children’s 
Services budget, particularly the budget supporting children in care.   

 
This increasing demographic also brings with it an increasing number of 
children with special & very complex needs. In budgetary terms, this impacts in 
particular on the externally provided residential placement budget and also in 
the budgets that support children and young people with special educational 
needs, specifically the educational placement budget (funded through the 
dedicated schools grant), and the home to school/college transport budget 
which is funded through the general fund. In respect of the latter, the 2016/17 
budget proposals include additional funding of £0.7m reflecting this increasing 
demand.    

 
Additionally, it is worth noting that changes in government legislation have also 
increased the costs to local authorities, an example of this being the ‘Staying 
Put’ arrangements, which enables young people to remain with their carers up 
to the age of 21. These arrangements are resulting in additional costs of 
approximately £1m over and above the £0.2m grant allocation. 

6.2.6 Debt – the proposed budget recognises a reduction in the cost of debt and 
capital financing costs of £1.3m in 2016/17 which reflects the on-going capital 

Page 93



 

programme commitments together with anticipated changes in interest rates.  
The gross total capital programme is £1.1bn and seeks to deliver investment in 
line with the Council’s plans and objectives.  The level of the capital programme 
will continue to be reviewed to ensure that it is deliverable and that it continues 
to be supportive of the Council’s priorities.  The forecast debt budget reflects 
the costs of financing both present and future borrowing in line with assumed 
borrowing costs.  These assumed borrowing costs will be kept under review 
and adjusted for the latest market estimates. 

6.2.7 Council Tax Support Scheme & Single Person Discount – the initial budget 
proposals recognise that the Council Tax Support Scheme will continue 
unchanged.  An additional investment of £0.32m has been included in the 
budget proposals to fund additional customer services officers who will support 
implementation of the Personal Work Packages as part of the Council Tax 
Support Scheme which commenced in October 2015.  This additional cost will 
be funded through additional income from estimated increases to the Council 
tax base.  In addition, the proposed budget includes funding to extend the 
invest to save work on single person discount where again the commensurate 
savings are recognised in the council tax base 

 
6.2.8 Public Health - on the 4th November, Government announced the outcome of 

the consultation on the implementation of a £200m national in-year cut to the 
2015/16 ring-fenced Public Health grant allocation.  This confirmed the 
Department of Health's preferred option of reducing each local authority's 
allocation by 6.2%, which resulted in a reduction of £2.82m for Leeds in 
2015/16.  

 
  In the Spending Review and Autumn Statement, Government indicated it will 

make savings in local authority public health spending with average annual 
real-terms savings of 3.9% over the next 5 years which will manifest in 
reductions to the public health grant to local authorities.  It has become 
apparent that these further reductions are in addition to the 6.2% 2015/16 
reductions which will now recur in 2016/17 and beyond.  This will mean an 
estimated reduction to the Council’s public health grant of £3.9m in 2016/17 
with a total estimated reduction to the Council’s grant allocation of £7.3m by 
2019/20.  This will effectively mean that the Council will have £25m less to 
spend on public health priorities between 2015/16 and 2019/20.  The 
Department of Health will announce the specific allocation for Leeds only in 
January 2016. 

 
  In addition, the fall-out of £1.4m of non-recurrent funding from 2015/16 will 

mean the total savings needed from the public health budget in 2016/17 is 
£5.3m 

  

Page 94



 

 
Table 13 – Public Health – estimated grant allocation and reduction. 

 

 
 

6.2.9 Tour de Yorkshire & World Triathlon – in 2016 Leeds is scheduled to host 
the World Triathlon and again host a stage of the Tour de Yorkshire.  The 
budget proposals include £0.6m of invest to save funding which recognises the 
significant economic boost that these events will bring to the City and wider 
region. 

 
6.2.10 Income Generation and Inward Investment – in support of the continuing 

drive to become a more enterprising and efficient organisation, the budget 
proposals include proposals to invest in additional capacity to support the 
Council’s income generation strategy including how we capitalise on the 
opportunities from trading services.  In addition, the proposals include additional 
investment to support inward investment including working with partners to 
market our city. 

 
6.2.11 West Yorkshire Transport Fund – the budget proposals recognise a potential 

increase in the contribution to the West Yorkshire Transport Fund from £5.4m in 
2014/15 to £11.4m over 10 years, an increase of £0.6m each year. The Leeds 
share based on population figures is around £0.2m and provision has been built 
into the proposed budget to reflect this which would be a decision by the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority as part of their levy proposals.   

 
6.2.12 Other Pressures - £15.8m 
 
6.2.12.1 Waste Management and Disposal Costs – a pressure of £0.96m is reflected 

in the 2016/17 budget proposals which reflects changes to the costs of waste 
disposal/recycling income, maintenance costs and household waste.  

 
6.2.12.2 Grant & other funding – the 2016/17 budget proposals also take into account 

anticipated grant reductions across a number of services.  These include; 
 

 the fall-out of the Children’s Social Care Innovations funding of £1.6m. 
 non-recurrent funding of £1m for capacity building for free early education 

entitlement.  
 a £0.3m pressure from the fall-out of the SEND reform grant.  
 a reduction to the Housing Benefit Administration grant of £0.3m.  

National Leeds
£'000 £'000

Original 2015/16 grant 2,801,471 40,540
Add: 0-5 transfer from health 859,526 9,986

3,660,997 50,526
Less: 2015/16 recurring grant reduction (6.2%) (200,000) (2,823)
Less: estimated 2016/17 grant reduction (2.2%) (76,142) (1,049)
Estimated 2016/17 grant 3,384,855 46,654

Total estimated grant reduction in 2016/17 (276,142) (3,872)
Percentage reduction in cash-terms 7.54% 7.66%

Page 95



 

 an anticipated continuation of the in-year cut in the Youth Offending 
Service grant of £0.3m 

 an estimated reduction of £0.3m to the Education Services Grant 
recognising schools becoming academies. 

 Non-recurrent health income of £1m for Community Intermediate Care 
beds. 

 Non-recurrent funding of £1.9m from health around Health & Social Care 
initiatives. 

 One-off income in 2015/16 in City Development which was supporting 
economic regeneration activities. 

 
6.2.12.3 Demand – the budget proposals also recognise continuation of the 2015/16 

demand pressures in Adult Social Care with a provision of £1.9m included in 
the budget proposals.  In addition, there is a pressure of £0.2m reflecting 
additional commissioning costs for South Leeds Independence Centre. 

 
6.2.12.4 Income trends – a £0.4m pressure in City Development reflecting income 

trends in respect of advertising, venues income and fee recovery in asset 
management. 

 
6.2.12.5 Police and Community Support Officers (PCSOs) – from April 2016 the 

Police and Crime Commissioner is seeking to  change the funding formula 
PCSOs so that local authorities will be required to make a contribution of 50% 
to their cost.  Currently Leeds City Council spends £1.06m per annum on 
PCSOs which represents a 20% contribution to the cost of providing 165 
PCSOs city wide. Therefore unless the Council increases its contribution, 
implementation of this revised funding agreement will have implications for the 
total number of PCSOs that the Council can support.   

 
6.3 The Budget Gap – Savings Options – £73.1m 

6.3.1 After taking into account the impact of the anticipated changes in funding and 
spend, it is forecast that the Council will need to generate savings, efficiencies 
and additional income to the order of £73.1m in 2016/17, in addition to an 
estimated £14.1m additional Council Tax income. The total budget savings 
options are shown at table 12 and detailed by directorate at appendix 2.  This 
estimated budget gap and therefore the required savings are very much 
dependent on the range of assumptions highlighted previously in this report, 
particularly around the level of future core funding from Government, which for 
individual local authorities will not be confirmed until the provisional local 
government finance settlement is announced in mid-December 2015. 

6.3.2 New Homes Bonus – savings of £0.6m 

6.3.2.1 The government introduced an incentive scheme in 2011 to encourage housing 
growth across the country; Councils receive additional grant equivalent to the 
average national Council Tax for each net additional property each year and is 
received annually for six years. An additional 2,800 band D equivalent 
properties per annum has been assumed for 2016/17 which includes both new 
builds and properties brought back into use. The Council not only benefits from 

Page 96



 

the additional Council Tax raised from these properties, estimated to be £3.3m 
in 2016/17, but also through the through New Homes Bonus which is estimated 
at an additional £4.1m per annum. However, taking account of the shortfall in 
the net increase in properties in 2015/16 together with the fall-out of the £2.7m 
income from 2010/11 means that the cash increase is reduced to £0.6m.   

 
6.3.2.2 It should be noted that whilst the New Homes Bonus is intended as an incentive 

for housing growth, the funding for this initiative comes from a top-slice of the 
Local Government funding settlement and the distribution of this funding 
benefits those parts of the country with the highest level of housing growth and 
is weighted in favour of properties in higher Council Tax bands.  

 
6.3.3 Efficiencies – savings of £14m 
 
6.3.3.1 Appendix 2 provides the detail of a range of proposed efficiency savings across 

all directorates which total some £14m in 2016/17. These savings are across a 
number of initiatives around;  

 
 Organisational design. 
 Continuing demand management through investment in prevention and 

early intervention, particularly in Adult Social Care and Children’s 
Services. 

 Savings across the range support service functions.  
 Ongoing recruitment and retention management.  
 Reviewing leadership and management. 
 Realising savings by cash-limiting and reducing non-essential budgets. 
 Estimated savings on energy and fuel through price and volume. 
 Ongoing procurement and purchasing savings. 

 
6.3.4 Fees & Charges – additional income of £2.8m    
 
6.3.4.1 The initial budget proposals assume a general increase in fees and charges of 

3%.  In addition, appendix 2 sets out detailed proposals around a number of 
fees and charges where further increases are proposed which in total would 
generate an additional £2.8m of income by March 2017.  

 
6.3.5 Traded Services, partner income & other income – additional income of 

£12.5m 
 
6.3.5.1 Appendix 2 provides detail across directorates of a range of proposals that 

together would generate additional income of £12.5m.  This includes; 
 

 Adult Social Care – further health funding, including the Better Care Fund 
and transformation funding. 

 Improvement partner income in Children’s Services. 
 Continued funding from schools and health to support the Children’s 

Services strategy recognising the range of mutual benefits of the 
investment in preventative and early intervention. 

 A range of additional trading with schools, academies and other external 
organisations. 

Page 97



 

 
6.3.6 Service Changes – savings of £14.9m 
 
6.3.6.1 By necessity, managing a reduction of £24.1m in government funding in 

addition to a range of cost pressures means that the Council will have to make 
some difficult decisions around the level and quality of services that it provides 
and whether these services should be increasingly targeted toward need. 

  
6.3.6.2 Appendix 2 sets out these detailed service change proposals which together 

total savings of £14.9m by March 2017. 
    
6.3.7 Minimum Revenue Provision – savings of £21m 
  
6.3.7.1 When capital investment is funded from borrowing, there is a cost to the 

revenue budget both in terms of interest and minimum revenue provision. The 
annual minimum revenue provision is effectively the means by which capital 
expenditure which has been funded by borrowing is paid for by the council tax 
payer.  

 
6.3.7.2 By statute, local authorities need to make a prudent level of provision for the 

repayment of debt, and the government has issued statutory guidance, which 
local authorities are required to ‘have regard to’ when setting a prudent level of 
MRP. The guidance sets out the broad aims of a prudent MRP policy, which 
should be to ensure that borrowing is repaid either over the life of the asset 
which the capital expenditure related to or, for supported borrowing, the period 
assumed in the original grant determination. The guidance identifies four 
options for calculating MRP which would result in a prudent provision, but 
states that other approaches are not ruled out. Local authorities therefore have 
a considerable level of freedom in determining their MRP policies, provided that 
they are in line with the broad aims set out in the statutory guidance. 

 
6.3.7.3 The Capital Finance and Audit Regulations require councils to produce an 

annual statement of policy on making MRP which the Council last did as part of 
the 2015/16 Capital Programme report to full Council in February 2015.  

 
6.3.7.4 The Council has undertaken a review of the application of its existing MRP 

policies and identified opportunities for additional savings which will reduce the 
pressure on its revenue budget but still ensure that a prudent level of provision 
is set aside.  

 
6.3.7.5    The main features of the Council’s 2015/16 MRP policy include; 
 

 If capital receipts have been used to repay borrowing for the year then the 
value of the MRP which would otherwise have been set aside to repay 
borrowing will be reduced by the amounts which have instead been repaid 
from capital receipts. 
 

 MRP for borrowing for 2014/15’s capital expenditure will be calculated on 
an annuity basis over the expected useful life of the assets. For 
expenditure capitalised under statute where there is no identifiable asset, 

Page 98



 

the lifetimes used for calculating the MRP will be as recommended in the 
statutory guidance. 

 
 MRP for borrowing on capital expenditure incurred between 2007/08 and 

2013/14 for which an annuity asset life basis is already being used will 
continue on the same basis. 

 
 For borrowing arising from earlier years, MRP will be charged on an asset 

life annuity basis. As data is not available to identify the individual assets 
which this borrowing relates to, an average asset life for categories of 
assets in the authority’s current asset register will be used.  

 
 For PFI and finance lease liabilities, a MRP charge will be made to match 

the value of any liabilities written down during the year which have not 
been otherwise funded by capital receipts.  

 
The proposed MRP policy for 2016/17 will state that borrowing for 2015/16 
capital expenditure will be calculated on an annuity basis over the expected life 
of the assets.  It will also propose that the MRP liability on PFI schemes (to be 
met from capital receipts) is calculated over the life of the assets rather than the 
duration of the contract. 

 
These changes have enabled the revenue budget strategy to include £21m of 
savings for 2016/17. 

 
6.3.8 Fall-out of Capitalised Pension Costs – savings of £2.3m are included in the 

budget proposals which result from the fall-out of the pension costs from 
2011/12 which were capitalised and spread across the 5-year period. 

 
6.3.9 Assets – to date, the Council has successfully implemented a strategy which 

has seen a reduction in its asset portfolio and specifically a reduction in Council 
office accommodation by 250,000 square feet.  The 2016/17 budget proposals 
include estimated revenue budget savings of £1.1m from the implementation of 
the asset management strategy and the reduction of the Council’s asset 
portfolio.    

 
6.3.10 Recovery and Energy from Waste Facility – the management of the long-

term contract with Veolia for the construction and operation of the residual 
waste treatment facility in Leeds is estimated to realise savings of £4m in 
2016/17. 

 
6.4 Impact of proposals on employees 
 
6.4.1 The Council has operated a voluntary retirement and severance scheme since 

2010/11 which has contributed to a forecast reduction in the workforce of 2,500 
ftes to March 2016, generating savings of £55m per year.  

 
6.4.2 The initial budget proposals provide for an estimated net reduction in 

anticipated staff numbers of 259 ftes by 31st March 2017, as shown in table 14 
below: 

Page 99



 

 
 Table 14 – Estimated staffing implications 
 

 
  

6.5 Staffing Impact 
 
6.5.1 The proposals outlined above are reflected in table 15 below which gives a 

subjective breakdown of the Council’s initial budget in 2016/17, compared to 
2015/16.  

 
 Table 15 Subjective Analysis- General Fund 

 
  

Full-time Equivalents Increases Decreases
Net 

Movement

Adult Social Care 5 (161) (156)
Children's Services 21 (59) (38)
City Development 0 (27) (27)
Environment & Housing 1 (35) (34)
Strategy & Resources 0 (62) (62)
Civic Enterprise Leeds 0 (5) (5)
Citizens & Communities 10 (14) (4)
Public Health 0 (5) (5)

Total - General Fund 37 (368) (331)

Housing Revenue Account 83 (11) 72

Total - General Fund & HRA 120 (379) (259)

Budget Budget Variation
2015/16 2016/17

£m £m £m
Employees 437.1 438.9 1.9
Other running expenses 142.1 140.0 (2.1)
Capital Charges 47.1 24.8 (22.3)
Payments to external service providers 341.5 349.7 8.3
Fees & Charges/Other Income (223.2) (234.5) (11.3)
Specific Grants (219.2) (215.3) 3.9
Use of General Fund reserves (1.5) (2.5) (1.0)
Net Revenue Budget 523.8 501.2 (22.6)

Funded by:
SFA/Business Rates 278.3 257.4 (20.9)
Collection Fund surplus/(deficit) - Business Rates (6.4) (22.2) (15.8)
Council Tax 249.9 264.8 14.9
Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax 2.0 1.2 (0.8)
Total Funding 523.8 501.2 (22.6)

Page 100



 

7. General Reserve 
 
7.1 General and useable reserves are a key measure of the financial resilience of 

the Council, allowing the authority to address unexpected financial pressures.  
Since 2010/11, the Council’s general reserve level has reduced from £29.56m 
down to £22.3m at April 2015 with further budgeted use of £1.5m in 2015/16. 

 
7.2     The assumed general reserve balance of £20.9m at March 2016 is predicated 

on the delivery of a balanced budget in 2015/16.  Executive Board will be aware 
of the pressures in the 2015/16 financial year and the Financial Health report 
(month 7) indicates a potential pressure of £4m, primarily due to continuing 
demand pressures in Children’s Social Care.  The expectation is that measures 
will be put in place to bring the budget into balance by March 2016. 

 
7.3 The 2016/17 budget proposals assume a £1m increase in the use of general 

reserves in 2016/17 up to £2.45m.  This will reduce the estimated level of the 
general reserves to £18.4m by March 2017 as set out in the table below;   

 
 Table 16 – General reserve level 
 

 
 

7.4 Given the uncertainty about the future government funding, the financial 
challenges ahead and the inherent risks in future budgets, there is a strong 
argument that the level of general reserves should be increased over the next 
few years in order to increase the Council’s resilience.  To this end, and as 
envisaged in the medium-term financial strategy report, proposals will be 
brought to the February Executive Board around the potential to ring-fence 
specific capital receipts from asset sales to reduce the Council’s minimum 
revenue provision requirement and to then use these savings to increase the 
level of General Reserves. 

 
8.  The Schools Budget 

8.1 The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) for 2016/17 will continue to be funded as 
three separate blocks for early years, high needs and schools. 

 
8.2 The early years block will fund free early education for 3 and 4 year olds and 

the early education of eligible vulnerable 2 year olds. The per pupil units of 
funding will be confirmed in December 2015 and will continue to be based on 
participation. From September 2017, Government will double the amount of 
free childcare to 30 hours/week for working families of 3 and 4 year old 
children.  

General Reserves 2015/16 2016/17
£m £m

Opening Balance 1st April 22.3 20.9

Budgeted usage (1.5) (2.5)

Closing Balance 31st March 20.9 18.4

Page 101



 

 
8.3 The high needs block will support places and top-up funding in special schools, 

resourced provision in mainstream schools and alternative provision; top-up 
funding for early years, primary, secondary, post-16 and out of authority 
provision; central SEN support and hospital & home education. Published place 
numbers for the 2015/16 academic year will be rolled forward as the base for 
2016/17 allocations and adjusted in accordance with the Education Funding 
Agency’s (EFA) place change request process. The overall high needs block 
allocation will not be known until December 2015.  

 
8.4 The schools block funds the delegated budgets of primary and secondary 

schools for pupils in reception to year 11, and a number of prescribed services 
and costs in support of education in schools. The grant for 2016-17 will be 
based on pupil numbers in Leeds (including those in academies and free 
schools) as at October 2015, multiplied by the schools block unit of funding 
which for 2016/17 is £4,545.94. This rate incorporates the former non-
recoupment academies. It is estimated that pupil numbers will increase by over 
2,000 year on year, mainly in primary. 

 
8.5 Following agreement with Leeds Schools Forum, the Council applied to 

continue to retain £5.2m of the schools block centrally in 2016/17 in order to 
support Clusters and this application has been approved by the Secretary of 
State. The EFA has stipulated that from April 2017, the local authority will have 
to put a plan in place so that schools may opt to purchase the service through 
individual agreement.  

 
8.6 Funding for post-16 provision is allocated by the EFA through a national 

formula. No changes to the formula are expected for 2016/17. From 2017/18, 
sixth-form colleges will be able to become academies. The current national 
base rate per student for 16-19 year olds will be protected in cash terms over 
the parliament. 

 
8.7 Pupil Premium grant is paid to schools and academies based on the number of 

eligible Reception – year 11 pupils on roll in January each year. The rates for 
2015/16 are: primary £1,320, secondary £935, looked after/adopted £1,900, 
service £300. The early years pupil premium is payable to providers for eligible 
3 and 4 year olds at the rate of £0.53 per child per hour. The pupil premium 
grant will continue and the rates will be protected.  

 
8.8 The Primary PE grant will be paid in the 2015/16 academic year to all primary 

schools at a rate of £8,000 plus £5 per pupil. The Year 7 catch-up grant will be 
paid in the 2015-16 financial year at a rate of £500 for each pupil in year 7 who 
did not achieve at least level 4 in reading and/or mathematics (maximum £500 
per pupil) at key stage 2. The rates for 2016-17 have yet to be announced. 

 
8.9 A grant for the universal provision of free school meals for all pupils in 

Reception, Year 1 and Year 2 was introduced in September 2014. Funding is 
based on a rate of £2.30 per meal taken by eligible pupils. Data from the 
October and January censuses will be used to calculate the allocations for the 

Page 102



 

academic year. The government has given a commitment to maintain this 
funding. 

 
8.10 From 2017/18, the government has announced that funding for schools, early 

years and high needs will be delivered through a national funding formula and 
there will be a transitional phase to smooth its introduction. Funding for the 
pupil premium and universal infant free school meals grants will continue. There 
will be a reduction in the education support grant (ESG) paid to local authorities 
as part of Government’s commitment to reduce the local authority role in 
running schools as well as the removal of a number of statutory duties.  
Government will launch a detailed consultation on policy and funding proposals 
in 2016. 

 
8.11 Schools funding summary  
 

Estimated figures for the 2015/16 and 2016/17 financial years are shown below: 
 

 2015/16
£m

2016/17 
£m 

 

Change 
£m 

 
DSG - schools block  456.98 466.24 9.26
DSG - early years block  39.20 41.24 2.04
DSG - high needs block 58.35 58.35 -
EFA Post 16 funding 33.23 33.23 -
Pupil premium grant  41.36 42.26 0.90
Early years pupil premium grant 0.60 0.60 -
PE & sport grant 2.07 2.09 0.02
Summer schools grant 0.75 0.75 -
Yr 7 catch-up grant 0.84 0.87 0.03
Universal infant free school meals 
grant 

9.23 9.43 0.20

Total Schools Budget 642.61 655.06 12.45
 

(Note: figures include estimated allocations for academies and free schools) 
  
  
9. Housing Revenue Account 

9.1 The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) includes all expenditure and income 
incurred in managing the Council’s housing stock and, in accordance with 
Government legislation, operates as a ring fenced account. 

 
9.2 In July 2015 the Chancellor announced that for the 4 years 2016/17 to 2019/20 

housing rents would need to reduce by 1% each year. The Council’s current 
HRA Financial Plan is based on the assumption that dwelling rents would 
increase in line with CPI +1% each year for 10 years which is in line with 
previous Government policy introduced in April 2015. Based on the 
Government’s CPI target of 2% the Council anticipated rent increases of 3% 
each year for the next 10 years.  

 

Page 103



 

9.3 The change in Government Policy announced in July 2015 is effectively a 4% 
pa reduction from that assumed within the Council’s HRA Financial Plan for 
each of the next 4 years. In cash terms this is a reduction of £20.5m in rental 
income over the four year period, of which £5.9m falls within the next two years 
(£1.9m in 2016/17, £4m in 2017/18). When compared to the level of resources 
assumed in the Financial Plan (and assuming that from 2020/21 rent increases 
will revert back to the previous policy of CPI+1%) this equates to a loss of 
£283m of rental income over the 10 year period (2016/17 to 2024/25). 

 
9.4 The reduction in rental income will need to be managed in addition to other pay, 

price and service pressures. A combination of staffing efficiencies, improved 
targeting of resources which are used to improve environmental aspects of 
estates along with the use of reserves will all contribute towards offsetting these 
pressures. In addition, consideration will be given each year to increasing 
service charges to reflect more closely the costs associated with providing 
services. This will generate additional income which will contribute towards 
offsetting the reduction in rental income receivable as a result of the change in 
Government's rent policy. 

9.5 Tenants in multi storey flats (MSFs) and in low/medium rise flats receive 
additional services such as cleaning of communal areas, staircase lighting and 
lifts and only pay a notional charge towards the cost of these services meaning 
other tenants are in effect subsidising the additional services received. It is 
proposed to increase service charges by £1 per week in 2016/17.  

 
9.6 Currently tenants in sheltered accommodation receiving a warden service are 

charged £12 per week for this service. This charge is eligible for Housing 
Benefit. Consideration will be given to increasing the charge to £13 per week to 
reflect the costs associated with the service. For those tenants who benefit from 
the service but do not currently pay it is proposed from 2016/17 to introduce a 
nominal charge of £2 per week. 

 
9.7 An analysis of the impact on individual tenants of reducing rents by 1% and 

implementing the proposed charges as above has been undertaken. This 
analysis shows that should the proposals be agreed 71.1% of tenants will pay 
79p per week less in overall terms in 2016/17 than in 2015/16. Of those paying 
more, 22% will pay up to 34p more per week, 5% will pay £1.30 more with 2% 
paying an additional £2.30 per week. These increases will be funded through 
Housing Benefit for eligible tenants. It should be noted that had rents been 
increased by 3% in line with previous Government Policy and in line with 
assumptions in the Council’s HRA Financial Plan - based on the average rent 
for 2015/16 tenants would have received an average rent increase of £2.23 per 
week in 2016/17. 

 
9.8 The rollout of Universal Credit in Leeds commences in 2016 and once fully 

implemented it will require the Council to collect rent directly from around 
24,000 tenants who are in receipt of full or partial Housing Benefit. This will 
have implications for the level of rental income receivable. 

 

Page 104



 

9.9 A reduction in the qualifying period after which tenants are able to submit an 
application to purchase a council house through the Government’s Right to Buy 
legislation continues to sustain an increase in the number of sales and the 
subsequent reduction in the amount of rent receivable.  

 
9.10 Since all housing priorities are funded through the HRA any variations in the 

rental income stream will impact upon the level of resources that are available 
for the delivery of housing priorities. 

 
9.11 Resources will be directed towards key priority areas which include fulfilling the 

plan to improve the homes people live in, expanding and improving older 
person’s housing and improving estates to ensure that they are safe and clean 
places to live.   

9.12 The Council remains committed to delivering the investment strategy agreed by 
Executive Board in March 2015 and to replacing homes lost through Right to 
Buy by the planned £99.4m investment in new homes and the buying up of 
empty homes. 

10. Capital Programme 
 
10.1        Over the period 2015/16 to 2018/19 the existing capital programme includes 

investment plans which total £1.1bn. The programme is funded by external 
sources in the form of grants and contributions and also by the Council through 
borrowing and reserves. Where borrowing is used to fund the programme, the 
revenue costs of the borrowing will be are included within the revenue budget.  
Our asset portfolio is valued in the Council’s published accounts at £3.96bn, 
and the Council’s net debt, including PFI liabilities stands at £1.98bn. 

 
10.2        The financial strategy assumes a £1.3m reduction in the cost of debt and 

capital financing. This assumes that all borrowing is taken short term at 0.5% 
interest for the remainder of 2015/16 and 0.75% for 2016/17.  

 
10.3        The strategy allows for capital investment in key annual programmes, major 

schemes that contribute to the Councils best plan objectives and schemes that 
generate income or reduce costs.  Capital investment will continue to be subject 
to robust business cases being reviewed and approved prior to schemes 
approval.  Whilst the capital programme remains affordable, its continued 
affordability will be monitored as part of the treasury management and financial 
health reporting. 

 
10.4 A separate Capital Programme update report will be presented to the Executive 

Board in February 2016. 
 
11.    Corporate Considerations 
 
11.1     Consultation and Engagement  

11.1.1 As explained at section 5 above the Initial Budget Proposals have been 
informed through the wealth of consultation evidence gathered in recent years 
on residents’ budget priorities. Since 2012 there has been only minor changes 

Page 105



 

to those priorities and, in addition, residents and service users have had 
significant involvement in on-going service-led change projects.  Subject to the 
approval of the board, this report will be submitted to Scrutiny for their 
consideration and review, with the outcome of their deliberations to be reported 
to the planned meeting of this Board on the 10th February 2016.   

11.1.2 Consultation is an ongoing process and residents are consulted on many 
issues during the year. It is also proposed that this report is used for wider 
consultation with the public through the Leeds internet and with other 
stakeholders. Consultation is on-going with representatives from the Third 
Sector, and plans are in place to consult with the Business sector prior to 
finalisation of the budget.  

11.2    Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration  
 
11.2.1 The council continues to have a clear approach to embedding equality in all 

aspects of its work and recognises the lead role we have in the city to promote 
equality and diversity. This includes putting equality into practice taking into 
account legislative requirements, the changing landscape in which we work and 
the current and future financial challenges that the city faces. 

 
11.2.2  As an example of the commitment to equality, scrutiny will again play a strong 

role in challenging and ensuring equality is considered appropriately within the 
decision making processes. 

 
11.2.3  The proposals within this report have been screened for relevance to equality, 

diversity, cohesion and integration and a full strategic analysis and assessment 
will be undertaken on the Revenue Budget and Council Tax 2016/17 which will 
be considered by Executive Board in February 2016. Specific equality impact 
assessments will also be undertaken on the implementation of all budget 
decisions as they are considered during the decision-making processes in 
2016/17.  

 
11.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan 

11.3.1 Work is underway to develop the 2016/17 Best Council Plan in line with the 
renewed ‘Best City’ ambition and draft outcomes agreed by the Executive 
Board in September and as detailed in the separate report on today’s agenda, 
‘Emerging 2016/17 Best Council Plan priorities, tackling poverty and 
deprivation’. This ambition and draft set of outcomes underpin the Initial Budget 
Proposals and have been used to ensure that the Council’s financial resources 
are directed towards its policies and priorities and, conversely, that these 
policies and priorities themselves are affordable. 

11.4 Resources and Value for Money  

11.4.1 This is a revenue budget financial report and as such all financial implications 
are detailed in the main body of the report. 

 
11.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

Page 106



 

11.5.1  This report has been produced in compliance with the Council’s Budget and 
Policy Framework.  In accordance with this framework, the initial budget 
proposals, once approved by the board will be submitted to Scrutiny for their 
review and consideration. The outcome of their review will be reported to the 
February 2016 meeting of this Board at which proposals for the 2016/17 budget 
will be considered prior to submission to full Council on the 24th February 2016.
  

11.5.2 The initial budget proposals will, if implemented, have significant implications 
for Council policy and governance and these are explained within the report. 
The budget is a key element of the Council’s Budget and Policy framework, but 
many of the proposals will also be subject to separate consultation and decision 
making processes, which will operate within their own defined timetables and 
managed by individual directorates. 

 
11.5.3  In accordance with the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, decisions as to 

the Council’s budget are reserved to Council. As such, the recommendation at 
13.1 is not subject to call in, as the budget is a matter that will ultimately be 
determined by Council, and this report is in compliance with the Council’s 
constitution as to the publication of initial budget proposals two months prior to 
adoption. 

 
11.6 Risk Management 

11.6.1 The Council’s current and future financial position is subject to a number of risk 
management processes. Failure to address medium-term financial pressures in 
a sustainable way is identified as one of the Council’s corporate risks, as is the 
Council’s financial position going into significant deficit in the current year 
resulting in reserves (actual or projected) being less than the minimum 
specified by the Council’s risk-based reserves policy. Both these risks are 
subject to regular review. In addition, financial management and monitoring 
continues to be undertaken on a risk-based approach where financial 
management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget that 
are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, 
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, 
etc. This risk-based approach has been reinforced with specific project 
management based support and reporting around the achievement of the key 
budget actions plans. 

 
11.6.2 It is recognised that the proposed strategy carries a number of significant risks. 

Delivery of the annual budget savings and efficiencies proposed will be difficult, 
but failure to do so will inevitably require the Council to start to consider even 
more difficult decisions which will have far greater impact upon the provision of 
front line services to the people of Leeds.   

 
11.6.3 A full risk assessment will be undertaken of the Council’s financial plans as part 

of the normal budget process, but it is clear that there are a number of risks that 
could impact upon these plans put forward in this report; some of the more 
significant ones are set out below.  

 

Page 107



 

 The reductions in government grants are greater than anticipated. Specific 
grant figures for the Council for 2016/17 will not be known until later in the 
budget planning period. 

 Demographic and demand pressures, particularly in Adult Social care and 
Children’s services could be greater than anticipated.  

 The implementation of the transformation agenda and delivery of the 
consequential savings could be delayed or the savings less than those 
assumed in the budget. 

 Delivery of savings proposals could be delayed and reductions in staffing 
numbers could be less than anticipated. 

 Inflation and pay awards could be greater than anticipated 
 Other sources of income and funding could continue to decline 
 The increase in the Council Tax base could be less than anticipated. 
 The position on Business Rates Retention, and specifically the impact of 

back-dated appeals, could deteriorate further. 
 Changes in the level of debt and interest rates could impact upon capital 

financing charges 
 The estimated asset sales and capital receipts could be delayed which 

would impact on the assumed reduction in the minimum revenue budget  
and which would also require the Council to borrow more to fund 
investment 

 Failure to understand and respond to the equality impact assessment. 
 
11.6.4   A full analysis of all budget risks in accordance will continue to be maintained 

and will be subject to monthly review as part of the in-year monitoring and 
management of the budget. Any significant and new risks and budget variations 
are contained in the in-year financial health reports submitted to the Executive 
Board.  

 
12.  Conclusions 

12.1  This report has shown that the current financial position continues to be very 
challenging.  The Council is committed to providing the best service possible for 
the citizens of Leeds and to achieving the ambition for the city of being the best 
in the UK with a firm focus on tackling inequalities. In order to achieve both the 
strategic aims and financial constraints, the Council will need to work differently, 
helping people to look after themselves, others and the places they live and 
work by considering the respective responsibilities of the ‘state’ and the ‘citizen’ 
(the social contract).  This approach underpins the medium-term financial 
strategy and the emerging 2016/17 Best Council Plan.  

 
12.2  Based on the information available through the November 2015 Spending 

Review there will be a further reduction in the Settlement Funding Assessment 
for 2016/17 of £24.1m which means that core funding from government (SFA 
and other grants) will have reduced by around £204m by March 2017. The 
initial budget proposals for 2016/17 set out in this report, subject to the 
finalisation of the detailed proposals in February 2016, will, if delivered, 
generate savings and additional income of £87.2m to produce a balanced 
budget.   

Page 108



 

  
12.3  Clearly savings of this magnitude will require many difficult decisions to be 

taken and these will not be without risk. The level of reductions required for 
2016/17 will impact on front line services which the Council has worked, and 
continues to work, extremely hard to protect.  In this context, it is important that 
risks are fully understood and the final budget is robust.  

 
13. Recommendations 

13.1 Executive Board is asked to agree the Initial Budget Proposals and for them to 
be submitted to Scrutiny and also for the proposals to be used as a basis for 
wider consultation with stakeholders. 

14. Background documents2  

None 

  

                                                 
2 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 109



 

APPENDIX 1 
 

 20
16

/1
7 

B
ud

ge
t S

tr
at

eg
y

A
du

lt 
S

oc
ia

l C
ar

e
C

hi
ld

re
n'

s 
S

er
vi

ce
s

C
ity

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t

E
nv

ir
on

m
en

t &
 

H
ou

si
ng

S
tr

at
eg

y 
&

 
R

es
ou

rc
es

C
iti

ze
n'

s 
&

 
C

om
m

un
iti

es

C
iv

ic
 

E
nt

er
pr

is
e 

Le
ed

s

P
ub

lic
 

H
ea

lth
S

tr
at

eg
ic

 
B

ud
ge

t
To

ta
l

£m
£m

£m
£m

£m
£m

£m
£m

£m
£m

N
et

 M
an

ag
ed

 B
ud

ge
t 2

01
5/

16
 (a

dj
us

te
d)

19
2.

3
12

2.
8

48
.0

59
.8

37
.2

24
.8

17
.8

0.
2

20
.8

52
3.

8

In
fla

tio
n

2.
9

1.
9

1.
7

0.
7

0.
7

0.
5

(0
.1

)
0.

1
8.

4
N

at
io

na
l I

ns
ur

an
ce

 C
ha

ng
es

1.
1

1.
7

1.
0

1.
1

0.
9

0.
5

0.
8

0.
1

7.
3

N
at

io
na

l L
iv

in
g 

W
ag

e
5.

2
5.

2
C

am
pa

ig
n 

fo
r a

 R
ea

l L
iv

in
g 

W
ag

e
0.

1
0.

1
0.

2
0.

4
0.

0
0.

1
2.

5
3.

3
D

em
og

ra
ph

y
5.

8
0.

7
6.

5
D

eb
t &

 C
ap

ita
l F

in
an

ci
ng

(1
.3

)
(1

.3
)

C
ou

nc
il 

Ta
x 

ba
se

 &
 S

up
po

rt
0.

4
0.

4
P

ub
lic

 H
ea

lth
 g

ra
nt

 re
du

ct
io

n
3.

9
3.

9
To

ur
 d

e 
Y

or
ks

hi
re

 &
 W

or
ld

 T
ria

th
lo

n
0.

6
0.

6
In

co
m

e 
G

en
er

at
io

n 
&

 In
w

ar
d 

In
ve

st
m

en
t

0.
3

0.
3

W
es

t Y
or

ks
hi

re
 T

ra
ns

po
rt 

Fu
nd

0.
2

0.
2

E
le

ct
io

ns
 - 

re
in

st
at

e 
bu

dg
et

0.
2

0.
2

B
us

in
es

s 
R

at
es

 - 
R

et
ai

l r
at

e 
re

lie
f -

 fa
ll 

ou
t o

f s
31

 g
ra

nt
2.

1
2.

1
Fa

ll-
ou

t o
f C

ap
ita

lis
ed

 P
en

si
on

 c
os

ts
(0

.6
)

(0
.6

)
(0

.3
)

(0
.3

)
(0

.2
)

(0
.1

)
(0

.2
)

(2
.3

)
S

ub
-to

ta
l -

 S
tra

te
gy

 In
cr

ea
se

s 
- r

ow
 to

 h
id

e
14

.5
3.

8
3.

2
1.

9
1.

4
1.

4
3.

0
4.

1
1.

3
34

.7
O

th
er

 P
re

ss
ur

es
6.

0
6.

0
0.

7
2.

3
0.

0
0.

0
0.

0
1.

4
(0

.5
)

15
.8

To
ta

l -
 C

os
t C

ha
ng

es
20

.5
9.

8
3.

8
4.

2
1.

4
1.

4
3.

0
5.

5
0.

8
50

.5

B
ud

ge
t S

av
in

gs
 O

pt
io

ns
;

W
as

te
 S

tra
te

gy
(4

.0
)

(4
.0

)
N

ew
 H

om
es

 B
on

us
(0

.6
)

(0
.6

)
A

ss
et

 M
an

ag
em

en
t

(0
.3

)
(0

.1
)

(0
.1

)
(0

.0
3)

(0
.5

)
(1

.1
)

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f M

in
im

um
 R

ev
en

ue
 P

ro
vi

si
on

(2
1.

0)
(2

1.
0)

R
es

er
ve

s/
O

th
er

 In
co

m
e

(2
.3

)
(2

.3
)

A
pp

en
di

x 
2:

-
C

ha
ng

es
 to

 S
er

vi
ce

(6
.0

)
(1

.6
)

(1
.7

)
(0

.3
)

(5
.3

)
(1

4.
9)

E
ffi

ci
en

ci
es

(1
.3

)
(2

.8
)

(2
.0

)
(3

.6
)

(2
.9

)
(0

.5
)

(0
.9

)
(1

4.
0)

In
co

m
e 

- F
ee

s 
&

 C
ha

rg
es

(1
.0

)
(0

.7
)

(1
.1

)
(2

.8
)

In
co

m
e 

- T
ra

de
d 

S
er

vi
ce

s,
 P

ar
tn

er
 &

 O
th

er
 In

co
m

e
(5

.7
)

(5
.3

)
(0

.2
)

(0
.1

)
(0

.2
)

(0
.6

)
(0

.4
)

(1
2.

5)
To

ta
l -

 A
pp

en
di

x 
2

(1
4.

0)
(9

.7
)

(4
.6

)
(4

.8
)

(3
.1

)
(1

.5
)

(1
.2

)
(5

.3
)

0.
0

(4
4.

1)

To
ta

l -
 B

ud
ge

t S
av

in
gs

(1
4.

3)
(9

.8
)

(4
.7

)
(8

.8
)

(3
.6

)
(1

.5
)

(1
.2

)
(5

.3
)

(2
3.

9)
(7

3.
1)

Ta
rg

et
 2

01
6/

17
 N

et
 R

ev
en

ue
 B

ud
ge

t
19

8.
4

12
2.

8
47

.1
55

.2
35

.1
24

.8
19

.6
0.

4
(2

.3
)

50
1.

2

In
cr

ea
se

/(d
ec

re
as

e)
 fr

om
 2

01
5/

16
6.

2
0.

0
(0

.9
)

(4
.6

)
(2

.2
)

(0
.0

)
1.

8
0.

2
(2

3.
1)

(2
2.

6)

Page 110



 

 
Appendix 2           

Adult Social Care - Savings Options 2016/17

Savings Proposal Customer Ease of Comments Saving

Impact Deliverability

2016/17 2017/18
Is this relevant 
to Equality & 

Diversity?

H/M/L R/A/G £m £m

A) Efficiencies

Assessment & Care Management - Efficiency & Effectiveness L A
End to end review including revisiting skills mix, staff turnover rates and activities 
undertaken.  Minimal customer impact

(0.5) (1.5) N

Vacancy Management L G Holding vacant posts - almost all relates to back-office functions (0.8) N

(1.3) (1.5)

B) Changes to Service

Adults - Assessment & Care Management - Practice M A

This will focus on new clients. Review of approval mechanisms, team performance, 
commissioning decisions, access to residential care and approach to Continuing Health 
Care, increased use of telecare and reablement. To include looking at community and 
universal alternatives and developing and supporting community action. Main impact 
likely to be on costs/processes, but there will be some impact on service provision, with 
more customers signposted to community based services and a reduction in the 
average spend per customer. 

(1.0) (3.0) Y

Physical Impairment Services M A

This will focus on existing customers. Review high cost care packages and review 
customers against Care Act eligibility, meeting eligible needs in a cost-effective way.  
Promotion of 'Ordinary Lives', expand the personalised offer through Shared Lives and 
review the resource allocations system for personal budgets. 2017/18 may involve a 
review of day service provision. The impact likely to be mainly for older people with 
physical impairments. Any customers not meeting Care Act eligibility will be signposted 
to alternative services in the community and reduced average spend per care package.

(0.5) (0.5) Y

Mental Health Services M A

This will focus on existing customers. Review high cost care packages and review 
customers against Care Act eligibility, meeting eligible needs in a cost-effective way.  
Promotion of 'Ordinary Lives' and review of the resource allocation system for personal 
budgets'. 2017/18 may involve a review of day service provision. Impact will include 
reduced average spend per care package. Any customers not meeting Care Act 
eligibility will be signposted to alternative services in the community.

(1.0) (1.0) Y

Sub-Total EfficiencyP
age 111



 

 

 

Learning Disability Services H A

This will focus on existing customers. Service will manage with standstill budget rather 
than the £3m growth in previous years. Review high cost care packages and review 
supported living and home care services. Review customers against Care Act eligibility, 
meeting eligible needs in a cost-effective way.  Promotion of 'Ordinary Lives' and review 
of the resource allocation system for personal budgets'. Review the transitions pathway 
and work closely with Children's Services to manage expectations and deliver cost-
effective services for those aged 18+. Impact will include reduced average spend per 
care package. Any customers not meeting Care Act eligibility will be signposted to 
alternative services in the community. May need to review the service offer, including 
Aspire services. 

(3.0) (3.0) Y

Closure of residential homes and day centres for older people M A
Includes the full-year effect of the closure of Primrose Hill home in 2015/16. Requires 
Executive Board approval for further residential and day care closures scheduled for 
Summer 2016 to deliver the 2017/18 closures and part of the 2016/17 savings.

(0.5) (1.8) Y

Older People's Services M A
Further phase of Better Lives programme in Provider Services. Closure of all remaining 
directly provided homes except those used for short stays/ intermediate care. Will 
require consultation and Executive Board approval. 

(1.1) Y

(6.0) (10.4)

C) Additional Income - Fees and Charges

Charging review for Non-Residential Services H A
Consultation on proposals underway closing December 2015, with Executive Board 
approval required in early 2016. Around one third of customers likely to pay more 
(2,600 people) but financial assessment ensures affordability.

(1.0) (2.0) Y

(1.0) (2.0)

D) Additional Income - Traded Services, Partner and Other Income

Better Care Fund L A
Requires agreement with health to convert capital funding provided by LCC for the BCF 
to be released back as revenue funding

(1.8) N

Further health funding/use of the Health & Social Care earmarked reserve L R 
Exploring whether further health funding can be secured and/or exploring the potential 
use of the Health & Social Care earmarked reserve. These will require further 
discussion/agreement with CCGs.

(3.9) N

(5.7) 0.0 0.0

(14.0) (13.9)

Sub-Total Service Changes

Sub-Total Additional Income (Fees & Charges)

Sub-Total Additional Income (Traded Services, Partner and Other Income)

Total Savings Options - Adult Social Care

P
age 112



 

Children's Services - Savings Options 2016/17

Savings Proposal Customer Ease of Comments Saving

Impact Deliverability

2016/17 2017/18 fye
Is this relevant 
to Equality & 

Diversity?

H/M/L R/A/G £m £m

A) Efficiencies

Children in Care L R

The 2016/17 budget proposal is a real-terms stand-still for the budgets that 
support children in care.  This proposal recognises the 2015/16 budget pressure 
on placements for Children looked After (CLA) of approximately £4m (as at 
November 2015). The challenge is to continue to safely and appropriately reduce 
the need for statutory intervention against a back-drop of increasing 
demographic/demand for services arising from inward migration to the city, 
increasing birth rates and greater awareness around child protection.      

0.0 0.0 N

Children's Homes (Mainstream & Disability) L A
Further efficiencies in running costs (primarily staffing/Agency/Overtime) as a 
result of reconfiguration of Children's Homes and the closure of Bodmin & Pinfolds 
children's homes earlier in the financial year. 

(0.4) 0.0 N

 Youth Offending Service M A

Restructure Youth Offending Service (YOS) to deal with £0.3M reduction in 
government grant and contribute £0.1M to savings required in 16/17.  3 posts 
currently identified for Early Leavers Initiative and several posts being held vacant. 
Savings will also be required from services rendered by other organisations 
working for the YOS.

(0.4) 0.0 Y

Special Educational Needs & Disability (SEND) Reform M A
Reduce staffing spend to mitigate against a £0.4m fall-out of SEND Reform Grant. 
Reduction equivalent to approximately  5 FTE's.

(0.3) 0.0 Y

Family Placement L A
Transfer Family Placement Team to the Complex Needs service  to reduce 
management costs

(0.1) 0.0 Y

Multi Systemic Therapy and Families First Programme L G Reduction in supervision / management through cross team working (0.1) (0.0) N

Children's Centres L A

Reduce the net cost of Learning for Life managed Children's Centres childcare by 
reducing supernumerary management posts e.g. assistant managers or Childrens 
Centre managers, ensuring correct number of term time only and all year round 
staff, and catering cost savings.

(0.5) (0.5) N

Family Support Services - Recharge to the Housing Revenue Account L A
Optimise Housing Revenue Account (HRA) funding for services to Families  to 
reflect the work that our Multi-systemic Therapy (MST) Teams do with families 
within Council Tenancies 

(0.3) 0.0 N

Targeted Services Leaders M A
Reduction in Targeted Services Leaders posts and associated costs.  Linked to 
cluster/locality working and re-focusing of resources in high need clusters 

(0.2) (0.2) Y

Partnership Development & Business Support L A
Further rationalisation of staffing across IMT, Workforce Development, Voice & 
Influence & Commissioning

(0.5) 0.0 Y

Supplies and Services Cash-limit budgets and limit spend to essential items (0.2) 0.0 N

(2.8) (0.7)Sub-Total Efficiency

P
age 113



 

  
 

 

B) Changes to Service

Services for Young People H R

Proposal to fundamentally change the way in which Children's Services respond to 
the needs of young people including further savings on the 'Youth Offer' , Youth 
inclusion Project (YIP) and services to young people at risk of becoming NEET 
(not in education, employment or training)  

(1.2) 0.00

Externally Commissioned Family Intervention Service L A

Cessation of Domestic Violence contract (wef 1/10/2015)  - £250k saving. Propose 
to reduce the Family Intervention Service contract in South Leeds by 
approximately  10% (£70k saving) and reduce the budget for the in house service 
by £80k by not recruiting to vacancies.

(0.4) 0.0 Y

Transport H R
Range of options for Post 16 Transport which would deliver savings of between 
£0.25m and £1m by 2017/18.  Decision around consultation will be needed

0.0 (1.0) Y

(1.6) (1.0)

C) Additional Income - Traded Services, Partner and Other Income

Income -Health Clinical Commissioning Groups L R
£1.6m of funding from Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG's) agreed for 2015/16 
- further work to be done to agree funding in 16/17 and beyond

(1.6) 0.00 N

Income (Schools Forum) L R
Schools Forum funding of £3.4m per academic year provisionally agreed subject 
to delivery of activity/outcomes. £1m of funding for SEMH already assumed within 
base budget

(2.4) 0.00 N

Income (Improvement Partner) L R
Aim to maximise potential income from work commissioned by DfE in relation to 
other local authorities. Initial work is being undertaken in 2 local authorities with 
interest shown by 2 other authorities

(0.5) (0.3) N

Income (Adel Beck) L A
Aim to maximise potential income from Welfare Beds following reduction in block 
beds purchased by Youth Justice Board. Contribution for Welfare beds daily rate 
higher than for YJB.

(0.4) 0.0 N

Early Years Improvement L A
Reduce the net cost of the non-statutory element of the service  either by  
additional traded income or reducing service provision.

(0.2) (0.2) Y

School to Work  Transition (14-19) Team L G Trade with schools, academies and colleges (0.1) 0.0 N

Educational Psychology Service L R
Increase traded income target - challenge will be increasing income and meeting 
statutory duty with rising demography/demand pressures

(0.1) (0.1) N

Income (trading with Schools) L A
Aim to achieve full cost recovery of primary and secondary school improvement 
service

0.0 (0.4) N

(5.3) (1.0)

(9.7) (2.6)

Sub-Total Service Changes

Sub-Total Additional Income (Traded Services, Partner and Other Income)

Total Savings Options - Children's Services

P
age 114



 

City Development - Savings Options 2016/17 

Savings Proposal Customer Ease of Comments Saving

Impact Deliverability

2016/17 2017/18 fye
Is this relevant 
to Equality & 

Diversity?

H/M/L R/A/G £m £m

A) Efficiencies

Cash limit on most expenditure with only essential inflation provided for L G
Only provide for essential inflation on contracts e.g. PFI and areas of spend facing 
inflationary pressures. 

(0.8) N

Elland Road Park & Ride Scheme L G
Removal of the budgeted subsidy. The park and ride scheme is successfully 
operating and no longer requires a budgeted subsidy. 

(0.1) N

Highways Insurance L G Saving on the highways insurance charge reflecting the reduction in claims.  (0.3) N

Building Control L G Reduce net cost to zero subsidy over 2 years - review staff and income (0.1) (0.1) N

Energy Savings L G
Additional savings on energy costs in Sport, Highways and Culture reflecting the 
reduction in prices. 

(0.1) 0.0 N

Highways Maintenance budget L G Additional capitalisation of Highways Maintenance Budget (0.5) Y

Cultural Services L G
Maintain current vacancies in Libraries and other savings that have been achieved 
this financial year. 

(0.1) 0.0 N

(2.0) (0.1)

B) Changes to Service

Arts Grants budget M G
Reduction to the Arts Grants budget in 2016/17 previously approved by Executive 
Board. 

(0.1) Completed

City Development - Staffing L A

Staffing savings across Asset Management and Regeneration/Economic 
Development/Resources and Strategy/Highways and Transportation.  Reduced 
staffing levels and cost across the services to be achieved through staff leaving 
through the Early Leaver Initiative in March 2016, not filling vacant posts and 
restructures. Reduction in staffing levels will lead to a reduction in some service 
levels.  

(0.6) N

Street Lighting - Energy savings H R

Potential to increase cost savings if a more extensive switch off is considered. This 
would entail changing the selection criteria regarding road layout features and the 
incidence of crime in the locality of the lighting column. Discussions are presently 
taking place on this matter although additional savings would be more likely in 
17/18 due to lead in times for implementation. 

0.0 tbd Y

Sub-Total Efficiency

P
age 115



 

 

 

Reduction to the net cost of Planning Services, Planning Policy, Urban 
Design and Conservation

L A

Over half of the savings will be achieved through staffing reductions with a number 
of staff leaving through ELI at the end of March 2016 together with a planned 
management restructure.  A redesign of the service will be undertaken including a 
review of current services. 

(0.4) Y

Economic Development L A
Reduced expenditure on some aspects of the service. This will include reductions 
in supplies and service budgets. 

(0.1) Y

Cultural Services. H R

To be achieved through a combination of staffing reductions and expenditure 
savings. Whilst the service is considering some invest to save options if these are 
not forth coming in 16/17 then the £300k of savings will need to be achieved 
through service reductions. These include £100k saving from the book fund with 
reduced spend on talking books and foreign language books although the option 
to capitalise additional book fund expenditure should reduce the impact of this. 
The service is also proposing a reduction in the overall budget for events of £170k. 
Savings will be achieved by consolidating event budgets across Sport and Culture, 
through reducing the net cost of some events and also by considering ending 
support for some events.  

(0.3) 0.0 Y

Sport L G
A review of running costs and the potential for increased income as a result of the 
anticipated Marketing Partnership.

(0.1) 0.0 Y

Sport Development Unit M A
Further savings anticpated from the the changes to the Sport Development Unit 
which have moved the service to a more community basis. 

(0.1) 0.0 Y

(1.7) 0.0

C) Additional Income - Fees and Charges

City Development - Fees & Charges L A
Consider opportunities to increase some prices above the assumptions in the 
budget strategy or proposals to increase income volumes across services e.g. 
Highways licences and permits, surveyor fees and other professional services.

(0.7) 0.0 Y

(0.7) 0.0

D) Additional Income - Traded Services, Partner and Other Income

Kirkgate Market L A
Once the re-development of Kirkgate Market is complete there will be an increase 
in income as more units are available to be let. This will be subject to a revision of 
the business plan and the success in letting the stalls. 

0.0 (0.1) N

Sub-Total Additional Income (Fees & Charges)

Sub-Total Service Changes

P
age 116



 

 

Culture L A
Opportunities to increase income from trading across Cultural Services. Includes 
increased income in venues and heritage services from bookings and shows. 

(0.1) 0.0 N

Highways & Transportation Service - Alternative Delivery Model L A

Potential to increase the trading of services including to the West Yorkshire  
combined services and other potential trading opportunities with other authorities 
in the Leeds City Region. There is a potential for this to increase but there will be a 
need for additional staff in order to generate the additional net income. 
Discussions currently being held could deliver the £100k with potential for this to 
be increased. 

(0.1) tbd N

(0.2) (0.1)

(4.6) (0.2)

Sub-Total Additional Income (Traded Services, Partner and Other Income)

Total Savings Options - City Development

P
age 117



 

Environment & Housing - Savings Options 2016/17

Savings Proposal Customer Ease of Comments Saving

Impact Deliverability

2016/17
2017/18 

fye

Is this 
relevant to 
Equality & 
Diversity?

H/M/L R/A/G £m £m

A) Efficiencies

Leeds Building Services M A Realisation of reductions in running cost expenditure (0.19) N

Energy Costs - Directorate wide L G Reduction in energy (gas, electricity & water) costs (0.10)

Waste Management / Env Action / Parks - Fuel savings L G Assumption that the reduction in fuel prices continues into 2016/17 (0.49) N

Waste Management - Refuse Collection L G
Refuse Collection Staffing - Savings delivered through a combination of the 
removal of support for Alternate Week Collection 4, a review of staffing across 
routes including back up and the full year effect of the 2015/16 restructure.

(0.24) N

Waste Management - Recycling M A

Target a 2% improvement in recycling from greater participation in existing 
recycling services. This will require a step change in some residents habits with 
emphasis upon the  "Social contract." In addition a review of total waste volumes, 
the mix of waste and the price of recycled materials will realise savings.

(0.56) Y

Waste Management - PFI advisor savings L G Reduce PFI advisor budget following the opening of the RERF plant (0.05) N

Waste Management - Refuse Collection L G
Reduce annual capital spend on replacement bins and no further roll out of 
kerbside collection of garden waste will realise savings in capital financing costs.

(0.06) (0.01) N

Waste Management - Procurement saving - Closed Landfill contract L G
Minor levels of income generated at Gamblethopre Closed landfill site from 
electricity generation

(0.02) N

Staffing (Directorate wide)  - including vacancy management M G
Realisation of staff savings through the management of vacant posts across the 
Directorate.

(0.85) Y

Waste Management - Review Household Waste Sort Site provision M A Implement the review of provision of HWSS across the city. (0.13) Y

Environment & Housing - line by line budget review L G
Review of Directorate line by line expenditure budgets to target reductions in non 
essential spend.

(0.61) N

Housing Related Support - contract savings M G
Full Year Effect of 2015/16 contract negotiations and targeting  further cost 
reductions in contracts

(0.32) N

(3.60) (0.01)

B) Changes to Service

0.00 0.00Sub-Total Service Changes

Sub-Total Efficiency

P
age 118



 

 
C) Additional Income - Fees and Charges

Bereavement Services - price increases M A Implement a 1% price rise above inflation for cremation in 2016/17. (0.04) Y

Lotherton Hall M A Implement an above inflation rise for entry in 2016/17 (0.01) Y

Car Parking M G
Additional income realised through both an increase of price tariffs for On and Off 
street parking. It is also assumed that activity levels that have resulted in additional 
parking income in 2015/16 continues.

(0.53) Y

Environmental Action Service L G
Reduced 33% discount on early payment of fines - down to 20% this only relates 
to Environmental FPN and not car parking (covered by specific legislation)  
Discounted value £60

(0.03) Y

Environmental Action  - Pest Control  L G
Review charges and give consideration to introducing charges for services that 
currently aren't charged for e.g charging for  dealing with rats in domestic 
properties.

(0.04) N

Parks & Countryside - Tropical World/ Café / Retail L G Assumed continuation of the increased income trend from 2015/16 (0.40) (0.09) Y

(1.05) (0.09)

D) Additional Income - Traded Services, Partner and Other Income

Community Safety - CCTV L G
Generation of additional income through providing the CCTV to other public bodies 
such as Local Authorities and Passenger Transport Authorities.

(0.10) Y

(0.10) 0.00

(4.8) (0.1)

Sub-Total Additional Income (Fees & Charges)

Sub-Total Additional Income (Traded Services, Partner and Other Income)

Total Savings Options - Environment & Housing

P
age 119



 

  

Strategy & Resources - Savings Options 2016/17

Savings Proposal Customer Ease of Comments Saving

Impact Deliverability

2016/17 2017/18 fye
Is this relevant 
to Equality & 

Diversity?

H/M/L R/A/G £m £m

A) Efficiencies

Financial Services M A
Further changes to the way financial services are provided focussing on key 
budgets, possible self service for low risk budgets, more centralised service/ hub 
approach where appropriate and a reduction in the Internal Audit service

(0.6) (0.6) Y 

Human Resources M A

Further review of various elements of the service including a move to more on-line 
and telephone guidance service, a reduction in HR input into lower profile 
casework and restrictions on some face to face occupational health appointments.  
Savings to be realised through early leavers, and although the service do want to 
make some appointments, a normal level of staff turnover would mean that a 
saving of £200k is achievable

(0.3) (0.2) Y

ICT Further Print Smart savings L G
New contract now in place and printer estate has reduced and is expected to 
reduce further

(0.1) (0.1) N

ICT Telephony: procurement savings from switching from BT to Virgin L G Transition to Virgin under PSN, contract now in place (0.2) N

ICT Telephony modernisation L A

Wide review of telephony within the council, including assessing options to make 
more use of VOIP, Skype and reduced use of landlines. 18 month project. Some 
of the potential options would mean change to the way we work, eg phones 
connected to laptops.

(0.1) (0.1) N

ICT Essential Services Programme M G
Reduce capital spend by £500k from £4.1m to £3.6m. Impact on revenue 
(corporate account) is -£110k per annum

(0.1)

Projects Programmes & Procurement Unit L G
Challenge the need to support all projects - cease or downscale lower priority 
projects

Y

Projects Programmes & Procurement Unit L A
Identify efficiencies the service could deliver, eg a less resource intensive service 
(identifying associated risks), possibilities to reduce internal support costs 

Y

Projects Programmes & Procurement Unit L A Further opportunities for external income N

Corporate Communications and Intelligence L G

Savings will be delivered in this area by continuing to reduce and refocus the 
Communications and Intelligence capacity. It will rely on requirements for these 
services being clearer and better prioritised by using insight from evaluation 
activity.  Non staffing budgets will be reviewed again for further savings

(0.3) (0.3) Y

(0.5) (0.5)

P
age 120



 

 

Democratic Services L R
Reconfiguration of Scrutiny and Governance support to deliver staffing savings 
plus other savings in running costs across the whole service

(0.1) Y

Better Business Management L A
Business Admin - further savings following transfer of core staff and budget into 
the Business Support Centre.  In addition, implementation of manager/employee 
self-service

(0.4) (0.4) Y

Further savings Additional savings of £250k still to be identified (0.3)

Sub-Total Efficiency (2.9) (2.2)

B) Additional Income - Traded Services, Partner and Other Income

Yorkshire Purchasing Organisation - Corporate Rebate L G
Actual rebate (based on Council wide spend) has been consistently higher than 
budget in recent years

(0.1) N

ICT L G
Provide full managed service for West Yorkshire Joint Services, estimated 200 
devices - 5 year contract at fixed price per device

(0.2)  N 

(0.2) 0.0

(3.1) (2.2)

Sub-Total Additional Income (Traded Services, Partner and Other Income)

Total Savings Options - Strategy & Resources

P
age 121



 

Citizens & Communities - Savings Options 2016/17

Savings Proposal Customer Ease of Comments Saving

Impact Deliverability

2016/17 2017/18 fye
Is this relevant 
to Equality & 

Diversity?

H/M/L R/A/G £m £m

A) Efficiencies

Community Hubs M A Further efficiencies from bringing services together into the Community Hubs (0.1) (0.1) Y

Review of Communities pay and running costs L A (0.2) Y

Transactional web L A Savings per business case approved by Executive Board (0.2) (0.2) Y

Registrars Service L A Review of costs and income (0.1) (0.1) Y

(0.5) (0.4)

B) Changes to Service

Third sector infrastructure grant H R 10% potential reduction (0.1) Y

Reduction in Well Being and Youth Activities H A 10% potential reduction (0.2) Y

Innovation Fund M A Reduce by £50k in 2016/17, a further £50k in 2017/18 and cease in 2018/19 (0.1) (0.1) Y

(0.3) (0.1)

C) Additional Income - Traded Services, Partner and Other Income

Housing Benefit Overpayments L G
Increase resource on identification of Housing Benefit overpayments - will cease in 
2017/18 as Universal Credit is implemented

(0.4) Y

Council Tax - Single Person Discount L A
Extend review - saving of £200k net of £80k fee to Capita.  Additional income 
added to the Council Tax base in 2016/17

Y

Advice Consortium and Welfare Rights L A
Proposed HRA contribution to support Council housing tenants relating to under 
occupancy and rent arrears

(0.2) N

Local Welfare Support Scheme L A
Proposed HRA contribution re Council housing tenants in financial difficulty paying 
their rent or through the impact of under occupancy changes

(0.1) N

(0.6) 0.0

(1.5) (0.4)

Sub-Total Service Changes

Sub-Total Additional Income (Traded Services, Partner and Other Income)

Total Savings Options - Citizens & Communities

Sub-Total Efficiency

P
age 122



 

  

Civic Enterprise Leeds - Savings Options 2016/17 

Savings Proposal
Custom

er 
Ease of 

Comments Saving

Impact Deliverability

2016/17
2017/18 

fye

Is this 
relevant to 
Equality & 
Diversity?

H/M/L R/A/G £m £m

A) Efficiencies

Maintenance of Council Buildings M A
Marginal reduction in spend on responsive maintenance of Council buildings.  
Current budget £4.9m

(0.6) (0.2) Y

Catering - savings on agency staff budget L A (0.1)

Vehicle Fleet L G Extend vehicle lives - light commercials only (0.2) (0.2) Y

Energy L A Impact of energy efficiency measures (0.1) (0.1) Y

(0.9) (0.5)

B) Additional Income - Traded Services, Partner and Other Income

Civic Enterprise Trading M A
Recover the additional costs from the Living wage via income in respect of schools 
and HRA

(0.2) (0.2) Y

Civic Enterprise - Additional income L A Develop further opportunities for additional external income (0.2) (0.1) Y

(0.4) (0.3)

(1.2) (0.7)

Sub-Total Efficiency

Sub-Total Additional Income (Traded Services, Partner and Other Income)

Total Savings Options - Civic Enterprise Leeds

P
age 123



 

 

Public Health - Savings Options 2016/17 

Savings Proposal Customer Ease of Comments Saving

Impact Deliverability

2016/17
2017/18 

fye

Is this 
relevant to 
Equality & 
Diversity?

H/M/L R/A/G £m £m

A) Changes to Service

General Fund - Review of commissioning contracts H A
Drug Intervention Programme & Integrated Offender Management cessation of 
service if PCC funding falls out.

(0.6) Y

Public Health - Review  of commissioning contracts H G Continuation of savings agreed in 2015/16 (0.5) Y

Public Health - reduction in remaining eligible contracts H A
Reduction in most other commissioned services, including services carried out by 
other directorates

(2.5) Y

Staffing budgets, overheads and general running costs L A Reduction in general running costs and staffing pay budget. (0.4) Y

Savings still to be identified H R
Follows letter from Chief Executive of PH England 30/11/15 clarifying that the in-
year grant reductions in 2015/16 will recur and are in addition to the reductions in 
2016/17.

(1.3) Y

(5.3) 0.0 0.0

(5.3) 0.0 0.0

Sub-Total Service Changes

Total Savings Options - Public Health

P
age 124



 

 
 

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Strategy and Resources Service area: Corporate Financial 

Management 
 

Lead person: Doug Meeson 
 

Contact number: 74250 

 
1. Title: Initial Budget Proposals 2016/17 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
The Council is required to publish its initial budget proposals two months prior to 
approval of the budget by full council in February 2016. The Initial Budget Proposals 
report for 2016/17 sets out the Executive’s plans to deliver a balanced budget within 
the overall funding envelope. It should be noted that the budget represents a 
financial plan for the forthcoming year and individual decisions to implement these 
plans will be subject to equality impact assessments where appropriate.  
 
 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

x   

Page 125



 

 
 
 
3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
All of the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees 
or the wider community – city-wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

X  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

X  

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 
X 
 

X 
X 
 

 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 126



 

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The Initial Budget Proposals identify a funding gap of £87m due to a reduction in 
Government funding and unavoidable pressures such as inflation and 
demand/demography. Savings proposals to bridge this gap will affect all citizens of Leeds 
to some extent. The Council has consulted on its priorities in recent years and has 
sought to protect the most vulnerable groups. However, the cumulative effect of 
successive annual government funding reductions, means that protecting vulnerable 
groups is becoming increasingly difficult.  Further consultation regarding the specific 
proposals contained in this report will be carried out before the final budget for 2016/17 is 
agreed. 
 
 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
The budget proposals will impact on all communities but those who have been identified 
as being at the greatest potential risk include: 
 

 Disabled people 
 BME communities  
 Older and younger people and 
 Low socio-economic groups  

 
The Initial Budget Proposals have identified the need for significant staffing savings in all 
areas of the Council which may impact on the workforce profile in terms of the at-risk 
groups. There will be some impact on our partners through commissioning and/or grant 
support which may have a knock on effect for our most vulnerable groups.  
 
 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
A strategic equality impact assessment of the budget will be undertaken prior to its 
approval in February 2016.  
 
There will also be further equality impact assessments on all key decisions as they go 
through the decision making process in 2016/17. 
 

Page 127



 

 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Doug Meeson 
 

Chief Officer Financial 
Services 

26/11/15 

Date screening completed  
26/11/15 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated Decisions or 
a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions and 
Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be sent 
to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached screening 
was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 7/12/15 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 

Page 128



Report of Director of City Development

Report to Executive Board

Date: 16 December 2015

Subject: European Capital of Culture 2023 - Progress Report 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. Members of Executive Board gave approval at their meeting in March 2015 to the 
proposal from the Director of City Development that Leeds should prepare a bid to 
be European Capital of Culture in 2023. This followed an extensive period of city-
wide consultation which was reflected in the report to that meeting.

2. In the months following the previous report to Executive Board, the most significant 
progress made has been the establishment of the Independent Steering Group, 
appointment of professional advisors, ongoing extensive research into the bidding 
process and analysis of the proposals from previous successful and unsuccessful 
cities.  It remains the case that the quality of the artistic programme, the 
engagement and participation of everyone in the city, and the European dimension 
retain primacy in terms of any successful bid.

3. A successful bid, and the new cultural strategy which needs to underpin it, must not 
be simply limited to the cultural sector but must be directly linked to the whole 
development of the city over the next 15 years, particularly as we approach our 
2030 'best city' target.  Significant developments in particular with the city's 
infrastructure and economic growth have taken place since the last report to 
Executive Board - which not only serves to demonstrate these links but also 
strengthen the narrative of the Economy and Culture portfolio.

Report author:  D Clark
Tel:  0113 24 78299

Page 129

Agenda Item 10



4. Members will be aware that Leeds is currently experiencing a transformational 
period of investment and development that is helping to grow the city and its 
economy. Proposals for HS2 and for Leeds to be the Yorkshire hub as the 
centrepiece of the north of England’s rail infrastructure is outlined in a separate 
paper on this agenda. Leeds is following the global trend towards highly skilled jobs, 
with financial services and knowledge intensive business services clustering in a 
compact environment. Our economy is worth £18bn, is home to over 25,000 
businesses, and has grown almost 40% over the last decade. Leeds is evolving.

5. Swedish company Vastint recently acquired the Carlsberg Tetley site which is 
currently home to The Tetley contemporary arts venue. In addition, 
Burberry announced the £50 million investment of a new facility in the Leeds South 
Bank, with a later phase looking at redevelopment of the Grade 1 listed Temple 
Works.

6. On the north bank of the city there is 600,000 sq ft of Grade A office development 
under construction and Hammerson is also developing Victoria Gate, which 
includes the largest John Lewis outside of London.Acknowledging the level of 
investment that Leeds is experiencing, it is critical that the culture of the city is fully 
embedded in its ongoing development and change. The proposals for the 
development of West Yorkshire Playhouse alongside the Hammerson development 
being a clear example.

7. Culture reflects, shapes and enhances the quality of life of a city and we want to 
ensure that the quality of life experience of Leeds is social and people-centred. 

8. Executive Board also recommended that the Chief Officer for Culture and Sport 
works with the Lead Executive Member for Digital, and Creative Technology, 
Culture and Skills to establish an Independent Steering Group to advise on and 
oversee the overall development of the bid and establish a framework for furthering 
the work.

9. In addition the Chief Officer for Culture and Sport was required to work with the 
people of Leeds to develop a new Culture Strategy for the city covering the period 
2017-2030.

10. Since that meeting Leeds has appointed a new Leader of the City Council, who 
chose to take Economy and Culture as her portfolio, taking on lead responsibility for 
the Leeds bid to become European Capital of Culture 2023 including the role as 
Deputy Chair of the Independent Steering Group.

11. The Independent Steering Group also includes representatives from the 
Conservative and Liberal Democratic parties in order to sustain cross-party support 
for the project, which in itself is an important consideration for the judges.

12. It is widely acknowledged that a thriving city is not possible without a thriving 
cultural sector. Bidding for European Capital of Culture is an enabler to the growth 
and development of the city as it goes forward changing and developing, 
experiencing population growth, new investment and new infrastructure 
developments. 

Page 130



13. For instance, we can see how instrumental the early presence of cultural 
organisations can be in regeneration. The Tetley gallery was a trail blazer on the 
vacant Carlsberg site. They have now been joined by Duke Studios, “1 of the 12 
Coolest Co-working places in the world”, who have relocated to Sheaf Street. With 
this arrival there is the audible hum of that elusive buzz factor so important in 
attracting more main stream development. Outside the city centre, organisations 
such as Chapel FM, Otley Courthouse and the Hamara Centre are cultural 
organisations equally vital in shaping the health and development of their respective 
communities.

14. We need to ensure that culture is the centrepiece of this progression, that our 
journey towards being a 21st century European city is clearly shown and expressed 
through Leeds’ culture and heritage and in how our cultural vision for the city moves 
forward. We will also need to demonstrate the provision of an enhanced cultural 
and urban realm offer through a programme of improvements to streets, roads and 
public spaces. 

15. In the current climate of austerity the Leeds bid remains a shared endeavour, led by 
the steering group but supported by stakeholders, citizens and partners in the city 
and the city-region. 
 

16. It is also worth noting that an investment in culture is just that, an investment. Arts 
Council research shows that for every £1 of salary paid by the arts and culture 
industry, an additional £2.01 is generated in the wider economy through indirect and 
induced multiplier impacts.

17. In 2011, 10 million inbound visits to the UK involved engagement with the arts and 
culture, representing 32 per cent of all visits to the UK and 42 per cent of all 
inbound tourism-related expenditure.

18. Future updates to Executive Board will include information on other aspects of the 
bid including the development of the cultural strategy, evolving European links and 
the continued engagement of the whole city in the bid.

Recommendations

19. Executive Board is recommended to:

(i) Approve the progress made over the past eight months;

(ii) Promote the Leeds 2023 Champions scheme to communities in local Wards;

(iii) Request that the Director of City Development returns with a further progress 
report in 2016 before submitting the city’s formal expression of interest;

(iv) Request that in 2016 the Director of City Development returns with a report 
into strategic approach to capital investment in cultural infrastructure for the 
medium to long term.

Page 131



(v)  Note the competitive nature of the bidding process and the implications for 
transparency and openness.

Page 132



1. Purpose of this report

1.1 To provide a progress report on work towards preparing a Leeds Bid for 
European Capital of Culture 2023.

1.2 This report updates members on progress over the past eight months with 
establishing governance structures, and the human and financial resources 
for making a bid. It also reflects the results of building a bank of knowledge 
about the process of bidding through access to research and new links with 
other European cities.

2. Background information

2.1 At a meeting of Executive Board on March 18 2015, approval was given to 
the proposal that Leeds will bid to be European Capital of Culture in 2023 
and to the principle that, as far as possible, any such bid or future 
programme of activity should involve and benefit all the communities of 
Leeds, whilst also bringing benefit to the wider regional, national and 
international communities. 

2.2 Approval was given to bid by Executive Board Members on the evidence and 
findings of a fourteen month city-wide public conversation, which showed 
very strong public support for the proposal.

2.3 The Chief Officer for Culture and Sport was requested to work with the 
Executive Member to progress the development of a bid. During this period 
and as a result of the May elections, responsibility for Culture and the 
development of the Leeds 2023 bid transferred across to the portfolio of the 
Council Leader.

2.4 The Director of City Development was requested to plan for the human and 
financial resources required for making a bid, as outlined within the 
submitted report and submit a progress report to Executive Board later in 
2015. 

2.5 In April this year the city announced that the University of Leeds was the first 
organisation to back the city’s bid, sponsoring the bidding process with 
£75,000 per year for the three years 2015-2018. This support will assist the 
team to undertake research, develop stronger European links, buy in 
expertise, cultivate new partnerships in the city, develop a compelling and 
inspiring bid, and maintain effective engagement and communication with the 
people of Leeds. In addition 20 days staffing support in the first year of the 
bid was agreed from Leeds Beckett University. Further work is ongoing to 
bring in further support from a range of partners.

2.6 In May the team launched a city-wide recruitment process to create an 
Independent Steering Group and a series of Advisory Groups focusing on 
Artistic Programme, Fundraising, Engagement, Communications & 
Marketing, and European Connections. The process sought to bring a range 
of voices together to develop the bid, focusing on the talents, experience and 

Page 133



expertise of individuals.  Strong focus was also placed on ensuring that the 
groups were not made up of ‘the usual suspects’.  From over 130 applicants 
70 were appointed to the groups with the remaining 60 offered the 
opportunity to join a Bid Champions Scheme which launched formally on 4th 
December.

2.7 The inaugural meeting of the Independent Steering Group, chaired by 
Sharon Watson, Artistic Director of Phoenix Dance, took place at Chapel FM 
in East Leeds on 8th September. The meeting confirmed the Terms of 
Reference for the Independent Steering Group, the membership of the 
Advisory groups, and committed the groups to the mandate of ensuring that 
a Leeds bid would be for all of Leeds.

2.8 Since April the Bid Team has continued to consult with leading EU bid 
officials and previous host cities to further understand the criteria and 
develop stronger connections with Europe, including investigating the option 
of Leeds re-joining the Eurocities network which would serve to network the 
city into a range of European activities, not only Culture. In addition to this 
the team has undertaken a procurement process to appoint, Culture 
Creativity Place (CCP) to provide additional specialist professional support 
and guide the work programme of the team and the focus of the Advisory 
Groups.

2.9 In addition to the work to ensure appropriate governance and decision 
making structures are in place, the initial stages of research and 
development and the continued engagement of the public for the Leeds bid, 
work has started on the new Culture Strategy for Leeds 2017-2030.  To start 
this process informal conversations have taken place with cultural and 
community organisations from across the city, and initial conversations with 
internal city council teams are also continuing to inform the early 
development. The new Culture Strategy, which will be developed through a 
broad consultative process, will provide the overarching framework for the 
delivery of the Leeds 2023 bid and its legacy outcomes. It will retain its 
relevance should we lose.

2.10 A separate report relating to the development of a new Culture Strategy for 
Leeds 2017-2030 will be brought to Executive Board in 2016.

2.11 Alongside the city-wide cultural strategy and the work of the Independent 
Steering Group, the Council itself should consider a strategic approach to its 
capital investment in cultural infrastructure in the medium to long term. This 
would complement both the bid and the development of the cultural strategy 
and contribute to the legacy of 2023, should we be successful. Officers will 
initially look to bring a further paper to Executive Board on these matters 
during 2016.

2.12 As the bid moves into the next phase of its development the city is reminded 
that the European Capital of Culture title is a competition. We may need to 
keep certain aspects of the Leeds bid close to our chest, whilst retaining 
openness and transparency in how we conduct the process.

Page 134



3. Main issues  

3.1    Establishment of the Bid Steering Group

3.1.1 In May 2015 the Leeds City Council bid team embarked on an extensive 
recruitment process seeking to appoint an Independent Steering Group and a 
series of specialist advisory groups.

3.1.2 The process sought to find a diverse range of individuals from across the city 
representing all ages, ethnicities and artistic specialisms. The Authority received a 
high number of over 130 applications for the Steering Group. The independent 
Chair was appointed through this process and a diverse range of individuals with 
a balance of skills, knowledge and experience, which has received praise from the 
city for not being ‘the usual suspects.’ Full details of the Steering Group and 
Advisory Group members can be found in Appendix A.

3.1.3 The Advisory Groups established to advise on Fundraising, Artistic Programme, 
European partnerships, Communications and Engagement have all met for the 
first time to agree the role and remit of these groups and plan the future work 
areas for the Leeds 2023 bid team. 

3.2 Leeds 2023 Steering Members

Sharon Watson (Phoenix Dance) – Chair of the Steering Group
Cllr Judith Blake (Leader of Leeds City Council) – Deputy Chair
Anamaria Wills (CidaCo) – Chair of the European Advisory Group
Anita Morris (Anita Morris Associates) – Chair of the Communications and 
Marketing Advisory Group 
Godfrey Worsdale (Henry Moore Institute) – Chair of the Fundraising Advisory 
Group
James Brining (West Yorkshire Playhouse) – Chair of the Artistic Advisory Group
Nicola Greenan (East Street Arts/Leeds Music Trust) – Chair of the Engagement 
Advisory Group
Cllr Dan Cohen (Leeds City Council) – Member of the Steering Group
Cllr Stewart Golton (Leeds City Council) – Member of the Steering Group
Karen Sewell (Addleshaw Goddard) – Member of the Steering Group
Kenneth Tindall (Choreographer) – Member of the Steering Group
Prof Frank Finlay (University of Leeds) – Member of the Steering Group
Prof Mohammad Dastbaz (Leeds Beckett University) – Member of the Steering 
Group
Selina Thompson (Practicing Visual Artist) – Member of the Steering Group

3.3   Leeds 2023 Champions

3.3.1 Early in December the Bid Steering Group launched a Leeds 2023 champions 
scheme to help further the spirit of citywide conversation, engagement and 
transparency.

Page 135



3.3.2 Learning from the example of our Leeds Ambassadors scheme and examples 
from previous cities of culture such as Lille, Leeds 2023 Champions will be of 
interest to people who want to get involved with the Bid in a way which fits around 
their existing work and other commitments. 

3.3.3 Champions will be the first to hear about developments with the bid. They will be 
asked to share and pass on bid news and initiatives and information amongst their 
networks and communities. 

3.3.4 Champions will be a sounding board for testing initial ideas about the content of 
the bid and getting wide public engagement. We hope the champions will act for 
Leeds 2023 as early ‘community connectors’. The role of elected members will 
also be vital to ensure that all communities are fully engaged.

3.3.5 Champions interested in actively working as volunteers at cultural and sports 
major events in the lead up to 2023 will be invited to join the Leeds Ambassadors 
Scheme. 

3.3.6 An officer team is in place to support the Steering Group and the work streams 
which develop. The work on the Culture Strategy is being resourced from within 
the Leeds 2023 team. 

3.3.7 The team will be coached and supported by CCP who have been appointed on an 
initial contract to work exclusively for Leeds during the next two years on its 
European Capital of Culture Bid. 

3.3.8 A timeline, business plan and communications strategy for the bid will be 
developed over the coming months.

3.3.9 The fundraising sub-group will seek further resources to support the bidding 
stage.

3.4 EU Bidding Criteria

3.4.1 An initial assessment was undertaken in May to assess the city’s areas of 
strengths and weaknesses against the six criteria of the EU competition and 
Leeds’ overall readiness to bid. It included some early visioning workshops with 
cultural organisations. 

Contact has been made with a number of European cities and projects - Lille 
3000, Aarhus 2017, Hull UK City of Culture 2017, Mons 2015 to learn from their 
experiences. Further work will be undertaken in 2016 to address perceived 
weaknesses and build on strengths.

3.5 Competitor Cities

3.5.1 Other UK cities to publicly declare early intentions to bid are Dundee, Milton 
Keynes, and East Kent. The Mayor of Bristol has recently announced that the city 
is considering a bid. UK cities will not be called upon to formally put an expression 
of interest in until December 2016 at the earliest. Only at this point will we know 
definitively which UK cities Leeds is competing against.

Page 136



4 Corporate Considerations

4.1    Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The Leeds 2023 Steering Group was established through an open call for 
applications. A number of advisory groups have been set up one of which is 
focussing on soliciting wide public engagement with the Leeds bid.

A meeting was scheduled with Leeds Chamber of Commerce and others on 10 
December at the offices of Addleshaw Goddard to progress discussions of 
business engagement with the Leeds 2023 bid.    

4.1.2 A Leeds 2023 Champions Scheme was launched on 4 December 2015. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 People living in Leeds and organisations working with local people are integral to 
the preparation and delivery of the Leeds 2023 bid, which in turn must reflect the 
diverse make-up of the city.

4.2.2 A new culture strategy will provide the over-arching framework for the bid and is in 
early development. A key aim is to enable people to feel they can access different 
cultural experiences on equal terms. The city’s culture strategy will seek to dispel 
any myth that “culture” is another name for “high art for the wealthy”.  

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The bid to become European Capital of Culture 2023 will support the council’s 
ambition to be a compassionate city with a strong economy, whilst tackling 
inequalities. The bid will seek to engage all the city’s diverse communities. The bid 
has the potential to support the children and family agenda, address issues of 
learning and citizenship and promote community cohesion. It will assist in raising 
the profile of Leeds as a major European city capable of hosting major events and 
it will boost Leeds and Leeds city region as a cultural destination with a great 
quality of life. 

4.3.2 The best city outcomes of “enjoy happy, healthy, active lives”, “enjoy greater 
access to green spaces, leisure and the arts” are central to the bid. Should we 
succeed all best city outcomes will be positively impacted.

4.4        Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 Bid development is being staffed by a small project management team within 
Culture and Sport. Leeds Beckett University is loaning support at no cost to the 
Authority, of the services of their European cultural expert Professor Franco 
Bianchini. The University of Leeds has committed £75,000 cash contribution each 
year over three years to support the procurement for the team of additional 
external advice.  Addleshaw Goddard is offering legal and contract management 
support where it is required, on a no fee basis

4.4.2 The Steering Group has established an advisory group to fundraise for the bid 
development phase and for the 2023 Year of Activity, including the five years 

Page 137



leading up to delivery of the Year. The fundraising advisory group will seek further 
resources to support the bidding stage.

4.4.3 The work on the Culture Strategy is also being resourced from within the Leeds 
2023 team. 

4.4.4 The team will be coached and supported by CCP who have been appointed on an 
initial contract to work exclusively for Leeds during the next two years on its 
European Capital of Culture Bid. 

4.4.5 Timelines, business plans and communications strategies for the bid will be 
continue to be developed over the coming months

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The report is subject to call-in.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 In a climate of austerity the council and the city is committed to achieve our 
ambition to become a truly global city and to recognise and support the role of 
culture and sport in this ambition.

4.6.2 The decision to bid has been taken with enough lead in time to prepare a winning 
case and secure wide backing. As the first UK city to declare publicly its decision 
to bid, Leeds has already attracted additional publicity and press coverage and is 
being regularly cited in global media alerts about the European Capitals of 
Culture.

4.6.3 There is already popular support in the city for a Leeds bid. This will be sustained 
if we can attract wider backing from the city region and firm commitments from 
other partners who will share the initial risk and stand to share in the benefits 
which will accrue.    

5.0 Conclusions

5.1 This report plots the first eight months progress to Executive Board in a two or 
three year-long bidding process. In this period the Chief Officer for Culture and 
Sport has established the necessary governance structures and officer team to 
steer the bid. 

5.2 Feedback from senior EU contacts suggests that the city is in line with, if not 
ahead of time, in terms of our preparedness to bid.

6.0 Recommendations

6.1        Executive Board is recommended to:

(i) Approve the progress made over the past eight months;

(ii) Promote the Leeds 2023 Champions scheme to communities in local Wards;

Page 138



(iii) Request that the Director of City Development returns with a further progress 
report in 2016 before submitting the city’s formal expression of interest;

(iv) Request that in 2016 the Director of City Development returns with a report 
into a strategic approach to capital investment in cultural infrastructure for the 
medium to long term. 

(v) Note the competitive nature of the bidding process and the implications for 
transparency and openness.

7  Background Documents1

7.1 None

8 Appendix

8.1 Full list of members of the Steering Group and Advisory Groups 

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A of Report To Executive Board 16 December 2015 
Who is Who on Leeds2023? 
Overview of the Steering Group and Advisory Groups 

1 

 

Steering Group 

Members 
Sharon Watson (Phoenix Dance) – Chair of the Steering Group 
Cllr Judith Blake (Leeds City Council) – Deputy Chair 

Anamaria Wills  (CidaCo) – Chair of the European Sub‐group 
Anita Morris (Anita Morris Associates) – Chair of the Communications and Marketing Sub‐group 
Godfrey Worsdale (Henry Moore Institute) – Chair of the Finance Sub‐group 
James Brining (West Yorkshire Playhouse) – Chair of the Artistic Sub‐group 
Nicola Greenan (East Street Arts/Leeds Music Trust) – Chair of the Engagement Sub‐group 

Cllr Dan Cohen (Leeds City Council) – Member of the Steering Group 
Cllr Stewart Golton (Leeds City Council) – Member of the Steering Group 
Karen Sewell (Addleshaw Goddard) – Member of the Steering Group 
Kenneth Tindall (Choreographer) – Member of the Steering Group 
Prof Frank Finlay (University of Leeds) – Member of the Steering Group 
Prof Mohammad Dastbaz (Leeds Beckett University) – Member of the Steering Group 
Selina Thompson (Practicing Visual Artist) – Member of the Steering Group 

 

European advisory group 

Chair 
Anamaria Wills  (CidaCo) 

Members 
Aisha Iqbal (Yorkshire Evening Post) 
Alison Fell (University of Leeds) 
Gerry Godley (Leeds College of Music) 
Gill Park (Pavilion) 
Graham Webb (Promoting Communication Ltd) 
Ivor Davies (International Policy Research & Development) 
Karen Watson (East Street Arts) 
Marguerite Hogg (Marguerite Hogg Consultancy) 
Teresa Stoppani (Leeds Beckett University) 
Wieke Eringa (Yorkshire Dance) 
 
 

Fundraising advisory group 
Chair 
Godfrey Worsdale (Henry Moore Foundation) 

Members 
Karen Sewell (Addleshaw Goddard) – Member of the Steering Group 
Fiona Spiers (Heritage Lottery Fund in Yorkshire & Humber) 
Kate Hainsworth (Leeds Community Foundation) 
Mark Skipper (Northern Ballet) 
Pam Bone (Freelance fundraiser) 
Richard Mantle (Opera North) TBC 

Page 141



Appendix A of Report To Executive Board 16 December 2015 
Who is Who on Leeds2023? 
Overview of the Steering Group and Advisory Groups 

2 

 

 

 
Communications and Marketing advisory group 
Chair 
Anita Morris (Anita Morris Associates) 

Members 
Alison Andrews (A Quiet Word) 
Emma Beverley (Independent Producer) 
Gerard Savva (We Are Magpie) 
Jack Simpson (The State of the Arts) 
Mark Hollander (Unlimited Theatre) 
Nick Hallam (West Yorkshire Playhouse) 
Nick Ramshaw (Thompson Brand Partners) 
Rachel Jeffcoat (National Trust) 
Shirley Beresford (Leeds Beckett University) 
Stephen Woowat (Something More Design) 
Stuart Clarke (Media Yorkshire/Bloom) 
 
 
 
 
 

Artistic Programme advisory group 
Chair 
James Brining (West Yorkshire Playhouse) 

Members 
Kenneth Tindall (Choreographer) – Member of the Steering Group 
Selina Thompson (Practicing Visual Artist) – Member of the Steering Group 
Adrian Sinclair (Heads Together) 
Alan Lane (Slung Low) 
Amy Letman (Theatre Producer & Curator) 
David Edmunds (DepArts) 
John Roles (Leeds City Council) 
Laura Wellington (Duke Studios) 
Matthew Sims (Leeds City Council) 
Patrick O'Mahony (New Substance LTD) 
Samuel Nicholls (Whiskas) 
Susan Pitter (West Indian Carnival) 
Wendy Harris (Tutti Frutti) 

 

 

 

 

Page 142



Appendix A of Report To Executive Board 16 December 2015 
Who is Who on Leeds2023? 
Overview of the Steering Group and Advisory Groups 

3 

 

 

Engagement advisory group 

Chair 
Nicola Greenan (East Street Arts/Leeds Music Trust) 

Members 
Ben Deutsch (Touchstone) 
Heather Nelson (BHI) 
Howard Bradley (LS14 Trust) 
Kate Mcdonald (Young Wired State) 
Kath Lindley (Shine Business Centre) 
Kerry Harker (The Art House UK) 
Madeleine Thorne (Opera North) 
Sam Perkins (West Yorkshire Playhouse) 
Sarah Statham (St Anne’s Charity) 
Sharon Gladish (KPMG) 
Wendy Denman (Trinity Leeds) 
Wesley Zepherin (Roots & Wings) 
Mike Love (Together for Peace) 
Sally Anne Greenfield (Leeds Community Foundation) 
Paula Dillon (Chamber of Commerce) 
Andrew Latchmore (Shulmans) 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



Joint Report of Director of City Development & Director of Children’s Services

Report to Executive Board

Date: 16th December 2015

Subject: State of the City 2015 – driving skills for the manufacturing sector

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues  

The 2015 State of the City event was focused on the continuing importance of the 
city’s manufacturing sector. The event brought together Councillors, manufacturers 
and key local partners to explore the challenges and opportunities facing the sector 
in Leeds and the lessons that can be learned from manufacturing in developing a 
resilient and prosperous economy. Central to this is the skills shortage in the sector 
and how education providers and employers can work more closely to equip young 
people with the skills needed for careers in the fields of engineering, technology and 
science which are key to the future of manufacturing.

Through a series of panels, workshops and speeches, four key themes emerged 
that provide opportunities for the council to play a role in supporting the 
manufacturing sector for the benefit of all Leeds citizens:

 Telling and selling the story of Leeds manufacturing and its continuing 
importance to the economy as a means getting more young people interested in 
a career in manufacturing and as a central part of Leeds’ offer as a location for 
business and investment.

 Fostering innovation and collaboration between manufacturing businesses 
and our universities to ensure that Leeds is at the forefront of developing new 
processes, techniques and products and encourages new innovators and 
graduate retention.

Report authors:  Alex Clarke
Tel: 01132243462

Tom Bridges
Tel: 01132243735

Page 145

Agenda Item 11



 Developing the right skills and increasing the diversity of the manufacturing 
workforce, making sure that training and education matches the future needs of 
businesses and that there are good progression routes at all levels.

 Supporting business growth to boost the local economy and jobs, including 
support for business investment, delivery of infrastructure and a wider range of 
sites and premises for new and existing businesses.

Since the State of the City event there have been national government 
announcements regarding changes to business support, including the removal of 
funding for the Manufacturing Advisory Service. It will be important for the council, 
representative bodies and businesses to consider the impact of these changes to 
the business support landscape. The Chamber of Commerce is already talking to its 
manufacturing members around developing a manufacturing alliance to provide 
support and better representation for the sector. 

Recommendations

1. The ‘Main Issues’ section of this Executive Board report outlines key actions 
proposed during or as a result of the State of the City event, under the four central 
themes listed above. Drawing from those actions Executive Board is recommended 
to approve the following recommendations, which will be the responsibility of the 
Chief Officers for Economic Development and Employment and Skills to oversee 
implementation, with a future update being provided to Executive Board.  

Telling and selling the story of Leeds manufacturing

1.For the Council to support measures to better tell the story of Leeds 
manufacturing, including: facilitating better collaboration between employers 
and schools; encouraging greater engagement between elected members 
and manufacturing businesses in their wards; and supporting further 
development of the Leeds Manufacturing Forum website, newsletter and 
other communications activity.

Fostering innovation and collaboration

2.Facilitation of greater connections between manufacturers and universities, 
linking these with initiatives such as the Retail Institute at Leeds Beckett 
University, the National Facility for Innovative Robotic Systems and the 
Institute of Medical and Biological Engineering at the University of Leeds, and 
to national bodies and with programmes such as Innovate UK.

Developing skills and increasing the diversity of the workforce

3.To explore possibilities for greater collaboration between schools and 
businesses in promoting opportunities offered by a career in manufacturing, 
including further embedding the awareness among young people and 
schools of apprenticeship pathways and work to support all schools including 
the newly established Leeds University Technical College.

Page 146



4.To look into further opportunities to support diversity in the manufacturing 
workforce, including 1) considering how the manufacturing sector can be 
involved in work to increase BAME representation on apprenticeships and 2) 
collaborate with Women in Science and Engineering (WiSE) in promoting 
opportunities for women in manufacturing.

5.Look at further means by which the voice of employers can be heard by 
education and training providers in creating and delivering courses that 
reflect the needs of local businesses.

Supporting business growth

6. To explore what further support can be given to strengthen the Leeds 
Manufacturing Forum, working with the Chamber of Commerce and 
manufacturing businesses.

7. To review how a wider range of sites and premises can be brought forward 
through means available to Leeds City Council, including, but not limited to, 
the Enterprise Zone.

1.         Purpose of this report

1 This report is on the outcomes arising from the recent State of the City event, with 
reference made in particular to the actions being taken to address the issue of 
skills shortages within the city.

2 Background information

2.1 This year’s State of the City meeting on the 25th November was themed around 
continuing importance of manufacturing and the contribution the sector makes to 
the city’s economy but also the challenges it faces, in particular around skills. 

2.2 Woven throughout the meeting were contributions from Councillors and from 
manufacturing employers on the role the sector can play in delivering the Council’s 
‘strong economy, compassionate city’ ambition. 

2.3 As well as expert panels and a key note address from Councillor Leader, 
Councillor Blake, the event also included workshops on innovation in textiles 
manufacturing, medical technology, product and design, investing in skill and 
workforce development and the factory of the future.

2.4 In advance of the event study tours were arranged to give councillors the 
opportunity to visit manufacturers across a range of sectors in wards across the 
city.

3 Main issues

3.1 Key actions emerging from the panels and workshop sessions can be categorised 
under four central themes, with a central narrative around the importance of 
getting closer alignment between skills provision, the needs of employers and the 
aspirations of young people.

Page 147



3.2 Theme 1: Telling and selling the story of Leeds manufacturing

3.2.1 A consistent theme of the day was that Leeds has a powerful story to tell about: 
the city’s rich manufacturing heritage; the diversity and scale of the sector (Leeds 
has one of the highest concentrations of manufacturing in the UK with around 
30,000 jobs in Leeds and 140,000 jobs across the wider City Region); and the 
world leading and highly innovative companies based in Leeds. 

3.2.2 A number of the manufacturers present highlighted the fact that their businesses 
now compete in global markets and need to attract the best talent to remain 
competitive. They also emphasised that manufacturing and engineering is about 
more than making things; it is about supporting creativity and design, developing 
skills and opportunities, innovation and improving the quality of education to 
inspire future generations. 

3.2.3 Delegates heard from companies operating in a range of markets and sectors 
including: DePuy Synthes, the global medical devices group which this year 
opened a £21 million state of the art research and development facility supporting 
over 500 jobs; Airedale International which manufactures data centre cooling 
equipment; AW Hainsworth, established in Stanningley in 1783, which two 
hundred years ago clothed the British Army at the Battle of Waterloo and which  
continues to innovate today with a world leading line in fire resistant material. They 
also heard about the recent announcement of Burberry bringing over 1000 jobs 
into the centre of Leeds, creating a flagship state of the art facility.

3.2.4 Telling these and other stories of Leeds manufacturing would bring benefits in 
terms of attracting inward investment, increasing the reputation of the city in 
sectors like medical technology and textiles, attracting new businesses and the 
next generation of innovators, helping to reduce the skills shortages and promoting 
a career in the sector to children and young people from all backgrounds.

3.2.5 Actions agreed and already taking place to tell the story:

 For the Council to support greater engagement between schools and 
manufacturing employers through the Leeds Manufacturing Forum, work 
being done by the Education Business Partnership and Ahead Partnership; 
and to promote manufacturing companies within wards to schools.

 To support further development of the Leeds Manufacturing website, 
newsletter and other communications activity to promote the sector, including 
more case studies on businesses in the city.

 To make Councillors aware of the significant scale and diversity of the sector 
within their wards/community committee areas, and to organise further site 
visits for Councillors to Leeds manufacturing businesses.

3.3 Theme 2: Fostering innovation and collaboration

3.3.1 With a strong university sector in the city, as well as manufacturing at the cutting 
edge of design and technology, there is fantastic potential for innovation in the city. 

Page 148



The city has a long history of innovation and we should be encouraging more 
innovators in Leeds and do more to attract them to the city.

3.3.2 Manufacturers in the city shared how collaboration with universities is essential as 
a catalyst for harnessing creative talent, developing new products, processes and 
materials and investing in the future of the sector. They also underlined the 
challenge of remaining competitive in a global market, attracting and retaining 
investment, when other governments are investing heavily in innovation and 
offering financial incentives to inward investors. Small and medium sized 
enterprises (SMEs) also need to be helped to adapt to the future markets for 
manufacturing and invest in new manufacturing facilities.

3.3.3 Actions agreed and already taking place on innovation:

 Facilitation of greater connections between manufacturers and universities.

 To assess the current provision of research and development funding and 
help businesses to foster closer relationships with Innovate UK, other bodies, 
national programmes and initiatives.

3.4 Theme 3: Developing skills and increasing workforce diversity

3.4.1 A major concern for Councillors and manufacturers was the ability to attract people 
with the skills necessary for working in the sector. Across the region there are up 
to 140,000 manufacturing jobs, characterised on the whole by their good quality 
and career progression routes. However despite recent trends that show 
increasing numbers of engineering students at university, and increasing entrants 
to the sector through apprenticeship pathways, manufacturers are clear that they 
are not able to get young people with the skills needed for their business to 
replace a large cohort of ageing employees. The University Technical College will 
help address this, but will only be able to take 150 students a year therefore 
engagement and support for all schools in developing appropriate IAG and 
curricula will be essential.

3.4.2 At the event a number of people working in the sector, including apprentices and 
graduates, shared their experience of how they entered the profession. It was 
agreed that there are many misconceptions about working in the manufacturing 
industry and the type of opportunities available, something which needs to change. 
It was also said that there was not enough collaboration between schools and 
businesses to promote the opportunities offered by a career in the sector, and that 
ambassadors for the sector could be key to encouraging more young people to 
think about a career in manufacturing, as well as building on the successful work 
done by the Education Business Partnership and the Ahead Partnership with the 
Leeds Manufacturing Forum, and the Leeds City Region’s Enterprise Advisor 
project.

3.4.3 It was also highlighted that there needs to be further promotion of inclusivity to 
increase the numbers of women and people from BAME backgrounds in 
manufacturing in the city. Only 7% of the UK’s engineers are women, the lowest 
percentage in Europe, and lower than in India, China or Brazil. The BAME 
population in the city is also under-represented. Work being led by the Council’s 

Page 149



Employment and Skills service to raise the proportion of young people from BAME 
communities on apprenticeships offers the opportunity to address this.

3.4.4  Actions agreed and already taking place on skills and inclusion:

 To explore possibilities for greater collaboration between schools and 
businesses in promoting opportunities offered by a career in manufacturing, 
including further embedding the awareness among young people and 
schools of apprenticeship pathways,  and work to support all schools 
including the newly established Leeds University Technical College.

 To consider how the manufacturing sector can be involved in work to 
increase BAME representation on apprenticeships;

 Look at further means by which the voice of employers can be heard by 
education and training providers in creating and delivering courses that 
reflective the needs of local businesses.

 To assist employers in thinking about whether their working environment is 
attractive / appropriate to girls and women, and helping to promote more 
women in manufacturing through greater use of manufacturing ambassadors 
to schools and collaboration with Women in Science and Engineering 
(WISE).

3.5 Theme 4: Supporting Business Growth 

3.5.1 It was agreed at the event that supporting businesses to invest for growth would 
bring benefits to the city as a whole. Manufacturing is still a major direct employer, 
as well as supporting jobs in supply chains and related sectors, and it accounts for 
50% of UK exports. The impact of investment through the LEP Business Growth 
Programme, managed by Leeds City Council on behalf of the Leeds city Region, 
was highlighted: the programme has provided over £7.5 million in grants to 
businesses in Leeds, most of them manufacturers, levering in over £50 million in 
private sector investment, creating around 1,000 jobs. This has been supported 
also by the development of Enterprise Zones.

3.5.2 In order to support business growth, manufacturers and partners at the event 
highlighted the need to have 21st century infrastructure across the city, with 
transport key to this. Business premises and sites were also highlighted as an 
issue, with more needing to be done to protect employment land and promote 
available sites in the city to new and existing business. Information is equally vital 
and there is a role to be played to support access to manufacturing, with 
knowledge and funding significant issues for local start-up companies and 
entrepreneurs.

Actions agreed and already taking place to support business growth:

 To explore what further support can be given to strengthen the Leeds 
Manufacturing Forum, working together with the Chamber of Commerce.

Page 150



 Work with local manufacturers and the universities in the city to help retain 
skilled jobs and graduates trained in the city.

 Review how we can strike the right balance between allocating land for 
housing development and employment use, bringing forward a wider range of 
sites and premises through means available to Leeds City Council, including 
in the Enterprise Zone and other areas of the city.

 Following the recent Autumn Statement, to evaluate the provision of business 
support and structures needed following the removal of funding for the 
Manufacturing Advisory Service.

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

As this report provides a summary of outcomes from the State of the City event, it 
is a reflection of consultation and engagement that took place as the main 
purpose of the event, engaging with Councillors, businesses and partners.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

Themes running through this report have an impact on equality and diversity, in 
particular considerations of the diversity of the manufacturing workforce. The 
Council aims to improve the lives of all its citizens and foster good relations 
between different groups in the community and it is considered that the 
recommendations in this report will have a positive outcome.

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.4 The Best Council Plan priorities refer to aspects of the discussions that have 
taken place at the State of the City event and are undertaken in that context. In 
particular, the paper highlights possible ways in which the Best Council Plan 
objectives around promoting sustainable and inclusive and economic growth; and 
building a child-friendly city can be realised. 

4.5 Resources and value for money 

There are no specific implications for this report.

4.6 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

There are no specific legal implications arising from this report.

4.7 Risk Management

There are no specific implications for this report.

5 Recommendations

The ‘Main Issues’ section of this Executive Board report outlines key actions 
proposed during or as a result of the State of the City event, under the four central 

Page 151



themes listed above. Drawing from those actions Executive Board is recommended 
to approve the following recommendations, which will be the responsibility of the 
Chief Officers for Economic Development and Employment and Skills to oversee 
implementation, with a future update being provided to Executive Board.  

Telling and selling the story of Leeds manufacturing

1. For the Council to support measures to better tell the story of Leeds 
manufacturing, including: facilitating better collaboration between employers 
and schools; encouraging greater engagement between elected members 
and manufacturing businesses in their wards; and supporting further 
development of the Leeds Manufacturing Forum website, newsletter and 
other communications activity.

Fostering innovation and collaboration

2. Facilitation of greater connections between manufacturers and universities, 
linking these with initiatives such as the Retail Institute at Leeds Beckett 
University, the National Facility for Innovative Robotic Systems and the 
Institute of Medical and Biological Engineering at the University of Leeds, and 
to national bodies and with programmes such as Innovate UK.

Developing skills and increasing the diversity of the workforce

3. To explore possibilities for greater collaboration between schools and 
businesses in promoting opportunities offered by a career in manufacturing, 
including further embedding the awareness among young people and 
schools of apprenticeship pathways, and work to support all schools 
including the newly established Leeds University Technical College.

4. To look into further opportunities to support diversity in the manufacturing 
workforce, including 1) considering how the manufacturing sector can be 
involved in work to increase BAME representation on apprenticeships and 2) 
collaborate with Women in Science and Engineering (WiSE) in promoting 
opportunities for women in manufacturing.

5. Look at further means by which the voice of employers can be heard by 
education and training providers in creating and delivering courses that 
reflect the needs of local businesses.

Supporting business growth

6. To explore what further support can be given to strengthen the Leeds 
Manufacturing Forum, working with the Chamber of Commerce and 
manufacturing businesses.

7. To review how a wider range of sites and premises can be brought forward 
through means available to Leeds City Council, including, but not limited to, 
the Enterprise Zone.

6 Background documents1 

Page 152



6.1 None

7    Additional Information

Leeds Manufacturing: Adding Value 
(http://www.leedsmanufacturingforum.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/08/Leeds-
manufacturing-adding-value.pdf)  

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 

 

Report of the Deputy Chief Executive 

Report to Executive Board    

Date: 16th December 2015 

Subject: Financial Health Monitoring 2015/16 – Month 7 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Executive Board of the financial health of 
the authority in respect of the revenue budget and the Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA).  

 
2. The 2015/16 financial year is the second year covered by the 2013 Spending 

Review and again presents significant financial challenges to the Council.  In terms 
of the medium-term financial strategy, it is clear that the Government’s deficit 
reduction plans will extend through to at least 2019/20, with the announced 
reductions in public expenditure meaning that further savings will be required. 
Executive Board received a report outlining the Council’s 2016/17 to 2019/20 
Financial Strategy at its October meeting. 
 

3. Executive Board will recall that the 2015/16 general fund revenue budget provides 
for a variety of actions to reduce spending by £45m. It is clear that action is taking 
place across all areas of the Council and also that significant savings are being 
delivered in line with the budget. However, after 7 months of the financial year the 
year-end forecast is for an overall overspend of £4m which represents an adverse 
movement of £0.65m compared to the previous month.  The key pressures continue 
to be in the demand-led budgets and specifically those supporting children in care. 
 

4. At the end of month 7 the HRA is projecting a surplus of £134k. 

 

Report author: Alan Gay/Doug Meeson  

Tel: 74250 

Page 155

Agenda Item 12



 

 
 
 
 

 

Recommendations 

5. Members of the Executive Board are asked to note the projected financial position 
of the Authority for 2015/16. 
 

1. Purpose of this report     
 
1.1 This report sets out for the Executive Board the Council’s projected financial health 

position for 2015/16 together with other key financial indicators.  
 
1.2 Budget management and monitoring is a continuous process throughout the year, 

and this report reviews the position of the budget after 7 months of the financial 
year and also comments on the key issues impacting on the overall achievement of 
the budget for the current year. 

 
2. Background information 
 
2.1 Executive Board will recall that the net budget for the general fund was set at 

£523.78m, supported by the use of £1.45m of general fund reserves.   
 
2.2 The balance of general reserves at April 2015 was £22.3m and when taking into 

account the budgeted use of £1.45m in 2015/16 will leave an anticipated balance at 
March 2016 of £20.9m. 

 
2.3 Financial monitoring continues to be undertaken on a risk-based approach where 

financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget 
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, 
those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand, key income budgets, etc. In 
2015/16 we have reinforced this risk-based approach with specific project 
management based support and reporting around the achievement of the key 
budget actions plans. 

 
3. Main Issues  
 
3.1 At month 7 of the 2015/16 financial year a forecast year-end overspend of £4m is 

projected as shown in the table below.  

Page 156



 

 
 
 
 

   

 
 
3.2 The key issues are outlined below and further information is shown in the financial 

dashboards at appendix 1. 
 
3.2.1 Adult Social Care – overall, the Directorate is currently projecting a balanced 

position by the financial year-end. There have been some minor changes across 
the main budget heads since month 6 but the bottom-line projection is unchanged. 
There are some risks associated with this projection, mainly relating to the activity 
levels within the community care budget and progress over the coming months in 
delivering key budget action plans.  Some slippage and likely non-achievement of 
planned savings has been identified on some of the most challenging budget action 
plans. Although there is slippage in delivering the specific actions for savings of 
£2.7m within the community care packages budget this has been largely offset by 
savings through continued careful management of care plan approvals. £1m relates 
to revenue funding for community intermediate care beds from health which is now 
unlikely, but contingency plans are being developed and the projection assumes 
that these will offset the shortfall. The current projection is for shortfalls of £1.2m in 
the budgeted saving from reviewing grants and contracts with third sector providers 
and £0.4m on transport. Slippage of £0.7m on the charging review will occur as any 
changes will not now take place before April 2016. These pressures are largely 
offset by projected underspends on staffing, further details of which are outlined 
financial dashboard at appendix 1.   

 
3.2.2 Children’s Services – the Directorate is forecasting an overall year-end overspend 

of £4.42m or 3.6% of the net managed budget.  This represents an adverse 
movement of £785k from the month 6 position.  In respect to the children looked 
after budgets, at the end of November there were 1,257 children in care which is a   
net increase of 10 over the month.  The number of externally provided residential 
placements remains unchanged at 51 and the number of placements with 
independent fostering agencies has reduced by 1 to 233.  The forecast gross 
overspend for  all children looked after placements has increased  by £0.5m to  
£4.4m this month and has the potential to increase further toward the year-end as 
the year-end projection anticipates a net reduction of 11 external residential 
placements (to 40) and 26  external fostering placements (to 207) by the end of 
March 2016.      

 

Directorate Director Staffing
Total 

Expenditure
Income

 Total (under) 
/overspend

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000  

Adult Social Care Cath Roff (2,724) (547) 577 30 19

Children's Services Nigel Richardson (1,901) 4,836 (419) 4,417 3,632

City Development Martin Farrington (1,090) (31) (138) (169) (116)

Environment & Housing Neil Evans (2,252) 364 (1,705) (1,341) (1,378)

Strategy & Resources Alan Gay (1,720) (1,496) 1,485 (11) (89)

Citizens & Communities James Rogers (376) 3,417 (3,740) (323) (104)

Public Health Dr Ian Cameron (500) (2,263) 2,641 378 410

Civic Enterprise Leeds Julie Meakin 591 737 (422) 315 315

Strategic & Central Alan Gay 0 (372) 1,061 689 642

Total Current Month (9,972) 4,645 (660) 3,985 3,331

(Under) / Over spend for the current period
Previous Month 

(under)/over 
Spend

Page 157



 

 
 
 
 

Across the staffing budgets the directorate is projecting an underspend of £1.9m.  
This is mainly due to slippage against the recruitment plans for services funded 
from the Innovations Fund [£1.1m]. Other key staffing variations include a forecast 
underspend on Children's Homes [£0.4m] and Complex Needs [£0.2m].  The 
directorate is also on track to deliver a £0.5m saving on agency staffing. These 
savings are partly offset by slippage on the budget action plans for Service 
transformation [£0.6m] and Youth Services [£0.5m.] 
 
The 2015/16 budget includes £0.83m of anticipated savings around demand 
management in the transport budgets. The current forecast continues for a £1m 
overspend as a result of further demand pressures around special education needs 
transport and a rise in children and young people requiring education outside the 
city. 
  
Within the overall forecast favourable income variation of £0.4m there are a number 
variations including £1.6m of additional Health funding for Children's Centres, £1m 
of additional funding from Schools Forum to support prevention and early 
intervention, £1m of additional High Needs DSG funding for SEND placements, and 
£0.5m of other funding around Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children, 
Improvement Partner Income, direct payments and Housing Benefit rebates.  These 
favourable variations are largely offset by a reduction in Nursery Fees and DSG 
income for 2, 3 and 4 year old early education provision.   

 
3.2.3 City Development – overall, the Directorate is anticipating an underspend of 

£0.17m against the £48m net managed budget. The main change since month 6 is 
that further savings are expected to be made on staffing together with an expected 
increase in other income in Planning. The year-end projection also assumes that 
the Directorate will receive additional one off income within the overall forecast. The 
majority of the budget action plans are on track to deliver the anticipated savings 
with the exception of the plans around increased income [£0.6m], the community 
asset transfer proposals [£0.14m] and the anticipated savings in sport and active 
recreation [(£0.06m]. 

  
3.3.4 Environment & Housing - overall the Directorate is forecasting a year-end 

underspend of £1.34m against its £59.7m net managed budget. A key area of 
underspend relates to car parking where, through a combination of staffing savings 
and additional fee income from both off and on-street, an underspend of £0.9m is 
projected.   

 
Waste Management are anticipating an underspend of £0.55m which includes the 
£0.4m of additional PFI grant income savings due to the Recovery and Energy from 
Waste Facility (RERF) being certified as ready to take waste for commissioning (a 
month earlier than assumed in the budget.   Parks and Countryside and Community 
Safety are forecasting overspends of £0.26m and £0.06m respectively.  
 

3.2.5 Public Health – overall, the Public Health budget is forecast to overspend by 
£0.4m.  The allocation of the ring-fenced Public Health grant for 2015/16 was frozen 
at 2014/15 levels of £40.5m.  However, additional responsibility for the 0 - 5 years 
services (health visiting services and Family Nurse Partnership) transferred to LCC 
in October with further funding of £5m attached. In 2014/15 there was an 
underspend of £1.2m of the ring fenced grant which has been brought forward for 
use in 2015/16 in line with grant conditions.  Of this amount, £0.8m had been 

Page 158



 

 
 
 
 

expected to fund the base budget for 2015/16 and the remaining £0.4m has been 
allocated to services committed to during 2014/15 but which had not yet taken 
place.  

 
On the 4th November the Government announced the outcome of the consultation 
on the implementation of a £200m national cut to the 2015/16 Public Health grant 
allocation.  This confirmed the Department of Health's preferred option of reducing 
each local authority's allocation by 6.2%, which means a reduction of £2.82m for 
Leeds.  To date, £2.4m of potential savings have been identified and are in the 
process of being implemented and these have been reflected in the year-end 
projections.  There are still some risks attached to the delivery of these in-year 
savings, particularly the activity based contracts. 
 
In the Spending Review and Autumn Statement, Government indicated that it will 
make savings in local authority public health spending with average annual real-
terms savings of 3.9% over the next 5 years which will manifest in reductions to the 
ring-fenced public health grant to local authorities and that these cuts are in addition 
to the 6.2% in-year 2015/16 reduction which will now recur in 2016/17 and 
beyond.  For Leeds, it is estimated that this will mean a grant reduction of £3.9m in 
the 2016/17 financial year with a total estimated reduction to the grant allocation of 
£7.3m by 2019/20.  This will effectively mean that the Council will have £25m less to 
spend on public health priorities between 2015/16 and 2019/20. 

 
3.2.6 Strategy & Resources – at month 7, the Directorate is forecasting a balanced 

budget position which reflects the positive progress against the range of budget 
savings plans in additional to other minor variations. 

 
3.2.7 Citizens & Communities – at this stage in the financial year the Directorate is 

expecting to deliver the budgeted level of savings and deliver an underspend of 
£0.3m.  Many of the required budget action plans have already been implemented 
and achieved, and in all cases work is progressing to achieve the required savings. 

 

3.2.8 Civic Enterprise Leeds (CEL) – the overall projected position at month 7 for CEL 
is an overspend of £0.3m which is primarily accounted for by a £165k overspend 
against the Catering net budget and a £150k overspend on Property Cleaning. The 
catering overspend is a result of an income shortfall against the increased budgeted 
number of meals whereas the property overspend arises from not meeting 
efficiencies included within the base budget.   

 
3.2.9 Strategic & Central budgets - overall, the strategic & central budgets are forecast 

to overspend by £0.7m.  There are a number of key variations within this figure. 
 

i) The Business Rates Retention Scheme came into effect in April 2013 and 
significantly changed the system of financing local government.  In terms of 
business rates income, whilst there has been some growth, this has been offset 
by the impact of successful valuation appeals and other reductions to the rating 
list, either through closure, Valuation Office reviews or other appeals against the 
rating list.  Whilst the impact of major variations in business rates income is 
managed through a collection fund and therefore will impact on future years, 
there will be an impact on the levy payment to the business rates pool which is 
budgeted for within the general fund.  Based on the latest business rates 

Page 159



 

 
 
 
 

information, we are anticipating a levy payment of £1.8m in 2015/16 which is 
£1.3m less than the budget. 
 

ii) An additional £1.8m of savings to the revenue budget are anticipated in 2015/16 
through the additional capitalisation of eligible general expenditure (£0.3m) and 
eligible spend in schools budgets (£1m). 

 
iii) The 2015/16 budget included a £1.2m action plan in respect of reviewing and 

reducing directorate spend outside of council contracts.  Work is on-going to 
realise these savings however it is anticipated that £0.6m of the savings will slip 
into future financial years.  In addition, the forecast on the strategic budget 
recognises that the £1m corporate procurement target will be achieved through 
Directorate budgets.  
 

iv) New Homes Bonus is a funding mechanism rewarding councils that increase the 
number of occupied homes within their areas. The reward effectively doubles 
the amount of Council Tax for every new home built or empty home brought 
back into use, and is payable for six years.  The 2015/16 budget assumes some 
£18.5m in respect of New Homes Bonus.  At month 7, the forecast recognises 
the confirmed shortfall of £0.85m.  

 
v) Early Leavers Initiative – the month 7 projection anticipates a cost pf £2.6m in 

2015/16 which is a shortfall of £0.6m against the £2m earmarked reserve. 
 

vi) In addition, there is a potential reduction in section 2781 income of 
approximately £1.5m which reflects lower development activity than anticipated. 

 
3.2.10 Additional information across the range of budget action plans, other risk areas and 

forecast budget variations can be found in the financial dashboards at appendix 1. 
 
3.3 Other Financial Performance 
 
3.3.1 Council Tax 

 
 The current Council Tax in-year collection rate stands at 63.75% which is marginally 

behind [0.12%] the performance in 2014/15.  The year-end forecast is to achieve 
the 95.7% target collection rate, collecting some £285m of income in the year. 

 
3.3.2 Business Rates  
 
 The current Business Rates collection rate stands at 65.25% which is marginally 

behind [0.87%] the performance at this point in 2014/15.  The year-end forecast is 
to achieve the 97.7% target collection rate, collecting some £376m of business 
rates income.  However, whilst collection rates continue to be on target, as 
mentioned at paragraph 3.2.9, there continues to be a significant issue around the 
total income to be collected and specifically the high number and backdating of 
business rates appeals.  The financial impact of these will manifest through the 
collection fund and therefore has been recognised in the 2016/17 financial strategy. 

 
 

1 The Council receives income from developers to fund highways works which are required for new 
development schemes. These are known as section 278 agreements and the Council’s 2015/16 
revenue budget provides for income of £5.2m for such schemes. 

Page 160



 

 
 
 
 

3.3.3 Prompt payment of Creditors 
 
 The current performance for the prompt payment of invoices processed within 30 

days is 92.55% which continues to compare favourably against the target of 92%. 
 
3.3.4   Procurement Report 
 
 Executive Board has requested a quarterly update on procurement activity. The 

report attached at appendix 2 provides information in relation to the second quarter 
of the current financial year. 

 
4.    Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  

4.1 After 7 months of the financial year the Housing Revenue Account is forecasting a 
projecting a surplus of £134k. 

 
4.2 Overall income is projected to be £0.6m more than the budget which is primarily 
 due to additional rent income of £0.4m, along with additional income from service 
 charges and other income.  Savings of £0.4m are forecast in relation to employees, 
 which is primarily due to vacant posts.  Additional spend on the disrepair provision  
 [£0.4m] and repairs to dwellings [£0.4m] are expected to be offset by reduced 
 spend on premises [£0.13m].  
 
5. Corporate Considerations 

5.1 Consultation and Engagement  

5.1.1 This is a factual report and is not subject to consultation 

5.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

5.2.1 The Council’s revenue budget for 2015/16 was subject to Equality Impact 
Assessments where appropriate and these can be seen in the papers to Council on 
25th February 2015. 

5.3 Council Policies and Best Council Plan 

5.3.1 The 2015/16 budget targeted resources towards the Council’s policies and 
priorities. This report comments on the financial performance against this budget.   

5.4 Resources and Value for Money  

5.4.1 This is a revenue financial report and as such all financial implications are detailed 
in the main body of the report. 

 
5.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

5.5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.  
 
5.6 Risk Management 
 
5.6.1 Budget management and monitoring is undertaken on a risk-based approach where 

financial management resources are prioritised to support those areas of the budget 
that are judged to be at risk, for example the implementation of budget action plans, 

Page 161



 

 
 
 
 

those budgets which are subject to fluctuating demand and key income budgets.  
To reinforce this risk-based approach, specific project management based support 
and reporting around the achievement of the key budget actions plans is in place 
from 2015/16. 

 
6. Recommendations 
 
6.1 Executive Board are asked to note the projected financial position of the Authority 

for 2015/16. 
 
7. Background documents1  
 
7.1 None

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 162



 

 
 
 
 

 
   

 
  

Appendix 1 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Health 
Partnerships

376 (316) 60 (74) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (74) 74 (0)

Access and Care 
Delivery

237,171 (43,462) 193,709 (1,726) 19 30 (63) 493 365 244 0 0 (638) 566 (72)

Care Reform 1,479 (399) 1,080 (221) 0 15 (1) 33 60 0 0 0 (113) (347) (461)

Strategic 
Commissioning

23,857 (29,822) (5,965) (257) 30 (39) (13) 197 821 0 0 0 740 (64) 675

Resources and 
Strategy

6,683 (1,067) 5,616 (447) (0) (36) (5) 26 0 0 0 0 (462) 348 (114)

Total 269,566 (75,066) 194,500 (2,724) 49 (30) (82) 750 1,246 244 0 0 (547) 577 29

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 2015/16 BUDGET
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 7 (April toOctober)

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall narrative

The directorate is currently projecting a balanced position by the financial year-end. There have been some minor changes across the main budget heads since Month 6 but the overall projection is unchanged. There are some risks 
associated with this projection, mainly relating to the activity levels within the community care budget and progress over the coming months in delivering key budget action plans.  
Some slippage and likely non-achievement of planned savings has been identified on some of the most challenging budget action plans. Although there is slippage in delivering the specific actions  for savings of  £2.7m within the 
community care packages budget this has been largely offset by savings through continued careful management of care plan approvals. £1m relates to revenue funding for community intermediate care beds from health which is now 
unlikely, but contingency plans are being developed and the projection assumes that these will offset the shortfall. The current projection is for shortfalls of £1.2m in the budgeted saving from reviewing grants and contracts with third 
sector providers and £0.4m on transport. Slippage of £0.7m on the charging review will occur as any changes will not now take place before April 2016. These pressures are largely offset by projected underspends on staffing, further 
details of which are outlined below.  

The main variations at Month 7 across the key expenditure types are as follows:

Staffing (-£2.7m – 4.4%)
Savings due to vacancies within the care management, business support reablement and telecare services amount to £1.5m. Within older people’s residential care staffing savings of £0.6m reflect the closure of Primrose Hill and the 
Roseville laundry earlier than was anticipated when the 2015/16 budget was set. Savings of £1.0m are projected in commissioning services, resources and strategy, health and wellbeing 
and care reform services due to staff turnover and careful vacancy management.

Transport (+0.4m – 8.2%)
The budgeted savings have not yet been identified, but work is ongoing in conjunction with Passenger Transport Services. 

Grants and contracts (+0.8m – 5.7%)
Savings of £1.5m have been budgeted from third sector spend through a combination of reviewing contracts and the small number of grants, and reviewing the scope for some modest charges to be introduced by these organisations. 
Through a review of these areas savings of £0.7m have been identified without impacting on the delivery of services by the third sector.  Contingency savings have been identified to offset the shortfall.

Community care packages (+£1.0m – 0.5%) 
The main variation relates to residential and nursing care placements, mostly relating to people with mental health needs and physical impairments. These cost pressures relate mainly to a relatively small number of customers with 
very high cost care packages. Expenditure on the learning disability pooled budget and direct payments are slightly higher than budgeted, but this is offset by small projected underspends on independent sector domiciliary care and 
supported accommodation.

Income (+£0.6m – 0.8%)
There is a small income shortfall due to the closure of Primrose Hill residential home earlier than was expected and some slippage on the charging review budget action plan. Additional government grant income of £0.2m relates to 
delayed transfers of care.

P
age 163



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer

Action Plan 
Value

RAG
Forecast 

Variation against 
Plan/Budget

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1. L Ward 0.3 G 0.0

2. L Ward 0.5 G 0.0

3. M Naismith 0.7 A 0.5

4.
J Bootle / M 
Naismith

0.2 A 0.1

5. M Naismith 0.3 R 0.3

6.
J Wright / M 
Naismith

1.2 G 0.0

7. J Bootle 2.0 A 1.8

8. D Ramskill 0.9 G 0.0

9. S Hume 3.0 G 0.0

10.
Health 
Funding

S Hume 5.9 G 0.0

11. S Hume 1.0 R 1.0

12. J Suddick 0.4 R 0.4

13. M Ward 2.0 R 1.2

14. A Hill 0.9 R 0.7

B. Other Significant Variations

1. Various (2.7)

2. J Bootle (2.3)

3. S Hume (1.0)

4.
Service user 
income

S McFarlane (0.2)

5.
Grant 
income

S McFarlane (0.2)

6.
Other 
income

Various 0.4

7. Various 0.1

Adult Social Care Directorate ‐ Forecast Variation 0.0

Plans in place to deliver through staff turnover and ELI

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Includes slippage on some minor Budget Acton Plans and reduced income relating to 
staffing underspends

Net effect of other minor variations

Grants for delayed transfers of care

Additional Comments

Dependent on the outcome of customer consultation over the summer. Some slippage in 
the timetable but contingency savings identified.

Staffing
Savings witin Access and Care Delivery relate to care management, business support, 
reablement, telecare and the closure of Primrose Hill residential home earlier than 
budgeted.

Community care packages
Although there as been slippage in delivering the specific actions within Bugdet Action 
Plans, the resulting pressures have been largely contained within the overall community 
care budget through careful budget management.

Business case being developed to calculate/evidence contribution from Health. Report 
then to be produced to enable detailed negotiations with Health

Reablement service
Targets set for increased referrals that will reduce the demand for community care 
services

Review of high cost mental health care 
packages

Clear strategy for achieving savings including targeting of high cost providers, but delivery 
not yet fully evidenced

Review of high cost physical disability care 
packages

Targeting high cost providers. Review capacity required. 

Impact of telecare
Targets for increased telecare installations to reduce the demand for community care 
services

Review of contract/grant arrangements 
including Supporting People

£1m of savings identified with good delivery plans associated with them. Remainder 
looking difficult to achieve at this stage.

Transfer of home care packages to independent 
sector

Home care Better Care Fund scheme

Community Intermediate Care beds - 
contingency actions

Options being explored to address the likely non-achievement of the CIC bed plan, namely 
a reprioritisation of existing funding plans, and slippage on integration schemes

Charging and Income Collection

ADULT SOCIAL CARE 2015/16 BUDGET

Month 7 (April toOctober)

Client contributions are higher than budgeted and this is partly offsetting the slippage in 
the charging review.

Review of mental health cases (CHC and 
Section 117)

Target saving considered difficult to achieve, but work ongoing to identify all the actions 
that can be taken.

Transport Delivery of savings not yet evident

Community Intermediate Care beds
Original plan for revenue payment from Health re LCC capital to build new units now 
unlikely to be achieved. Contingency actions being developed.

Reduce growth in learning disability pooled 
budget

Actions include reviewing care packages and reviewing the local authority that has 
responsibility for cases in the light of the Care Act. Monitoring of savings arising from 
these actions is quite difficult.

Funding received and the need for additional spend in addition to that budgeted in 
2015/16 is minimal

Reducing care costs through innovation
Work to deliver underway, including reviews of packages, better use of technology and 
staff training. Monitoring of savings arising from these actions is quite difficult.

P
age 164



 

 
 
 
 

 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget
Latest 

Estimate
Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income
Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Partnership, Development 

& Business Support
20,993 (2,827) 18,166 624 0 (177) 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 1,447 260 1,707

Learning, Skills & 

Universal Services
132,664 (117,649) 15,015 (738) 0 (16) 0 (86) (1,512) 0 0 0 (2,352) 1,548 (804)

Safeguarding, Targeted & 

Specialist Services
126,219 (32,992) 93,227 (1,787) (20) (99) 190 55 5,311 991 0 1,100 5,741 (2,227) 3,514

Strategy, Performance & 

Commissioning
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Central Overheads 9,156 (12,938) (3,782) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total  289,032 (166,406) 122,626 (1,901) (20) (292) 1,190 (31) 3,799 991 0 1,100 4,836 (419) 4,417

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

CHILDREN'S SERVICES FINANCIAL DASHBOARD 

MONTH 7 (April to October 2015)

MONTH 7 (April to October 2015)

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Overall ‐ the Directorate is highlighting an overall potential year end overspend of £4.42m which equates to 3.6% of the Directorates Net Managed Budget and represents an adverse movement of £785K from the last 
period.

CLA Obsession ‐ At the end of July there were 1,257 CLA  ‐ a  net increase of  10 from Period 6.  External residential placements remain unchanged at 51 ;  IFA placements 
have  reduced by  1 to 233.  The forecast overspend (gross) for  all CLA placements is up  by £485K to  £4.4m this month and has the potential to deteriorate further  (NB 
the projection assumes a net reduction of  11 external residential placements (to 40) and 26  IFA placements  (to 207) by the end of the financial year.    Staffing ‐ Overall the Directorate is projecting  a year end underspend  
of £1.9m.  This is primarily due to  slippage against  the  Directorate's recruitment plans for services funded from the Innovations Fund  £1.1m.  Other key staffing variations include a forecast underspend on  Children's 
Homes £0.4m and  Complex Needs £0.2m.  The directorate is also  on track to deliver a £0.5m underspend  on agency staffing. These savings  are partly offset by slippage on  the budget action plans for Service 
transformation  £0.6m and Youth Services £0.5m.
Transport ‐ the 2015/16 strategy includes £0.83m of anticipated savings around demand management . The service  continue to project a £1m overspend as a result of further demand pressures around SEN transport and a 
rise in children and young people requiring education outside the city. 
Partnerships/Trading ‐ At this stage, the action plans around rationalising/trading the learning improvement service are projected to be delivered in full. 
Other Income ‐ A projected favourable variation of  £0.4m masks some significant service variations including  £1.6m of  additional Health funding for Children's Centres (Family Services),    £1m  of additional funding from 
Schools Forum, £1m of additional High Needs DSG funding for SEND outside placements,  and £0.5m of  contingency / other  funding around unaccompanied Asylum  Seeking Children,  Improvement Partner Income, Direct 
Payments  and Housing Benefit rebates.  These favourable variations are  largely offset by a reduction in Nursery Fees and DSG income  for 2, 3 and 4 year old early education  provision.  

P
age 165



 

 
 
 
 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead 
Officer

Action Plan 
Value

RAG Rating
Forecast 
Variation

A. Key Budget Action plans (BAP's)   £m £m

1. Steve Walker 7.0 R 4.4

2 Steve Walker 3.2 R 0.6

3
Andrea 

Richardson
3.1 R 0.6

4
Andrea 

Richardson
2.2 R 1.3

5 Paul Brennan 1.0 A 0.0

6 Sue Rumbold 0.8 R 1.0

7 Paul Brennan 0.3 A 0.3

B. OTHER SIGNIFICANT VARIATIONS

8 Paul Brennan 0.0 A (1.0)

9 Paul Brennan 0.0 G (1.6)

10 Steve Walker 0.0 G (0.5)

11 Various 0.0 A (1.1)

12 0.0 R 0.4

4.4Children's Services Directorate ‐ Forecast Variation

Additional Comments

CHILDREN'S SERVICES FINANCIAL DASHBOARD 
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 7 (April to October 2015)

Children Looked After (CLA) Placements ‐ reducing the 

need for children to be in care 

 At 31/3/15 the active cohort of CLA stood at 1, 270, down 70 from the position at 31/3/14 (1,340) but 40 greater 

than assumed within the budget. At P7 the CLA cohort stands at 1,257 ‐ main issue continues to be dependency on 

external residential placements (51) and Independent Fostering Agency placements (233)

Service Transformation/Redesign 

£3.15m savings from service re‐design & Early Leavers Initiative (£2.15m) and exploration of joint/co‐funding from 

key partners (£1.00m) to support devolvement of preventative/targeted services to localities. Discussions on‐going 

with partners re joint funding of multi‐agency teams; ELI driving staffing savings through post deletions and service 

reconfiguration ‐ slippage anticipated

Reduction/reconfiguration of Youth Services 

(recommissioning of targeted Information & Advice 

contract and In‐house Youth Services)

£3.05m savings from re‐commissioning of the Targeted Information & Advice Contract (£1.35m) and reducing in‐

house provided Youth Services (£1.70m). Commissioning target delivered ‐ pressure of circa £0.6m anticipated 

(£0.45m staffing; £0.10m running costs & £0.05m activity centre income). 

Reconfiguration of Children's Centres (including Family 

Support & Parenting Team & Early Help Commissioned 

Services)

Slippage in plans to re‐configure Children's Centres and associated services circa £1.3m; joint funding of Children's 

Centre services agreed with the CCGs and Schools Forum 

Learning Improvement ‐ reconfiguration and/or further 

trading 

New "Leeds for Learning" web‐site implemented enabling schools to enrol/subscribe for services on‐line and 

services to track demand and inform marketing strategy.  Services aiming to deliver through combination of 

vacancy management and increased trading ‐ no slippage anticipated at this stage.

Transport ‐savings through reducing demand 

(Independent Travel Training) and general efficiency 

savings

Team continue to actively work on Independent Travel Training element of savings (circa £330k) ‐ potential 

pressure around SEN & GRT transport

Partner Heads/active schools/ Original plans put on hold pending the outcome of on‐going consultation with schools forum (see 8 below)

"A life Ready for Learning" ‐  agreement for co‐funding 

from Schools 

Joint funding proposal around devolvement of early intervention/targeted services to clusters  (including Childrens 

Centres services and Youth Services) agreed by Schools Forum in June).    

Agency Staffing
Directorate on track to deliver £0.2M saving on agency staffing based on current activity and aims to deliver a 

further £0.3M reduction in spend through implementation of in‐year contingency plan

Other Variations
Pressures on Essential user Car Allowances,  NON CLA financially supported Placements and income for the Traded 

Services Team within Partnerships, offset by additional Vine Income

In‐year Contingency Plan
Implementation of in‐year contingency plan to pause recruitment, reduce spend on supplies and services, further 

maximise spend against Innovations  Fund, generate Improvement Partner Income and claw‐back direct payments 

Sustainability of Children's Centres ‐ agreement for co‐

funding from Health

£1.6m of CCG funding secured to sustain the universal offer around Children's Centres and services provided by the 

Family Support and Parenting Team.

P
age 166



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services Transport

Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments Capital Appropriation

Total 
Expenditure Income

Total (under) 
/ overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning and 
Sustainable 
Development

9,014 (5,497) 3,517 (6) 0 (14) (3) (23) (49) (72)

Economic 
Development

4,965 (3,985) 980 (37) 193 (164) 3 17 12 (12) 0

Asset 
Management and 
Regeneration

11,987 (10,718) 1,269 (479) (36) (86) (12) (371) (43) (1,027) 1,411 384

Highways and 
Transportation

56,666 (36,332) 20,334 (356) 386 816 (59) 5 792 (792) 0

Libraries, Arts and 
Heritage

22,669 (8,145) 14,524 (130) 18 529 9 81 20 1 528 (387) 141

Sport and Active 
Recreation

25,041 (18,893) 6,148 (122) (190) (4) (7) (1) (1) (325) 286 (39)

Resources and 
Strategy

1,320 (107) 1,213 40 0 12 (40) 12 (595) (583)

Total 131,662 (83,677) 47,985 (1,090) 371 1,089 (69) (309) 20 (43) 0 0 (31) (138) (169)

CITY DEVELOPMENT FINANCIAL DASHBOARD 
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 7 (April to October 2015)

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall - The month 7 forecast variation is that the Directorate will spend £0.17m below the £48m net managed budget. The main change since Period 6 is that further savings are expected to be made on staffing together with an expected increase in other 
income in Planning. It is also projected that the Directorate will receive additional one off income in achieving its balanced position.  

Staffing
An underspend of just over £1,090k is projected. The budgeted reduction in FTEs has been achieved following over 100 staff leaving the Directorate through the Early Leaver Initiative scheme in the final quarter of 2014/15. Vacancies will continue to be 
closely managed during the year to ensure that further savings are realised.   

Income
The forecast position is an overachievement of £138k with a projected shortfall in advertising and other income in Asset Management and in Sport offset by additional income in other services. 

Planning and Sustainable Development 
Planning and Sustainable Development is forecast to spend below budget by £72k. Staffing is expected to be slightly below budget. The service is still experiencing high volumes of planning applications and workloads and at Period 7 planning and building
fee income is £2,964k against the phased budget of £2,761k. Overall, income is projected be above budget by £50k. 

Economic Development 
Economic Development is forecast to spend within budget. The main risk area is the level of income and expenditure at Kirkgate Market, particularly with the commencement of the re-development scheme. Income at Kirkgate Market is currently in line with 
the budgeted assumptions. A decision to extend the 20%  rent discount for Kirkgate Market has recently been approved. This is funded by additional one off income to be received by the Directorate in 15/16. 

Asset Management and Regeneration 
Asset management is forecast to overspend by £384k. Staffing is projected to underspend by £479k as a result of a number of vacant posts. A shortfall in income of £1,411k is forecast, mainly due to longer lead in times required to secure new income from
various budget initiatives including new commercial property acquisitions, additional advertising income and income from operating additional car parking at the Leeds International Pool site. Although all these are progressing income will be be less than the 
budgeted assumptions this financial year.  

Highways and Transportation 
Highways and Transportation is forecast to spend within budget with an underspend on staffing and additional spend on premises and supplies and services offset by additional income mainly as a result of additional spend on contractors reflecting the 
increase in work that the service is managing. 

Libraries, Arts and Heritage 
The service is projected to overspend by £141k.  The overspend is as a result of some budget actions not progressing as quickly as assumed in the budget. The budget for the district library service has now been transferred to Citizens and Communities.

Sport and Active Recreation - The service is expected to spend slightly below budget with a shortfall in income of £286k expected to be offset by expenditure savings including savings on energy costs. 

Resources and Strategy 
The service is projected to have an underspend of £583k. This underspend is as a result of additional one-off income that is expected to be received in the directorate. 

P
age 167



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Action Plan 
Value

RAG

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget

Lead Officer
A.  Budget Action Plans £'000 £'000

1. Ben Middleton 560 G 0

2. Gary Bartlett 300 A 0

3. Ed Mylan 680 G 0

4. Tom Bridges 950 G 0

5.
Chris 
Gomersall/Be
n Middleton

700 R 620

6. Tim Hill 300 G 0

7. Various CO's 810 G 0

8.
Cluny 
MacPherson

500 G 0

9.
Cluny 
MacPherson

820 A 140

10.
Cluny 
MacPherson

200 A 60

11. Reduction in highways maintenance budgets Gary Bartlett 360 G 0

B. Other Significant Variations
1. Ed Mylan (410)

2. Other expenditure Ed Mylan 16

3. Ed Mylan (595)

City Development Directorate - Forecast Variation (169)

CITY DEVELOPMENT FINANCIAL DASHBOARD 
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 7 (April to October 2015)

Mostly savings on Merrion rent and on schedule to be delivered. Merrion purchase completed end of May.

Proposed price increases have been implemented. No significant variations expected. 

Pre-application planning charges have been implemented and there is an increased income target for building 
control. Additional income is also assumed from the Community Infrastructure Levy to fund administration 
costs. The authority has now started to receive CIL income. 

Budget reduced

Projected net savings from vacancies and expected ELIs

ELI reductions managed across directorate. FTE reductions achieved following a number of ELI leavers at the 
end of March. 

Leeds and Partners now wound up and new arrangements put in place which will deliver the budgeted 
savings. The budgeted £250k contribution from L&P reserves has been received. 

JC Decaux progressing with the new sites including discharging the planning conditions. They are also 
progressing with awarding appropriate contracts. Determination period a min of 8 weeks, construction 4-6 
mths. Earliest 'go live' date estimated end December. Max potential income 15/16 is £140k. Harper St car 
park purchased, additional acquisition on hold. LIP car park opened at the beginning of September 2015. 

Additional one off income anticpated to be received in 15/16 subject to final agreement being reached. 

Increased income Planning and Building Control

Other Income (net)

Other Staff savings

Efficient and enterprising Council - Reduction in asset 
running costs 

Dimming/switching off street lights

Staff savings through ELIs and vacancies

Joint working with WYCA and City Region efficiencies

New income in Asset Management including increased 
income from advertising from 2 new advertising towers, 
new commercial property acquisitions and income from 
establishing a temporary car park on the LIP site

Additional Comments

A further report on delivery options being produced for discussion with the Executive Member. Proposals may 
need to include invest to save initiative. Other savings expected to make up any shortfall this financial year. 
This includes savings on fuel of approximately £75. 

Savings in Sport and Active Recreation 
including reduction in operating hours and 
realignment of sports development unit

Detailed proposals being worked up. Any changes will require consultation therefore implementation not 
possible by 1 April and likley now to be January 16 and this will impact on savings target although expected to 
be offset by other savings.

Net other variations. 

Other additional income from fees and charges/VAT 
exemption and changes in volumes

Arts grant reduction - new funding arrangements New grant allocations will deliver the savings. DDN published 25 March and implemented 1st April

Other Culture savings. Including savings on 
the events budget, Breeze and CAT 
proposals for Pudsey Civic Hall and Yeadon

Most saving proposals being implemented. The CAT opportunities are in the process of being advertised.  

P
age 168



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises Supplies & 
Services

Transport Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total 
Expenditure

Income Total 
(under) / 

overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Month 1 61,432 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Month 2 61,432 (573) (27) (142) (70) 95 110 0 0 0 (607) 377 (230)
Month 3 61,432 (972) 3 9 77 246 114 0 0 0 (523) 80 (443)
Month 4 61,223 (1,137) 234 (282) (32) 351 32 0 0 58 (776) 263 (513)
Month 5 61,223 (1,243) 196 1,127 (54) 182 32 0 0 58 299 (1,256) (957)
Month 6 61,151 (1,320) 66 1,443 (183) 65 35 0 0 308 414 (1,792) (1,378)
Month 7 59,739 (2,252) 109 1,978 (253) 326 8 0 0 448 366 (1,705) (1,339)

Outturn

Latest 
Estimate Month 1 Month 2 Month 3 Month 4 Month 5 Month 6 Month 7 Month 8 Month 9 Month 10 Month 11 Outturn

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000
1,909 0 (180) (159) (149) (149) (121) 60

Strategic Housing, SECC, 
Contracts and GFSS

9,739 0 (20) (8) (108) (157) (157) (90)

Leeds Building Services (5,215) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parks & Countryside 7,958 0 (30) (57) (57) (88) 243 262

18,629 0 0 0 0 175 (340) (344)
Household Waste Sites & 
Infrastructure

4,199 0 0 68 99 (105) (76) (86)

Refuse Collection 16,534 0 0 0 0 0 (87) (120)
Environmental Action 10,606 0 0 (81) (30) (31) (51) (58)
Environmental Health 2,406 0 0 0 (3) (3) (10) (22)

(7,026) 0 0 (206) (265) (599) (779) (941)
Total 59,739 0 (230) (443) (513) (957) (1,378) (1,339) 0 0 0 0 0

ENVIRONMENT & HOUSING DIRECTORATE 

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget;

Summary By Service

Waste Strategy and Disposal

Car Parking

Community Safety

Projected Variations

Summary By Expenditure Type

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR PERIOD 6

Month 7 (April to October)

Overall Position  (£1,340k under budget)

Community Safety (£60k over budget)
A £165k staffing underspend is projected for Leeds Watch 
following the restructure implementation.  Legal charges 
are now expected to be £141k over the budgeted level due 
to inceased involvement in anti-social behaviour cases.  
Charges to the HRA will be £87k lower than budgeted.  
Other net overspends are expected to total £3k.

Parks & Countryside (£262k over budget)
The net income generated at Tropical World is projected to 
be £108k higher than the budget due to increased visitor 
numbers following redevelopment works at the 
attraction. A net underspend of £200k is expected at the 
other main estates within Parks & Countryside. A net 
pressure of £225k is expected for cafe/retail activities, 
however it should be noted that this is after a revenue 
contribution have been assumed to facilitate development 
work that will help to secure future income streams at 
Temple Newsam (£290k) and Tropical World 
(£100k). Additional equipment costs of £350k have been 
projected for 2015/16 and a pressure of £77k is expected 
on golf. An underspend of £44k has been projected on 
other staffing and an underspend fo £44k has been 
projected on fuel. Other net overspends total £6k.

Environmental Action & Health (£80k under budget)
The service has now implemented the restructure. A minor 
variation of £80k. 

Car Parking (£937k under budget)
Vacant attendant posts are projected to save £180k . Fee income remains strong 
and forecast to be above the budget (£652k higher),  and BLE income is 
projected to be £232k higher than the budget. However, there has been a 
reduction in the number of PCNs issued. PCN income is now forecast to be 
£102k below the budget. 
Expenditure variations on the replacement IT system and additional bank charges 
for credit card payments are £25k. 

Housing Support/Partnerships/SECC/Contracts/GFSS (£90k under budget)
£321k of staffing underspends due to vacant posts are partially offset by £149k of 
related income pressures from the HRA/Capital, a £45k target for DSU and 
Intelligence efficiencies and the £156k outstanding directorate wide staffing 
efficiency target.    Former Supporting People contracts are expected to be £116k 
under budget.  Other net underspends are projected to be £3k.

Leeds  Building Services (balanced position)
PM Leeds is currently projecting a balanced budget position. There remain key 
risks on the account around turnover and in particular around the following 
trades:- lift installation schemes and Aids & Adaptations Work. These risks have 
been discussed with the relevant Head of Service and identified on their risk 
register.

Waste Management (£550k under budget)

Refuse Collection (£120k) 
Staffing costs are forecast to be £32k over budget (0.3%). Transport costs 
are forecast to be £150k below budget due to fuel savings of (£140k) 
insurance reductions (£76k)  partially offfset by hire costs are forecast 
+£72k due to a slight delay in some of the new fleet arriving . Minor  savings  
of £5k.
HWSS & Infrastructure (£86k)
Slippage on the Kirkstall Road redevelopment  will realise an in year saving 
of £220k in financing costs. A saving of £250k from the strategic review of 
HWSS was budgeted and £137k will be delivered, leaving a pressure of 
£113k. Other minor variations are £20k.

Waste Strategy & Disposal (-£343k)
Additional PFI grant of £400k is anticipated as a result of the RERF taking 
waste for commissioning ahead of the budgeted date.
Reducing market prices for recycled material  is expected to cost  £253k  
from additional SORT  disposal and loss of recycling income.  Lower 
volumes of residual and garden waste  should save £184k. 
An estimated £153k of programme management costs from the PPPU will 
be required to help the service deliver key waste projects .However, savings 
of £70k on PFI advisor costs, staffing savings of £68k and £31k income will 
mitigate the impact..

P
age 169



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer RAG
Action 

Plan Value

Forecast 
Variatio

n 
against 
Plan/Bu

dget

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1. Susan Upton G 1.6 (0.4)

2. Susan Upton A 0.3 0.1

3. Sean Flesher G 0.4 0.0

4. Simon Costigan G 1.4 0.0

5. Helen Freeman G 0.3 (0.0)

6. Sam Millar G 1.0 0.0

7. Neil Evans G 0.8 0.0

8. Directorate wide staffing reductions Neil Evans G 1.5 0.0

9. Contract / Procurement Savings / Line by Line G 1.0 0.0

10. All Other action plan items G 0.0 0.0

Sub Total 8.3 (0.3)
B. Other Significant Variations

1. Susan Upton 0.1

2. Susan Upton 0.0

3. Susan Upton (0.1)

4. Helen Freeman 0.1

5. Car Parking Fee Income Fee Income Helen Freeman (0.9)

6 Car Parking Staffing Helen Freeman (0.2)

6 Environmental Action staffing Helen Freeman (0.0)

7 Parks & Countryside - Tropical World income Sean Flesher (0.3)

8 Parks & Countryside - Bereavement Services Sean Flesher 0.0

9 Property Maintenance Simon Costigan 0.0

10 Community Safety - CCTV/Security restructure Sam Millar (0.2)

11 Strategic Housing Partnerships John Statham 0.0

12 Strategic Housing Support Liz Cook 0.0

13 All Other variations All CO's 0.6

Sub Total (0.9)

Environment & Housing - Forecast Variation (1.3)

Savings in Housing related support programme

Additional Comments

Permit scheme implemented in April 15; Strategic review underway; Report expected July.

AWC4 roll out complete; £0.4m extra PFI grant anticipated & new contracts for disposal 
now in place; Temp contracts in 14/15 all ended.

Contracts reviewed / renegotiated and savings expected to be delivered

Price rise implemented Jan 15. Income on line as at end of May

£12m pay budget in service;  Continue to monitor weekly numbers 

Repairs budget has been under pressure for a few years; additional provision made + 17 
new vehicles and reduction in landfill; Fuel costs £1.5m

£100k to be identified but given current level of vacant posts, this will be achieved

Savings from insurance, fuel, pest control contracts; 

Net budget £16.8m for 324.8k tonnes of waste;  SORT waste expected to be £120k over 
but other reductions offset this

£743k funding secured; £57k from ASBU; £60k costs won't be incurred; £143k to find

Waste Disposal Costs

Car Parking Fee Income BLE / PCN income

Refuse Collection vehicle costs

Vacant posts in service 

Income rec'd in April/May above budgeted level - trend to be monitored throughout the year

BLE  £1.4m in total . Phase 3 to start December. PCN's   £2.4m

Staffing efficiencies delivered through holding posts vacant and grant fallout managed

Balance of all other budget variations across all divisions  including £220k savings on 
Kirkstall Road financing costs

£385k pressure in 14/15 - trend to be monitored throughout the year

Restructure proposals now agreed and implementation commenced

Staffing efficiencies delivered through holding posts vacant and grant fallout managed

Dealing Effectively with the City's waste

HWSS Strategic Review and Permit scheme

Parks and Countryside additional income New charges implemented and working with taxation team to support VAT exemptions

Review of rates to be charged in progress;

New structure being implemented - in year variation from slippage

WYP &CC grant use

Integration of Property Maintenance and Construction 
Services

Woodhouse Lane Car Park

£7.6m budget. P - On street income approx. £0.35m above budget

Refuse Collection staffing costs

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR PERIOD 6

ENVIRONMENT & HOUSING DIRECTORATE 

Month 7 (April to October)

P
age 170



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Expenditur
e Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies 

& 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total (under) 
/ overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategy & 
Improvement

5,210 (697) 4,513 (88) 6 20 3 23 0 0 0 (36) 38 2

Finance 16,415 (7,201) 9,214 (70) 0 (17) (15) (71) 0 0 0 0 (173) 308 135
Human 
Resources

7,944 (1,828) 6,116 (168) (3) 94 (33) 31 0 0 0 0 (79) 6 (73)

Information 
Technology 

20,894 (6,998) 13,896 (983) 0 214 2 0 0 0 (13) 0 (780) 732 (48)

Projects, 
Programmes & 
Procurement

7,752 (7,624) 128 (392) 0 (1) (2) (5) 0 0 0 0 (400) 400 0

Legal Services 5,185 (6,854) (1,669) (39) 0 17 (18) 0 0 0 0 0 (40) 34 (6)
Democratic 
Services

5,027 (56) 4,971 20 0 (8) 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 (33) (21)

Total 68,427 (31,258) 37,169 (1,720) 3 319 (63) (22) 0 0 (13) 0 (1,496) 1,485 (11)

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 7 (April to October 2015)

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall

In respect of the savings associated with the Council's commitment to reduce the cost of support services by 30% over a 4 year period, plans are progressing well to achieve the savings in 2015/16. Use of the early leavers 
initiative together with non-filling of leavers and exploitation of income opportunities means that services should be able to realise the savings required.  

Currently a small underspend of £11k is projected for the year mainly due underspends on staffing costs mainly offset by lower court fee income.

Strategy and Improvement

The service has met its staffing efficiency savings targets for this year and  the projection is for a balanced position compared to budget.  The Intelligent Council staff have now been 
transferred back to their original directorates. 

Finance

The main challenge for this service is to meet the current shortfall based on staff in post to date and known recruitment and leavers through to year end and shortfall in income.  The service is  pursuing options though at 
this stage, an overspend is projected.  A number of pressures on income are partly offset by reduced staffing costs and savings on supplies and services.   However, the trend in court fee income, which is dependent on 
the number of summonses raised in respect of Council debt, is £190k lower than budgeted, resulting in an overall overspend of £135k.

Human Resources

HR have met the £622k savings incorporated in the budget and an underspend of £73k is now forecast. The Manager Challenge Programme is expected to be funded from the earmarked reserve created in 2013/14.

Information Technology

Savings targets are expected to be achieved  and the only issue identified to date is an overspend of £50k on ICT4Leeds due to insufficient sign up from schools and academies.  At present the projections assume that this 
overspend will be more than covered by other compensating savings. Further potential pressures could arise from the expansion of the city wide Smart Cities Agenda and on ongoing dispute with Virgin Media.  Overall a 
£48k underspend is now projected.

Projects, Programmes and Procurement Unit

Following the outturn 2014/15 a key risk area is PPPU income, specifically the level of non-chargeable or reduced rate work. A new monitoring arrangement is in place. 
Based on latest information on from the time recording system, chargeable income is expected to be £480K short compared to the budget  - this is offset by £400K savings on the staffing and an additional £80K of external 
income from YPO. Overall the service is anticipated to balance but this is dependant of been able to raise an average of £630K a month of chargeable work over the next 5 months.

Legal Services

Savings built into the budget for 2015/16 are on line to be delivered. The staffing budget is currently underspent but there are plans to recruit to posts and Legal Services have two locums covering vacant posts (Planning 
and Housing Disrepair) as these have proved difficult to recruit to.  There is expected be some overspend in supplies and services although this is more than offset by savings on travel costs.  Overall a small underspend of 
£6k is projected.

Democratic Services

It is expected that the savings targets will be met this financial year although not necessarily be delivered in line with the original strategy.   Overall a small underspend of £21k is projected.

P
age 171



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer
Action Plan 

Value
RAG

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1.
Doug 
Meeson

0.75 G 0.00

2.
Lorraine 
Hallam

0.62 G 0.00

3.
Dylan 
Roberts

0.71 G 0.00

4.
Catherine 
Witham

0.45 G 0.00

5
Mariana 
Pexton

0.25 G 0.00

6
Dylan 
Roberts

0.20 G 0.00

7 Doug Meson 0.20 G 0.19

B. Other Significant Variations

1 All A (0.20)

(0.01)

Income - court fees

Required level of savings have now been achieved through staff movements, leavers and 
ELI.

Fees to be monitored in year.

Strategy and Resources Directorate - Forecast Variation

Additional Comments

Definite actions now in place for c£590k.

Definite actions now in place for £620k of the savings. 

Legal services savings of £117k on-line. Democratic Services, savings delivered: £100k 
Scrutiny, £9k Members Support, £105k reduction in Members Superannuation . Balance of 
£91k intended to be delivered from the Members Support budget and a combination of ELI, 
maternity and other efficiencies . Implementation partially dependent upon assistance from 
Members.

Actions underway for delivery of £448k of savings. Plans in place for delivery of residue.

Implemented and savings being delivered on target.

Net effect of other minor variances

Finance

HR

ICT

Legal and Democratic Services

Business improvement - print savings

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 7 (April to October 2015)

Strategy and Improvement

P
age 172



 

 
 
 
 

 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income Budget
Latest 

Estimate
Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation Total Expenditure Income
Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Communities 7,534 (1,663) 5,871 (100) 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Customer Access 16,882 (1,610) 15,272 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Elections, Licensing & 
Registration

5,821 (5,239) 582 (220) (2) (11) 8 206 0 0 0 100 81 (102) (21)

Benefits, Welfare and 
Poverty

297,684 (294,609) 3,075 (56) 6 357 4 0 0 3,025 0 0 3,336 (3,638) (302)

Total  327,921 (303,121) 24,800 (376) 104 346 12 206 0 3,025 0 100 3,417 (3,740) (323)

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 7 (April to October 2015)

CITIZENS AND COMMUNITIES

Budget Management ‐ net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall ‐ At this stage in the year the Directorate is expecting to achieve the budgeted level of savings.  Many of the actions have already been achieved and in all cases work is 
progressing to deliver the savings and an underspend of £323k is now projected.

Communities ‐ Community Centres were overspent by £100k last year and £75k of this is recurring meaning the true pressure in 15/16 is £175k . Whilst it is expected that this 
will be contained within Citizens and Communities overall we are working with Facilities Management to deliver efficiencies.  All other action plan items have been delivered.  
The Communities Team and Area Support have some vacant posts and a number of staff are on maternity leave, posts will be filled in due course but delays in recruitment will 
generate a budget saving of approx £100k.  

Customer Access ‐ Currently the staffing cost is under budget.  However recruitment is needed to be able to cope with existing workloads at the Contact Centre as efficiencies 
based on Transactional Web Services developments have not yet  been fully realised. The delays in implementation of Customer Access Phase 1 mean there is a risk that the 
staffing cost will be over budget by the year end.  Some of the pressure is partly offset with in year savings in Business Support staffing.  Community Hub recruitment could also 
create an in year pressure ‐ worst case scenario suggests this may be as much as £250k but this is dependent on timing and recruitment and to some extent may be avoidable.  A 
virement of £2.6m has now been completed to transfer the budgets for branch libraries to Customer Access.

Elections, Licensing and Registration ‐ Overall budgets are online, however as per the income shortfall in Registrars and Entertainment Licensing in 2014/15, income trends have 
followed a similar pattern in the first half of 2015/16.  A shortfall of £85k in Registrars and £110k in Entertainment Licencing is projected; this is to be offset by savings on 
staffing budgets in these same service areas . Local Land Charges income has been continually above budget in 2015/16, as such a small surplus of £20k has been incorporated 
into this month's projections.  Vehicle Licensing income also continues to do well, it is anticipated a surplus of £100k will transfer to reserves in 15/16.

Benefits, Welfare and Poverty BWP is expected to underspend by £302k by year end mainly due to income from additional housing benefit overpayments. Expenditure 
reported on staffing overtime now has a budget in place with a small predicted underspend due to the increased use of off site processing.  The supplies and services 
overspends are partially mitigated by additional income received through external grants from the DWP and the DCLG relating to new burdens work which the section is 
involved with.  In respect of the revised Local Welfare Support Scheme for 2015/16, the budget of £1.1m is projected to be fully spent and this includes estimated spend of 
£100k on support for the migrant third sector as reported to Executive Board on 23/9/15.

P
age 173



 

 
 
 
 

 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead Officer RAG

Action Plan 
Value

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget
A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1 G 0.1 0.0

2 G 0.1 0.0

3 G 0.1 0.0

4 G 0.1 0.0

5 G 0.2 0.0

6 G 0.3 0.0

7 G 0.2 0.0

8 G 0.2 0.0

9 A 0.1 0.2

10 G 0.1 0.0

11 G 0.1 0.0

12 A 0.3 0.0

13 G 0.1 0.0

14 G 0.1 0.0

15 G 0.1 0.0

A. Other Significant Budgets

1 G ‐0.4

2 All G ‐0.1

Citizens and Communities Directorate ‐ Forecast Variation ‐0.3

CITIZENS AND COMMUNITIES
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 7 (April to October 2015)

Housing Benefit Payments, Subsidy and Overpayment 

Income
Steve Carey

Gross expenditure budget of £295m.  Monitored monthly throughout the year.  No 

variance to budgets currently anticipated.

All other budget headings

Steve Carey

Budget reduced

Additional Comments

Community based assets ‐reduction in relevant costs from 

participating services as Community Hubs formed

Fraud and error reduction incentive scheme

Use Social Inclusion Fund to support financial inclusion work

10% reduction in Well Being budget

Delivery of transactional web services

EClaim for Benefits

Reduce innovation fund by 25%

Reduce Advice Agency Grant by 10%

Review of community centres

Reduce opening hours of contact centres 9am‐5pm

Shaid Mahmood

Steve Carey

Steve Carey

Budgets (£2.5m) transferred to C&C on 1st April. New management arrangements 

will be introduced during the year and there is a high level of confidence that full 

savings will be delivered.

Lee Hemsworth

Housing Benefits overpayments

Review of Communities running costs

Further integration of Contact Centre with Council Tax

Reduce property visits in Council Tax Service

Shaid Mahmood

Lee Hemsworth/Steve 

Carey

Steve Carey

Increase in fees in Licensing and Registration services and 

Translation and Interpretation
John Mulcahy

Low risk and ELI based. Depends on finding more efficient ways of working together

Use more efficient ways of identifying properties that may be occupied

Actioned

Assumes we continue our improved performance in this area

Govt grant. Level of payment depends on how effective we are at reducing fraud

Actioned

Budget reduced ‐ to be managed by Area Committees

Steve Carey

Shaid Mahmood

Introduce online claim form for HB and CTB. May be delayed after April which may 

mean slightly reduced saving 

Budget reduced 

Lee Hemsworth

Lee Hemsworth

Shaid Mahmood

Steve Carey

Consultation process started. Once complete a delivery plan will be developed 

including: general efficiencies in facility management; CAT or other community 

management arrangements and closure options. Any proposals for closure will 

require Executive Board decision.

Actioned

Opening hours reduced as planned on 1st April.

Some technical issues with new system meant that it was only part implemented on 

1st April (employee portal only) in the areas of environmental services and highways. 

Customer portal will go live in May. This may result in lower overall savings being 

achieved.

P
age 174



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies & 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Public Health Grant (45,533) (45,533) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,818 2,818

Staffing and General 
Running Costs

5,464 (31) 5,433 (486) 0 (14) 0 (75) 0 0 0 0 (575) 1 (574)

Commissioned and 
Programmed Services:

 - General Public 
Health

259 259 0 0 0 0 0 (80) 0 0 0 (80) 0 (80)

 - Population 
Healthcare

489 489 0 0 (65) 0 0 (92) 0 0 0 (157) 0 (157)

 - Healthy Living and 
Health Improvement 16,441 16,441 0 0 (33) 0 (43) (303) 0 0 0 (379) 0 (379)

 - Older People and 
Long Term Conditions

3,071 (36) 3,035 23 0 (28) 0 (20) 43 0 0 0 18 (220) (202)

 - Child and Maternal 
Health

10,654 10,654 0 0 (16) 0 0 (462) 0 0 0 (478) (17) (495)

 - Mental Wellbeing 
and Sexual Health

9,200 9,200 (10) 0 (50) 0 0 (272) 0 0 0 (332) 0 (332)

 - Health Protection 1,233 1,233 0 0 (19) 0 0 (147) 0 0 0 (166) (28) (194)

Transfer From 
Reserves

(1,211) (1,211) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Supporting People 936 (637) 299 (27) 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 (25) (2) (27)

Drugs Commissioning 2,886 (2,954) (68) 0 0 11 0 0 (100) 0 0 0 (89) 89 0

Total 50,633 (50,402) 231 (500) 0 (212) 0 (138) (1,413) 0 0 0 (2,263) 2,641 378

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

PUBLIC HEALTH 

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Month 7 (April to October)
Overall

The allocation of ring fenced Public Health grant for 2015/16 had been frozen at 2014/15 levels of £40.5m.  However, in addition the responsibility for the 0 - 5 years services (health visiting services and Family Nurse Partnership) transfers to LCC in 
October and further funding of £5m will be provided. Work is ongoing with the current provider of health visiting and Family Nurse Partnership services to ensure a smooth transition to LCC 
from NHS England.

In 2014/15 there was an underspend of £1,211k of the ring fenced grant which has been brought forward for use in 2015/16 in line with grant conditions.  Of this amount, £800k had been expected to fund the base budget 
for 2015/16 and the remaining £411k has been allocated to services committed to during 2014/15 but which had not yet taken place. 

On the 4th November the Government announced the result of  the consultation with local authorities on the implementation of a £200m national cut the  2015/16 Public Health grant allocation.  This confirmed the Department of Health's preferred option 
of reducing each local authority's allocation by 6.2%, which means a reduction of  £2,818k for Leeds City Council.  Although the Public Health grant for 2015-16  is already committed, work is ongoing to identify savings, critical decisions are being taken in 
order to meet this significant challenge. To date, £2,413k of potential savings have been identified and are in the process of being implemented.  These are reflected in the projections below.  There are still some risks to the identified 2015/16 savings, in 
particular, negotiations with Leeds Community Healthcare and  the activity based contracts 
which are paid based on demand.   After taking into account normal variations in existing services, a further saving of £405k is required (still to be identified).  We are aware this is a national one-off reduction however 
we await for the spending review to learn whether there will be cuts from 16/17 onwards.  We do know that the final public health grant allocation for Leeds will only be made in January 2016.   

Detailed Analysis

New contracts for integrated sexual health services and drugs and alcohol services commenced on 1st July.  Work is ongoing to identify any potential financial pressures particularly in relation to Shared Care activity, medical costs, testing and prescribing 
and dispensing costs for drugs and alcohol treatment and recovery.

There is currently an underspend on the staffing budget due to posts going through the recruitment process and this will be considered as part of any current pressures and the challenge to meet the Government's announcement on the reduction to the 
Public Health grant.

General Fund services are projecting to be £27k underspent as a result of vacancies during the early part of the year and further recent staff turnover.

P
age 175



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer RAG
Action 

Plan Value

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

2. Ian Cameron G 4.99 0.00

3. Ian Cameron G 0.25 0.00

4. Ian Cameron G 0.28 0.00

5. Ian Cameron G 0.16 0.00

6. Ian Cameron G 0.05 0.00

7. Ian Cameron G 0.15 0.00

8. Ian Cameron G 0.26 0.00

9. Ian Cameron G 0.11 0.00

10. Underspend brought forward from 2014/15 Ian Cameron G 0.80 0.00

11. Ian Cameron G 0.27 0.00

B. Other Significant Variations

1. Ian Cameron (0.50)

2 Grant reduction Ian Cameron Confirmed reduction in 2015/16 grant allocation 2.82

3 Ian Cameron (1.94)

0.38Public Health - Forecast Variation

Savings identified to offset reduction in grant

Responsibility has passed to the CCG's for this service with no requirement to transfer funding.

Grant conditions allow for underspends in one year to be used in the following year.

External Providers

Staffing budget Delays in recruitment and posts deliberately held vacant have resulted in a projected underspend

Charge to HRA from Supporting People Team
A proportion of staff time is spent supporting HRA contracts.  An analysis of the time spent on this has 
resulted in a recharge to HRA.

Adult Weight Management

Reduction in small projects

PPPU reviews completed during 2014/15

Increase in ring fenced grant

Reduction in staff costs

Additional Comments

From October 2015 funding and contract responsibility for 0-5 years public health services transfers to the 
council.  This responsibility is funded by an increase in ring fenced grant.

Following a review of essential posts, savings have been identified.

Based on current levels of activity, the demand for this service has reduced resulting in an estimated 
saving.

The DoH notified the council of a PCT legacy balance outstanding.  Provision was made in 2014/15 for this 
and so is not required in 2015/16.

Reduction in social marketing activity.

A number of projects carried out in 2014/15 are no longer required.

Work on new contracts is complete and no further charges are expected for this service.

PCT legacy balance not required

Reduction in social marketing costs

NHS Healthcheck - estimated reduction in demand

PUBLIC HEALTH 
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 7 (April to October)

P
age 176



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Expenditure 
Budget

Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate

Staffing Premises
Supplies 

& 
Services

Transport
Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments

Capital Appropriation
Total 

Expenditure
Income

Total 
(under) / 

overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Business 
Support Centre

9,987 (5,430) 4,557 (60) 10 126 (1) 79 0 0 0 0 154 (155) (1)

Commercial 
Services

55,575 (55,021) 554 565 1 (200) 32 2 0 0 0 0 400 (84) 316

Facilities 
Management

9,700 (3,745) 5,955 48 69 13 5 0 0 0 0 0 135 (135) 0

Corporate 
Property 
Management

6,787 (535) 6,252 38 (6) 11 5 0 0 0 0 0 48 (48) 0

Total 82,049 (64,731) 17,318 591 74 (50) 41 81 0 0 0 0 737 (422) 315

CIVIC ENTERPRISE LEEDS

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 7 (April to October)
Overall

The overall projected position at period 7 for CEL is an overspend of £315k which is primarily accounted for by a £165k overspend against the Catering net budget and a 
£150k overspend on Property Cleaning. The Catering overspend is a result of an income shortfall against the increased budgeted number of meals whereas the Property overspend arises from not meeting efficiencies 
included within the base budget.

Business Support Centre
A balanced position is projected, savings on staffing budgets due to delays in recruitment are offset  by shortfall against the income budgets. In order to create Shared 
Services budgets for Mailroom , Document Management and Services Agency (Print and Signs) have transferred to BSC (from Facilities). An assessment of advertising and 
DBS income has been carried out at period 7 resulting in an increased income expected of £137k, costs associated with this additional income are £83k included mainly 
within supplies and services.

Commercial Services
The Commercial Services overspend of  £316k is, as explained above, accounted for by a shortfall against an increase in the budgeted number of meals on Catering (£350k full year effect for Universal Free School 
Meals assumed in the 2015/16 budget) to Period 7; the projection assumes that the budgeted number of meals will be achieved for the remainder of the financial year. Due to delays in implementing the £200k budgeted 
savings by implementing a lower cleaning specification, Property Cleaning are forecasting an overspend of £150k. The projection assumes that the transfer of budgets for ASC catering and cleaning staff will be cost 
neutral.

Facilities 
A balanced period 7 position is projected. There's a £48k pressure on the staffing savings as a result of non delivery of closure savings assumed in the 2015/16 Asset Rationalisation programme for community centres, 
although this pressure is reflected in the Citizens and Communities budget. There are risks around the income accruals for service charges for 2013/14 and 2014/15 relating to the joint service centres of £332k. The 
payment of these charges and those in 2015/16 is being dealt with by Legal 
Services.

Corporate Property Management
A balanced position is projected with the projected overspend against staffing to be managed by a combination of additional income and savings against running costs.

P
age 177



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:

Lead Officer
Action Plan 

Value
RAG

Forecast 
Variation 
against 

Plan/Budget

A. Key Budget Action Plans £m £m

1 Julie Meakin 0.87 G 0.0

2 Jo Miklo 0.21 G 0.0

3 Terry Pycroft 0.10 G 0.0

4 Terry Pycroft 0.10 G 0.0

5 Mandy Snaith 0.08 G 0.0

6 Julie Meakin 0.06 G 0.0

7
Dave 
Outram/Julie 
Meakin

TBC G 0.0

8 Mandy Snaith 0.05 G 0.0

9 Terry Pycroft 0.05 G 0.0

10
Richard 
Jackson

0.20 R 0.1

B. Other Significant Variations

1 Net effect of all other variations 0.2

0.3

Increased trading with public by Fleet Services, 
servicing etc

Efficiencies from lower cleaning spec to building 
and selling services to others

Asset rationalisation

Better business management: admin/intel/mail & 
print/prog & project management

Fleet services vehicle replacement savings and 
efficiencies

Fleet services pay as you go tyre contract

Transfer of ASC properties to Facilities 
Management

Additional Comments

Primarily reduction in utility bills/bus rates on Merrion and other vacated buildings. Merrion 
vacated March 2015

Relates to the transfer of Catering & Cleaning staff from ASC to Cel Group. DDN now 
signed. 

Expected to achieve

Civic Enterprise Leeds - Forecast Variation

New trading now taking place includes: MoT testing; extension of vehicle maintenance 
contract with Uni of Leeds; and safety training courses.

Half way through fleet replacement programme. New vehicles are more efficient, require 
less maintenance and are covered by warranty

Savings proposals being actioned but impact needs to be monitored

Extension of catering in Civic Hall Savings proposals being actioned but impact needs to be monitored

See comments in S&R tab against Procurement non-contract spend

New contract in place since Oct 14. Currently £10k pm cheaper than old fixed price 
contract.

Virements for centralising Core Admin & Exec Support into BSC are being progressed and 
hopefully finalised by month 8

CIVIC ENTERPRISE LEEDS
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

MONTH 7 (April to October)

Other savings: insurance, JNC review, legal 
charges, TU convenors

Procurement off contract spend

P
age 178



 

 
 
 
 

 
  

Expenditure Budget
Income 
Budget

Latest 
Estimate Staffing Premises

Supplies & 
Services Transport

Internal 
Charges

External 
Providers

Transfer 
Payments Capital Appropriation

Total 
Expenditure Income

Total (under) / 
overspend

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategic Accounts (11,480) (32,488) (43,968) (200) 0 600 400 2,350 2,750

Debt 47,052 (1,075) 45,977 (761) (761) (761)
Govt Grants 2,828 (27,830) (25,002) (1,300) (1,300) (1,300)
Joint Committees 37,697 0 37,697 0 0
Miscellaneous 2,317 (1,172) 1,145 0 0
Insurance 10,227 (10,227) 0 5,305 52 (4,068) 1,289 (1,289) 0
Total 88,641 (72,792) 15,849 0 0 5,105 0 52 0 (1,300) (761) (3,468) (372) 1,061 689

Month 7 (April to October)

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS
FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Budget Management - net variations against the approved budget

PROJECTED VARIANCES

Overall :

The Strategic budget forecast for period 7 is for an overspend of £0.9m. The variation from the previous month's projection is mainly due to forecasted shortfall in New Homes Bonus.

External debt costs and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) - the budget for MRP includes £14.8m of savings targets - £10.5m from the use of capital receipts and £4.3m for the realignment of MRP on pre-2007/08 debt to an 
asset lives based approach.  To support the achievement of these savings we are closely monitoring the levels of capital receipts both in 2015/16 and across the medium-term and also working with the Council's valuers around the 
reasonable detemination of asset lives.

Corporate targets - the Strategic budget includes targets for general capitalisation of £4.9m, capitalisation of spend in schools revenue budgets of £2.5m and in line with the 2014/15 outturn, the latest 2015/16 projections 
anticipate additional savings from capitalising eligible costs.  In addition the strategic budget includes savings of £1m around procurement [£0.5m forecast variation at month 6) together with a PFI contract/monitoring target of 
£0.9m [which will be allocated to service budgets following confirmation of where the reductions in spend will actually be achieved].  The 
month 7 projection also recognises a potential shortfall in achieveing the £1.2m Directorate Procurement target which is currently held across Directorate budgets.  

P
age 179



 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Key Budget Action Plans and Budget Variations:
Lead 

Officer
Budget RAG

Forecast 
Variation

A.  Key Budgets £'000

1.
Doug 
Meeson

16,208 G (761)

2.
Doug 
Meeson

29,769 G 0

3.
Doug 
Meeson

(18,446) G 850

4.
Doug 
Meeson

(9,171) G 0

5.
Doug 
Meeson

(5,200) R 1,500

6.
Doug 
Meeson

(4,982) A (300)

7. Schools capitalisation target
Doug 
Meeson

(2,500) A (1,500)

8.
Doug 
Meeson

(1,000) A 1,000

9.
David 
Outram

(860) A 0

10. Early Leaver Initiative
Doug 
Meeson

0 A 600

11. Directorate Procurement Target
David 
Outram

(1,200) A 600

B. Other Significant Budgets

1.
Doug 
Meeson

0 A 0

2.
Doug 
Meeson

2,828 A (1,300)

3.
Doug 
Meeson

(9,908) A 0

689

Debt Costs and External Income No major changes to date.

STRATEGIC & CENTRAL ACCOUNTS

FINANCIAL DASHBOARD - 2015/16 FINANCIAL YEAR

Month 7 (April to October)

Additional Comments

Corporate Procurement Target Centrally-held budget savings target.  Actual savings will be shown in Directorate budgets.

Minimum Revenue Provision Potential £8m reduction in MRP from asset life method (budgeted £4.3)

New Homes Bonus
Activity across the City increasing, however marginal shortfall in anticipated grant income forecast for 
2015/16

Business Rates  (S31 Grants, Levy & EZ) No material variations anticipated at this stage

S278 Contributions Forecast from Capital team is £2.8m, potential risk of £2.4m

General capitalisation target Potential additional capitalisation of eligible costs held across Directorate revenue budgets

Potential additional capitalisation of eligible costs held across school revenue budgets

PFI Contract Monitoring Target
Budget held in the strategic accounts pending confirmation of where the reductions in expenditure will 
be achieved

£2m earmarked reserve established to fund the severance costs in 2015/16.  Latest information on 
approved business cases together with staffing plans from directorates indicate a £2.6m spend 
against the £2m earmarked reserve.

Work is progressing around reducing the level of non-contract spend across the Council.  The latest 
information is that £0.6m of savings will be achievable in 2015/16 with £0.6m of savings slipping into 
2016/17.

Insurance Potential additional costs in-year which will be managed through the Insurance Reserve

Strategic & Central Accounts - Forecast Variation

Business Rates Levy
Estimated saving on the levy payment to the Business Rates Pool reflecting the level of Business 
Rates Growth and revaluation appeals

Prudential Borrowing Recharges
Contra budgets in directorates/service accounts.  Reduction on budgeted schemes currently offset by 
expected £1.2m increase ref Southbank regeneration scheme

P
age 180



 

 
 
 
 

 

Summary of projected over / under spends (Housing Revenue Account)

Comments

£000 £000 £000 £000

Income
Co

mm
Rents (220,468) (220,855) (387) (247)

Acc

ess
Service Charges (6,588) (6,740) (152) (152)

Wel

fare

Other Income (28,088) (28,107) (19) (116)

Total Income (255,144) (255,702) (557) (514)
Ass

et
Libr

ary
Expenditure

Disrepair Provision 1,500                                 1,932                                432                                432                          

Sup

port

Repairs to Dwellings 42,733                              43,133                              400                                400                          

Part

ners
Employees 26,847                              26,420                              (427) (353)

Premises 7,205                                 7,078                                (127) (30)

Supplies & Services 5,752                                 5,738                                (14) 53                            

Internal Services 36,548                              36,840                              292                                502                          

Capital Programme 69,888                              69,888                              ‐                                 ‐                           

Appropriations (17,941) (17,886) 55                                  83                            

Con

trac
Unitary Charge PFI 31,971                              31,875                              (96) (86)

GFS

S

Capital Charges 42,372                              42,372                              ‐                                 (483)

P&C
Other Expenditure 8,269                                 8,177                                (92) (4)

Total Expenditure 255,144                        255,567                       423                            514                          

Tot

al
Total Current Month ‐                                 (134) (134) (0)

Link Officers £144k, Tenant furniture £80k, LLBHH PTC £70k, Japanese Knotweed £35k, and Postages & Printing £36k. Offset 

by savings on Tenant Mobility Scheme (£100k), Swarcliffe Insurance Refund £(68)k, Swarcliffe UC due to RTB £(25)k and 

savings on EPCs £(55)k. Further savings following a review by the service (£130k) (includes flats bins, IT and uniforms).

Savings on Swarcliffe (£86k) and Little London (£10k) Unitary Charge PFO

Swarcliffe PFI £169k and LLBH PFI (£4k), Energy Portfolio Projects from PPPU (£110k)

PPPU Category Management charge £171k, Energy portfolio work from PPPU £110k, Legal costs for disrepair work £69k, 

additional HR charge £134k, increased Regeneration time spent on HRA projects £108k, additional accommodation £59k, 

Contribution to floating support (ASC) £47k, Increased surveyor work on RTBs £22k, offset by savings on ASBU (£147k), 

Savings on legal fees (£122k), Housing Options (£68k), Equal Pay (£42k), PPPU PFI saving (£32k), Internal Audit recharge 

(£18k).

Key variances include reduction in telecoms income due to renegotiated leases ( £55k), budget review indicating fall out of 

income £51k and reduction in capitalised salaries £85k. Offset by savings in DR&M (£71k), LLBH&H PTC costs (£50k), 

insurance refund (£12k) and increase in RTB  income based on projected 410 sales (£78k).

Reduction in income from  sheltered accommodation £15k, offset by additional furniture income (£80k) and MSF general 

charge (£87k).

Void numbers lower than budget.

Navigation House rent & premises costs £75k, Increases in rent due to delays in office moves offset by resources not 

required for dilapidations (£61k), Utilities saving (£100k), Little London Bus Stop works £10k and revised forecasts on: 

Miscellaneous Cleaning (£17k); Sheltered (£23k); and CAM utilities (£11k)

Savings on vacant posts (£876k), Other staff savings (£60k), offsetting severance costs £129k and Agency £380k

Additional expenditure being incurred due to the requirement to address outstanding repairs resulting from the backlog of 

disrepair cases, and taking a more pro‐active approach to avoid disrepair claims in the future

Disrepair compensation & fees.

Projected Year End 
Spend

Financial Dashboard ‐ 2015/16 Financial Year
Housing Revenue Account ‐ Month 7 (October 2015)

Directorate Variance to budget
Previous Month 

(Under) / Over Spend
Current Budget

(£351k) Reduction in voluntary set aside to fund £351k capital charges following reduced interest payable to HRA.

Void incentive £35k, Welfare change £10k, BITMO recharge to tenants £5k, Leeds Tenant Fed (£36k), reforecast transport 

costs (£105k)

P
age 181



 

 
 
 
 

 

Change in Stock Budget Projection

350 410

50 50

(250) (255)

(142) (32)

(30) (30)

Total (22) 143

Provisions Budget Projection

1,928 1,928

1,610 1,610

2,835 2,835

1,124 1,124

Total 7,497 7,497

£000 £000 £000

Tenant Arrears (Domestic Rents and Charges)

Current Tenants ‐ exc Tech 5,847                                 6,450                                603                               

Former Tenants 3,037                                 3,289                                252                               

8,884                                 9,739                                855                               

Under occupation

Volume of Accounts 5,255                                 5,047                                (208)

Volume in Arrears 2,792                                 2,723                                (69)

% in Arrears 53% 54% 1%

855 869                                   14                                 

Collection Rates

Dwelling rents 97.45% 96.70% ‐0.75%

Target 98.06% 98.06% 0.00%

Variance to Target ‐0.61% ‐1.36% ‐0.75%

Brought back into Charge

2014/15 Week 52 2015/16 Week 31 Variance

Disrepair provision

Bad Debt provision (Current Tenants)

Bad Debt provision (Former Tenants)

Others

Right to Buy sales

Taken out of Charge

New Build (PFI)

New Build (Council House Growth)

Financial Dashboard ‐ 2015/16 Financial Year
Housing Revenue Account ‐ Month 7 (October 2015)

0

1000000

2000000

3000000

4000000

5000000

6000000

7000000

8000000

Period… Period… Period… Period… Period… Period… Period… Period… Period… Period… Period… Period…

A
rr
ea
rs

Comparison of Current Tenant Arrears 2014/15 and 2015/16
(excluding Technical Arrears)

2014/15 2015/16

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

N
u
m
b
er
  o
f 
 h
o
u
se
s 
 s
o
ld

Council House Sales

Sales 2014‐15

Cumulative Sales 2014‐15

Monthly Sales 2015‐16

Monthly Sales 2015‐16 Proj

Cumulative Sales 2015‐16

Cumulative Sales 2015‐16 Proj

P
age 182



 

 
 
 
 

1. 2015-16 Procurement Report 
 
1.1 The Chief Officer for the Projects Programmes and Procurement Unit is required to 

provide statistical procurement information to Executive Board every quarter. This 
report provides information in relation to Q1 and Q2 (the first half) of the 2015/16 
financial year.  

 
2. Procurement Savings 

  
2.1 The delivery of procurements, and in turn procurement savings, are a result of 

cross-functional working with directorates.  The procurement category teams work 
closely with directorate colleagues to seek to secure procurement and contract 
efficiencies and to reduce off-contract and non-contract spend.  Agreeing and 
‘capturing’ procurement savings, in discussion with directorates, enables budget 
holders to make informed choices and, where possible, translate identified saving 
opportunities into ‘cashable’ savings. The high level forecast savings are detailed 
below.  
 

Updated September 2015 
Prior Years 2015/16 Future Years 

Projected Whole Life 
Saving 

£000's £000's £000's £000's 

Savings already deducted from 
previous year's and future budgets 

* (13,989) * (5,877) * (6,304) * (26,170) 

Additional Projected savings against 
the 2015/16 budget 

- (2,926) - (2,926) 

Total Forecast Savings on Current 
contracts 

(13,989) (8,803) (6,304) (29,096) 

*Savings reflect the whole life of the contract  and are reflected in the budget for the year the contract is 
awarded 

 
2.2 Projected savings for future years reflect the whole life of the contract and were 

accounted for by reducing budgets for 2015/16 and reducing budgets in previous 
years. 
 

2.3 Anticipated savings on new procurements for contracts awarded as at 30 
September 2015 are £2.926m.  
 

2.4 Forecast savings are based on predicted contract usage and will be updated on a 
quarterly basis to reflect this. 
 

2.5 Further savings are anticipated in the remainder of the year however as market 
conditions dictate the final tender values, savings will only be estimated once the 
final tender values are known. 

2.6 In addition to the cashable savings identified above, the savings report also 
identifies cost avoidance or ‘non cashable savings’, for example whereby having 
implemented good procurement controls, or contract management, a price increase 
has been avoided or where the re-procurement of a contract has resulted in ‘more 
for less’.  By definition it is difficult to prove these savings as they are not usually 
quantifiable from a budget perspective. Nevertheless they do demonstrate the value 
added by effective procurement intervention and add value to the process.  

Page 183



 

 
 
 
 

2.7 Cumulative Procurement savings 2015/16 to 2018/19 

 

3. Orders Placed on the Financial Management System (FMS)   
 
3.1 The following financial information is sourced from an analysis of all orders recorded 

in the council’s main financial system, FMS. On the payments system, each creditor 
(a body or person to which a payment is made by the council) has an indicator on 
their record which allocates them to a category. Such categories include private 
companies, commercial individuals (sole traders), other public sector bodies, and 
the third sector. The classification of organisations is carried out by colleagues in 
corporate finance with typically several hundred new creditor organisations 
allocated to a category each month.  

 
3.2  These figures do not include orders placed through feeder systems, such as 

Orchard2, purchasing cards, or payment requisitions where BACS or cheque 
payments are made through FMS without the Business Support Centre processing 
 an invoice and where therefore there is no associated order.  

 
3.3  The table below shows all orders placed in FMS during Q1/Q2 2015/16.  Data from 

 the corresponding period in 2014/15 is included for comparison.   
 

Q1/2 2014/15 Q1/2 2015/16 

Classification Order Value 
Number 

of 
Orders  

% of 
Total  

Order Value 
Number 

of 
Orders  

% of 
Total  

On Contract £177,371,881 8592 76.42% £189,067,123 8972 76.64% 

Non-Contract £24,548,421 10437 10.58% £17,040,874 8531 6.91% 

On Contract - Quasi £20,807,125 3202 8.96% £32,266,946 2713 13.08% 

On Contract - Waiver £1,527,180 55 0.66% £755,059 43 0.31% 

Off-Contract £4,785,450 2471 2.06% £5,581,059 1766 2.26% 

Non-Contract - One off 
or non-influenceable £3,076,094 360 1.33% 

£1,971,150 517 0.80% 

Grand Total £232,116,149 25117 100% £246,682,211 22542 100% 

 
 
 

                                            
2 Orchard is used by various council functions for dealing with the financial aspects of council owned property, for 
example to pay contractors for undertaking repairs to the housing stock. 
 

 ‐

 5

 10

 15

 20

 25

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

M
ill
io
n 
£

Year

Page 184



 

 
 
 
 

3.4 On, off and non-contract orders placed on FMS 
 

a) The graph below shows the percentage of on, off and non-contract orders placed 
on FMS from April 2015 to September 2015. 
 

 
 
4. Local Suppliers 

 
4.1 Orders placed with local suppliers in Q1/Q2 2015/16 are detailed below.  Data from 

the corresponding period in 2014/15 is included for comparison. 
 

Q1/2 2014/15 Q1/2 2015/16 

Classification Order Value 
Number 

of Orders 
% of Total  Order Value 

Number 
of Orders  

% of Total  

Local Spend £103,339,550 11176 44.52% £109,085,383 9973 44.22% 

Non-Local Spend £128,776,600 13941 55.48% £137,596,828 12569 55.78% 

Grand Total £232,116,149 25117 100% £246,682,211 22542 100% 

 
 Suppliers with a Leeds metropolitan area postcode have been included in the above 

data. These are postcodes LS1 to LS29 plus BD3, BD4, BD10, BD11, WF2, WF3, 
WF10, WF12, WF17. 

 
5. Third sector 

 
5.1  Orders placed with third sector suppliers in Q1/Q2 2015/16 are detailed below.  

Data from the corresponding period in 2014/15 is included for comparison. 
 

Q1/2 2014/15 Q1/2 2015/16 

Classification Order Value 
Number 

of Orders 
% of Total  Order Value 

Number 
of Orders  

% of Total  

Third Sector £49,208,411 2931 21.20% £47,398,144 2833 19.21% 

Non Third Sector £182,907,738 22186 78.80% £199,284,068 19709 80.79% 

Grand Total £232,116,149 25117 100% £246,682,211 22542 100% 

 
 
 
 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%
100%

A
p
ri
l 2
0
1
5

M
ay
 2
0
1
5

Ju
n
e 
2
0
1
5

Ju
ly
 2
0
1
5

A
u
gu
st

2
0
1
5

Se
p
te
m
b
er

2
0
1
5

On‐
Contract

Non‐
Contract

Off‐
Contract

Page 185



 

 
 
 
 

6. Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) 
 
6.1 Orders placed with SMEs in Q1/Q2 2015/16 are detailed below.  Data from the 

corresponding period in 2014/15 is included for comparison. 
 

Q1/2 2014/15 Q1/2 2015/16 

Classification Order Value 
Number 

of Orders 
% of Total  Order Value 

Number 
of Orders  

% of Total  

Not an SME £136,721,930 9476 58.90% £129,332,344 8509 52.43% 

SME £95,394,219 15641 41.10% £117,349,867 14033 47.57% 

Grand Total £232,116,149 25117 100% £246,682,211 22542 100% 

 
 
7. Glossary  
 
7.1 On contract is an order placed with a contracted supplier. 
 
7.2 Non-contract is an order placed where no contract exists for the goods or service.  
 
7.3 Off contract is an order placed where there is a contracted supplier but the order raiser 

uses a different supplier. 
 
7.4 Waivers are required where the relevant Chief Officer is able to justify a genuine exception 

to the requirements for competition under Contract Procedure Rules. 
 
7.5 Quasi contracts are virtual contracts put in place to aggregate spend with a view to 

evaluating the requirements of a contract. 
 
7.6 The Local Government Association defines the third sector as “non-governmental 

organisations” (NGOs) that are value-driven and which principally reinvest their surpluses 
to further social, environmental or cultural objectives.  

 
7.7 Third sector includes charities, community groups, churches and faith groups, sports and 

recreational clubs, social enterprises and partnerships and trade unions and associations.  
 
7.8 SMEs are defined as having a turnover of less than £25.9 million and fewer than 250 

employees.  This data was collated by using the categorisation selected by the supplier 
upon registration on Yortender (the council’s electronic tendering site) and then verified 
where possible against data from the Department of Business Innovation and Skills. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 186



 
 

 

Report of Assistant Chief Executive (Citizens and Communities), Director of 
Children’s Services and the Director of Adult Social Services 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 16 December 2015 

Subject: Safeguarding in Taxi & Private Hire Licensing – 12 month review of                    
 progress 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1. In December 2014 Members of Executive Board received a report on issues 
associated with safeguarding in taxi and private hire licensing.  That report was 
prepared following the publication of a report regarding child sexual exploitation in 
Rotherham and significant concerns being expressed regarding safeguarding controls 
for taxi and private hire licensing in Rotherham.  

2. In light of that report, Leeds City Council considered it important to review its own 
safeguarding arrangements.  That review concluded that Leeds’ procedures and 
policies, whilst considered comprehensive, effective and robust, could be further 
developed and improved.   Since that time further work has been undertaken and this 
report presents members with an update on that work. 

3. The main issues identified in the report to the Executive Board in December 2014 
were: - 

 Proposals to progress to annual on-line DBS for all drivers, Operators, 
Proprietors, Escorts and permit holders; 

 The shortcomings of character references and certificates of good character 
from non EU countries; 

 
Report author:  Des Broster 

Tel:  37 81562 

Page 187

Agenda Item 13



 
 

 

 Licensing resource issues and appropriate training to assist in identifying 
fraud; 

 Weaknesses in national legislation enabling drivers licensed in one authority 
with less exacting standards than Leeds to work as a Private Hire Driver in 
Leeds; 

 The need to have a common application process across West Yorkshire; 

 The appropriateness of Members, MPs and Officers supplying references for 
drivers in the application process; 

 The increased threat to safeguarding with the Police moving away from the 
‘Notifiable Occupations Scheme’ to a common law disclosure approach; and 

 The risks posed by proposed legislation changes under the Deregulation Bill 
2015. 

4. This report gives an overview for Executive Board of the measures taken to improve 
safeguarding issues in Taxi and Private Hire Licensing during the last 12 months which 
includes: - 

 the key policy change for applicants born outside of the UK;  

 essential compulsory safeguarding training for all drivers, operators, escorts 
and permit drivers;  

 progress of annual on-line DBS checks; and 

 a safeguarding reporting system for drivers and operators to enable 
immediate enforcement action as well as those other areas identified within 
part 3 of the report.   

Recommendations 

5. Executive Board are asked to: - 

 Note and endorse the direction officers and Members of Licensing 
Committee are taking regarding improvements for safeguarding in Taxi and 
Private Hire Licensing; and 

 Approve the new ‘fit and proper’ person character assessment policy as 
recommended to Members of Executive Board by Licensing Committee and 
as outlined in appendix 3.  This will be implemented immediately on approval 
by the Section Head of Taxi and Private Hire Licensing. 

Page 188



 
 

 

1 Purpose of this report 

1.1 To set out developments in regard to further improving safeguarding 
arrangements in Taxi and Private Hire Licensing following the report submitted to 
Executive Board in December 2014.  The report also recommends the approval of 
a new policy in respect of the ‘fit and proper’ person assessment for applicants 
born outside of the EU.   

2 Background information 

2.1 In December 2014 Members received a report which followed the Independent 
Inquiry into child sexual exploitation in Rotherham and the significant concerns 
highlighted regarding safeguarding controls for Taxi and Private Hire Licensing in 
Rotherham.  That report found that taxi and private hire licensed vehicles in 
Rotherham had been used extensively by those directly involved in sexual 
exploitation of children to move children around the city and to other cities. 

2.2 A review of the arrangements in Leeds was undertaken in 2014 and the outcome 
of that review was reported to Members of Executive Board.  That review 
concluded that Leeds’ procedures and policies, whilst considered comprehensive, 
effective and robust, could be further developed and improved.   Since that time 
further work has been undertaken and this report presents members with an 
update on that work.  The key work undertaken includes: key policy change 
proposal for applicants born outside of the UK; essential compulsory safeguarding 
training for all drivers, operators, escorts and permit drivers; introduction of annual 
on-line DBS checks; and the implementation of a safeguarding reporting system 
for drivers and operators to enable immediate enforcement action.  

2.3 The report details concerns about changes to the Home Office ‘Notifiable 
Occupations Scheme’ for the disclosure of relevant licensing information and the 
resourcing and skills of licensing staff were also identified as issues to address.  

2.4 Members will note that the role of the Combined Authority in moving forward with 
a common West Yorkshire licensing approach was also recognised.  Again, the 
progress on this issue is set out in the report. 

2.5 Officers from a number of agencies including Taxi and Private Hire Licensing, 
West Yorkshire Police and Children’s Services have been meeting on a regular 
basis within the framework of the Cross Council Safeguarding Board to review 
current licensing practice and procedure, and develop stronger links and 
information sharing. 

2.6 The work being undertaken by the Leeds Safeguarding Children Board, Cross 
Council Safeguarding Board, and Adult Safeguarding Board on safeguarding 
issues across Leeds is complimented by the issues set out in this report specific 
to Taxi and Private Hire Licensing. 

2.7 Many of the concerns raised during the Rotherham investigation about frailties in 
policy, procedure, decision making and enforcement were not considered relevant 
to Leeds as robust policies and procedures were already in place in reducing risk 

Page 189



 
 

 

and these policies and procedures have been subject to a continuous rolling 
review by Members of Licensing Committee.  That programme of review does not 
wait for events elsewhere and Members and Officers take every opportunity for 
early intervention and improvement if necessary. 

3 Main issues 

3.1 The policies approved by Licensing Committee, or the Executive, are varied and 
the more recent ones highlight the level of resilience put in place by this Authority.   
In constructing its approach to public safety and safeguarding, the Council can 
convincingly demonstrate that it has in place sound decision making processes 
which segregate the policy making role of Members and the decision taking role of 
officers, with accountability and appropriate reporting mechanism to Members 
through public reports of the decisions taken and other issues concerning the 
public.  This policy and decision making model was put in place by the Licensing 
Committee long before the concerns and issues which have been raised in some 
other Local Authorities. 

3.2 The work carried out in the past 12 months is set out below along with individual 
up-to-date position statements. 

3.3 New policies approved by Licensing Committee 

3.3.1 Private Hire Operator Conditions –  requirement to undertake training as 
necessary; to immediately report safeguarding or other serious allegations to the 
council; and controls on booking facilities for use of ‘out of town’ Hackney 
Carriages and recording all journeys undertaken by them. 

3.3.2 Convictions criteria for all licence holders – a complete overhaul of the previous 
criteria to take account of all types of sexual offending; criminal activity involving 
drugs, violence or dishonesty. 

3.3.3 Additional compulsory safeguarding awareness training for licence holders is in 
place.  Licensing Committee Members and Licensing Officers also have a 
programme of training on safeguarding issues. 

3.3.4 Annual on-line DBS Update Service – The introduction of the on-line service 
enables Officers to conduct DBS checks, not only at the point of renewal of a 
licence or where a concern is raised, but also to randomly check a percentage of 
the driver profile each month to ascertain if there are any areas of concern 
revealed that had not been reported in another way. 

3.3.5 Immediate suspension and revocation policy – reviewed and approved by 
Licensing Committee.  Where an allegation or information is received about a 
licensed driver, which raises a real concern for public safety consideration is given 
to the immediate suspension of that licence or revocation.  An immediate 
suspension decision means that the driver cannot drive until the suspension is 
lifted by the Courts or following investigation by officers. 

Page 190



 
 

 

3.4 Joint Working on Safeguarding 

3.4.1 The Cross Council Safeguarding Group have been involved in the development of 
the work detailed in this report, which includes representation from both the 
Adults’ and Children’s Safeguarding Board. 

3.4.2 A requirement to introduce safeguarding and child sexual exploitation (CSE) 
awareness training was identified in 2014.  That training was developed by the 
Leeds Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) in conjunction with Carolyn Eyre, 
Safeguarding Consultant.  Carolyn Eyre’s services were procured by the LSCB to 
deliver the training which was rolled out to licensed operators, escorts and 
contract drivers.  Resources from the LSCB commissioning budget were made 
available to create and deliver all of the documentation in the initial phase of the 
training programme.   

3.4.3 To ensure a consistent approach to safeguarding and CSE awareness training, a 
procurement exercise was undertaken to engage the existing training provider 
previously procured by the LSCB.   

3.4.4 At the time of the procurement exercise, September 2015, there were circa 5,600 
existing licence holders required to undertake the training.  The contract reflects 
the undertaking by the training provider to deliver 187 sessions to ensure all 
existing licence holders are appropriately trained. 

3.4.5 Since September 2015, approximately 500 licence holders have attended an 
awareness session.  Sessions are being scheduled over the following 12 months 
at an average rate of three per month, subject to trainer availability.  Drivers who 
fail to attend their scheduled session will need to pay a further training fee before 
being able to rebook.  Licences may not be renewed if the training has not been 
undertaken  

3.4.6 Licensed Escorts who have failed to attend a training session have had their 
licence suspended.  Officers also refer drivers to safeguarding training as urgent 
referral following the investigation of some complaints.  At the conclusion of the 
training every licence holder has to sign up to a commitment to a code of conduct 
when working with vulnerable passengers. There has also been the introduction 
of guidance for Operators.  

3.4.7 Impactive information and guidance posters were designed by Children’s Services 
and were circulated to all Private Hire Operators offices, Hackney Carriage 
Associations and Contractors for display in the working environment to maintain 
awareness of the issues, responsibilities and reporting mechanisms.   This is 
currently being re-run to maintain focus on the issues (see Appendix 1). 

3.5 Joint Work Across West Yorkshire  

3.5.1 Structured meetings with other Licensing Heads to introduce common standards 
across West Yorkshire in a number of areas including: - 

3.5.2 Decision making scheme of delegation - A model based on Leeds City Council’s 
current approach to be developed (currently implemented in three Authorities). 

Page 191



 
 

 

3.5.3 Private Hire Operator Conditions - Common policy of control measures through 
conditions being applied to all Private Hire Operators licences in respect of ‘Out of 
Town’ Hackney Carriages acting as Private Hire vehicles.  Already in place in the 
Leeds Licensing District. 

3.5.4 Application Process - A common minimum standard of entry to enable 
safeguarding improvement.  The proposals for a new policy in respect of the ‘fit 
and proper’ person assessment for applicants born outside of the EU in this report 
will be put forward as the appropriate standard across the West Yorkshire area. 

3.5.5 Private Hire Driver and Operator Condition (Training) - A condition to mirror Leeds 
City Council’s driver/operator licences that sets out a requirement to undertake 
remedial training as required to expected standards of service and safety during 
the lifetime of a licence. 

3.5.6 Private Hire Vehicle Conditions - All West Yorkshire licensed vehicles have similar 
recognisable door livery to that used by Leeds City Council which deforms when 
removed. 

3.5.7 Common Bye Laws for Hackney carriages - Bye Laws that currently exist across 
most Authorities and have usually been in place since the 1970s.  They do not 
meet today’s needs.  Officers recommend that there are common bye laws across 
all of the Authorities which will introduce proportionate additional control 
measures. 

3.5.8 Enforcement capability - That each Authority sets out a clear ring-fenced budget 
and produces annual accounts to demonstrate to the licence holders that all 
money is being used lawfully and appropriately towards improving the licensing 
and enforcement function.  Officers to prepare information sharing protocol and 
implement to reduce bureaucracy and unnecessary Data Protection concerns. 

3.5.9 Authorised Officer Status - Currently Licensing and Enforcement Officers are only 
able to carry out inspection and suspension powers on drivers and vehicles 
licensed by their own Authority.  This will be overcome by a proposed scheme of 
delegation with powers being given to officers from this and other Authorities to 
enable more efficient enforcement action across each West Yorkshire licensing 
area.  Proposals to make the necessary amendments to the council’s constitution 
to facilitate this were agreed by Licensing Committee in November 2015 and are 
going forward to General Purposes Committee in December 2015 and Full 
Council in January 2016 for approval. 

3.5.10 Convictions Policy and Convictions Criteria - A standard convictions criteria be 
adopted which recognises the primary purpose of legislation is public safety and 
sets clear guidelines to decision makers and enables applicants to understand 
before they apply how their criminal past might be considered.  This is already in 
place in Leeds. 

3.5.11 English comprehension - This is considered a key element in customer service, 
understanding legislation and facilitating training.  The acceptable level would be 
ESOL level 3 which is the UK citizenship level with the condition being applied on 
all new applicants for licences and only applying to existing licence holders where 

Page 192



 
 

 

there was an identified need with the focus being on training and development.  
This is already in place in Leeds. 

3.5.12 Whilst all of the above actions are being actively progressed by licensing officers 
across the West Yorkshire districts they are all still subject to formal approval by 
each individual authority. 

3.6 Work with West Yorkshire Police 

3.6.1 The introduction of a Senior Analyst post within West Yorkshire Police funded by 
Taxi and Private Hire Licensing has been progressed.  The analyst will be able to 
interrogate a variety of data bases to present early intelligence to the section, the 
Police or associated agencies to reduce any safeguarding threat.  The Analyst 
capability started on 30 November 2015, located in Safer Leeds, and officers look 
forward to taking a step forward in the analytical capability working across 
Licensing and Community Safety. 

3.6.2 We have also seen a closer and improved operational working relationship with 
the Police on the streets in the night time economy and in identified risk areas.  
During the last year there has been a significantly higher commitment to a joint 
working program. 

3.7 Taxi and Private Hire Resources 

3.7.1 A review of staff skills and responsibilities and administrative issues constantly 
impacting on staff has resulted in a revised staffing structure which sees 
increased responsibilities and training for staff to enable a higher level of scrutiny 
at the point of application.  This restructure is intended to achieve greater 
resilience in the service and deliver more positive outcomes. 

3.7.2 The restructure includes additional temporary resources to implement and 
undertake the new policy of annual on-line DBS checks.  When this policy was 
first agreed by Licensing Committee on 9 December 2014 it was anticipated that it 
would take three years to complete this process for all licence holders.  Further 
temporary resource has now been recruited and officers now expect the work to 
be completed by January 2017, eleven months ahead of the original planned 
completion date.  The following table shows progress broken down by type of 
licence as at 3 December 2015.  Please note there is a degree of duplication in 
this table as some clients hold more than one type of licence: - 

Licence Type Enrolled in 
update 
service 

DBS 
application 

pending 

DBS process 
to be  

started 
Hackney Carriage Driver 105 243 639 

Private Hire Driver 638 1,169 3,186 

Contract Operator Permit 1 3 2 

Private Hire Executive Operator 3 2 7 

Escort Permit 72 20 61 

Contract Driver Permit 12 1 10 

Private Hire Executive Driver 1 0 0 

Private Hire Operator 17 27 27 

Page 193



 
 

 

Private Hire Novelty Operator 0 0 1 

Private Hire Novelty Driver 0 0 1 

Total: 849 1,492 3,934 

3.7.3 The following table shows progress by number of individual clients, which gives a 
more accurate view of overall progress as there are no duplicates1: - 

Enrolled in  
update service 

DBS application 
pending 

DBS process  
to be started 

Total number 
of clients 

799 1,394 3,779 5,972 

3.7.4 Enforcement capability has been increased with the introduction of a new rota 
which extends the number of nights worked during each week and working hours 
which now extend until 4:30am. 

3.7.5 Other key developments include: participation in the cross council safeguarding 
sub-group (CSE and licensing issues) reporting directly to the Assistant Chief 
Executive and attended by senior officers from Children’s Services, Communities 
and West Yorkshire Police;  Local Authority Designated Officer2 monitoring of 
safeguarding concern referrals investigations by Taxi and Private Hire Licensing; 
officer reports to Licensing Committee twice yearly on decisions and operational 
matters including safeguarding; annual decision making report to Corporate 
Governance and Audit Committee; cross Council safeguarding Lead Officer 
briefing and awareness events; and, LeedsWatch CCTV installed in Taxi and 
Private Hire Licensing enforcement office to more readily secure evidence of 
offending or suspicious activity by licensed or unlicensed vehicles. 

3.8 National Changes and Deregulation 

3.8.1 Despite the lobbying success in the early part of 2015 which resulted in some of 
the proposed Taxi and Private Hire reforms not being progressed, the 
Government did take forward and introduce the Deregulation Act on 30 March 
2015.  The purpose of this more general Act was to remove layers of bureaucracy 
in a number of areas and in so doing some changes were made to taxi and 
private hire licensing arrangements that provide a significant cause for concern. 
The changes specific to Taxi and Private Hire Licensing were introduced on 1 
October 2015. 

3.8.2 This new legislation allows Private Hire Operators to sub-contract a booking to an 
Operator and driver licensed in another district.  This is a significant cause for 
concern as some other authorities have less robust policies and procedures for 
taxi and private hire licensing than we do.  Indeed, it is feasible that licence 
holders who have been refused a licence in Leeds could gain a licence in another 
district and could then be sub-contracted work back in the Leeds district.  This 
change compounds the problem that already existed in Hackney Carriage Drivers 

                                            
1 It should be noted that this table shows clients rather than the number of licences issued, as one client can 
hold a number of different licences.  Only one DBS is required for all the licences an individual client holds. 
2The Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) is the person who should be notified when it has been 
alleged that a person who works with children has either: behaved in a way that has harmed a child, or may 
have harmed a child; possibly committed a criminal offence against or related to a child; or behaved towards 
a child or children in a way that indicates she or he may pose a risk of harm to children. 

Page 194



 
 

 

licensed in another district being able to work as a private hire driver in a different 
district.  Whilst officers have introduced a new Operator licensing policy in the last 
year to seek to combat this latter issue, the recent deregulation change makes it 
even more difficult to reassure the people of Leeds that taxi and private hire 
drivers have been subject to the rigorous checks we in Leeds would normally 
expect.  Neither the Local Government Association nor the Department for 
Transport have produced any advice to Local Authorities about enforcement 
issues prior to, or following, the introduction of the Deregulation Act. Officers have 
been informed that the Department for Transport does intend to issue guidance in 
due course, but they cannot say when this will be published. 

3.8.3 Considering the significance of this issue the Chair of Licensing Committee 
approved a media release on behalf of all members of that committee to highlight 
the council’s concerns about the new legislation.  A copy of this is attached at 
Appendix 2. 

3.8.4 Another national change concerns the information local Authorities have been 
supplied with regarding convictions information and other appropriate disclosure 
related to criminal activity.  This information is provided at the point of application 
for a personal licence through the DBS disclosure as well as during the lifetime of 
a licence by virtue of the ‘Common Law Disclosure Scheme’ previously known as 
the ‘Notifiable Occupations Scheme.’  These disclosure arrangements relate to 
professions or occupations which carry special trust or responsibility, in which the 
public interest in the disclosure of conviction and other information by the police 
generally outweighs the normal duty of confidentiality owed to the individual. 

3.8.5 The previous guidance was revised in 2006 and was part of the government’s 
response to the recommendations of the Bichard Inquiry into the circumstances 
surrounding the conviction of Ian Huntley for the Soham murders in late 2003.  
The code, along with relevant revised guidance published in 2006, was designed 
to provide a common national framework for the management of police 
information, highlighting the importance of common standards in high risk areas of 
activity.  Relevant information was disclosed to this Authority under the Notifiable 
Occupations Scheme on the initiative of the West Yorkshire Police or following 
formal requests from licensing officers.  There was significant beneficial 
information supplied to enable the Council to carry out its statutory responsibility 
on the ‘fit and proper’ person test.   

3.8.6 The Notifiable Occupations Scheme has now been replaced by the ‘Common Law 
Police Disclosure’ (CLPD) guidance.  The policy says that where there is a public 
protection risk, the police will pass information to the employer or regulatory body 
to allow them to act swiftly to put in measures to mitigate any danger.  The 
scheme focuses on providing timely and relevant information which might indicate 
a public protection risk.  Information is passed on at charge or arrest.  The new 
scheme is intended to provide robust safeguarding arrangements while ensuring 
only relevant information is passed on to employers.  The scheme aims to strike 
the right balance between the interests of the individual and the importance of 
public protection. 

3.8.7 Unfortunately whilst we continue to receive notifications from the police, we do not 
receive as many since the Notifiable Occupations Scheme ceased.  Officers have 

Page 195



 
 

 

seen a decrease in access to what the Council would consider to be relevant 
information in performing its public safety decision making functions and there are 
concerns that the proportionality test applied to the compatibility with Article 8 of 
the Human Rights Act 1998, which requires that personal information should only 
be shared with employers and professional bodies where it is necessary and 
proportionate to a legitimate aim, such as the prevention and detection of crime, is 
being disproportionately applied.   This is a national policy which the West 
Yorkshire Police have to follow and not a case of them acting in isolation.  We are 
nevertheless working closely with West Yorkshire Police colleagues to satisfy 
ourselves that the new system is working as intended and any risks are 
appropriately mitigated. 

3.9 Policy change proposals – ‘fit and proper’ person assessment 

3.9.1 Members are aware that the majority of licensed drivers are from ethnic minority 
groups entering the country from India, Pakistan, Afghanistan, Africa the ‘middle 
east’ and from EU member states.   

3.9.2 The UK DBS process is a credible means of checking on a long-term UK 
resident’s criminal activity, whether convicted or otherwise.  One difficulty arises 
where a person has not been resident in the UK for a period of time which would 
not allow a proportionate assessment to be made of their character based on DBS 
disclosure alone. 

3.9.3 Dealing with EU Member state applicants first, there is a conflict in the standards 
of recording, retaining and disclosure of information regarding criminal activity 
across EU member states and a further problem of accessing that information for 
licensing purposes.  The primary route for obtaining information from EU Member 
states is in relation to criminal proceedings.  Licensing or employment checks are 
not as easily obtainable by local Authorities and may not be approved for release.   

3.9.4 Licensing Authorities across the country currently may have had to satisfy 
themselves with ‘certificates of good character’.  These documents take a variety 
of forms but, generally, they are not able to be verified by licensing staff.  The 
integrity of the document itself, or the relevance of a genuine document, may 
undermine the principles of a safe licensing regime.  What an individual country 
might regard as ‘recordable’ or are willing disclose can be entirely different to the 
UK DBS. 

3.9.5 The issue of ‘certificates of good character’ from outside of the EU is even more of 
an issue and concern for the Authority.  Applicants produce documentation which 
is not auditable.  If the documentation has been obtained through a Consul or 
Embassy the question still has to be asked of “what value is it” if the host country 
does not properly recognise, record or properly investigate certain types of crime. 

3.9.6 Concerns about the distinct lack of robustness in this arena by some none EU 
countries is considered to be of significant importance that further robust checking 
measures are in place for none EU applicants. 

Page 196



 
 

 

3.9.7 Legal advice has been taken from Counsel on the sensitivities and legalities 
around these issues with emphasis being placed on the primary purpose of the 
legislation which is public safety and not the opportunity for employment.   

3.9.8 Officers feel it is essential that more integrity is built around this assessment 
process and would seek to require none UK applicants to obtain full criminal 
disclosure from their country of birth, other countries they have resided in and any 
other auditable supporting information as required by the Authority to determine 
the ‘fit and proper’ test more appropriately. 

3.9.9 The areas of concern associated with applications are set out in the policy 
proposal document at Appendix 3. 

3.9.10 Proposals to adopt this new policy have been subject to consultation with the 
trade and were considered by Members of Licensing Committee on 17 November 
2015.  Members of Licensing Committee endorsed the new policy and are now 
recommending it for approval by Executive Board.   

3.9.11 Since that Licensing Committee meeting there has been a subsequent change to 
the wording of the proposed policy to ensure it is fully inclusive of people who 
have leave to remain in the UK or right to enter, to ensure all people who can 
apply for a taxi or private hire licence are covered.  This change was agreed by 
the Chair of the Licensing Committee and is presented to Executive Board for 
consideration and approval as part of this report. 

4 Corporate Considerations 

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 All existing policies have been subject to consultation with feedback being 
considered by the Licensing Committee prior to final decisions or 
recommendations to the Executive.  Members of the Children’s Services and 
Adults Social Care Scrutiny Boards considered a draft of this report and their 
conclusions are attached at appendix 4.  This report has also been shared with 
Licensing Committee who are fully supportive of the actions being taken. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration 

4.2.1 Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening Assessments are carried 
out on all policies agreed at Licensing Committee.   

4.2.2 The screening assessment for the “fit and proper” person character assessment 
policy is attached at Appendix 5.  The assessment indicates that there are no 
further issues to be considered at this time. 

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan 

4.3.1  Taxi and Private Hire Licensing policies contribute to Leeds’ ambition to be the 
best city. Taxi and Private Hire Licensing policies contribute to a number of 
specific priorities including reducing crime levels and the impact of crime across 
Leeds; effectively tackling and reducing anti-social behaviour in communities; and 
safeguarding children and vulnerable adults: 

Page 197



 
 

 

4.4 Resources and value for money  

4.4.1 The taxi and private hire service is a ring fenced account with all licence income 
being expended on the service.  Whilst this work is incurring additional 
expenditure it is funded from the carried forward surplus within the service and 
therefore there is no additional cost to the council. 

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 The Licensing Committee Report of 17 November 2015 inform the Executive that 
the advice from Counsel about the proposed new policy (appendix 3) can be 
summarised in the words of Counsel as follows: - 

“The net effect (of the above) is that the policy is, in my view, lawful in terms 
of what is required of applicants, and how that is communicated to them.  It is 
clear and unambiguous.”   

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 The very nature of the function of taxi and private hire licensing will likely mean 
that any safeguarding risk will remain in the medium to high category despite all of 
the control measures the Council has put into place.  Much of the risk is 
influenced by statutory and regulatory controls and recent changes with the 
introduction of the Deregulation Act on the 1 October 2015 will see risk increase. 

4.6.2 The three strongest control measures in place are the ‘fit and proper’ assessment 
conducted at the point of application (which includes the proposed policy change 
recommendation in this report), the Common Law Police Disclosure scheme and 
the annual on-line DBS checking facility.  However, the latter two controls are very 
much dependent upon the release of relevant information by the Police.   

4.6.3 The replacement of the Notifiable Occupation Scheme by the Common Law 
Police Disclosure has seen a noticeable decline in the number of disclosures 
received from the police.  This reduced disclosure potentially increases the risk 
posed to the travelling public and also affects the level of information disclosed by 
the police as part of the DBS process.  This is a potential weakness in the current 
system and officers will continue to work with West Yorkshire Police colleagues to 
satisfy ourselves that the new system is working as intended and any risks are 
appropriately mitigated. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 Whilst much positive work has been carried out the momentum has to be 
maintained and enforcement challenges met.  The Deregulation Act draws into 
focus the very real necessity for all Authorities to have sufficient resources, skills 
and focus on the importance of safeguarding within the licensing environment.  
There is a good deal of compliance within the Leeds licensing trade which can be 
undermined by the effects of the Deregulation Act and associated ‘out of town’ 
licensing issues. 

Page 198



 
 

 

6 Recommendations 

6.1 Executive Board are asked to: - 

 Note and endorse the direction officers and Members of Licensing 
Committee are taking regarding improvements for safeguarding in Taxi and 
Private Hire Licensing; and 

 Approve the new ‘fit and proper’ person character assessment policy as 
recommended to Members of Executive Board by Licensing Committee and 
as outlined in appendix 3.  This will be implemented immediately on approval 
by the Section Head of Taxi and Private Hire Licensing. 

Background documents3  

All relevant background documents have already been published 

                                            
3 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 199



 
 

 

Appendix 1 
 
 

 
 

Page 200



 
 

 

Appendix 2 

News Release 
25 September 2015 

Committee warns new private hire rules could pose safety risk to 

passengers 

The committee responsible for taxi and private hire licensing in Leeds has raised serious 

concerns for public safety when new national rules come into force next month.  

 

Leeds City Council’s licensing committee met earlier this month to discuss how Leeds will 

try to mitigate potential safety risks when new government legislation is introduced on 1 

October which will further de-regulate the taxi and private hire industry.  

 

These deregulation changes will allow private hire operators to sub-contract bookings to 

other operators anywhere in the country.  This could mean customers making a booking 

with their favourite operator in Leeds only to receive a vehicle from another operator, 

licensed by a different council with possibly less rigorous licensing arrangements than we 

have in place in Leeds or West Yorkshire. The licensing committee is especially concerned 

about this because it could lead to numerous private hire vehicles from other authorities 

working in Leeds, with very different markings on them which may cause confusion and 

could allow unlicensed drivers or other drivers to illegally ply for hire.  This creates a big 

safety risk for the travelling public.   

 

Compounding the issue is the fact that council enforcement officers, who carry out 

roadside spot checks, don't have the powers to inspect vehicles which are licensed by 

other councils. The Deregulation Act will allow private hire vehicles to work across England 

and Wales - leaving local enforcement officers powerless to inspect vehicles licensed from 

other districts.  

 

Councillor Mary Harland, chair of the licensing committee, said:  

“In Leeds we take the safety of our residents and visitors very seriously and we are 

very concerned about the implications of the new Act, and the risk it poses to the 

Page 201



 
 

 

travelling public. Here in Leeds we have worked hard to establish a strong licensing 

policy which includes rigorous checks on new drivers and high standards for vehicle 

safety and customer service.  Our drivers must take part in training in safeguarding, 

English Comprehension, customer care and private hire law, whereas standards 

expected in other areas of the country may not meet our own.  

 

“This new Act will make spotting unlicensed drivers, or drivers illegally plying for 

hire, much more difficult amongst the subcontracted out of town vehicles – which 

our enforcement officers will have no powers to stop and inspect.” 

 

In order to try to mitigate the impact of the new Act, Leeds is working with other authorities 

in West Yorkshire to try and establish some common licensing standards and enforcement 

compatibility across the West Yorkshire area. Some of the key issues being considered 

include: - 

 To co-ordinate a scheme of shared delegated powers across all West Yorkshire 

authorities to enable Licensing and Enforcement Officers to carry out inspections 

and suspension powers on vehicles licensed by any West Yorkshire authority; 

 Safeguarding including training on Child Sexual Exploitation and human trafficking; 

 Establishing improved common minimum standards in the driver application 

process; 

 Establishing common minimum English comprehension standards for new 

applicants; 

 Adopting a standard convictions policy and convictions criteria; 

 Adopting a common standard for Private Hire Operator conditions; and 

 To ensure all West Yorkshire licensed vehicles have a similar recognisable door 

livery. 

 

ENDS 

For media enquiries, please contact:  
Emma Whittell, Leeds City Council press office, on (0113) 2474713  

Email: emma.whittell@leeds.gov.uk 

Page 202



Appendix 3 

 

Policy Proposals 

‘Fit and Proper’ Person Assessment for UK citizens,                                
UK citizens with limited residency, Non UK – EU citizens,                    

Non EU citizens, asylum seekers/refugees. 
 

Background to policy proposals 

The role of taxi or Private Hire driver has been identified nationally as one which can 
present significant safeguarding threats if strong assessment measures are not in place at 
the point of a licensing application. The ‘fit and proper’ person test is particularly relevant in 
respect of the increased necessity to be mindful of inappropriate persons applying for 
licences who may misuse their position of trust and present a potential safeguarding 
threat. 

The necessity is to increase the measures within Taxi & Private Hire Licensing decision 
making processes to ensure an applicant is a ‘fit and proper’ person.  In doing so, policy 
has to be proportionate in balancing the statutory requirement of the relevant act and 
Human Rights legislation. 

The relevant part of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, is:- 

Section 51 

“a district Council shall not grant a licence 

(a) unless they are satisfied that the applicant is a fit and proper person to hold a 
driver’s licence; or 

(b) to any person who has not for at least 12 months been authorised to drive a motor 
car, or is not at the date of the application for a driver’ licence so authorised” 

The Council receives applications for Private Hire driver and Hackney Carriage driver 
licences from a range of nationalities.  Applications from long standing UK nationals 
prevent no significant difficulties in determining the ‘fit and proper’ person assessment in 
respect of convictions, cautions or other relevant background information supplied at the 
discretion of the Police.  A lifelong UK citizen will have a discernible DBS history unless 
they have lived outside of the country.   

When a person has only recently been granted leave to remain in the UK or leave to enter, 
obtaining the same sort of credible information can be difficult and even more difficult to 
verify, especially when it originates from a non- EU country.   

Supporting references are generally vague with none or little meaningful information 
relevant to the responsibilities of the role applied for.  It is often the case that the authors of 
such references have a personal, community or business interest in supplying a 
favourable reference  

Page 203



Appendix 3 

 

A non UK but EU citizen may have some criminal records history in their own EU country 
but there are significant differences between EU member states where, on the one hand, 
Romania has a very rudimentary system and on the other hand established EU member 
states may have an equivalent of the Disclosure and Barring Service but operate it in a 
different way.  Other states may have a different form of the Rehabilitation of Offenders 
Act, which may discount convictions relevant to the role of taxi driver at a much earlier 
stage.   

Sentencing policy in other countries may be somewhat different and may cause some 
conflict with the Council’s convictions criteria policy which sets assessments by the 
seriousness of offence.  Finally, in the UK Chief Constables can disclose to Licensing 
Authorities information they think relevant to the role being applied for.  For example: 

 “1 -  Mr A has been arrested twice whilst in a vehicle that was being used in the trafficking 
of drugs.  

2 -    Mr B was found to have formed a relationship with a teenage boy and girl and taken 
them back to a bedsit flat rented by a group of Private Hire drivers where they 
claimed they were indecently assaulted when they slept.  No court proceedings were 
taken by the Police in respect of these matters.” 

The Council can and does consider such ‘other relevant information’ and would question 
the applicant about it and also seek further information from the Police.  The Council is 
able to do this because the processes in which such applications are determined are a civil 
process and decisions are based on the balance of probabilities.  This enables local 
Authorities to have a much tighter net to safeguard the public.  The majority of such 
information may not be disclosed by non UK authorities because it is not registered as a 
conviction.  This places the Council at risk in conducting assessments on non UK 
applicants. 

Officers feel that a five year UK DBS history is a good milestone but understand that it may 
not be achievable by all applicants and there is a concern that a blanket policy stipulating 
such a requirement may be deemed discriminatory and open to challenge. 

Even with a ‘five year’ history there may still be the need to obtain a longer span of an 
individual’s history to conduct an appropriate assessment.   

The difficulties for some non EU citizens are magnified with those applicants from 
Afghanistan, Iraq and Iran, for example, where a criminal record database is not held.  The 
position is very similar for many African countries.  

In countries where there is no central data base of criminal convictions information may be 
sought from the local police station. Such documents usually appear under the heading of 
‘police clearance certificate’ or ‘character certificate’ or similar titles. 

Some of the potential solutions to obtaining character information can leave decision 
makers exposed when reliant on the integrity of the source of the documentation; not 

Page 204



Appendix 3 

 

being able to validate or interrogate that information or trying to prove the authenticity of 
the document.   

There is even greater difficulty in the case of asylum seekers or refugees who have been 
granted leave to remain in the UK or leave to enter, who would fear reprisals against their 
family remaining in that country.  A feature amongst some asylum seekers is that they 
destroy all their identity documents so they cannot be returned to a particular country.  It is 
issues around such circumstances where it is almost impenetrable for a Local Authority to 
obtain any background information. 

All of these issues exist across West Yorkshire. 

 

Policy proposals 

It is felt that the statutory test to demonstrate somebody is a ‘fit and proper’ person should 
be the determining factor and the responsibility for that rests with the applicant. 

In setting a standard the following are put forward as standard requirements at the point of 
application. 

 Lifetime UK citizens   

UK enhanced DBS check with additional information as required at the discretion of 
the Council. 

UK citizens born outside of UK  

 UK enhanced DBS check  
 Additional information as required at the discretion of the Council.  This may 

vary depending on the length of time the applicant has been resident in the 
UK. 

 Non UK Disclosure must be in English and interpreted by someone on Her 
Majesty’s Courts Interpretation Services list. 

 The Council reserves the right to require a statutory declaration from a UK 
solicitor in a format prescribed by the Council.  

 Applicants have to conduct such transactions through the relevant national 
embassy or in accordance with UK DBS guidance. 

Question:- “I am a UK national who was not born in the UK. My prospective licensing authority in 
the UK is asking for a criminal record check for my time spent abroad for public safety and 
safeguarding purposes. Who should I contact?” 

Details of how to obtain such a check from the relevant authorities abroad are 
available online at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-
overseas-applicants 

Page 205



Appendix 3 

 

 Question:- “I am a UK national who needs to get a police certificate for my prospective licensing 
authority for public safety and safeguarding purposes? Who should I contact?” 

The ACRO Criminal Records Office (ACRO) issues Police Certificates to people 
who want to emigrate or have been required to produce a Police Certificate 
(sometimes known as a “Certificate of Good Conduct”) by an Embassy, High 
Commission or Consulate. The certificate details whether or not the applicant has 
a criminal record in the United Kingdom.  

 Call: 0845 60 13 999 (International Callers: 0044 1962 871 111)  

 Email: customer.services@acro.pnn.police.uk .  

 Further details can be found at http://www.acro.police.uk/police_certificates.aspx  

Non UK – EU residents  

 UK enhanced DBS check 
 DBS certificate from home country with all information submitted via the 

licensing office to enable checking of all identity information (this corresponds 
with the UK DBS procedure). 

 2 character references from a UK resident of a professional background who 
has known the applicant for more than 2 years. 

 Non UK Disclosure must be in English and interpreted by someone on Her 
Majesty’s Courts Interpretation Services list. 

 The Council reserves the right to require a statutory declaration from a UK 
solicitor in a format prescribed by the Council.  

 Applicants have to conduct such transactions through the relevant national 
embassy or in accordance with UK DBS guidance. 

Question:- “I am a foreign national / UK national who has spent time abroad. My prospective 
employer in the UK is asking for a criminal record check for my time spent abroad. Who should I 
contact?” 

Details of how to obtain such a check from the relevant authorities abroad are 
available online at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-
overseas-applicants 

Non UK – EU applicants living in multiple countries 

 In addition to the above requirements the Council may require non UK DBS 
disclosure from any country they have lived in for 3 months or more.   

Question: “I am a foreign national / UK national who has spent time abroad. My prospective 
employer in the UK is asking for a criminal record check for my time spent abroad. Who should I 
contact?” 

Page 206



Appendix 3 

 

Details of how to obtain such a check from the relevant authorities abroad are 
available online at: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-
applicants 

Non EU Countries 

Question: “I cannot obtain a criminal record certificate from the relevant country. What happens 

now?” 

It is not always possible to obtain a criminal records certificate from countries that 
do not have functioning criminal record regimes or refuse to provide these to 
anyone other than their own citizens. In the absence of available checks, we would 
expect applicants to obtain as much information as possible in the form of 
references or other evidence before deciding whether or not to grant a licence.  The 
Council has strong responsibilities for safeguarding and protecting children from 
Child Sexual Exploitation and will make its final decision in balancing the statutory 
‘fit and proper’ person assessment and the information available to them about the 
applicant and how that information can be validated. 

‘Police character certificates’ or equivalent should be obtained via the Embassy of a 
country they have lived in for a period longer than 3 months, or as described in the 
earlier process under the heading “UK citizens born outside of UK”.   

Similarly, all of the information provided to the Embassy would need to be submitted 
via the Taxi & Private Hire Licensing Office in the format prescribed by the relevant 
Embassy or agency working on behalf of the Embassy.   

Statutory Declarations 

The purpose of requiring a statutory declaration is to enable the Council to 
demonstrate that it has taken significant steps to ensure as far as is practicable the 
credibility of information supplied to it within a legal process, it should also 
demonstrate to the applicant this significant seriousness of not telling the truth or 
providing misleading information during an application process to obtain a licence 
from the Council. 

 Where the Council requires a statutory declaration it must be obtained from a 
practising UK solicitor at the cost of the applicant and in a format prescribed by the 
Council.   

References 

The Council may also require references from the applicant in support of any part of 
the application process.  It is important that the references are honest accounts and 
a professional assessment of the applicant in the context of the role they are 
applying for.  The author of the reference must understand the concerns of the 

Page 207



Appendix 3 

 

Council in respect of public safety, safeguarding and the prevention of Child Sexual 
Exploitation. 

The reference must demonstrate that the author has full knowledge of the 
applicant’s background and criminal history (if applicable) so they can consider their 
own position prior to supplying a professional reference.  References which are 
vague, non-specific to the context of the role, supplied by relatives or someone who 
cannot demonstrate detailed examples of the applicant’s character will not be 
considered.  The author must have known the applicant for a minimum of 2 years. 

Leeds City Council has a policy which does not favour references being supplied by 
Councillors, Members of Parliament or Officers of the Council. 

 Fees and costs incurred 

Any fees would be payable by the applicant in addition to the standard application 
fees set by the Council.   

Timescales  

All references, statutory declarations or convictions history in any format supplied to 
the Council must be less than 3 months old from the date supplied by the disclosing 
authority. 

Other points of guidance 

ACRO Criminal Records Office:  

http://www.acro.police.uk/home.aspx  

 
AccessNI:  

http://www.nidirect.gov.uk/index/information-and-services/employment/employment-
terms-and-conditions/starting-a-new-job/accessni-criminal-record-checks.htm 

Disclosure Scotland:  

https://www.disclosurescotland.co.uk/  

 

Making a Subject Access Request  

https://www.gov.uk/copy-of-police-records  

 
Subject Access Requests (Metropolitan Police area):  

http://content.met.police.uk/Article/Making-a-subject-access-
request/1400005855548/1400005855548  

 

Page 208



Appendix 3 

 

Disclosure & Barring Service:  

https://www.gov.uk/disclosure-barring-service-check 

  
How to Obtain Criminal Records Checks for Overseas Applicants  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/criminal-records-checks-for-overseas-
applicants  

 
Department for Education (DfE):  

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/4186
86/Keeping_children_safe_in_education.pdf 

 

Page 209



Appendix 4 

 

Scrutiny Board Considerations 

In summary the joint scrutiny working group consisting of members of both the Children’s 
Services and Adult Social Care scrutiny boards concluded the following: 

1) The need to implement robust safeguarding and protections policies across the region is 
essential. The working group was advised that both the Children’s and Adults safeguarding 
boards are operating on a West Yorkshire basis. The working group recommends that the 
support of the Regional Safeguarding Boards be obtained to influence change across the 
region and that this option to drive change be reflected in the Executive Board report.  

Action required: That the LCSB and LASB recognise the concerns and views of the 
Scrutiny Working Group and report back with developments to the Cross-Council 
Safeguarding Group. 

2) The working group were advised that a review of the current arrangements in Leeds had 
been undertaken to ensure that controls regarding safeguarding were robust under the 
scrutiny of the Executive Board, the Licensing Committee and the Cross Council 
Safeguarding Board. It is recommended that the Executive Board report provides a clear 
focus on risk (current or identified during this review) and the steps that are to be or were 
taken to minimise risk appropriately and safely. This should provide examples if possible 
and a summary of the action taken protect and safeguard.   

Action required: That Executive Board endorse and note the direction of the Licensing 
Committee and Officers are taking regarding improvements for safeguarding in Taxi and 
Private Hire Licensing. 

3) With regard to paragraph 3.1 draft Executive Board report, this should reference the risks 
associated with decision making models (with reference to the Jay Report) and identify if 
existing procedures minimise risk in policy, decision making and implementation.  

Action required: Note the observation and the current policy and decision making model 

4) Safeguarding training is required for members and it was suggested that reference is made 
to the updating, training and upskilling of licensing staff.  

Action required: Note the observation and the arrangement already in hand. 

5) The working group support ongoing communication work by signage in cabs to advise 
people what to do if they have concerns or feel they are at risk. 

Action required: That Officers consider the issue and report to Licensing Committee. 

6) It was felt that the report lacked focus on the transportation of vulnerable adults to the 
extent it did on children and it was suggested that Adults Safeguarding Board be added to 
the posters.   

Action required: That LSCB and LSAB consider the concerns and views of the Scrutiny 
Working Group and report back with developments within an agreed timescale to the 
Cross-Council Safeguarding Group

Page 210



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

25

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Citizens and 
Communities 

Service area: Elections, Licensing and 
Registration 
 

Lead person: 
Kate Coldwell 
 

Contact number: 
3781563 

 

1. Title:  Fit and Proper Person Assessment 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
In England (outside London), Hackney carriage and private hire licences are issued by local Councils 
who have a statutory responsibility to make sure drivers are a ‘fit and proper’ person to drive a 
Hackney carriage (taxis) and private hire vehicle (hired through a local operator) being used for hire or 
reward.    
 
The Council has an existing policy dealing with various aspects of the ‘fit and proper’ issues however 
the existing control measures have been in place for a considerable period of time and the 
opportunities for people to move easily across national or international borders to gain employment 
have increased significantly.   
 
There is a need to ensure that applicants to the licensed trade are adequately assessed to minimise 
the potential risk to children, vulnerable adults, women and passengers generally.    
 
The Council must consider the safeguarding, and general public safety, statutory responsibility 
attached to the grant of a personal licence in the context of more open EU borders and reduced 
employment constraints on EU and foreign nationals from outside of the EU.    

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

√   

Appendix 5

Page 211



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

26

 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

√ 
 

 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

√ 
 

 

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 √ 
 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 √ 
 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

√ 
 

 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 212



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

27

 
 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 

It is the Taxi and Private Hire Section’s job to make sure the taxi and private hire trade in Leeds is operated 
in a professional manner and that the correct standards of public safety are met by drivers, proprietors and 
Operators and all vehicles are safe and meet a reasonable standard of comfort.  We are committed to 
providing a quality transport service within the taxi and private hire trade and our overriding principle is the 
safety of the travelling public.  The Council is alert to public expectations of passenger care and comfort.  

In addition, Leeds City Council has both a moral and legal obligation to ensure the duty of care for both 
children and vulnerable adults across all of its services.  This cannot be achieved by any single service or 
agency; safeguarding is ultimately the responsibility of everyone and depends on the everyday vigilance of 
those who play a part in the lives of children or vulnerable adults.   Potential access to the vulnerable can 
be gained as a licence holder through the Council’s transport contracts. 

The responsibility of a local authority to exercise good practice in assessing ‘fit and proper’ has gained 
momentum and focus in light of the letter to local authorities from the Rt Hon Eric Pickles MP, Secretary of 
State, Department for Communities and Local Government dated 24 September 2014.  A similar emphasis 
was adopted in a letter from the Minister of State, Baroness Kramer, Department for Transport dated 18 
November 2014.   
  
Nationally there have been examples of EU citizens going under the radar in respect of their previous 
criminal history.  That could pose a significant risk if a personal licence was granted to such a person.  

The majority of licensed drivers are from ethnic minority groups entering the country from India, Pakistan, 
Afghanistan, Africa the ‘middle east’ and from EU member states.   

The UK DBS process is a credible means of checking on a long term UK resident’s criminal activity, 
whether convicted or otherwise.  One difficulty arises where a person has not been resident in the UK for a 
period of time which would not allow a proportionate assessment to be made of their character based on 
DBS disclosure alone. 

Across EU Member states, there is a conflict in the standards of recording, retaining and disclosure of 
information regarding criminal activity across EU member states and a further problem of accessing that 
information for licensing purposes.  The primary route for obtaining information from EU Member states is 
in relation to criminal proceedings.  Licensing or employment checks are not as easily obtainable by local 
Authorities and may not be approved for release.   

Licensing Authorities across the country currently may have had to satisfy themselves with ‘certificates of 
good character’.  These documents take a variety of forms but, generally, they are not able to be verified by 
licensing staff.  The integrity of the document itself, or the relevance of a genuine document, may 
undermine the principles of a safe licensing regime.  What an individual country might regard as 
‘recordable’ or are willing to disclose can be entirely different to the UK DBS. 

These variations also cause concern in respect of non-EU countries; applicants produce documentation 
which is not auditable.  If the documentation has been obtained through a Consul or Embassy the question 
still has to be asked of “what value is it” if the host country does not properly recognise, record or properly 

Page 213



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

28

investigate certain types of crime. 

Concerns about the distinct lack of robustness in this arena by some none EU countries is considered to be 
of significant importance that further robust checking measures are in place for none EU applicants. 

Legal advice has been taken from Counsel on the sensitivities and legalities around these issues with 
emphasis being placed on the primary purpose of the legislation which is public safety and not the 
opportunity for employment.   

Officers feel it is essential that more integrity is built around this assessment process and would seek to 
require none UK applicants to obtain full criminal disclosure from their country of birth, other countries they 
have resided in and any other auditable supporting information as required by the Authority to determine 
the ‘fit and proper’ test more appropriately. 

Counsel opinion states; “It is abundantly clear that Leeds City Council has taken great time to understand 
the plight of certain potential applicants and I make specific reference to the paragraph which refers to 
asylum seekers or refugees who have been granted British citizenship. The policy reflects a regulating 
authority which understands that not all applicants can be treated the same. 

“In my view, the policy is drafted in such a way that achieves the following: 

i. It is sufficiently clear so that prospective applicants understand what is required of them and why 

ii. Taking this further, there is nothing ambiguous about what is included within the draft 

iii. All potential applicants, regardless of their background can achieve a licence to drive a taxi within 
Leeds (in other words it does not exclude based on nationality and cannot therefore be 
discriminatory) 

iv. The policy is necessarily tight, for it requires applicants to provide a lot of information (but this is 
reasonable in light of the job they would be performing and the importance of safeguarding overall) 

v. It distinguishes properly between different applicants and tells them why it does so. 

Consultation 

The policy proposals were shared with the current licensed trade and the general public via Talking Point, 
Leeds City Council’s consultation tool.  A full six week public consultation period was held 18th September – 
30th October.  The results of which will be considered and used to inform the overall policy and practice 
presented to Elected Members to consider. 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 

The safe licensing and monitoring of licence holders is a statutory responsibility for the Council and 
contributes significantly to the safety of the travelling public and it is recognised that those who are licensed 
by the Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Section are the biggest providers of transport in the evening and 
night time economy.   

Applications from long standing UK nationals prevent no significant difficulties in determining the ‘fit and 
proper’ person assessment in respect of convictions, cautions or other relevant background information 
supplied at the discretion of the Police.  A lifelong UK citizen will have a discernible DBS history unless 
they have lived outside of the country.   

Page 214



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

29

When a person has only recently been granted UK citizenship obtaining the same sort of credible 
information can be difficult and even more difficult to verify, especially when it originates from a non- EU 
country.   

Supporting references are generally vague with none or little meaningful information relevant to the 
responsibilities of the role applied for.  It is often the case that the authors of such references have a 
personal, community or business interest in supplying a favourable reference.  

Sentencing policy in other countries may be somewhat different and may cause some conflict with the 
Council’s convictions criteria policy which sets assessments by the seriousness of offence.  Finally, in the 
UK Chief Constables can disclose to Licensing Authorities information they think relevant to the role being 
applied for. 

The Council can and does consider such ‘other relevant information’ and would question the applicant 
about it and also seek further information from the Police.  The Council is able to do this because the 
processes in which such applications are determined are a civil process and decisions are based on the 
balance of probabilities.  This enables local Authorities to have a much tighter net to safeguard the public.  
The majority of such information may not be disclosed by non UK authorities because it is not registered as 
a conviction.  This places the Council at risk in conducting assessments on non UK applicants. 

Officers feel that a five year UK DBS history is a good milestone but understand that it may not be 
achievable by all applicants and there is a concern that a blanket policy stipulating such a requirement may 
be deemed discriminatory and open to challenge. 

Even with a ‘five year’ history there may still be the need to obtain a longer span of an individual’s history to 
conduct an appropriate assessment.   

It is felt that the statutory test to demonstrate somebody is a ‘fit and proper’ person should be the 
determining factor and the responsibility for that rests with the applicant. 

A final recommendation will be made in due course.   
 
Advice from Counsel has been sought on a number of areas.  Other areas of advice will continue to be 
evaluated in the context of developing policy.  
 
The impetus for enhancing the application process in respect of safeguarding issues is clear and significant 
from Central Government.  However the measures identified to enhance the decision making process have 
to be proportionate and non-discriminatory.   
 
The Council informs of changes to policy by publicising them in a variety of ways e.g. via trade forums, 
email, quarterly newsletter, information screens in Reception.  It is the responsibility of the licence holder to 
be familiar with those changes and seek appropriate advice and guidance if in doubt.  
 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
Ensure that we take legal advice as applicable prior to making any change proposals regarding our 
policies.  
 
Ensure that we continue to consult fully regarding any proposed changes to our policies. 
 
Ensure any changes to our policies are communicated widely and appropriately. 
 
Ensure that our publications continue to be written in plain English and that support is offered via Officers 
to explain our policies.  

Page 215



 

EDCI Screening  Template updated January 2014 
   
   

30

 
Continue to enforce our policies to ensure that the correct standards of safety and comfort are satisfied by 
licence holders.  
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Des Broster 
 

Section Head ……. 

Date screening completed 28.09.2015 
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent: 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 

 

Page 216



Report of the Deputy Chief Executive and Assistant Chief Executive Citizens and 
Communities

Report to the Executive Board

Date: 16th December 2015

Subject: Emerging 2016/17 Best Council Plan priorities, tackling poverty and deprivation

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes x  No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

x  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In? x  Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes x  No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues
At its September 2015 meeting, Executive Board agreed a renewed ‘Best City’ ambition aimed at 
tackling inequalities: for Leeds to have a Strong Economy and to be a Compassionate City, with 
the council contributing to this by being a more Efficient & Enterprising organisation.  This 
ambition underpins the medium-term financial strategy approved by the Board in October, and is 
informing the development of the council’s 2016/17 Best Council Plan and supporting budget 
(please refer to the Initial Budget Proposals on today’s agenda). 

To provide important context for those discussions, this paper presents the latest analysis on 
poverty and deprivation at both national and local levels.  The findings confirm the need to 
concentrate and integrate efforts to tackle inequalities that exist across the city.   Building on work 
already underway, the council’s approach to responding to these challenges – what we will do and 
how this will be resourced – will be set out in the draft 2016/17 Best Council Plan and 
accompanying final budget proposals and presented to the Board and Full Council in February.  
The emerging 2016/17 Best Council Plan priorities are included here for Executive Board’s early 
consideration, prior to Scrutiny helping to shape these.

Recommendations
1. Executive Board is requested to consider the emerging 2016/17 Best Council Plan priorities 

alongside the Initial Budget Proposals on today’s agenda and for them to be submitted to 
Scrutiny.   The annual budget proposals form part of the medium-financial strategy, the 
financial expression of the council’s Best City / Best Council ambition, policies and priorities.

2. Executive Board is also requested to note and consider the latest analysis on poverty and 
deprivation and approve further work to develop a more targeted geographic approach to 
tackling inequalities.  This will include engagement with the Community Committees to help 
inform this approach and the decisions they make about services and priorities for their local 
areas.

Report authors: Coral Main & Simon Foy
Tel:  51572 / 07891 271 801

Page 217

Agenda Item 14



1 Purpose of this report
1.1 The report presents the emerging 2016/17 Best Council Plan priorities for the 

Board’s early consideration that will provide the framework for the council’s 
approach to responding to these inequality challenges.  The priorities are thematic 
rather than spatial in nature; therefore it is important also to consider the social 
and economic challenges facing communities across the city when reviewing 
interventions and allocating resources.  These emerging priorities should be 
reviewed alongside the Initial Budget Proposals on today’s agenda.  

1.2 Importantly, this report also presents a summary of the latest analysis on poverty 
and deprivation to inform the priorities, together with an outline of key initiatives 
aimed at tackling economic disadvantage.  The findings confirm the need for more 
concentrated and integrated efforts to tackle the range of inequalities that exist 
across the city.

2 Background information
2.1 From both a city and council perspective, there have been many successes 

against the dual themes of a ‘Strong economy’ and ‘Compassionate city’, as 
described in September’s ‘Best Council Plan - Strong Economy and 
Compassionate City’ report to the Executive Board.  However, a range of 
inequalities persist across Leeds, including health, educational attainment and 
housing, highlighted by this year’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA1) 
work.  The council is working closely with a range of partners to address these 
challenges and in June this year the Executive Board received a ‘Supporting 
communities and tackling poverty’ report on progress made to date and the 
further actions to be taken under the ‘Citizens@Leeds’ banner.  

2.2 Economic growth plays a key role in tackling poverty and inequality and in 
September the Board approved a renewed ambition for Leeds that brings these 
themes together: to be the ‘best city in the UK’, as set out in the ‘Vision for Leeds 
2011-30’, Leeds aspires to be a compassionate, caring city that helps all its 
residents realise their potential to contribute to and benefit from economic 
success, thereby tackling poverty and reducing the inequalities.  The renewed 
ambition set the context for the medium-term financial strategy approved by the 
Board in October. 

2.3 Also at its October meeting, the Board considered a ‘Strong economy, 
Compassionate city’ report, brought in response to the White Paper motion 
passed at July’s Council on sharing economic success in the city.  The paper 
detailed some of the key themes and practical steps the council and its partners 
can take to support growth and tackle poverty.  The paper highlighted the 
continued strength of the city’s economy – specifically how Leeds is well-
established as the primary driver of growth and job creation in the wider region – 
whilst identifying the need to create routes to more and better jobs for those at 
most disadvantage.  

2.4 To provide additional and updated context, today’s paper summarises the latest 
analysis on poverty and deprivation at both national and local levels based on the 
Poverty Fact Book and the recently published Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD).  
The Poverty Fact Book uses national and local data to help define and analyse 
the different poverty themes, while the IMD provides revised local area data, 

1 The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a rolling programme of needs assessments and analysis with a primary focus on 
Health and Wellbeing.  Its purpose is to influence priorities and inform commissioning strategies and plans.  The 2015 JSNA for Leeds 
focused on population, deprivation, housing, mental health, potential years life lost and learning disabilities.

Page 218



enabling analysis of the distribution, scale and relative position of deprivation at 
neighbourhood, ward and local authority level.  Together, these findings set out 
the nature, concentration and location of poverty and disadvantage in the city 
confirming the need to focus and integrate efforts to tackle the often multiple 
deprivation encountered by our vulnerable communities and to promote routes to 
employment and career progression for the people in these communities.  The 
findings also confirm the JSNA key messages which are informing the refresh of 
the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

3 Main issues
3.1 Analysis of Poverty and Deprivation - Poverty Fact Book 
3.1.1 The 2015 Poverty Fact Book uses national and local data to help define and 

analyse different poverty themes and informs the council’s and city’s response to 
tackling poverty. 

3.1.2 The Fact Book includes definitions and analysis around the two national 
measures of poverty: Relative and Absolute Poverty. Relative Poverty measures 
the number of individuals who have household incomes below 60% of the median 
average in that year. Absolute Poverty measures individuals who have household 
incomes 60% below the median average in 2010/11, adjusted for inflation.  

3.1.3  Key findings are:
 Almost a quarter of the Leeds population – around 175,000 people across the city - 

is classified as being in ‘absolute poverty’.  
 Approximately 20,000 people in Leeds have needed assistance with food via a food 

bank between April 2014-2015. 
 Over 28,000 (19.5%) Leeds children are in poverty, 64% of whom are estimated to 

be from working families (2013/14).  
 As of October 2015, around 73,000 Leeds households were in receipt of Council 

Tax Support.  Of this figure over 25,000 (35%) of these households in Leeds now 
have to pay 25% of their council tax due to changes to Council Tax Support. 

 During 2014/15 in-work poverty was estimated to affect 15,000 households in 
Leeds.  Just over 24,000 Leeds residents in full-time work earn less than the Living 
Wage and almost 8,000 Leeds workers are on Zero Hour contracts.  

 Almost 38,000 Leeds households are in fuel poverty and over 8,000 of these 
households are paying their fuel bills via prepayment meters (2015).  

 Access to credit and interest rates for those on low incomes or with poor credit 
histories also remains high.  Around 121,000 payday loans were estimated to be 
accessed by Leeds residents in 2013. 

3.2 Analysis of Poverty and Deprivation - Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 2015
3.2.1 The recent update of the IMD published by DCLG in September 2015 measures 

relative levels of deprivation in 32,844 small areas called Lower-layer Super 
Output Areas (LSOAs) in England.  The IMD can be used to explore changes in 
relative deprivation, and changes in the pattern of deprivation, between 2010 and 
2015.  It is important to note that the IMD is a measure of relative deprivation, not 
affluence, and to recognise that not every person in a highly deprived area will 
themselves be deprived.  Likewise, there will be deprived people living in the least 
deprived areas.

3.2.2 Based on the latest IMD, early analysis has been carried out at local ward level 
and examining Leeds’ relative position nationally.  Key findings are:

Page 219



 Leeds is ranked 31 out of 326 local authorities, with 105 neighbourhoods in the most 
deprived 10% nationally (22% of all Leeds neighbourhoods).  Leeds fares relatively 
well in comparison to other Core City local authority areas.

 There are 164,000 people in Leeds who live in areas that are ranked amongst the 
most deprived 10% nationally.  The corresponding figure in the 2010 Index was 
150,000 people, but clearly not everyone living in these areas is deprived.  

 The IMD shows the geographic concentration of deprivation in the communities of 
Inner East and Inner South, confirming the wider analysis of poverty and deprivation 
undertaken in the recent Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.  

 Analysis of relative change in the city since the last Index suggests that there has 
been some intensification of the concentration of our most deprived and least 
deprived neighbourhoods.

 The age profile of our most deprived neighbourhoods confirms that our most deprived 
communities are also our youngest (and fastest growing).

3.3 Key Initiatives aimed at Tackling Economic Disadvantage
3.3.1 The ‘Supporting Communities and Tackling Poverty’ Executive Board report in 

June 2015 highlighted actions and achievements built around four propositions:
1. Helping people out of financial hardship: with a focus on reducing dependency on 

local and national benefits, improving access to affordable credit as well as tackling 
high cost lending, reducing debt levels and increasing financial resilience of the 
poorest citizens and communities in the city;

2. Providing integrated and accessible services and pathways: with a focus on 
developing integrated pathways of support that are accessible to local communities 
and create local partnerships between council-led services and other relevant 
organisations;

3. Helping people into work: with a focus on working with those adults who are furthest 
away from employment and developing programmes of support that meet individual 
needs and promote citizen engagement; and

4. Being responsive to the needs of local people: with a focus on establishing a voice for 
local communities within the democratic process that leads to community-supported 
actions to address local issues.

3.3.2 The ‘Strong Economy, Compassionate City’ Executive Board report in October 
2015 confirmed that the challenges of deprivation have come into sharper focus 
as a result of austerity and welfare changes.  The report proposes a new 
integrated approach to the regeneration of deprived areas, with a rolling 
programme of targeted area-wide projects.  This will involve bringing together 
elected members, communities, and partners to set out a clear vision of how 
areas can develop and change.  The main principles will be:
 Tackling the causes of poverty and deprivation, as well as seeking to mitigate the 

consequences.
 Linking the promotion of economic and jobs growth with that to tackle poverty.
 Further integrating service delivery and programmes across relevant policy areas, 

including bringing together initiatives aimed at supporting people, economic growth, 
and physical change.

 Intervening early to support people and places, seeking to tackle problems at 
source.

3.4 Emerging 2016/17 Best Council Plan Priorities
3.4.1 Drawing on the range of information on needs and activity, together with the 

considerations of the Executive Board in September on the council’s renewed 

Page 220



ambition, Annexe 1 shows the emerging Best City / Best Council priorities against 
each of the three draft 2016/17 strategic objectives: for Leeds to have a Strong 
Economy and to be a Compassionate City (two Best City objectives) and for 
Leeds City Council to be a more Efficient & Enterprising Organisation (one Best 
Council objective, rolled forward from the existing 2015/16 Best Council Plan).  

3.4.2 The emerging priorities are an evolution of those set out in the current Best 
Council Plan 2015-20 (update 2015/16), approved by the Executive Board in 
March 2015.  They are based on early discussions with senior managers and 
members and where possible link to key partnership and council supporting plans, 
such as the Safer Leeds Strategy, Children & Young People’s Plan and Core 
Strategy, and others in development such as the Health & Wellbeing Strategy and 
West Yorkshire Low Emissions Strategy.  Work will continue to refine the priorities 
with accompanying narrative and key performance indicators in the coming 
weeks, drawing out the different ways in which the council will help people to look 
after themselves, others and the places they live and work by considering the 
respective responsibilities of the ‘state’ and the ‘citizen’ (the social contract).

3.4.3 This ongoing work will result in the draft 2016/17 Best Council Plan to be 
presented to this Board in February with the final budget proposals for 
consideration prior to Full Council.  A central theme underpinning the content and 
delivery of the Best Council Plan 2016/17 will be how the council and others will 
continue to work together to respond to the challenges of inequality: what we will 
do and how this will be resourced.  The JSNA, together with the recent analysis of 
poverty and deprivation, provides further insights into the scale and spatial 
distribution of inequalities.  The emerging Best Council Plan Priorities are thematic 
rather than spatial in nature; therefore it is important also to consider the variation 
in social and economic conditions facing communities across the city when 
prioritising interventions and allocating resources in support of our Best City/Best 
Council ambition.  

4 Corporate Considerations
4.1 Consultation and Engagement 
4.1.1 The emerging priorities set out in Annexe 1 are an evolution of those set out in the 

current Best Council Plan and where possible link to key city partnership and 
council supporting plans.  Work will continue to refine the priorities with 
accompanying narrative and key performance indicators through engagement 
with members, officers, partners and the public.  The draft objectives and priorities 
will be presented to Scrutiny Board (Strategy & Resources) in December 
alongside the Initial Budget Proposals. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration
4.2.1 This report provides an analysis of relative poverty and deprivation and as such is 

not a decision making report so due regard is not directly relevant, however the 
analysis in the report provides a valuable input into equality impact assessments.

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan
4.3.1 The report presents the emerging 2016/17 Best Council Plan priorities for the 

Board’s early consideration that will provide the framework for the council’s 
approach to responding to the inequality challenges.  As noted above, the draft 
objectives and priorities will be presented to Scrutiny Board (Strategy & 
Resources) in December alongside the Initial Budget Proposals, prior to the draft 
2016/17 Best Council Plan and final budget proposals being presented to the 

Page 221



Executive Board and Full Council in February.  This process is in accordance with 
the council’s Budget and Policy Framework (Article 4 of the council’s Constitution) 
and the Budget and Policy Framework Procedures Rules (Part 4 Rules of 
Procedure).

4.4 Resources and value for money 
4.4.1 The analysis contained in the report is intended to provide an input into the 

targeting of resources and the examination of potential impact.
4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In
4.5.1 N/A - all information within this report is publicly available.
4.6 Risk Management
4.6.1 The council’s corporate and directorate risk registers will continue to be reviewed 

in light of changes to the Best Council Plan to ensure that the key risks that could 
impact upon new and evolving strategic objectives and priorities are appropriately 
identified, assessed and managed.  

4.6.2 A full risk assessment will also be undertaken of the Council’s financial plans - 
which support the delivery of the Best Council Plan - as part of the normal budget 
process with some of the most significant potential risks to the 2016/17 and 
medium-term financial strategy outlined in today’s  ‘Initial Budget Proposals’ 
paper.  These arrangements comply with the council’s Risk Management Policy.

5 Conclusions
5.1 Building on work already underway, the council’s approach to responding to the 

challenges of inequality – what we will do and how this will be resourced - will be 
set out further in the draft 2016/17 Best Council Plan and accompanying final 
budget proposals to be presented to the Board in February.  In the interim, the 
emerging 2016/17 Best Council Plan priorities are included here for Executive’s 
Board early consideration.  The priorities are thematic rather than spatial in 
nature; therefore it is important also to consider the variation in social and 
economic conditions facing communities across the city through the analysis 
provided by the JSNA, Poverty Fact Book, IMD and other data sources when 
prioritising interventions and allocating resources in support of our Best City/Best 
Council ambition.   

6 Recommendations
6.1 Executive Board is requested to consider the emerging 2016/17 Best Council Plan 

priorities alongside the Initial Budget Proposals on today’s agenda and for them to 
be submitted to Scrutiny.   The annual budget proposals form part of the medium-
financial strategy, the financial expression of the council’s Best City / Best Council 
ambition, policies and priorities.

6.2 Executive Board is also requested to note and consider the latest analysis on 
poverty and deprivation and approve further work to develop a more targeted 
geographic approach to tackling inequalities.  This will include engagement with 
the Community Committees to help inform this approach and the decisions they 
make about services and priorities for their local areas.

Page 222



7 Background documents1

7.1 None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, unless they 
contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 223



Emerging Best Council Plan Priorities 2016/17 – DRAFT

ONE VISION

Our vision is for Leeds to be the best city in the UK: one that is compassionate with a 
strong economy that tackles poverty and reduces the inequalities that still exist.  We 

want Leeds to be a city that is fair and sustainable, ambitious, fun and creative for 
all.  Significant progress has been made towards these ambitions, using a civic 

enterprise approach, but even more needs to be done.  The council will continue to 
work with others to achieve better outcomes for the city with our Values 

underpinning everything we do.

BEST CITY OUTCOMES
We want everyone in Leeds to…

Be safe and feel safe

Enjoy happy, healthy, active lives

Live with dignity and stay independent for as long as possible

Do well at all levels of learning and have the skills they need for life

Earn enough to support themselves and their families

Live in decent, affordable homes within clean and well cared for places

Move around a well-planned city easily

Enjoy greater access to green spaces, leisure and the arts

3 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

Leeds… A Strong Economy

Leeds… A Compassionate City

Leeds City Council… An Efficient and Enterprising Organisation

5 COUNCIL VALUES

Annexe 1

Working as a team 
for Leeds

Being open, honest 
and trusted

Working with 
communities

Treating people 
fairly

Spending money 
wisely

Page 224



2016/17 PRIORITIES

Working in partnership, what we will focus on to help achieve our Best City 
outcomes, all aimed at tackling inequalities

BEST CITY
Leeds… A Strong Economy

o Supporting economic growth and access to 
economic opportunities

o Providing enough homes of a high standard 
in all sectors

o Improving air quality
o Keeping the streets clean
o Improving road safety
o A well-connected transport system that 

facilitates a prosperous economy 
o Providing an inclusive, accessible range of 

transport options
o Attracting world class events to Leeds
o Green spaces in urban areas 
o Jobs and skills [wording TBC]

Leeds… A Compassionate City

o Keeping people safe from harm
o Preventing people dying early
o Promoting physical activity
o Supporting healthy ageing
o Enabling families and friends who support 

people with care needs to continue their caring 
role and careers

o Building capacity for individuals to withstand or 
recover from illness 

o Supporting children to have the best start in life
o Improving educational achievement and closing 

achievement gaps
o Managing the impact of welfare changes
o Supporting communities, raising aspirations

BEST COUNCIL
Leeds City Council…. An Efficient & Enterprising Organisation

o Helping our staff to feel like they count and to 
be their best

o Inclusive and diverse workforce planning
o Creating flexible, multi-disciplinary teams
o Simplifying and standardising internal processes 

through smarter systems and technologies
o Reducing the number of council buildings 

through better sharing of assets
o Securing more contracts with the third sector 

and local SMEs

o Delivering our financial strategy
o Improving engagement with the public, 

partners and staff
o Better joining up of information and 

intelligence and maximising open data
o Further developing and adopting Digital by 

Design principles
o Integrating Local Public Services Information 

and Technology services

Breakthrough Projects

Cutting through traditional boundaries and engaging partners and communities differently

o Cutting carbon and improving air quality
o World class events and a vibrant city centre that 

all can benefit from
o More jobs, better jobs
o Early intervention and reducing health 

inequalities

o Tackling domestic violence and abuse
o Housing growth and high standards in all 

sectors
o Making Leeds the best place to grow old in
o Strong communities benefiting from a strong 

city

2016/17 Key Performance Indicators
Basket of indicators to be developed after priorities agreed

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of: Director of Environment and Housing

Report to: Executive Board

Date:  16th December 2015

Subject: Update on Cutting carbon and Improving Air Quality breakthrough project

Are specific electoral wards affected?  Yes  No

Are there implications for equality and diversity or cohesion and 
integration?

 Yes  No

Is the decision eligible for call-in?  Yes  No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?  Yes  No

If ‘yes’, access to information procedure rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. Ahead of Paris climate talks, Leeds is one of 50 UK cities to sign a pledge that 
commits to eradicating carbon emissions and running the city on green 
energy by 2050. 

2. Previously the Council set a target to reduce its own carbon emissions by 
40% by 2020 from a 2008/9 baseline. The Council has already made 
significant steps towards meeting the target, reducing emissions by 20% 
between 2008 and 2014.

3. As well as setting an internal target, the Council adopted a 40% citywide 
carbon reduction target based on a 2005 baseline. By 2013 the city’s 
emissions had reduced by 16% against the baseline.

4. Fuel poverty levels in Yorkshire have dropped from 13% in 2005 to 10.6% in 
2013, despite a 51% increase in real term domestic energy bills.

5. Key achievements include:
a. The opening of the new Recycling and Energy Recovery Facility, 

(RERF) signalling an environmental step change for Leeds.  The facility 
will capture a minimum of 16,000 tonnes of materials for recycling 
every year, and will export 11MW electricity to the national grid, 
equivalent to the power requirements of around 20,000 homes. The 

Report author: Polly Cook
Tel: 52484

Page 227

Agenda Item 15



move away from landfill will result in carbon savings of around 62,000 
tonnes per annum, equal to taking 29,000 cars off the road.

b. The RERF’s innovative and striking design and ‘living wall’ will set a 
new benchmark for high quality and sustainable development for this 
key regeneration area of the city. 

c. Over 1,200 tonnes of CO2 will be saved per annum as a result of the 
solar panels installed across the corporate estate and council housing.  
Tenants will save £130,000 per year on their fuel.

d. Installation of a biomass district heating network serving 232 flats at 
Clyde Court, Clyde Grange and Phil May Court, saving tenants up to 
30% from their fuel bills.  

e. Winning c£3m of DECC funding to improve heating and insulation in 
c800 private sector homes.

f. Launching a competition to establish a Leeds Energy Supply Company 
(LESCo), expected to attract c7,500 customers in the first year, each of 
which should save £100-200 pa.

g. Funding has been secured to support the development of a 
Compressed Natural Gas station, the first in the UK to support a city’s 
back to depot fleet.

h. Procurement completed for the roll out of 45 electric vans into the 
Council’s fleet by the end of 15/16. These will be used by parking 
enforcement, Housing Leeds and Civic Enterprise Leeds.

6. However, the recent central government policy changes have created a very 
challenging environment to deliver carbon targets and address fuel poverty, 
both as a Council and as a city.

7. Despite the challenges presented by government policy changes, the plans to 
deliver the Leeds Energy Supply Company, to introduce a compressed 
natural gas station, to further develop district heating across the city and to 
continue to invest in the environmental efficiency of the social housing stock 
will ensure that the city continues to reduce its emissions and support those 
residents in fuel poverty.

8. At September’s Executive Board, the scope of the breakthrough project was 
increased to also focus on improving air quality to improve health outcomes 
for the citizens of Leeds and ensure that the city is compliant with the EU 
Directive on air quality by 2020. 

9. To help deliver the long term objectives of the breakthrough project, the 
Council has developed a detailed Sustainable Energy Action Plan and a 
council wide energy policy.

Recommendations
10.Members of the Executive Board are recommended to:

 Note the progress the Council has made to date and its continued plans to 
reduce carbon emissions;

Page 228



 Endorse the Sustainable Energy Action Plan in support of the Council’s 
participation in the European Covenant of Mayors;

 Support the adoption of a Council wide energy policy from 4th January 2016 
and the requirement for Council wide behaviour change to drive energy 
savings; and,

 Continue to demonstrate leadership in this area and continue to work closely 
with private, public and third-sector partners across the city.

Page 229



1. Purpose of this report
1.1.To outline the significant progress the Council has made and provide some 

insight into the progress of the city as a whole;
1.2.To outline future priorities and highlight the challenges faced;
1.3.To detail the proposed energy policy, its associated benefits and the targets 

contained within it;
1.4.To provide the background to the Covenant of Mayors and the associated 

Sustainable Energy Action Plan (SEAP). 

2. Background information
Current Targets

2.1.This report is brought forward at the same time that world leaders are 
debating the need for global action on climate change at the 21st Conference 
of Parties (COP) in Paris. The international Intergovernmental Panel on 
Climate Change (IPCC) estimates that that the fuel that is consumed and the 
other activities that take place within cities directly account for 44% of global 
greenhouse gas emissions. The importance of action taken within cities and 
led by city authorities is therefore acknowledged as an important contributor 
to addressing the causes of climate change and ensuring that cities benefit 
from the economic opportunities in improved energy management, resource 
efficiency and associated social benefits. 

2.2.The Council has set a target to reduce its own CO2 emissions by 40% by 
2020 (using a 2008/09 baseline) equating to a 3.33% decrease each year. 
The Council needs to reduce total CO2 emissions from 136,986t (08/09) to 
82,191tonnes (20/21), at a rate of 4,566 t per annum, to meet the target.

2.3. In addition, the Council has adopted a citywide 40% CO2 reduction target by 
2020, based on a 2005 baseline, equating to a 2.67% decrease each year. 
The city needs to reduce total CO2 emissions from 4,988,000t (2005) to 
2,993,000 (2020), at a rate of 133,000 t/annum, to meet the target.

2.4. Internal CO2 emissions are calculated annually from primary data gathered 
from our own buildings, public lighting, business travel, fleet and outsourced 
fleet. Although we have gathered elements of this data for many years, 
2008/09 was the first year that it was consistently and accurately collected 
and hence forms our baseline.

2.5.Citywide carbon emissions are produced annually by DECC, using annual 
energy consumption data from businesses, the public sector and housing, 
along with road transport. 2005 was the first year that this data became a 
recognised national statistic so forms our baseline. 

2.6. In 2005, 13% of Yorkshire residents were in fuel poverty, according to the 
new ‘Low Income, High Cost’ measure of fuel poverty.  By 2013, this had 
dropped to 10.6%, despite a 51% increase in real term domestic energy bills 
over that time.  This clearly demonstrates the vital importance of improving 
home energy efficiency.

Page 230



2.7.Government has recently redefined fuel poverty and removed specific targets 
to eradicate fuel poverty by 2016.  Instead they have introduced a new target 
“to ensure that as many fuel poor homes as is reasonably practicable achieve 
a minimum energy efficiency standard of Band C, (energy performance 
certificate produced when every house is sold or let), by 2030.”  All but the 
lowest income households living in Band C properties tend not to suffer from 
fuel poverty. 

2.8.To put this in context, only 27% of Leeds housing is currently band A - C i.e. 
at a decent level of energy efficiency, and this drops to 21% for terraced 
housing.

Carbon Reduction Breakthrough Project
2.9.The breakthrough project was established in November 2014 with an initial 

launch event. In the original scoping document a commitment was made to 
report back on progress to Executive Board in December 2015.

2.10. The original scoping document for the cutting carbon breakthrough 
project committed to deliver the following outcomes:

 Carbon reduction as a contribution to countering climate change;

 Greater energy security which provides the city with a competitive advantage;

 Energy consumption savings to consumers, providing advantages to 
businesses and residents;

 Reducing fuel poverty/ improving levels of affordable warmth, bringing 
benefits for health and well-being;

 Creation of jobs and apprenticeships;

 Development of skills within the environmental arena;

 Improved air quality bringing benefits for health and well-being; and,

 Greater visibility of energy usage and costs across the city.

2.11. As well as reducing carbon, the breakthrough project is also focused 
on reducing fuel poverty across the city.  In 2013 11.6% of households in 
Leeds were defined as fuel poor, compared to 10.4% of English households.

2.12. The breakthrough project has now been expanded and renamed to 
include improving air quality. However, this report will largely focus on the 
cutting carbon aspects as a detailed report was brought to Executive Board in 
October that focused on the work that needs to be undertaken to improve the 
city’s air quality.

Page 231



Policy Framework

2.13. Leeds is a growing city with an anticipated additional 70,000 new 
homes to be built by 2028 as well as continued commercial development and 
associated infrastructure. The Core Strategy contains a suite of development 
policies designed to ensure that new development contributes to the city’s 
low carbon targets with policies on low carbon major development, 
sustainable design & construction, low carbon energy and district heating.

2.14. However these policies are operating in a context where the 
Government have relaxed low carbon requirements on new developments, 
reduced the role of the Code for Sustainable Homes and abandoned previous 
targets for zero carbon housing. Key changes include:

2.14.1.  The new government announced in July that it would no longer 
fund the Green Deal Finance Company after concern about low take-up 
and impact (c.15,000 loans in 2 ½ years).The Government also scrapped 
further planned investment in the Green Deal Home Improvement Fund, 
which had funded 27,000 energy efficiency measures in 9 months.  

2.14.2. At present DECC say that the ECO scheme will continue to run 
as normal until March 2017, but that a new, lower cost, obligation (ECO3) 
will be available from April 2017 onwards. However, the timescales to lay 
legislation to launch in April 2017 are extremely tight.  Industry indicates 
that without a clear successor policy in place, ECO will effectively end by 
summer 2016 as all utilities will have delivered their obligations.  The 
remaining ECO grant rates are already lower than for any obligation over 
the last c10 years. 

2.14.3. Feed in Tariff rates are also due to be substantially reduced. 
Domestic scale solar PV will be 90% lower; support for larger wind has 
ended and even small hydro projects are 33% lower and a total cap of 
£75m - £100m has been applied for all new registrations from January 
2016 to 31 March 2019, with a series of triggers to drop rates further in 
that time.

2.14.4. Renewable Heat Incentive (RHI) has been reduced by £700 
million over the next five years. The detail behind this reduction is not 
available yet as the announcement was only just made in the Autumn 
Statement.

2.14.5. The Allowable Solutions carbon offsetting scheme has been 
scrapped, along with the proposed 2016 increase in on-site energy 
efficiency standards. 

2.14.6. Social landlords will also be forced to reduce rents by 1% a year 
for four years.  This could mean a real term compound reduction of 15-
25%, limiting the potential to invest in energy efficiency measures in 
social housing.

Page 232



2.15. These national policy changes will have significant implications for our 
work programme.  

2.16. The table in section 3.18 outlines how we intend to refocus our work 
programme in the short term to deal with these changes.

2.17. Although policies designed to support renewable and improve energy 
efficiency have been weakened, the indication from government is that they 
intend to refocus resources in the domestic sector on fuel poor households.  
Specifically, ECO3 is expected to have an almost complete focus on 
properties that meet the new Low Income High Cost fuel poverty definition.  
Government have reduced the notional budget for ECO3 to £640m pa and 
intend to encourage companies to focus on lower cost measures.  

2.18. However, we know that many of the easy cost effective measures have 
already been completed so we will continue to work to persuade government 
to spend at least a part of the budget on Victorian terraced properties where 
fuel poverty levels are highest.

3. Main issues

Council Breakthrough Project Progress

Council Progress – Non residential 

3.1.The Council has reduced its own emissions by 20% by 2014/15, against the 
2008/9 baseline, which means the emissions have reduced in line with the 
40% target.  Key achievements include:

3.2.The council installed solar panels in 2012 on 7 major buildings. The scheme 
was then placed on hold due to the significant reduction in Feed in Tariffs 
(FITs) in 2012.  This year it was determined that, despite the reduction in 
FITs, the cost of materials had decreased sufficiently to make solar panels a 
worthwhile investment again.  An additional 627 kW peak have been installed 
across the corporate estate on the following buildings:

o Middleton Park Highways
o St George Centre
o Adel Beck
o Tech North
o Armley Leisure Centre
o Morley Leisure centre
o Holt Park Leisure Centre

3.3.  An additional 2,400 kW peak will be installed on 1,000 council houses by the 
end of the calendar year. In total, these 3 solar schemes will save 1,200 
tonnes of CO2 per year as well as saving tenants £130,000/ year on their fuel 
bills.  However, with the expected drastic cuts in FITS in 2016, solar schemes 
will no longer be financially viable.

Page 233



3.4. In March 2015 a report was taken to Executive Board to approve the inclusion of a 
2MW peak gas fired electricity generating station within the base specification of the 
Merrion House refurbishment project.  This project is an invest to save opportunity 
that provides the added benefit of improving the Council’s and city’s energy security, 
one of the stated aims of the breakthrough project.

3.5. Work commenced in October 2013 to look at street light selective part night 
switching, subsequently a total of 3489 street lights have been modified resulting in a 
consumption saving of over 1,079,000 kWhs.

3.6. LED Lanterns have also been installed on the Inner Loop Road, A58(M) Woodhouse 
Tunnel and The Calls. Work was completed in April 2014 on the conversion of 345 
lanterns on the Inner Loop Road.  An annual saving of 304,000 kWhs is being 
achieved.

3.7. Salix funding has been utilised to finance a range of energy efficiency measures, 
such as installation of Building Energy Management Systems(BEMS), improved 
insulation, LED lighting schemes and boiler replacements across the authority’s 
estates.  Salix Finance delivers 100% interest-free capital to public sector 
organisations to improve energy efficiency and reduce carbon emissions.  Salix 
Finance are an independent not for profit company funded by the Department for 
Energy and Climate Change. 

3.8. Cumulatively Salix funded schemes are now delivering over 2,000 tonnes of CO2 
savings per year as well as delivering revenue savings. 

3.9. Salix funding has also been utilised to deliver energy efficient lighting schemes to 
schools on the same payback basis.  There will be an ongoing programme of lighting 
schemes for all interested schools that meet the funding criteria. 

3.10. The replacement programme for LCC’s fleet has been reviewed with 
alternative fuel and low emission vehicles determined as the preferred option where 
available.  Identification of all opportunities to introduce alternative fuel and low 
emission vehicles will see 7% of the authority’s fleet having been converted by the 
end of 2015/16. 

3.11. The following are identified as the key deliverables to continue to work 
towards the 40% reduction by 2020 in carbon target within the Council’s estate and 
fleet:

 Installation of a compressed natural gas station to support the conversion of 
the Council’s Refuse Collection vehicles and vans as well as other vehicles 
across the city, estimated to reduce carbon emissions of vehicles that 
convert by circa 30% as well as reducing the emissions that contribute to 
poor air quality by approximately 90%;

 Installation of an electric vehicle charging network to support the Council’s 
vehicles;

 Improved energy management of corporate buildings via the increased use 
of energy data and Building Energy Management Systems;

 Continued investment in corporate buildings, utilising SALIX revolving 
funding;

 The LCC corporate travel plan will be reviewed with the objective of 
changing travel practice across all Council Services to provide safe and 

Page 234



sustainable commuting and business travel activity particularly sustainable 
travel choices for our employees utilising schemes such as the Cycle 
Superhighway.  

 The terms of the Street Lighting PFI determine that the supplier, SSE must 
deliver a reduction in consumption based on forecast use over the term of 
the contract (to 2031). This incentivises SSE to promote and introduce 
innovation aimed at reducing the overall street lighting energy 
consumption.

 An evaluation of new to market ‘Budget’ LED lanterns will be undertaken 
with a view to introduce 3000 to the portfolio. An estimated consumption 
saving of 928,125kWhs per annum through these conversions has been 
made. 

 The fleet replacement programme will be reviewed annually to ensure that 
lower emission vehicles are considered for all vehicles due for replacement. 
By 2020/21 it is anticipated that 25% of the Council’s fleet will have been 
replaced by alternative fuel or low emission vehicles.

3.12. However, the next 20% reduction will be more difficult to achieve as 
many of the cheaper and easier measures have been completed and the 
items that are left are the more challenging items such as behaviour change 
and installation of district heating.  This is compounded by the weakening of 
government policy support

Progress in domestic sector 

3.13. The table below shows the change in emission levels as per DECC’s 
published data from 2005 to 2013.  Overall the city has achieved a 16% 
reduction in carbon emissions.  

Baseline 2005 2013
Tonnes C02 Tonnes C02 % difference

Tertiary Buildings 1,868,129 1,572,900 -16%
Residential 
Buildings 1,841,000 1,539,400 -17%
Private and 
commercial 
transport 1,084,916 928,900 -14%
Total 4,917,502 4,132,400 -16%

Page 235



3.14. The council is able to directly and indirectly influence emissions reduction 
across the city, particularly in the residential sector.  Key achievements in 
this sector include:

3.14.1. Leeds City Council was awarded £2.48m from DECC's Green 
Deal Communities Fund to focus on area based external wall insulation.  
Leeds used this funding to improve a total of 379 homes, create 3 show 
homes and attract £1.29m of match funding.   The majority of homes 
were system built properties in Holt Park, Cookridge and Kippax but the 
funding also allowed us to externally insulate Victorian terraced homes in 
the Nowells and Cross Green.  Both the Nowells and Cross Green are 
long-standing regeneration priorities and the insulation has made a huge 
difference to people’s lives: of 121 fuel poor households, 42 are no 
longer fuel poor and for the remainder, the ‘affordability gap’ has reduced 
from £681 to £272 per home.

3.14.2. The Green Deal Communities Fund has two further, smaller, 
phases with funding of c£212k, focusing on hard to treat cavities and attic 
room insulation as well as carrying out work in the houses of those in fuel 
poverty.  

3.14.3. The Council has also been awarded c£280k by DECC through 
the Central Heating fund to install new central heating systems in fuel 
poor private sector homes, currently without central heating systems.  
This is working closely alongside a larger Housing Leeds project, 
installing new gas mains to council properties that are still all electric.  
Housing Leeds expects to replace electric storage and underfloor heating 
with gas central heating in 2000 homes over the next 4 years.

3.14.4. As referenced in 3.3 above, the Council has installed 1,000 solar 
panels on council housing during the last 3 months.  

3.14.5. Housing Leeds is also planning to significantly expand district 
heating, particularly for multi-storey blocks.  Arup have undertaken 
detailed feasibility work on c2,000 flats in the Saxton Gardens, Lincoln 
Green and Ebor Gardens areas and on the back of this we have 
submitted a grant application for c£5.7m to ESIF (EU grant funding) to 
part pay for the conversion of flats from electric storage heaters to wet 
central heating systems, build a new energy centre and construct a local 
district heating network Arup are also assessing the energy efficiency 
options for all our multi-storey blocks and have identified around 26 
blocks in 6 clusters that could feasibly connect to a district heating 
scheme once in existence.  These will either have their own energy 
generation or some may connect to a future DHN taking heat from the 
RERF or other large central sources.

3.14.6. Ahead of these major DH schemes, Housing Leeds is nearing 
completion of a small biomass district heating network serving 232 flats 
at Clyde Court, Clyde Grange and Phil May Court.  We expect this to 

Page 236



save tenants up to 30% from their fuel bills.  We have already received 
positive feedback from one tenant who estimates he is saving c50% on 
heating,

3.14.7. Housing Leeds has also been working closely with Keepmoat to 
improve the energy efficiency of over 1,200 existing homes and build 
almost 400 new ones in the Little London and Beeston Hill areas under a 
PFI agreement.  This is on track to be completed in 2016.

3.14.8. Another key achievement has been the agreement to set up a 
Leeds Energy Supply Company (LESCo) to offer competitive tariffs to all 
residents and replace prepayment meters, with smarter, cheaper 
alternatives. This is currently out to competition and is due to be 
implemented in spring 2016. It is anticipated that this will attract circa 
7,500 customers in the first year, each of which should save £100-200 
pa.  Full details can be found in the executive board report dated 23rd 
September 2015.

3.14.9. The introduction of the Leeds Standard for New Council Homes 
places an emphasis on achieving high levels of air-tightness and thermal 
insulation that provides high levels of energy efficiency to minimise 
running costs for tenants, address fuel poverty and contribute to broader 
sustainability, health and well-being agendas. This will apply to future 
tranches of the Council house building programme of c1,000 units.

3.15. The business cases for solar PV, solid wall insulation and renewable 
heating no longer make financial sense due to the policy changes.  The 
Council will therefore shift away from planned work in these areas, unless 
additional grant funding or investment can be attracted.

3.16. Even some ‘low cost’ improvements such as loft insulation and cavity 
wall insulation are now unattractive: the private sector market is used to 
heavily subsidised offers and experience suggests without subsidies the 
uptake rates will be very low.  

3.17. Given the national policy changes highlighted in 2.14, the council must 
re-evaluate domestic energy priorities.  The work programme has to be 
focussed and the Council must be prepared to shift away from some work 
areas if they become unaffordable.

3.18.  The priorities outlined below are projects that can realistically be 
undertaken over the next couple of years, regardless of future government 
policy changes.

Page 237



  
Priority Rationale Timescales
1. Establish LESCo 

to sell gas and 
electricity to 
residents and 
SMEs.

Unaffected by policy 
changes; cost neutral to the 
council with potential for 
income generation; 
significant financial benefit 
for vulnerable customers.

Establish the company by April 
2015 and achieve 10,000 
customers by April 2017.

2. Deliver district 
heating to c1,500 
council houses in 
the Lincoln Green 
area.

Unaffected by policy 
changes; significant council 
priority; existing HRA budget 
and identified opportunity for 
ESIF funding (European 
grant funding).

Commence procurement Jan 
2016; contract award Aug 2016; 
start on site Jan 2017; 
construction complete Jan 2020.

3. Continue to deliver 
integrated 
affordable 
warmth service 
and  winter 
warmth 
campaigns to 
vulnerable 
households

Largely unaffected by policy 
changes; some local 
budgets (e.g. fuel poverty 
fund)/grant funding(e.g. 
central heating fund); 
government indicated that 
CSR/Autumn Statement will 
launch new fuel poverty 
support mechanism; major 
local priority to tackle 
poverty. 

Central Heating Fund to install 
new heating systems in 75 fuel 
poor homes by Mar 2016; 
otherwise ongoing.

4. Complete Green 
Deal 
Communities 
funded insulation 
work and support 
Better Homes 
Yorkshire to 
deliver energy 
efficiency 
improvements to 
all sectors.

Although policy changes will 
make this difficult, we have 
attracted grant funding and 
identified further funding via 
ESIF; some BHY work 
(particularly heating) can 
continue regardless of 
government funding.

GDC completed March 2016; 
ESIF grant determined summer 
2016; completed summer 2019.

5. Commence a 10 
year energy 
efficiency 
investment 
programme in 
multi-storey blocks.

Local priority; HRA budget 
available; feasibility study 
will provide a practical, 
deliverable model, 
regardless of grants.

Technical study and related 
investment/procurement 
programmes completed Nov 15; 
specifications developed Apr 16; 
procurement underway Apr 16

Page 238



3.19. The following sections provide a more general analysis of progress across 
the city.

New Developments by Private and Third Sector

3.20. Leeds-based developer Citu have permission for 300 zero-carbon one 
and two-bedroom flats and three and four-bedroom houses at Low-Fold in 
Hunslet with high levels of insulation and electricity-generating solar panels. 
This follows their existing award-winning conversion of Shaftesbury House 
into the Greenhouse development, featured in the Council’s Supplementary 
Planning Document, Building for Tomorrow Today.

3.21. LILAC is a pioneering project of 20 sustainable low impact living 
housing development in Leeds.  The project was based on core values of low 
impact living, affordability and community living. It used co-housing design 
principles and gradually moved to being permanently affordable through the 
formation of a Mutual Home Ownership Society (MHOS). The LILAC project, 
which stands for Low Impact Living Affordable Community, has homes that 
are super-insulated, use natural and locally sourced materials, such as straw 
and timber, and make use of heat from the sun to warm the houses and 
reduce energy bills. For a three bed house, energy costs are around £400 a 
year for gas and electricity combined (£7 a week). 

3.22. Leeds First Direct Arena state of the art 13,500 capacity “super-
theatre” was completed in 2013 and attracts some of the biggest names and 
events in the world of entertainment. The building is a ground breaking 
achievement in energy efficiency and environmentally friendly construction of 
theatres. Features include: open air source heat pumps, a roof that collects 
rainwater to be reused in the running of the building, and an area with a 
green sedum roof to help enhance the environment. The arena achieved a 
‘Very Good’ BREEAM rating, a milestone for a large capacity infrastructure.

3.23. The Trinity Leeds development was a removal and regeneration of 
existing retail stock and the encasement of the entire development under a 
glazed roof. The glazed roof provides the walkways of the shopping mall with 
sufficient natural lighting in lieu of artificial lighting which is saving a lot of 
energy. The development achieved a BREEAM 'Excellent' rating which was 
realised through a number of initiatives including a process of generating 
energy through waste and by ensuring the project achieves its goal of 
sending zero waste to landfill, a target achieved by the developer at six 
previous sites.

3.24. No additional car parking spaces were developed as result of the arena 
and Trinity developments. The absence of further car parking spaces will 
encourage people to make alternative travel arrangements when visiting 
these attractions.

Page 239



Renewables

3.25. The graph below shows the level of renewable technologies installed across 
the city and how it has grown over the last 4 years with the support of the 
government feed in tariff scheme.

Ja
n-
04

M
ay
-0
4

Se
p-
04

Ja
n-
05

M
ay
-0
5

Se
p-
05

Ja
n-
06

M
ay
-0
6

Se
p-
06

Ja
n-
07

M
ay
-0
7

Se
p-
07

Ja
n-
08

M
ay
-0
8

Se
p-
08

Ja
n-
09

M
ay
-0
9

Se
p-
09

Ja
n-
10

M
ay
-1
0

Se
p-
10

Ja
n-
11

M
ay
-1
1

Se
p-
11

Ja
n-
12

M
ay
-1
2

Se
p-
12

Ja
n-
13

M
ay
-1
3

Se
p-
13

Ja
n-
14

M
ay
-1
4

Se
p-
14

Ja
n-
15

M
ay
-1
5

Se
p-
15

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

14000

16000

18000

20000

Cumulative - FiTs Installed Capacity
(Leeds)

Commisisoned Date

In
st

al
le

d 
Ca

pa
ci

ty
 (k

W
)

3.26. Based on an average output of 750 kWh per kW peak, the above 
installations will equate to the equivalent of 15,000 MWh of electricity per 
annum, the equivalent of the electricity used by about 5,000 homes.  Solar 
panels account for just under 99% of the installations with one commercial 
hydro installation and wind making up the balance.

3.27. Examples of Renewables in other parts of Private and Public Sector

Kelda Water Services installed a 2MW wind turbine in the Aire Valley in October 
2014.  It was 78M high with a rotor diameter of 90 metres.  The site started to receive 
electricity from the turbine from late November 2014, with enough power being 
provided to supply 10% of the site’s energy requirements, the equivalent to 1,100 
homes’ annual usage.

At Pool in Wharfedale 2 old water turbines lay disused for decades but were 
refurbished (2009-10) by Derwent Hydro.  Both have been equipped with new 
gearboxes, generators and control system and each supplies around 70kW (peak) to 
the adjacent factory. 

In 2009/10, the University of Leeds’ carbon footprint, resulting from electricity, gas, 

Page 240



steam and fuel used in its buildings and vehicles, was 70,454 tonnes of carbon 
emissions with a financial cost of around £9.8M in energy bills.  This represents a 
reduction of 358 tonnes of carbon against the 2005/6 baseline.  The University aims 
to reduce its carbon emissions by 35% by 2020/21, against the 2005/6 baseline.  To 
support their target reductions, a range of interventions have been proposed across 
University buildings.  Some initiatives will focus on control and management of 
systems, other initiatives improve efficiency and performance, whilst others will focus 
on how staff and students can support carbon reduction in their everyday activities. 

Council’s Energy Policy

3.28. Having implemented many of the low cost options, behaviour change is 
still an area where limited progress has been made to date. Previous big 
switch off campaigns have shown benefits but only on a very time limited 
basis and required significant management. However, behaviour change is 
recognised as an area that can reap significant benefits at minimal cost. To 
make it sustainable, it requires more of a permanent cultural shift rather than 
short term intensive campaigns. The proposed implementation of the energy 
policy is intended to kick start the cultural shift by raising the profile of energy 
management council wide, supporting our target to reduce carbon emissions 
by 40% by 2020.

3.29.  The Leeds City Council Energy Policy will help manage our energy 
use in council buildings. The policy supports Leeds City Council meeting 
national and local targets, as well as complementing existing plans and 
strategies in the council.
 

3.30. It will help manage our buildings in a more consistent manner. Setting 
fixed temperatures can eliminate unnecessary anomalies, along with 
reducing our energy use in some cases, as reducing the thermostat by just 
1°C can potentially reduce the annual heating bill by up to 8%.

3.31. The energy policy is designed as a two tier document, with the top tier 
encompassing a high level vision, benchmarking our general approach and 
providing strategic guidance on energy use. It promotes energy efficiency 
through a civic leadership role, ensuring Leeds City Council is a trailblazer in 
the creation of a low carbon city. The second tier provides operational 
guidance and targets to both technical managers and staff. It also 
encompasses operating procedures, data management and roles & 
responsibilities.  The energy policy directs Leeds City Council in how we 
manage our energy consumption and covers building gas and electricity only. 
It will not address water, transport (fuel) or waste.

3.32. The  targets contained within the policy are outlined below:

3.32.1. All council buildings must use the council’s approved utility 
contracts

Page 241



Currently 2.4% of Council buildings buy energy outside of the Council’s 
contracts (based on 2014/15), therefore not benefitting from the bulk 
purchasing discounts that the Council benefits from.

3.32.2. Purchase no less than 25% of electricity from low 
carbon/renewable sources.

Maintaining a 25% target until 2020 would permit the purchase of low 
carbon energy without financial disadvantage, despite the proposed 
changes to Climate Change Levy.

3.32.3. All council buildings will be required to fit an Automatic Meter 
Reading (AMR) by 2020

Costs of installing AMRs have already been accounted for. AMR for 
smaller buildings is included as a metering charge within utility bills. 
Larger buildings are under an existing contract for installation.

3.32.4. Larger buildings with energy bills greater than £30,000 will be 
required to implement a smart Building Energy Management Systems 
(BEMS) by 2020.

Approximately 60 council buildings (excluding schools) have energy bills 
greater than £30,000. Half of these buildings already have BEMs in 
place. Proposed BEMS installation would be subject to a business case 
evaluation to ensure viability. It is proposed that any intended installation 
be subject to Salix funding criteria, or similar, where viable.

3.32.5. An application or programme will be developed for presenting 
energy consumption data to all council employees and will allow 
nominated personnel to take ownership of their own space/building 
energy use.

A Leeds Energy Innovation Lab event took place on the 24th August, 
which looked to provide a solution about how we access and use our 
energy data. Three data solutions were agreed to be developed over a 
12 week period. This work is funded from an allocation of funds for data 
dive innovation labs.

3.32.6. An intelligent data management system will be employed to 
ensure an integrated and smart approach to controlling overall council 
energy use.

This will either be further development of the current system or 
identification of a better system. We are currently considering options 
available to provide smarter energy management via use of data.

3.32.7. Building Energy Audits will be conducted on the top 100 energy 
consumers, to help identify any energy reduction measures that would 
help reduce consumption.

Page 242



Building energy audits will help assess our top energy users to 
understand where opportunities exist for buildings to reduce their energy 
consumption.

3.32.8. Financial responsibility of energy budgets will be universally 
adopted by all building/site managers (either by building or building 
clusters).

Building/site managers would have a better understanding of how energy 
is used in their buildings and where wastage may be taking place.

Sustainable Energy Action Plan (SEAP)

3.33. Leeds City Council is a signatory to the European Covenant of Mayors, 
a movement of local authorities that are aiming to meet or exceed the 
European Union objective of a 20% CO2 reduction by 2020. This commitment 
is achieved through the implementation of a Sustainable Energy Action Plan 
(SEAP). The SEAP is a key document showing how the Council will reach its 
commitment by 2020. It uses the results of a Baseline Emission Inventory (in 
Leeds’ case 2005 – the first year for which we have comprehensive and 
reliable energy data for the city) to identify the fields of action and opportunity 
for reaching our target of a 40% reduction in CO2 emissions by 2020.

3.34. The SEAP will not be a fixed and rigid document and will be updated 
as circumstances change. In line with the Cutting Carbon & Air Quality 
Breakthrough project, an annual report will be presented to the Executive 
Board to capture progress on the full range of activities to provide wider 
accountability. We intend to submit an Action Report (providing qualitative 
information about the implementation of the SEAP) every 2 years 
accompanied by an Implementation report (including an updated Monitoring 
Emissions Inventory) every 4 years.

3.35. The Covenant of Mayors focuses on action at local level within the power of 
the local authority. The SEAP concentrates on measures aimed at reducing 
CO2 emissions and final energy consumption by end users. The Covenant’s 
commitments cover the whole geographical area of the local authority. 
Therefore the SEAP includes actions concerning both the public and private 
sectors, with an expectation that the local authority will demonstrate 
leadership through measures relating to its own buildings, facilities and 
vehicle fleet. Capturing information and data about measures being taken in 
the private sector is a challenge and this first SEAP is an initial attempt to 
identify some of the most significant action being undertaken across the city 
by other partners (referred to in SEAP terminology as ‘Tertiary Facilities’). 
This has involved pulling together a database of contacts across the city 
which it is anticipated will provide the basis for updates in the future.

3.36. In approving the SEAP, Executive Board will approve its submission to the 
European Covenant of Mayors and its publication on their website 
(www.covenantofmayors.eu). A version will also be made available on the 

Page 243

http://www.covenantofmayors.eu/


Council’s website accompanied in time by further information on the projects 
being undertaken in the city.

4. Corporate considerations

4.1.Consultation and engagement 

4.1.1. The Energy Policy is not for public consultation and is an internal facing 
document only. As part of development of the Energy Policy, we have 
directly consulted with Corporate Property Management, Facilities 
Management, Human Resources, Changing the Workplace and various 
members of staff associated with or working closely with energy 
management and finance. We have also made contact with all Unions, 
the Disability Network and the Water Management Team.  Those directly 
consulted with were also invited to the Manager Challenge Event 
(Managing Our Energy Use, on 10th Nov), along with other employees 
who would be influenced by the introduction of the energy policy; such as 
staff from leisure centres, museums, galleries and libraries, energy 
analysts, maintenance officers and communication officers. All personnel 
contacted have been sent a copy of the draft energy policy. The draft 
policy was discussed at Environment Programme Board on the 2nd 
November 2015.

4.1.2. Leeds City Council has agreed to a year-long feasibility trial with 
SmartKlub. SmartKlub is a new approach to developing distributed 
energy infrastructure at city scale. It works to conceptualise and develop 
the overarching strategy and projects to enable cities to have affordable 
energy, become zero carbon and move towards more sustainable, 
resilient communities. Through a collaborative process between the 
members of SmartKlub and LeedsCity Council (LCC), potential projects 
will be outlined and developed resulting in project specifications which 
are innovative, realisable and meet the Council’s requirements of 
reducing carbon, addressing fuel poverty within a sound business case.

4.1.3. SmartKlub has its origins in the successful Leeds Energy Forum which 
the Council has facilitated over the past 2-3 years, engaging with the 
private sector on the strategic direction for low carbon energy projects in 
Leeds. The focus within SmartKlub is now more clearly focussed on 
project innovation and delivery. The opportunity to participate in 
SmartKlub has been advertised to all of the Energy Forum participants 
and each SmartKlub workshop has also been advertised through the 
YORtender website.

4.1.4. SmartKlub events to date have focussed on the low carbon innovation 
opportunities presented by the Council’s programme for Towerblocks 
improvement; plans for improvement in low carbon transport fuel 
infrastructure; and the introduction of Smart Meters & their integration in 
the Leeds' new energy tariff as part of the proposed Leeds ESCo.

Page 244



4.2.Equality and diversity, cohesion and integration
4.2.1. An Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening assessment 

was undertaken for the Energy Policy on the 12 November 2015. The 
assessment is attached as appendix 1.

4.2.2. The nature of the working environment and the diverse groups of 
people using the different stock of buildings results in a variety of ways 
people have to adjust to circumstances. People have individual needs 
and require a comfortable working environment. This policy looks to 
ensure a consistent working environment, but recognises individual 
needs and the requirement to make reasonable adjustments where 
necessary. 

4.3.Council policies and the best council plan
4.3.1. The Best Council Plan sets out what the council will do to help improve 

the lives of local people and how we will measure progress in delivering 
better outcomes across Leeds. The most relevant of these are identified 
below:-
• supporting communities and tackling poverty: improving housing 
conditions and energy efficiency
• promoting sustainable and inclusive economic growth: improving the 
competitive position of the city through the enabling of low carbon energy 
infrastructure and reduced carbon emissions.
• becoming a more efficient and enterprising council: reducing the 
energy and carbon footprint of the Council.

4.3.2. Cutting Carbon and improving Air Quality is one of the Council’s 
Breakthrough Projects and the Council has agreed a city wide target to 
reduce carbon emissions by 40% by 2020 from a 2005 baseline. This 
target is also reflected as a corporate target for the Council’s own 
operational estate to which the proposed Energy Policy will apply. 

4.3.3. The development of the related low carbon energy infrastructure 
directly contributes to the Council’s forward looking commitment of 
introducing 21st Century infrastructure. 

4.4.Resources and value for money 

4.4.1. The Energy Policy will help improve building management and 
resource efficiency. Associated projects will be developed and expanded 
at the action plan stage. All future projects will assume normal business 
case process and be assessed for viability at project initiation stage. The 
use of SALIX funding will be maximised to deliver spend to save 
schemes.

4.4.2. To successfully deliver many of the projects identified under the 
breakthrough project, a cross Council and cross partner approach is 
required as it cuts across so many areas of work (e.g. public health, 
planning, parking, transport, environmental health, highways, waste 
management, Housing Leeds). 

Page 245



4.4.3. Where possible, the team are identifying and bidding for grants to 
support the development of this work. As well as all the bids to support 
the improvement of air quality (as detailed in October’s report), there 
have also been two ESIF bids submitted to the value of £9 million to 
support the conversion of social housing to district heating and the 
promotion of energy efficiency measures in social housing. 

4.4.4. A successful secondment to the University of Leeds has resulted in 
greatly improved collaboration with academic partners in the city. As a 
result joint funding for projects has been pursued, with successes in both 
attracting funding for specific projects (e.g. c£10k for Energy Use in 
Social Housing), funding for projects being developed in the city (e.g. 
c£3m for Smarter Travel Solution and Energy Storage technologies) and 
numerous examples of in kind support from existing research resources.

4.5.Legal implications, access to information and call-in
4.5.1. There are no legal implications to note in respect of this report.

4.6.Risk management
4.6.1. The instability in government policies that support energy efficiency 

works and renewable technologies makes it very difficult to establish long 
term plans and robust business cases.

4.6.2. If we do not meet the EU directive for air quality by 2020, the Council 
could face huge fines being passed down from Central Government.

4.6.3. As the Council has to bid for funding to support many of the activities 
that it wants to undertake in this area, if the Council is unsuccessful in 
winning the funds, it will impact on our ability to deliver our identified 
projects.

5. Conclusions
Although the national policy context for energy efficiency is difficult, we are 
continuing to identify opportunities that will enable us to improve the fabric of the 
city’s homes, lower residents’ bills, reduce CO2 emissions and tackle fuel poverty. It 
is however almost inevitable that the installation rate and linked improvements to 
bills, CO2 and fuel poverty will slow down.

The council will continue to bid for any suitable funding that becomes available but 
the most efficient way to be able to continue to reduce emissions at a city level is to 
focus on getting energy efficiency included within a strong devolution deal for LCR.

6. Recommendations
Members of the Executive Board are recommended to:

 Note the progress the Council has made to date and its continued plans to 
reduce carbon emissions;

 Endorse the Sustainable Energy Action Plan in support of the Council’s 
participation in the European Covenant of Mayors;

Page 246



 Support the adoption of a Council wide energy policy from 4th January 2016 
and the requirement for Council wide behaviour change to drive energy 
savings; and,

 Continue to demonstrate leadership in this area and continue to work closely 
with private, public and third-sector partners across the city.

7. Background documents1 
LCC Energy Policy
LCC SEAP (Sustainable Energy Action Plan)

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s 
website, unless they contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents 
does not include published works.

Page 247



This page is intentionally left blank



EDCI Screening Template updated January 2014

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration.

A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine:

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.  

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment.

Directorate: Strategy and Resources Service area: PPPU

Lead person: Ania Campbell Contact number: 07712215516

1. Title: Leeds City Council Energy Policy

Is this a:

     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other
                                                                                                               

If other, please specify

2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening

The Energy Policy is an internal facing document that will help manage our energy 
use in council buildings. It is not an external influencing document. It supports 
national and local targets, as well as complimenting existing plans and strategies in 
the council. It guides our actions in order to manage our energy use more efficiently 
and to support our target of reducing 40% carbon emissions by 2020. 

The policy is designed as a two tier document, with the top tier encompassing a high 
level vision, benchmarking our general approach and providing strategic guidance on 
energy use. It promotes energy efficiency through a civic leadership role, ensuring 
Leeds City Council is a trailblazer in the creation of a low carbon city. 
The second tier provides operational guidance and targets to both technical 
managers and staff. It also encompasses operating procedures, data management, 
roles and responsibilities, and repairs, response times and alternative options. 
The energy policy directs Leeds City Council in how we manage our energy 
consumption and covers building gas and electricity only. It will not address water, 

1

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening

X

Page 249



EDCI Screening Template updated January 2014

transport (fuel) or waste. 
Managing our energy consumption will in turn help us reduce our spending in this 
area and look to increase our efficiency. Once approved, it will be adopted as an 
internal council policy.

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.  

The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are.

When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being.

Questions Yes No
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics? X

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? X

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom?

X

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? X

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment
 Advancing equality of opportunity
 Fostering good relations

X

If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7

If you have answered yes to any of the above and;
 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 

cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4.
 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 

integration within your proposal please go to section 5.

2

Page 250



EDCI Screening Template updated January 2014

4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration

If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment. 

Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance).
 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration?

(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected)

The Energy Policy has been widely consulted in order to gain an encompassing 
perspective from a variety of teams and experiences. The following actions have been 
taken:

 Consulted existing council plans, policies and current practices
 Researched government websites and technical guidance notes
 Assessed our current building stock, the different uses and services provided
 Consulted with specific council representatives, namely HR, CtW, The Disability 

Network and Union representatives.
 Consulted with targeted sections of the council. These include Facilities 

Management, Corporate Property Management, Leisure, One Stop Centres, Call 
Centres, Water Management Team

 A consultation event took place on the 10th November 2015: Get Connected – 
Managing our Energy Use, which invitees included Facilities Management, 
Corporate Property Management, leisure centres, energy analysts, maintenance 
officers, communication officers, museums, galleries and libraries.

 During the development of the policy, advice and guidance was sought by council 
employees with technical knowledge and experience regarding energy 
management.

 The policy originated in the Sustainable Energy and Climate Change team and 
evolved through a framework supported and reviewed by associated line 
managers and discussed at the Environment Programme Board.

 Workforce data was also considered as part of the development of the policy. 
Individual needs of employees were recognised and represented within the policy.

 Key findings
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another)

The nature of the working environment and the diverse groups of people using the 
different stock of buildings results in a variety of ways people have to adjust to 
circumstances. People have individual needs and require a comfortable working 
environment. This policy looks to ensure a consistent working environment, but 
recognises individual needs and the requirement to make reasonable adjustments where 
necessary.

3

Page 251



EDCI Screening Template updated January 2014

 Actions
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact)
The policy intends to ensure a consistent temperature working environment, recognises 
individual needs and has information about making reasonable adjustments. It would look 
to ensure a future provision that allows a level of control and a responsibility.

We will explore the production of a “top tips” document that would provide practical 
guidance for council employees for developing a better and more comfortable working 
environment.
Consideration will be made to monitor the outcome of the Energy Policy from an equality 
perspective.
Further consideration will need to be given to equality for specific projects listed as part of 
the action plan, at earliest opportunity.

4

Page 252



EDCI Screening Template updated January 2014

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment.

Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: na

Date to complete your impact assessment na

Lead person for your impact assessment
(Include name and job title)

na

6. Governance, ownership and approval
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening
Name Job title Date

Polly Cook Executive Programme 
Manager

12th November 2015

Date screening completed 12th November 2015

7. Publishing
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision. 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report: 

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council.

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions. 

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record.

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent:
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services 

Date sent: TBA

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate

Date sent: na

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk

Date sent: na

5

Page 253

mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk
mailto:equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Report of Director of City Development 

Report to Executive Board

Date: 16 December 2015 

Subject: Response to Sir David Higgins’ decision about the HS2 station location

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s): City and Hunslet, Rothwell, Garforth & 
Swillington, Temple Newsam, Harewood

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues 

1. Members will recall that at the Executive Board meeting of the 17 December 2014 
they considered a response to Sir David Higgins report ‘Rebalancing Britain from 
HS2 towards a national strategy’. Specifically members agreed to the Council taking 
a leading role in the Sir David Higgins Leeds station working group to find the 
optimum solution for the arrival and integration of HS2 and HS3 into Leeds City 
Centre, which supports both the growth of rail through the creation of a major rail 
interchange in Leeds City Centre, and meets our local connectivity, place making 
and regeneration ambitions.

2. Accordingly the Council has worked collaboratively with HS2 Ltd, the Chamber of 
Commerce, the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, and other stakeholders and 
taken the lead role to inform the development of Sir David Higgins report titled ‘The 
Yorkshire Hub, An interim report on the redevelopment of Leeds station’.

3. On 30 November 2015, Sir David Higgins set out his proposed solution for HS2 
arriving into Leeds. This proposes a preferred solution of an integrated T shaped 
configuration station in the Leeds South Bank that will be the Yorkshire hub for 
local, regional and national services and also be a catalyst for regeneration in our 
expanding city centre. This would replace proposals for a HS2 terminus at New 
Lane, also in the Leeds South Bank. Plan A shows this location in its context and 
Plan B is an indicative illustration showing one design concept for the HS2 station in 
Leeds. This recommendation has been made by Sir David Higgins to the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer and Secretary of State for Transport for them to 

Report author: L Arnell/ E Hunter

Tel:  x75408

Page 255

Agenda Item 16



consider in his report titled ‘The Yorkshire Hub’, An Interim report on the 
Redevelopment of Leeds Station (Appendix 1).

4. This report recommends that the Council agrees to welcome Sir David’s 
conclusions as the right solution for the city and the city region. Our aspirations for 
the Best City alongside our aspirations for the growth of the City Region have 
steered the debate and it is proposed that the Council welcome the idea for an 
integrated station due to the wide ranging benefits it will provide. This paper also 
sets out the proposed next steps to deliver HS2 in the city and the city’s masterplan 
for the regeneration of the South Bank. 

5. Leeds station is already the busiest station in the North of England and is a major 
national piece of transport infrastructure, serving as a hub for the city, Leeds City 
Region, Yorkshire and the rest of the country. That means that any future plans to 
accommodate HS2's needs at Leeds station must take full account of existing 
services and those anticipated to be added as a result of the improved regional 
connectivity and the Northern Powerhouse that will deliver improved links to 
Manchester and Liverpool in the West, and York, Newcastle and Hull in the East.

6. Leeds City Region is inherently polycentric with a population dispersed across a 
number of different centres. To ensure all of the city region benefits fully from HS2, 
Members have outlined clearly that people should be able to interchange quickly 
and easily between HS2 and other rail services, as well as other transport links. 
Currently, some services across Leeds City Region are constrained by capacity at 
Leeds station. Better transport makes jobs more accessible and allows businesses 
to increase trade, share ideas and reduce costs. To properly maximise HS2’s 
benefits, seamless interchange is needed for the three million people who live in 
Leeds City Region.  

7. The Council also wants to make sure that the new connections high speed rail can 
bring and the station itself are major contributions towards the Best Council 
objective for sustainable and inclusive economic growth by supporting jobs and 
employment, as well as our best city ambition for Leeds to have a city centre that is 
widely recognised as an exemplar 21st century city that is inclusive, friendly and 
cutting edge by residents, visitors, businesses and place-makers alike. The station 
should provide a high quality sense of arrival and passenger experience.

8. The original proposal of a separate HS2 terminus at New Lane, some distance from 
the existing station, was not commensurate with these ambitions for Leeds and the 
City Region. Those original proposals would not have created a single hub that met 
Members’ expectations. The interchange between HS2 and other services would 
have been difficult, limiting the benefits of HS2 to the city region. The Council was 
therefore able to persuade HS2 Ltd to re-look at the New Lane proposal and, over 
the last year, the Council has been working hard to ensure that different options 
were reviewed and ultimately that the integrated ‘T’ is the solution now proposed. 
 

9. In addition to seeking Executive Board support for this proposal, it is also proposed  
that the Council provides support to the following principles to steer forward the 
delivery of HS2:

Page 256



a) The existing station and the HS2 station should share a common concourse 
for passengers to allow easy access between HS2 and other services, 
including improved city region services and Northern Powerhouse Rail. The 
concourse should have easy access to the city centre, the South Bank and 
the waterfront.

b) The new combined station should have good quality car and bus access 
enabling it to become a fully integrated transport hub for the region.

c) The new station and its approaches should have sufficient capacity and be 
future proofed to allow for the improvements needed to accommodate 
significant increases in rail services resulting from the Northern Powerhouse 
Rail network, and on city region rail routes. This should include four tracking 
to the east of the existing station.

d) The station and its approaches should allow for ‘through’ trains to enhance 
local services to the rest of the city region. This should include a connection 
between HS2 and the existing network, to enable some classic compatible 
HS2 trains to run through the existing station to and from York and beyond.

e) The design of the combined station (including the existing concourse areas) 
should reflect the significance of its role and place not just for Leeds and 
Yorkshire, but as a major national landmark. It should be a world class iconic 
design, surrounded by outstanding public realm, in line with the masterplan 
for development and growth of Leeds South Bank, one of the most significant 
regeneration projects in Europe. The station needs to create an attractive 
environment for all users of the city centre, including pedestrians moving 
across the city centre who need to walk through and around the station but 
may not be rail users

10.The proposed station, which is an integrated hub based on a T-shape configuration, 
best meets these principles and aspirations of Members. It will enable seamless 
interchange between HS2 trains, the proposed Northern Powerhouse Rail services, 
and local and regional trains. This will spread the benefits of HS2 and, along with 
the improvements we are proposing to the local rail network, will provide faster and 
better rail journeys for the three million people who live in Leeds City Region. It will 
connect the major city of Bradford, and significant towns such as Halifax, 
Huddersfield, Dewsbury, Wakefield, Harrogate, and Selby into the national high 
speed network. It will enable future increases in capacity for city region services and 
Northern Powerhouse Rail, and provide the potential for a connection to enable 
some HS2 services to run through Leeds station. City Region Leaders and the 
Chamber of Commerce signed a letter of support that accompanied the report by 
Sir David Higgins. This concensus from the city region helped and strengthen the 
case both locally and nationally.   

11.This paper also proposes that Executive Board agree for Leeds City Council to work 
with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority, the Chamber of Commerce, Transport 
for the North, Department for Transport, Network Rail and HS2 Ltd to progress 
rapidly the work on the detailed design for the Yorkshire Hub. In doing so, the paper 
proposes that the Council needs a clear commitment from Government and 

Page 257



Network Rail to fund not only HS2 to Leeds, but also the improvements to the 
existing rail network and station areas, as well as Northern Powerhouse Rail. The 
Council also needs to ensure we have the funding powers and resources to 
remodel our local transport network, facilitate regeneration and public realm in 
Leeds City Centre to make the most of the opportunity. 

12.Notwithstanding the Council’s support for HS2, this report also re-affirms that the 
Council recognises that the proposed line of route has significant, and in places 
unacceptable, impacts on local communities which will undermine the economic 
and social benefits of HS2. The paper sets out how the Council will continue to 
press HS2 Ltd and the Government on the mitigation of the line of route. 

13.Lastly, the report sets out the next steps for the Leeds South Bank masterplan and 
proposals to commence detailed work to deliver a world class regeneration vision 
for this area of the city, alongside work to secure short term investments into the 
existing station.

Recommendations

14.Executive Board is recommended to:

i) Welcome and support the conclusions of the report from Sir David Higgins  
‘The Yorkshire Hub’, An Interim Report on the redevelopment of Leeds 
Station’ that the the location of the HS2 station in Leeds should be a ‘T’ 
shaped configured integrated station;

ii) Agree that the Council continues to press HS2 Ltd and the Government on 
the mitigation of the line of route and to review compensation arrangements 
for those adversely affected;

iii) In accordance with recommendation i) agree to the following principles as a 
basis by which the Council will support the development of the station:

a) The existing station and the HS2 station should share a common 
concourse for passengers to allow easy access between HS2 and other 
services, including improved city region services and Northern 
Powerhouse Rail. The concourse should have easy access to the city 
centre, the South Bank and the waterfront.

b) The new combined station should have good quality car and bus access 
enabling it to become a fully integrated transport hub for the region.

c) The new station and its approaches should have sufficient capacity and 
be future proofed to allow for the improvements needed to accommodate 
significant increases in rail services resulting from the Northern 
Powerhouse Rail network, and on city region rail routes. This should 
include four tracking to the east of the existing station.

d) The station and its approaches should allow for through trains to enhance 
local services to the rest of the city region. This should include a 

Page 258



connection between HS2 and the existing network, to enable some 
classic compatible HS2 trains to run through the existing station to and 
from York and beyond.

e) The design of the combined station (including the existing concourse 
areas) should reflect the significance of its role and place not just for 
Leeds and Yorkshire, but as a major national landmark. It should be a 
world class iconic design, surrounded by outstanding public realm, in line 
with the masterplan for development and growth of Leeds South Bank, 
one of the most significant regeneration projects in Europe. The station 
needs to create an attractive environment for all users of the city centre, 
including pedestrians moving across the city centre who need to walk 
through and around the station but may not be rail users.

 
iv) Agree that the Council takes a lead role in the work with HS2 Ltd, DfT, 

Network Rail, Transport for the North and WYCA to develop a long term plan 
for the station, including the necessary short term improvements, its 
integration with the transport network and its seamless integration with the 
city itself.

v) Agree that the Council now progresses detailed work on a HS2 Growth 
Strategy to maximise the growth associated with HS2 for the city, and city 
region, also agree that the Council works closely with City Region districts 
and West Yorkshire Combined Authority and Central Government on its 
development. 

vi) Agree that the Council now finalises the masterplan for the Southbank area 
to help realise the potential regeneration and place making opportunities of 
the new station, and develop a policy approach that will maximise the social, 
physical and economic benefits from HS2 and to facilitate the design of a 
world class arrival space.

vii) Request a more detailed report, submitted in 2016, outlining the conclusions 
from the Masterplanning work prior to full public consultation commencing, an 
update on the Leeds HS2 growth strategy and note that the Director of City 
Development will be responsible for implementing these actions. 

Page 259



1. Purpose of this report

1.1. This report provides Executive Board with an update on the work on HS2 in the 
Leeds City Region. This follows the approval of the Council’s response to the HS2 
Phase 2 proposed line of route formal consultation in December 2013, and its 
approval to work with Government to consider the best way of accommodating 
future rail in the city in December 2014. This report also sets out the main 
principles for the continued development of the Council’s policy in relation to 
Leeds station, and considers how the Council can realise the regeneration and 
economic growth benefits of enhanced connectivity.
  

2. Background information

2.1. The high speed rail line will be an entirely new route designed for a new fleet of 
trains travelling at 225mph, but with potential for 250mph, giving an indicative 
journey time of 1 hour 22 minutes from Leeds to London Euston. It is not just 
about times to London though, HS2 will cut journey times in half between Leeds 
and Birmingham, and when taking the eastern leg via Sheffield and the East 
Midlands, it creates a new integrated economic corridor with an8 million 
population and 4 million jobs. 

2.2. The HS2 network will provide high frequency and high capacity services for 
passengers. It will be delivered in two phases, with the first phase from London to 
Birmingham and the second phase from Birmingham to Leeds via an eastern leg 
and to Manchester via a western leg. An anticipated three trains per hour could 
run from London to each of the destinations of Birmingham, Manchester and 
Leeds, with each carrying up to 1,100 passengers with additional services 
between Birmingham and the Northern cities.

2.3. The Council has supported the Government’s initial proposals for the High Speed 
Rail Phase 2 route from Birmingham to Leeds, with in principle support given at 
the 15 February 2013 Executive Board. Following this in principle support, the 
Council submitted a formal representation to Phase Two proposed line of route 
consultation, approved by Executive Board in December 2013. A five point plan, 
setting out the basis for our consultation response to securing the best outcomes 
for our region includes;

i)   Build from the North 
ii) Invest early to better connect the Leeds City Region’s cities and towns
iii) Address concerns about the route 
iv) Review compensation arrangements 
v) Successful management of the budget

2.4. In March 2014 the HS2 Growth Task Force, set up by the Government to 
maximise growth and the job opportunities from HS2, published an independent 
report to Government on maximising the benefits of HS2. This focused on the 
themes of ‘getting our cities ready, getting our transport network ready, getting our 
people ready and getting our businesses ready’.

Page 260



2.5. Also in March 2014, Sir David Higgins, the then new Chairman of HS2 Ltd, 
published his report ‘HS2 plus’, which recognised the need to integrate HS2 with 
the existing network to maximise connectivity and to make improvements to that 
network. Northern connectivity was a key emphasis of the report, acknowledging 
that connectivity in the North is poor, both between the region and London, and 
east to west. The incremental schemes of the Northern Hub project will improve 
that connectivity, but HS2 brings the opportunity to do much more. 

2.6. In October 2014, Sir David published a subsequent report ‘Rebalancing Britain 
from HS2 towards a national transport strategy’.  The report stated that the 
strategic proposal for Phase Two is right and ‘there should be an Eastern leg from 
Birmingham to Leeds via the East Midlands and South Yorkshire, and a Western 
leg from Birmingham to Manchester via Crewe. Building both legs is the only way 
to deliver the strategic reductions in journey times and extra capacity that are 
needed, and to do so on an equitable basis’. Sir David also endorsed the principal 
point of One North: that we need a step-change in East-West journey times and 
capacity.

2.7. The report also set out a review into the proposed location of the HS2 station in 
Leeds which was previously announced as being located at New Lane in the 
Leeds South Bank.  This review was announced in the context of capacity 
constraints and future demands on the existing station, the potential for enhanced 
connectivity between Northern city’s (Northern Powerhouse Rail) and the 
proposals for HS2. The Council played an important role re-opening the debate 
about the station and saw the opportunity to achieve a better station solution for 
the City Region. 

2.8. In December 2014, Executive Board agreed the policy principles of how the 
Council would work with partners to secure HS2 to the city and principles to guide 
the station review work and close working with Government. The Council has 
since been working closely with HS2, DfT, WYCA, Network Rail and city region 
districts on the review into the options for the HS2 station. In parallel and in 
conjunction with this work, the Council has been working closely with Councils 
from across the North on developing proposals for enhanced East/ West services 
as part of Northern Powerhouse Rail. 

3. Main issues

3.1. Sir David Higgins Report: ‘The Yorkshire Hub’, An interim report on the 
redevelopment of Leeds station. 

3.1.1. On 30 November 2015, Sir David Higgins published ‘The Yorkshire Hub’, An 
interim report on the redevelopment of Leeds station’.  The report summarises the 
process that has been followed in the previous 12 month to review the station 
location.

3.1.2. The report sets out that;

Page 261



 Leeds Station will continue to be part of this country’s national infrastructure, 
with anticipated passenger flows on a par with Gatwick Airport. Network Rail 
forecast a 114% increase in passenger numbers over the next thirty years.

 Any future plans to accommodate HS2’s needs at Leeds station must take full 
account not only of HS2, but also continued growth in existing services and 
those anticipated to be added as a result of the Northern Powerhouse agenda, 
including HS3.

 HS2 selected three options from a longer list to prompt further discussion and 
analysis. These were an ‘eastern approach’ station that had platforms parallel 
to existing station platforms at Sovereign Square (option 1), a ‘T’ configured 
station that integrates with the existing station (option 2) and New Lane (option 
3).

3.1.3. The conclusion from option 1(Eastern Approach) was that “while this offers the 
prospect of a more compact and integrated station, it does so at the expense of 
future local services and eight years of disruption during construction”. The 
analysis of this option detailed the major issues of the station being able to 
accommodate capacity growth and there was not enough space to meet 
demands.
 

3.1.4. The conclusion from option 3 (New Lane), was that “this retains the capacity to 
expand local services, but the lack of shared common concourse will make 
moving between them and HS2 more difficult and make the HS2 station more 
isolated from the city centre”. Whilst the analysis noted the regeneration benefits 
of this option, Sir David highlighted the cons in so far of the issues caused by the 
lack of shared concourse, passengers being exposed to the elements when 
moving between the two stations, as well as the lack of support from regional 
authorities. 

3.1.5. The conclusion from option 2 (the ‘T’ configuration) was that “this connects HS2 
and existing rail services through a common concourse, allows for the growth in 
Northern Powerhouse and local services, and provides easy access to the city 
centre and motorway network, whilst creating the potential for a landmark 
architectural statement”. The analysis details the wide ranging pros from this 
option. The analysis highlights the need for sensitive design to mitigate potential 
impacts on conservation areas, environmental impacts on the waterfront, ensuring 
the design fits into Leeds’ vision for the city. 

3.1.6. In conclusion, Sir David Higgins recommends that option 2 (the T configured 
station) is the location of the HS2 station, and the integrated station is referred to 
as the ‘Yorkshire Hub’. 

3.1.7. Sir David outlines “how the process of engagement we [HS2] have gone through, 
in partnership with the region, to decide the best option for the Yorkshire Hub has 
been a model of its kind”. The report sets out that the national significance of the 
Yorkshire Hub means that it is essential the quality of the design and surrounding 
public realm are world class.  

3.1.8. The report also articulates how design is at a very early stage with much work 
remaining to be done, but sets out that the time is now to begin the work. The 

Page 262



report and recommendation have now been issued to the Chancellor of the 
Exchequer and Secretary of State for Transport. 
  

3.2. Council’s response

3.2.1. Sir David’s report is the outcome of substantial work and collaboration between 
HS2, the Council, WYCA and Network Rail. This has provided an opportunity for 
the Council to play a lead role in the review of the station location.
 

3.2.2. Working closely with HS2, Members have indicated a clear aspiration to secure 
an integrated station that will benefit the city and city region. It is considered that 
the proposal for a T configured integrated station is the best way to achieve this 
as:

• It will enable seamless interchange between HS2 trains, the proposed Northern 
Powerhouse Rail services, and local and regional trains. 

• This option will spread the benefits of HS2 and, along with the improvements we 
are proposing to the local rail network, will provide faster and better rail journeys 
for the three million people who live in the Leeds City Region. 

• It will connect the major city of Bradford, and significant towns such as Halifax, 
Huddersfield, Dewsbury, Wakefield, Harrogate, and Selby into the national high 
speed network. 

• It will enable future increases in capacity for city region services and Northern 
Powerhouse Rail, and provides the potential for a connection to enable some HS2 
services to run through Leeds station.

• It will provide for a truly integrated station for the city and region and will be 
amongst the most unique stations in the country.

• Its location in the South Bank can be a catalyst for substantial economic growth 
and regeneration.

3.2.3. It is proposed that the Council provides its full support to the decision of Sir David 
on the basis of the benefits set out above. 

3.2.4. In doing so, Executive Board is asked to agree to the following more detailed 
principles to help steer forward the further development of the proposed HS2 
station to maximise these benefits for the city and city region:

a) The existing station and the HS2 station should share a common concourse for 
passengers to allow easy access between HS2 and other services, including 
improved city region services and Northern Powerhouse Rail. The concourse 
should have easy access to the city centre, the South Bank and the waterfront.

b) The new combined station should have good quality car and bus access enabling 
it to become a fully integrated transport hub for the region.

c) The new station and its approaches should have sufficient capacity and be future 
proofed to allow for the improvements needed to accommodate significant 
increases in rail services resulting from the Northern Powerhouse Rail network, 
and on city region rail routes. This should include four tracking to the east of the 
existing station.

d) The station and its approaches should allow for through trains to enhance local 
services to the rest of the city region. This should include a connection between 

Page 263



HS2 and the existing network, to enable some classic compatible HS2 trains to 
run through the existing station to and from York and beyond.

e) The design of the combined station (including the existing concourse areas) 
should reflect the significance of its role and place not just for Leeds and 
Yorkshire, but as a major national landmark. It should be a world class iconic 
design, surrounded by outstanding public realm, in line with the masterplan for 
development and growth of Leeds South Bank, one of the most significant 
regeneration projects in Europe. The station needs to create an attractive 
environment for all users of the city centre, including pedestrians moving across 
the city centre who need to walk through and around the station but may not be 
rail users.

3.2.5. Activity and work in the city will now seek to move the HS2 proposition closer to 
delivery to achieve the best possible outcome and station for the city. Executive 
Board agreeing these principles- principles also set out in the Sir David Higgins’ 
report - will help to guide the work that takes place and ensure a clear strategic 
remit for further dialogue.  

3.2.6. The current status of work on HS2 in the city and proposed next steps to progress 
these activities further are set out below.  This also provides justification to the 
principles set out for agreement. 

3.3. Developing an integrated station that best serves the City Region, the North 
and the Country 

3.3.1. Our local rail network has severe overcrowding in peak periods with trains 
approaching Leeds having some of the worst overcrowding outside of London. 
Leeds station, which is already the busiest railway station in the north, has already 
seen significant growth in passenger numbers in recent years and is forecast to 
reach capacity in the next decade. Therefore, the Council need to ensure that 
regional and local services can also grow to serve the needs of the City Region 
now and in the future. 

3.3.2. People and organisation across all our cities and towns can benefit from HS2. 
These places have huge economic scale. Bradford, with a population of half a 
million, and growing fast, is England’s tenth largest city. The districts need fast, 
frequent local links and seamless interchanges to widen the reach and increase 
the benefits of HS2. That is why the city needs the existing station and the HS2 
station to share a common concourse for passengers to allow easy access 
between HS2 and other services. 

3.3.3. The concourse should have equally easy access to the city centre, the South 
Bank and the waterfront. The new combined station should also be planned 
alongside improvements to the transport network enabling it to become a properly 
integrated transport hub for the region. The station needs to be at the heart of a 
seamless passenger experience. On this basis, it is proposed that the Council 
also supports the need for through trains to enhance local services to the rest of 
the region.

3.3.4. The West Yorkshire Combined Authority is leading on an HS2 connectivity 
package, which has identified a high level vision for the Leeds City Region.  The 

Page 264



outcome of which seeks to achieve a ‘maximum journey time of 2 hours from any 
District Hub to London Euston HS2 Terminus, inclusive of interchange time’. 
Further work on transport connectivity for the city region is being commissioned. 
This is crucial for the benefits of HS2 to be spread to the rest of the City Region.

3.3.5. A success of the previous 12 months has been the close partnership between 
Government, the Council, the Combined Authority and Network Rail on the HS2 
proposition. It is proposed to maintain momentum from this close working to 
consider not just HS2, but the integration and development of the entire station. It 
is therefore proposed that the Council takes a lead role in the work with HS2 Ltd, 
DfT, Network Rail, Transport for the North and WYCA to develop a long term plan 
for the station, including the necessary short term improvements, its integration 
with the transport network and its seamless integration with the city itself. It is 
considered that it is a priority for short term enhancements and investments to be 
made into the existing station. 

3.3.6. Whilst the Council supports in principle the high speed rail proposals and has 
welcomed the project and the associated economic benefits as a whole, it also 
recognises that the proposed line of route has significant, and in places 
unacceptable, impacts on local communities which will undermine the economic 
and social benefits of HS2. 

3.3.7. On this matter, the Department for Transport (DfT) published a report High Speed 
Two: East and West, The next steps to Crewe and beyond on 30th November. 
This provides an update on the line of route and the Government’s deliberations 
on this matter. A decision is anticipated in Autumn 2016 on the line of route. The 
report stated that:

“The Government recognises the uncertainty that this [the decision date] 
creates for people along the line of the route but we want to ensure that we 
have taken time to consider a range of issues.

The 2013 consulted route approached Leeds with a viaduct over the River Aire 
flood plain that passed round the village of Woodlesford. Responses to the 
consultation raised concerns around the potential impact on the residents of 
Woodlesford and nearby roads, and on users of the Aire and Calder 
Navigation. As part of continuing route development work we are looking at 
options to respond to these concerns.”

3.3.8. It is proposed that the Council will continue to press HS2 Ltd and the Government 
on the mitigation of the line of route. It is expected that as with any project of such 
a scale the development of the route will be an iterative process of refinement and 
development, both in Leeds and elsewhere, and that this will focus on providing a 
more acceptable financial proposal.  HS2’s approach to route refinement is 
outlined in their letter to the Council dated 30 November 2015, Appendix 2.

3.4. Developing a world class station gateway 

Page 265



3.4.1. It is imperative that the Council works with HS2 to get the HS2 station design and 
its integration in the fabric of the city right. Our city ambition is for Leeds to have a 
city centre that is widely recognised as an exemplar 21st Century city that is 
inclusive, friendly and cutting edge by residents, visitors, businesses and place-
makers alike. 

3.4.2. Planning for a HS2 city centre station offers the once in a life time opportunity to 
revisit our place making aspirations for Leeds as a city, and as a city region 
economic and transport hub. A new HS2 station, enhanced northern connectivity 
offer, and delivery of a city centre transport strategy with an associated public 
realm offer comparable to leading European cities will provide a catalyst to further 
unlock the regeneration potential of the South Bank. 

3.4.3. Put simply, the new station needs to become a landmark architectural statement 
that Leeds, the City Region, Yorkshire and the nation can be proud of.

3.4.4. Whilst the Council is not responsible for designing the station, the Council have 
already commissioned work to look at masterplanning principles across the South 
Bank to accommodate HS2. Now the city has a recommendation from Sir David 
Higgins for the station, the Council can go ahead with more detailed work, 
engaging with interested parties, landowners and communities.  The ambition is to 
provide design principles for a world-class arrival space and interchange in terms 
of design, ease of access and sustainability. The master planning will include a re-
evaluation of land usages to maximise economic growth opportunities of a HS2 
station.

3.4.5. To achieve a world class vision for the station and South Bank, the masterplan will 
carefully consider matters such the external treatments to the station, different 
modes of transport interchange (e.g cycling, taxis, buses), how the station is 
embedded into the streetscene of the South Bank and how to make the most of 
the waterfront in any station design. A key component will be to ensure good ‘east 
west’ and ‘north south’ permeability through the station for pedestrians, without 
ticket or security barriers, to help maximise the regeneration benefits and 
employment opportunities. 

3.4.6. The masterplan will also consider potential development opportunities where 
there are spaces underneath and next to the HS2 station and how these could 
create a world class place and signify Leeds’ role as an internationally important 
city. These detailed matters will need to be considered alongside operational 
requirements of the station operators and through close collaboration with 
interested parties on detailed matters. 

3.4.7. With recent South Bank developments announced at sites such as Tower Works, 
Round Foundry and the comprehensive proposals of Burberry, there is a real 
opportunity for the city to drive forward HS2 associated regeneration in the South 
Bank from an early stage. It is not considered that the Council or city should wait 
forHS2 to open to drive this agenda: planning and delivery for this regeneration 
should start now to achieve the ambitions for the city

Page 266



3.4.8. There are challenges for the city to achieve this ambition. The proposed station 
location will see some displacement of existing businesses and employment. 
There is a risk of blight in the South Bank in the short to medium term prior to HS2 
being built as landowners consider their proposals. A main focus will be to seek 
the relocation of this employment within the city and, where possible, within the 
Leeds South Bank, and to ensure regeneration momentum remains for the South 
Bank in line with a world class vision for this area. Key to this will be to provide as 
much certainty as possible to the planning policy situation. Clarifying the planning 
policy position and developing a shared vision may be one way by which to 
mitigate this risk, along with the city having a clear land assembly, investment and 
delivery plan to ensure the city has a proactive position to make the most of HS2 
from an early stage. 

3.4.9. It is also considered critical that physical, social and economic links are enhanced 
with the communities living near to the station in the Holbeck, Richmond Hill and 
Beeston areas of the City, so that people living in these areas have better 
opportunities to gain access to the new jobs created in this area. The arrival of 
HS2 as part of a city centre strategy is a major opportunity to tackle some of the 
longstanding issues of severance for these communities and ensure that the 
social benefits of regeneration initiatives are maximised.

3.4.10.  A key element of the rethinking Leeds City Centre is the City Centre Transport 
Strategy. This is a package of physical works within the City Centre and on the 
Inner Ring Road and M621 that will be required to reduce the level of through 
traffic, improve connectivity, enhance the environment and urban realm and 
provide an HS2 ready site. Work is currently progressing though the West 
Yorkshire Transport Fund and Executive Board approved the principle in October 
2015.

3.4.11. Mechanisms for a Delivery Vehicle to ensure there is the capacity to deliver these 
regeneration ambitions were agreed in principle by Executive Board in March 
2015. It is through this collaboration with London and Continental Railways that 
the Council proposes to deliver regeneration associated activities. 

3.4.12. In order to maximise the development and regeneration benefits of a new high 
speed rail station in Leeds the Council is exploring funding and financing options 
including Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) where future gains in tax are used to 
fund current improvements. This work will now depend on what the Council’s 
aspirations are for a wider devolved package of funding measures but it is 
considered imperative that appropriate and flexible funding and financial 
mechanisms are in place for the city to drive forward the growth associated with 
HS2. 

3.4.13. It is proposed that work now commences in greater detail on the masterplan and 
for a report to be brought back to Executive Board in 2016 with a draft masterplan 
for Executive Board endorsement. This will set out any potential implications on 
existing Planning Policies and guidance for the South Bank and will seek approval 
to commence detailed and full public consultation on the masterplan. Alongside 
this, a delivery plan will be developed focussing on how to secure and maximise 
growth for the city, land assembly requirements and defining the infrastructure 

Page 267



requirements to deliver the city’s ambition. Further work will take place to consider 
the funding proposals and mechanisms of such work. 

3.5. HS2 Ready

3.5.1. Together with the rest of the Leeds City Region it proposed that the Council will 
make sure that our people, businesses, cities and transport are ready for HS2. As 
the Council develop our proposals we will assemble a Leeds City Region Growth 
Strategy that will need to align our investment plans for HS2 with the Leeds 
Strategic Economic Plan Spatial Priorities and emerging West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority Single Transport Plan. This will also need to take into account 
any devolution deal and the fiscal measures that come with it so the Council can 
understand what we can fund locally and what we may still need help with.

3.5.2. The Council have also played a part in the establishment of 'Transport for the 
North' and welcomed the document that set out a Northern Transport Strategy in 
March 2015. The Council have come together with other northern authorities to 
create a single voice for the North and will continue to work through this 
Partnership to deliver a transformation to the North’s transport network.

3.5.3. In terms of timescales the expectation from Government is that Phase 1 HS2 
stations will be further advanced with their HS2 programmes and associated 
Growth Strategies. This was reflected in the Regional Growth Deal support 
focussed on Phase 1 locations in 2014 and Government have indicated that they 
will support our Growth Strategy development later in 2016. The Council feel we 
need to continue the momentum and will make sure that the Council progress our 
plans ready for that engagement with Government. 

4. Corporate Considerations

4.1. Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1. Engagement is ongoing through the HS2 Regional Programme Board, with 
District Local Authorities, WYCA, LEP, HS2 Ltd, DfT, Network Rail, and the 
Chamber of Commerce. The WYCA Transport Investment Committee has been 
consulted on the Leeds City Region HS2 Connectivity Package Vision. Wider 
stakeholder engagement has happened through various events planned by the 
city and others over the last year. The Council expect this conversation to 
continue as we develop the work further. 

4.1.2. There will be comprehensive and full public consultation on the South Bank 
masterplan once this has been endorsed for consultation by the Executive Board. 
The intention would be to source as much input and feedback into this as 
possible, given the transformational benefits and changes the masterplan will 
advocate in shaping the city centre for the next one hundred years. 

4.2. Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

Page 268



4.2.1. The need for an Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening / Impact 
Assessment has not been identified at this time, as this is a strategic response to 
Sir David Higgin’s recommendations for a national infrastructure project. However, 
as the project proceeds through the planning and design stage and detailed 
implications and consequences for the City are identified the appropriate EDCI 
assessments/screening procedures will be invoked. 

4.2.2. Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.2.3. The anticipated economic benefits of high speed rail have the potential to 
contribute to the Vision for Leeds 2030 to be the best city in the UK and to 
contribute to the wider objectives of the Local Development Framework, Core 
Strategy and South Bank Planning Statement.

4.2.4. The proposals also have the potential to be developed to make a major 
contribution towards the Best Council objective for sustainable and inclusive 
economic growth by supporting jobs and employment with new and improved rail 
connectivity in the City Region and beyond. The main themes of “Good Growth” 
and “21st Century Infrastructure” form the report of the Commission for the Future 
of Local Government are also relevant.

4.2.5. Improvements to strategic connectivity support the city’s priorities as well as the 
draft West Yorkshire Single Local Transport Plan, the West Yorkshire Plus 
Transport Fund, Rail North Strategy and the Northern Transport Strategy.

4.2.6. It is recognised that there are consequences for local communities in achieving 
the benefits that HS2 brings.  It is therefore essential that the final scheme 
integrates with the environment and communities and that HS2 Ltd, as the 
promoter, fully engage with the communities and business affected.  The 
Council’s consultation response emphasised that further detailed work on the 
proposals by the Department of Transport and HS2 Ltd is essential to 
demonstrate an acceptable scheme with appropriate mitigation and compensation 
arrangements.

4.3. Resources and value for money 

4.3.1. Council funding is being used to support the work as outlined above including the 
preparation of an economic evidence base, funding and finance options appraisal 
and station master planning. This is budgeted from existing resources. As part of 
the budget setting process for 2016/17, funds will be sought to continue this work. 
It is considered, however, that there may be scope to seek Local Growth Deal 
funding or funding from Government to support the Council and city’s activities to 
maximise growth across the city region 

4.4. Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.4.1. This report is eligible for call-in.

Page 269



4.4.2. There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. HS2 is however a 
large and complex project in which the City Council will have an increasing stake 
and which in due course is likely to raise wide ranging issues of legal and 
regulatory nature in terms of both regulatory, property and environmental matters.

4.5. Risk Management

4.5.1. There are no immediate risk management issues arising from the contents of this 
report. Appropriate arrangements are being put in place as the Council’s 
engagement with the project is developed. With further certainty on the location of 
the station, the Council can now be in a position to mitigate risks of blight to the 
regeneration planning of the South Bank and put into place a clear delivery plan to 
secure growth for the city. 

5. Conclusions

5.1. HS2 presents a major opportunity to transform the city’s connectivity to other parts 
of the country and act as a major catalyst for regeneration and growth. The Sir 
David Higgins review has seen the proposed location of the HS2 station in Leeds 
change to be an integrated station in a ‘T’ shaped configuration. This will provide 
substantial benefits for the city and city region with Leeds station as a Yorkshire 
hub for local, regional and national services and also as a catalyst for 
regeneration in our expanding city centre. 

5.2. Executive Board agreeing its support for the proposals and the principles of how it 
wishes for the station design to develop will provide further impetus to the HS2 
proposals in the city and city region. In particular they will allow the masterplan for 
the South Bank to accommodate HS2 to progress in further detail, and specific 
proposals to deliver regeneration, enhanced growth and connectivity for the city. 

6.0 Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to:

i) Welcome and support the conclusions of the report from Sir David Higgins 
‘The Yorkshire Hub’.  An interim Report on the redevelopment of Leeds 
Station’ that the location of the JS2 station in leeds should be a ‘T’ shaped 
configured integrated station;

ii) Agree that the Council continues to press HS2 Limited and the Government 
on the mitigation of the line of route and to review compensation 
arrangements for those adversely affected;

iii) In accordance with recommendation i) agree to the following principles as a 
basis by which the Council will support the development of the station;

a) The existing station and the HS2 station should share a common 
concourse for passengers to allow easy access between HS2 and other 
services, including improved city region services and Northern 

Page 270



Powerhouse Rail.  The concourse should have easy access to the city 
centre, the South Bank and the waterfront.

b) The new combined station should have good quality car and bus access 
enabling it to become a fully integrated transport hub for the region.

c) The new station and its approaches should have sufficient capacity and 
be future proofed to allow for the improvements needed to accommodate 
significant increases in rail services resulting from the Northern 
Powerhouse Rail network, and on city region rail routes.  This should 
include four tracking to the east of the existing station.

d) The station and its approaches should allow for through trains to enhance 
local services to the rest of the city region.  This should include a 
connection between HS2 and the existing network, to enable some 
classic compatible HS2 trains to run through the existing station to and 
from York and beyond.

e) The design of the combined station (including the existing concourse 
areas) should reflect the significance of its role and place not just for 
Leeds and Yorkshire, but as a major national landmark.  It should be a 
world class iconic design, surrounded by outstanding public realm, in line 
with the masterplan for development and growth of Leeds South Bank, 
one of the most significant regeneration projects in Europe.  The station 
needs to create an attractive environment for all users of the city centre, 
including pedestrians moving across the city centre who need to walk 
through and around the station but may not to rail users.

iv) Agree that the Council takes a lead role in the work with HS2 Limited, DfT, 
Network Rail, Transport for the North and WYCA to develop a long term plan 
for the station, including the necessary short term improvements, its 
integration with the transport network and its seamless integration with the 
city itself.

v) Agree that the Council now progresses detailed work on the HS2 Growth 
Strategy to maximise the growth associated with HS2 for the city, and city 
region, also agree that the Council works closely with City Region districts 
and West Yorkshire Combined Authority and Central Government on its 
development.

vi) Agree that the Council now finalises the masterplan for the Southbank area 
to help realise the potential regeneration and place making opportunities of 
the new station, and develop a policy approach that will maximise the social, 
physical and economic benefits from HS2 and to facilitate the design of a 
world class arrival space.

vii) Request a more detailed report, submitted in 2016, outlining the conclusions 
from the Masterplanning work prior to full public consultation commencing, an 
update on the Leeds HS2 growth strategy and note that the Director of City 
Development will be responsible for implementing these actions.

Page 271



7.0 Background Documents1

7.1        None.

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 272



The Yorkshire Hub

An interim report  
on the redevelopment  

of Leeds station

Page 273



High Speed Two (HS2) Limited,  
One Canada Square, 
Canary Wharf, 
London E14 5AB

Telephone: 020 7944 4908

General email enquiries: HS2enquiries@hs2.org.uk

Website: www.gov.uk/hs2

High Speed Two (HS2) Limited has been tasked by the Department for 
Transport (DfT) with managing the delivery of a new national high speed  
rail network. It is a non-departmental public body wholly owned by the DfT.

High Speed Two (HS2) Limited has actively considered the needs of blind and 
partially sighted people in accessing this document. The text will be made 
available in full on the HS2 website. The text may be freely downloaded and 
translated by individuals or organisations for conversion into other accessible 
formats. If you have other needs in this regard please contact High Speed 
Two (HS2) Limited.

© High Speed Two (HS2) Limited, 2015, except where otherwise stated. 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with High Speed Two 
(HS2) Limited.

This information is licensed under the Open Government Licence v2.0. To view 
this licence, visit www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/ 
version/2  or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, 
Kew, London TW9 4DU, or e-mail: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. Where we 
have identified any third-party copyright information you will need to obtain 
permission from the copyright holders concerned.

Product code: CS427 
Cover image: Leeds City Council 
 

Printed in Great Britain on paper containing at least 75% recycled fibre.

Page 274



3

Background

In January 2013 the Government launched a consultation on the route for 
Phase Two of HS2. This proposed a new HS2 station in Leeds at New Lane. 
During the consultation, Leeds City Council and representatives from across the 
region expressed serious concern about the quality of the linkage between 
HS2 services and existing national and regional rail services at Leeds station. 
Leeds City Council emphasised the importance of creating a hub that was in line 
with their ambition for Leeds and the ambitions of the wider Leeds City Region.

In November 2014, HS2 Ltd published Rebalancing Britain, which recognised 
this issue and the importance of reaching a solution which satisfied broader 
connectivity across the Leeds City Region, and enhanced the economic and 
regeneration aspirations for the area.

In February 2015, the Chancellor of the Exchequer, launching the Long Term 
Economic Plan for Yorkshire, asked David Higgins to prepare this interim 
report, looking specifically at the future of the HS2 station in Leeds.

After continued engagement with Leeds City Council, local authorities across 
West Yorkshire, the Leeds City Region LEP, the West and North Yorkshire 
Chamber of Commerce, and Network Rail, a clear consensus around a single 
preferred option has now emerged.

This interim report is being submitted to the Chancellor of the Exchequer and 
the Secretary of State for Transport to consider, as a recommendation from 
HS2 Ltd. A full route decision on Phase Two of HS2 is expected later in 2016.

“ I have asked Sir David Higgins to produce an interim 
report, to present to me in the Autumn. I want  
this report to explore the options for a major 
redevelopment of Leeds station to prepare for the 
arrival of high speed rail.”
Rt Hon George Osborne MP, Chancellor of the Exchequer, 5 February 2015.

The National Media Museum in BradfordLeeds Dock

Im
ag

es
 L

 to
 R

: i
St

oc
kp

ho
to

, N
at

io
na

l M
ed

ia
 M

us
eu

m
.

Page 275



4

Work in progress. Design concept, view from Neville Street, Leeds Image: Leeds City Council

Page 276



5

Redeveloping Leeds Station 
David Higgins, Chairman, HS2 Ltd

Increase in passenger  
numbers at Leeds station  

over the next 30 years

114%

Leeds station is already the busiest station in the North of England, 
and also a major transport hub for the city, Yorkshire and the wider 
North of England as a whole.

HS2 will provide a step-change in rail capacity and connectivity on the 
corridor between Leeds and London. It will strengthen links between 
Leeds, as one of the largest UK financial and professional services 
centres outside the capital, and London’s global city functions. It will 
bring together the city regions centred on Leeds, Sheffield, Nottingham 
and Birmingham into a coherent and integrated economic zone of 
over ten million people, five million jobs, and some of the UK’s most 
significant manufacturing clusters.

As such, Leeds station will continue to be a major part of this country’s 
national infrastructure, with anticipated passenger flows on a par with 
Gatwick Airport. Network Rail forecasts a 114% increase in passenger 
numbers over the next thirty years.

Leeds City Region has a population of three million, one-and-a-half 
million jobs, and an annual economic output of over £60 billion – over 
5% of the UK economy.

That means that any future plans to accommodate HS2’s needs at 
Leeds station must take full account not only of HS2, but also continued 
growth in existing services and those anticipated to be added as a 
result of the Northern Powerhouse agenda, including HS3.

These plans need to ensure a step change in connectivity not only  
to Leeds, but to Bradford as a major city in its own right, as well as 
Wakefield, Huddersfield, and Halifax and the wider West Yorkshire 
region, while delivering improved links to Manchester and Liverpool 
to the West, and York, North Yorkshire, Newcastle and Hull to the 
North and East, and Sheffield and the East Midlands to the South.

We must ensure HS2 will build on the economic strengths of Leeds and 
Leeds City Region, maximising the benefits of connectivity, jobs and 
skills, and integrated into the City Council’s vision for the Leeds South 
Bank, one of the largest regeneration schemes of its kind in Europe. 
The new station quarter will be a landmark development, creating in 
excess of 10,000 new jobs and attracting £400m of private investment, 
as has been seen by recent announcements. HS2 will also provide a 
boost to the regeneration of the wider South Bank, accelerating the 
delivery of thousands of new homes and jobs.

Im
ag

e:
 H

S2
/B

ob
 M

ar
ti

n

Page 277



6

M
62

H
ar

ro
ga

te

Sk
ip

to
n Br

ad
fo

rd

Yo
rk

To
 th

e 
N

or
th

 E
as

t 
&

 S
co

tla
nd

H
ul

l

D
on

ca
st

er Ro
bi

n 
H

oo
d 

A
irp

or
t

To
w

ar
ds

 
Bi

rm
in

gh
am

 
an

d 
Lo

nd
on

To
w

ar
ds

 D
er

by
 

an
d 

N
ot

tin
gh

am

Sh
effi

el
d 

M
id

la
nd

St
oc

kp
or

t

To
w

ar
ds

 
Bi

rm
in

gh
am

an
d 

Lo
nd

on

M
an

ch
es

te
r

A
ir

po
rt

M
an

ch
es

te
r

P
ic

ca
di

lly

Sa
lfo

rd

Bo
lto

n
Bu

ry
Ro

ch
da

le

H
ud

de
rs

fie
ld

W
ak

efi
el

d Ba
rn

sl
ey

Ro
th

er
ha

m

Le
ed

s 
Br

ad
fo

rd
 

A
irp

or
t

M
62

M
1

A
1

A
1

To
w

ar
ds

 
Lo

nd
on

To
w

ar
ds

 C
re

w
e 

an
d 

St
ok

e

Sh
effi

el
d 

M
ea

do
w

ha
ll

Ex
is

tin
g 

lin
es

H
S2

 li
ne

s
Ro

ad
s

Le
ed

s

H
al

ifa
x

Se
lb

y

To
w

ar
ds

Li
ve

rp
oo

l

To
 th

e 
N

or
th

 W
es

t 
an

d 
Sc

ot
la

nd

Th
e 

Yo
rk

sh
ire

 H
ub

  
in

 L
ee

ds
 s

its
 a

t t
he

 
he

ar
t o

f t
he

 ro
ad

  
an

d 
ra

il 
ne

tw
or

k 
in

 
N

or
th

er
n 

En
gl

an
d 

Page 278



7

Principles to ensure the 
best outcome for Leeds, 

Yorkshire, the North  
and the country

The original New Lane proposals fulfilled HS2’s brief, but did not 
sufficiently take into account the changing nature of the wider factors, 
either in terms of existing and future services or the Council’s plans 
for the city centre. The danger was that the proposed station would 
have been too detached from the existing station and too isolated 
from the city centre. The sum would have been lesser than the parts. 
The hub effect would have been diminished.

Following representations from and detailed engagement with the 
Council, the Chamber of Commerce and representatives from the 
wider region on a range of potential approaches, HS2 selected three 
options from a longer list to prompt further discussion and analysis. 
These are set out in detail on the following pages.

As a result of that discussion, five principles have emerged by which 
to assess these options and to ensure the best outcome for Leeds, 
Yorkshire, the North and the country.

Those principles are:

1. that the existing station and the HS2 station should share a common 
concourse for passengers, to allow easy access between HS2 and 
other services. That concourse should have equally easy access to 
the city centre, the South Bank and the waterfront.

2. that the new combined station should have improved car and bus 
access, enabling it to become a properly integrated transport hub 
for the region.

3. that the new station should have sufficient capacity to allow for the 
anticipated two-thirds increase in traffic resulting from the Northern 
Powerhouse and HS3 initiatives.

4. that it should allow for through trains to enhance both the Northern 
Powerhouse rail plans as well as local services to the rest of the region.

5. that the design of the combined station should reflect the 
significance of its role and place not just for Leeds and Yorkshire, 
but as a major national landmark.

The detailed pros and cons of each option are set out on the following 
pages, but a clear and firm consensus has formed around Option Two, 
reflecting the views of the City Council, the Chamber of Commerce 
and representatives from the wider city region.

This consensus has taken account of not just the collaborative desire 
for the station to enhance the local economy and services, but also 
the physical constraints of the site which impose capacity limitations 
on the eastern route and ruled out alternative options such as double 
decking and tunnelling. It has also taken account of the need to keep 
within the overall Phase Two budget.

A common concourse

A properly integrated 
transport hub

A new station with 
sufficient capacity to 
support the Northern 

Powerhouse

A station allowing  
for through trains to 

enhance local services

A major  
national landmark 

Page 279



8

Approaching from the east,  
with HS2 platforms parallel 

to existing platforms

Option 1

Potential number of classic 
platforms required, according 

to capacity analysis

Number of classic platforms  
that can be provided

 Potential number of services 
required from the West (per hour) 

required to meet future growth
(Source: Advised by Transport for the North)

53

Services from the West (per hour) 
that can be accommodated

44

Page 280



9

Pros:
yy Easy connectivity between the high speed  

and classic services. The “cross-platform” 
connectivity concept is maximised by 
incorporating the high speed platforms 
within the existing station footprint.

yy Supports the concept of more integration 
between the classic and high speed operation. 
The east-west alignment of the high speed 
lines supports the ability to provide connections 
on and off the existing classic network.

yy The east-west alignment of the high speed 
lines supports the ability to run through services, 
particularly for Northern Powerhouse rail.

While this offers the prospect of a more compact and integrated station, 
it does so at the expense of future local services and eight years of 
disruption during construction.

Cons:
yy This option offers significantly less overall 

capacity. It is not practically possible to provide 
sufficient platforms (in addition to the HS2 
platforms) within the existing station footprint 
to operate the level of services predicted to 
meet the future growth in demand. Capacity 
analysis shows that this could require around 
18 platforms, but only 11 would be provided.

yy Incorporating the HS2 platforms within the 
existing station envelope would reduce the 
number of services that could run on the existing 
network in the future. Whilst a maximum of  
44 services an hour could enter Leeds station 
from the West under this option, Transport for 
the North believe it is likely that more may be 
necessary to meet future growth.

yy Using the eastern approach for HS2 would limit 
the capacity for growth of regional services. 

yy Disruption during construction would be 
significant and would result in 5-8 years’ worth 
of impact on existing services. The entrance 
to Leeds station is already constrained, the 
concourse is overcrowded at peak times and is 
in need of modernisation.

yy It would bring more cars further into the centre 
of the city to access the station. The already 
congested road network would be loaded with 
even more cars accessing the city centre.

yy An eastern approach has a significant impact 
on the surrounding environment and heritage, 
with local stakeholders raising specific concerns 
about Leeds Minster. It would also have a 
significant impact on the existing Leeds City 
Region Enterprise Zone in the Aire Valley, and 
would risk deterring business investment in 
that area.

Benefits and drawbacks

Page 281



10

Approaching from the south, with HS2 platforms 
reaching directly into existing Leeds station, 

creating a common concourse between services

Option 2

Number of regional and classic  
platforms that will remain available  

in the existing station

16-22

Page 282



11

Pros:
yy Can facilitate Northern Powerhouse rail 

services to run through the existing station 
via a connection from HS2 to the existing rail 
corridor into the west side of the station.

yy Provides easy connectivity with existing classic 
services by allowing the high speed platforms 
to be positioned adjoining the existing station 
and forming a common concourse area.

yy Does not compromise the future capacity of 
the existing station. The provision of the new 
high speed platforms via a southern approach 
maximises the space available for new and 
existing platforms in the current station to 
cater for the growth in Northern Powerhouse 
regional services and local classic services which 
may require a minimum of 16-22 platforms.

yy Allows easy pedestrian access and permeability 
between the city centre to the North and the 
South Bank regeneration area.

yy Supports regeneration of the South Bank area. 
The southern approach for HS2 enters Leeds 
via the South Bank area of the city and, as such, 
is able to act as a catalyst for the redevelopment 
of the area.

yy Easy access from the M621. The southern 
approach for HS2 would be supported with car 
parking at the southern end of the new high 
speed section of the station, which would be 
within a few hundred yards of the M621.

This connects HS2 and existing rail services through a common concourse, 
allows for the growth in Northern Powerhouse rail and local services, and 
provides easy access to the city centre and motorway network, whilst 
creating the potential for a landmark architectural statement.

Cons:
yy In adjoining the existing station, the new high 

speed platforms will need to cross the River Aire. 
Assessments will need to be carried out with 
the Environment Agency to understand the 
impact this structure will have on (a) the flood 
alleviation schemes that are currently being 
implemented and (b) the water quality and work 
aimed at improving the river habitat.

yy The presence of the new high speed platforms in 
the centre of the city will need to be integrated 
into Leeds’s vision for the city. By fully 
incorporating the station into the fabric of the 
city, the impact of the new station on the public 
realm can be managed.

yy The new platforms would cover the northern 
end of Neville Street and add to the “dark 
arches” that are already a concern from a public 
realm perspective. However, the opportunity 
to address both the area caused by the new 
platforms and the existing underpass beneath 
the station creates the potential to take the 
traffic off Neville Street and provide opportunities 
for retail, commercial and leisure use.

yy The alignment of the new platforms would  
be adjacent to the Canal Wharf and the Leeds 
City Centre conservation areas, requiring 
sympathetic design to mitigate any impact 
on these areas.

Benefits and drawbacks

Page 283



12

Approaching from the south, with HS2 
platforms creating a new station south of 
the river, requiring passengers to transfer 

by foot to the existing Leeds station

Option 3

Connectivity compromised  
with walk between high speed  

and classic platforms

No common concourse  
and outside city centre

Page 284



13

Pros:
yy Can facilitate the Northern Powerhouse rail 

services to run through the existing station via 
a connection to the existing rail corridor into 
the west side of the station.

yy Does not compromise the future capacity of 
the existing station. The provision of the new 
high speed platforms via a southern approach 
maximises the amount of platforms that remain 
available in the existing station to cater for 
the growth in Northern Powerhouse regional 
services and local classic services.

yy Supports regeneration of the South Bank area. 
The southern approach for HS2 enters Leeds via 
the South Bank area of the city and as such is 
able to act as a catalyst for the redevelopment 
of the area.

yy Easy access from the M621. The southern 
approach for HS2 would be supported with car 
parking at the southern end of the new high 
speed section of the station, which would be 
within a few hundred yards of the M621.

Like Option Two, this retains the capacity to expand local services,  
but the lack of a shared common concourse will make moving between 
them and HS2 more difficult and make the HS2 station more isolated 
from the city centre.

Cons:
yy The walking distance between the new  

high speed platforms and the existing classic 
platforms is 5-10 minutes and makes 
connectivity with classic services more difficult, 
and will make HS2 more difficult to access for 
those people starting in the existing city centre 
area. It is unlikely to be judged to have stood 
the test of time.

yy Passengers potentially exposed to the elements 
when moving between stations. The provision 
of a covered walkway would be required to 
provide a suitable environment for passengers 
moving between the two stations. 

yy Too isolated from the existing city centre core. 
The location of the new high speed platforms, 
south of the river and separated from the 
existing city centre, means that the HS2 station 
would be too detached from the city centre.

yy No common concourse. Unlike Option Two, this 
option does not easily support the creation of 
a common concourse and would be seen as a 
separate station to the existing classic station.

yy Lack of support from the regional authorities. 
For the above reasons, many of the surrounding 
local authorities have indicated that they would 
not be supportive of this option, as it would be 
a constraint to the benefits of HS2 reaching 
the wider region.

Benefits and drawbacks

Page 285



14

The process of engagement we have gone through, in partnership with the 
region, to decide the best option for the Yorkshire Hub has been a model of 
its kind.

Quite rightly, local and civic leaders made clear their view of the limitations 
they saw in our original proposals, in particular its failure to connect local, 
regional and HS2 services and to connect into the existing city centre, and 
the plans for its expansion.

Given the physical constraints of the existing station, and the rising level of 
demand for services, coming up with a solution that meets all those needs 
has not been easy. But thanks to the efforts of the Council, the city region 
and the Chamber of Commerce, as well as HS2 and Network Rail experts, 
we have reached a consensus.

In short, because of both the heavy and growing demand and the constricted 
site – particularly at the station entrance – Option One was seen as not 
sufficiently flexible to cope with both HS2 and the anticipated increased traffic 
the Northern Powerhouse will deliver in the longer term. Whilst this more 
compact solution was superficially attractive, it does not stand the test of 
time, as the medium to long-term impact would be a limit on the ability to 
further extend or enhance the station to handle increased pressure on local 
services. The result would be detrimental to the transport needs and the wider 
economic aspirations of the city and the region, as would the disruption of 
construction in the midst of a working station.

Option Three, on the other hand, while feasible, was seen to suffer from 
drawbacks at the other end of the spectrum as there was too great a distance 
between HS2 and local services with passengers being exposed to a longer 
walk, often in bad weather and the lost opportunity to create a common 
concourse for the first time. It was not seen as an improvement on the original 
HS2 New Lane proposal.

Option Two, however, was seen to offer:

yy easy access from HS2 to local services, and vice versa, on a par with that 
experienced at any other global transport hub;

yy a common concourse creating the space for seamless passenger movement, 
and for retail and service facilities;

yy easy access to the city centre, the South Bank and the waterfront helping 
to make the combined station an integral part of the developing city, rather 
than an adjunct;

yy much easier car and bus access linking up to the urban and motorway hub, 
allowing the station to become an integrated transport hub for Yorkshire 
and the wider region;

yy the capacity to allow local services to grow as HS3 and the Northern 
Powerhouse develops;

Conclusion 
David Higgins, Chairman, HS2 Ltd

Im
ag

e:
 H

S2
 L

td
/G

ri
m

sh
aw

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
s

Page 286



15

The technical concept for Option Two, showing platforms  
and concourses in the existing station and new HS2 section.  
This is not a representation of what the station will look like.

Page 287



16

yy the ability to allow through trains for local services and Northern 
Powerhouse rail services to improve links to York, Newcastle and Hull in 
the East, as well as Manchester and Liverpool in the West, and Sheffield 
and the Midlands to the South.

yy the opportunity to create a landmark architectural statement, fitting with 
the role of Leeds station as a piece of national infrastructure, that Leeds, 
the city region, Yorkshire and the nation can be proud of. 

The national significance of the Yorkshire Hub means it is essential that the 
quality of the design of the station and the surrounding public realm are world 
class. Network Rail is working with Leeds City Council and West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority on plans for upgrading the existing concourse areas in 
the short to medium term. We recognise the importance of securing these 
improvements and will do all we can to support that work.

The station needs to work for rail passengers, for people interchanging to other 
services, and for car and cycle users. It also needs to be permeable to ensure a 
pleasant experience for pedestrians walking through and around the station 
when moving across Leeds City Centre. Leeds City Council is developing a 
scheme to reduce through car traffic and enhance the area for pedestrians, and 
this will be important for the city to make the most of the HS2 opportunity.

The consensus is, that Option Two meets each of the five principles set out in 
the introduction above. Clearly there is much work to be done to translate 
those principles into reality, not least on the design element, which is at a 
very early stage.

As the attached letter signed by representatives from Leeds City Council, the 
city region and the Chamber of Commerce makes clear, the consensus is that 
now is the time to move from debating the options to discussing in detail how 
Option Two can be delivered. We also recognise there is consensus on the need 
to develop proposals for Northern Powerhouse rail, and achieving a step-change 
in capacity and connectivity on the existing city region rail network. HS2 has 
committed to working in close partnership with Leeds City Council, the West 
Yorkshire Combined Authority, Transport for the North, the Department for 
Transport, Network Rail and the West and North Yorkshire Chamber of 
Commerce to secure support for this option and undertake the further technical 
work and engagement needed to ensure it is part of future route announcements.

There is a clear desire, however, to give a clear signal of intent that gives all 
involved, including potential investors, the certainty needed to go ahead with 
the confidence that the process for delivering the Yorkshire Hub has begun.

Much work remains to be done, not least on design and finalising the business 
case, but now I believe is the time to begin that work.

 

David Higgins Chairman

Page 288



17

Employment growth Leeds is 
forecast to generate in the 
Yorkshire & Humber region

Predicted number of jobs in the 
Yorkshire & Humber region

138,000

Predicted number of jobs  
in region generated by Leeds

44,600

Growth in employment base in 
Leeds City Centre (Holbeck 

Urban Village, Central South 
Bank and Leeds Dock)

24,000

Creating national and city region 
transport hub in Leeds

As civic and business leaders for Leeds, West Yorkshire and Leeds City 
Region, we support the proposals from Sir David Higgins to create a 
single integrated transport hub in Leeds. 

The original proposal of a separate HS2 terminus at New Lane, some 
distance from the existing station, was not commensurate with our 
ambitions for Leeds and the City Region. Those original proposals 
would not have created a single hub. Interchange between HS2 and 
other services would have been difficult, limiting the benefits of HS2 
to the city region.

We welcomed Sir David’s previous recommendation to review those 
original proposals and work with us to ensure that the future plan for 
Leeds station was in line with our vision for Leeds and the city region. 
From this work, a number of issues have become clear.

We need to plan for significant future growth in rail use into Leeds and 
across the city region. Leeds station is a major part of our national 
infrastructure. It is already the busiest station in the North of England. 
It is a major transport hub for Leeds, the city region and Yorkshire. 
Passenger numbers using Leeds station are forecast to more than 
double over the next thirty years, reaching a level similar to those at 
Gatwick Airport.

To ensure all of the city region benefits fully from HS2, people should 
be able to interchange quickly and easily between HS2 and other rail 
services, as well as other transport links. The station needs to be able 
to accommodate improved services on our city region rail network, as 
well as the planned high speed Northern Powerhouse rail network. 

The station design should reflect the position of the city region as an 
economic powerhouse, and support our plans for development and 
regeneration in the South Bank area of Leeds City Centre. It should 
provide a high quality sense of arrival and passenger experience.

As a result of our work with HS2 over the past year, five principles have 
emerged by which to assess these options and to ensure the best 
outcome for Leeds and the city region. 

1. The existing station and the HS2 station should share a common
concourse for passengers to allow easy access between HS2 and
other services, including improved city region services and Northern
Powerhouse rail. The concourse should have easy access to the city
centre, the South Bank and the waterfront.

2. The new combined station should have good quality car and bus
access enabling it to become a fully integrated transport hub for
the region.

(continued...)

32%

Page 289



18

3. The new station and its approaches should have sufficient capacity 
and be future proofed to allow for the improvements needed to 
accommodate significant increases in rail services resulting from the 
Northern Powerhouse rail network, and on city region rail routes. 
This should include four tracking to the east of the existing station.

4. The station and its approaches should allow for through trains to 
enhance local services to the rest of the city region. This should 
include a connection between HS2 and the existing network, to 
enable some classic compatible HS2 trains to run through the existing 
station to and from York and beyond. This combined with the 
connection between HS2 and the East Coast Main Line would deliver 
substantial benefits for York Central, one of the most significant 
Northern Powerhouse projects. 

5. The design of the combined station (including the existing concourse 
areas) should reflect the significance of its role and place not just 
for Leeds and Yorkshire, but as a major national landmark. It should 
be a world class iconic design, surrounded by outstanding public 
realm, in line with the masterplan for development and growth of 
Leeds South Bank, one of the most significant regeneration projects 
in Europe. The station needs to create an attractive environment 
for all users of the city centre, including pedestrians moving across 
the city centre who need to walk through and around the station 
but may not be rail users. 

We believe that the option for Leeds station recommended by Sir David 
Higgins meets these requirements better than the alternatives. 

The proposed station will be an integrated hub based on a T-shape 
configuration, with HS2 platforms on a north south alignment adjacent 
to and with a shared concourse with the existing station. It will enable 
seamless interchange between HS2 trains, the proposed Northern 
Powerhouse rail services, and local and regional trains. This will spread 
the benefits of HS2 and, along with the improvements we are proposing 
to the local rail network, will provide faster and better rail journeys for 
the three million people who live in Leeds City Region. It will connect 
the major cities of Bradford, York and Wakefield, and significant towns 
such as Halifax, Huddersfield, Dewsbury, Harrogate, and Selby into the 
national high speed network. It will enable future increases in capacity 
for city region services and Northern Powerhouse rail, and provide 
the potential for a connection the enable some HS2 services to run 
through Leeds station.

We believe it is important for Leeds City Council, the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority, Leeds City Region LEP, the Chamber of Commerce, 
Transport for the North, Department for Transport, Network Rail and 
HS2 Ltd to continue to work together to progress rapidly the work on 
the detailed design for the Leeds Hub. As Sir David’s previous report 

Additional (net) dwellings 
targeted by The Leeds  
Core Strategy between  

2012 and 2028

70,000

Additional dwellings  
planned by Bradford  

between 2013 and 2030

42,000

Adjacent local 
authorities planning

Additional dwellings  
planned by Wakefield  

between 2008 and 2026

29,000

Additional dwellings  
planned by the site  
allocations process 
 in the city centre

11,300

Page 290



19

Rebalancing Britain indicated, we need to make our transport network 
and Leeds station HS2 ready. We need a clear commitment from 
Government and Network Rail to fund not only HS2 to Leeds, but also 
the improvements to the existing city region rail network, as well as 
Northern Powerhouse rail. 

We need to progress at pace and with a high level of ambition the plans 
for improving the existing station concourse and its environs, and these 
need to be implemented in the short to medium term. We also need 
to ensure we have the funding and powers and resources to remodel 
our local transport network and public realm in Leeds City Centre to 
make the most of the opportunity.

The proposed Leeds hub station, integrating HS2, Northern Powerhouse 
rail and improved local and regional rail services will transform the 
economy of Leeds and the city region. We now need to make this a 
reality and create a transport hub the nation can be proud of.

Councillor Judith Blake 
Leader of the Council,  
Leeds City Council

Councillor Peter Box 
Chair of West Yorkshire Combined Authority  
and Leader of Wakefield City Council

Councillor Richard Cooper 
Leader of the Council,  
Harrogate Borough Council

Councillor Mark Crane 
Leader of the Council,  
Selby District Council

Councillor Richard Foster 
Leader of the Council,  
Craven District Council

Councillor David Green 
Leader of the Council, City of Bradford 
Metropolitan District Council

Councillor Sir Stephen Houghton CBE 
Leader of the Council, Barnsley  
Metropolitan Borough Council

Gerald Jennings 
President of Leeds Chamber  
of Commerce

Councillor Carl Les 
Leader of the Council,  
North Yorkshire County Council

Roger Marsh OBE 
Chair of Leeds City Region 
Enterprise Partnership

Councillor David Sheard  
Leader of the Council,  
Kirklees Council

Councillor Chris Steward 
Leader of the Council,  
City of York Council

Councillor Tim Swift 
Leader of the Council,  
Calderdale Council

Councillor Keith Wakefield 
Chair of Transport Committee of 
West Yorkshire Combined Authority

Page 291



20

High Speed Two (HS2) Limited 
One Canada Square 
Canary Wharf 
London E14 5AB www.gov.uk/hs2

Page 292



Ð*-,'--
* *ff'engirwfrsr grov*th

/*?::q-::¡t:',;øt;t:¡:t::::. :::. : :: .,,

3o November 2015

Tom Bridges
Chief Officer Economy and Regeneration
Leeds City Council
Leonardo Building
z Rossington Street
Leeds
LSz BHD

Dear Tom

You will be aware that, as part of today's announcement, the government published David Higgins' report
on proposals for Leeds Station, which he prepared atthe request of the Chancellor. Thís report reflects the
work that we have undertaken with local stakeholders, including yourselves at Leeds City Council, and
focusses specifically on how the HSz station in Leeds should link in with local aspirations for regeneration
and wider transport connectivity

Alongside this reporL, the Government is making a number of other änRouncements today, and I want to
provide you with some context to clarify how this ãnnouncement fits with the developing proposals for
Phase Two of HSz.

ln addition to announcements on Leeds Station and the acceleration of the route to Crewe, the Secretary
of State today confirmed the Government's commitment to delivering the full Phase z route. The
Government's Command Paper ìs clear that the Secretary of State expects to take a decision on the Phase
Two route in Autumn zo16. To enable the Secretary of State to make this decision, we have been
conducting an extensive route refinement process which has been influenced by the consultation that took
place between July zor3 and January zor4.

We are very aware of the concerns of elected members, residents and the MP about the impacts of the
route as it approaches Leeds, particularly at Woodlesford. Many residents from Woodlesford and
Swillington attended the lnformation Events and the one closest to Woodlesford, held in Rothwell, was
one of the best attended events in the region. Following this we received numerous responses to the
consultation including proposaf s for an alternative route. We are now contínuing to undertake route
refinement to ensure that we properly consider the views expressed in consultation in developing the
Phase Two route, including giving consideration to the concerns raised about the route in the Woodlesford
area.

Our Community and Stakeholder Team will be ensuring residents groups are aware of today's
announcement and will be offering to meet them to discuss the announcement in more detail. They would
be happy to meet with you as well if you feel this would be useful. Please contact Rachael Blake on

Yours sincerely

PaulGriffths
Phase Two Development óirector

Higlr S¡reed-l-wo (f'152) Lin'rited One (an¿rcia 5<y.;ar*,l-ondori f 14 5Âû
T : Q 2Q 7 9 t+ 4 4f!ûB E l hs:.enqu ii.ies@ hnz..<trg.tü< v.rr,^iur.çov,u k/hsa

H iq ll':ì¡:c cd'l wo ( H 5 2) l-irrr ite,l, reiJ Ì 5t-..(id i r r Li rrrl la ni{ ;lr ri !'y¿ lr;.

'Ío

- + #fiü ;i.1J$

Þ{:l¡}:l ü¡, ivì¡:iJi'i.ìÍfr r:,iì; ïå:í,i
,,ji I.r t,lit

tílu

Page 293



Page 294



P
age 295



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 297



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report of: Director of City Development

Report to: Executive Board

Date: 16 December 2015

Subject: Leeds Parking Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) - Adoption

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

  Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

1. This report informs members of the outcome of the public consultation undertaken in 
Autumn 2014 on the draft Leeds Parking Supplemantary Parking Document (SPD).

2. The report also recommends changes to the content of the Leeds Parking SPD as a 
result of the feedback received from the public consultation exercise.

3. In line with the policies in the Core Strategy, the SPD aims to support economic growth 
through the provision of an appropriate quantity of parking of the right quality and type 
and relevant to the location across the city centre and wider District.  The standards 
also reflect the balance of sustainability with other transport modes particularly for 
those locations where extremely good public transport links are available, either 
through proximity to the rail station or the core bus network, for access to wider city 
region and more widely with the city itself.

4. Similarly the policies and management of car parking has also a role to play within the 
Council’s environmental policies, including the ongoing management of air quality in 
relation to road traffic emissions. Members will recall that October’s Executive Board 
considered a report on improving air quality within the city. The report highlighted the 
release of DEFRA’s public consultation document which states that currently Leeds will 
be one of 7 locations in England that will not meet the EU air quality standards by 
2020. Importantly, transport accounts for a minimum of 60% of all emissions.  In 
particular the new SPD can assist by encouraging and providing for the take up low 

Report author:  Tom Randall & 
Tim Harvey
Tel:  3950434/2478507

Page 299

Agenda Item 17



carbon vehicles by ensuring that space is provided and facilities for electric vehicle 
charging are available for example.

5. Overall, the SPD has an important place in supporting sustainable travel and the range 
of travel choices as part of a balanced approach to transport in the city, especially to 
the city centre which is well connected by public transport but also ensuring that 
parking provision and standards elsewhere in the District reflect the Council’s wider 
policies for the economy and regeneration.  In this respect the new SPD achieves this 
through a natural evolution of the UDP parking polices that it will replace to reflect 
present and emerging development needs.

Recommendations

6. Executive Board is recommended to:

i) note the contents of this report and the associated consultation statement;

ii) adopt the Leeds Parking Supplementary Planning Document in the form 
annexed to this report pursuant to section 23 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended);

iii) note that the Chief Planning Officer will publish the Leeds Parking SPD and 
associated documents in accordance with the Town and Country planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.  

Page 300



1.    Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to make Executive Board aware of the public 
consultation process, feedback and subsequent changes made to the Leeds 
Parking SPD.

1.2 The report recommends that Executive Board adopts the re-drafted Leeds 
Parking SPD. This would formally replace a number of parking policies contained 
within the UDP.

2 Background information

2.1 The provision of an adequate supply of car parking both private and public is a 
key element of the transport and planning strategy for the city in ensuring the 
vitality of its economy and places.  However, it is important that the correct 
balance of parking provision is struck, especially in the City Centre where an 
integrated strategy is most important in terms of maintaining not only motor 
vehicle access. In particular a competitive and commercially viable public parking 
offer which is essential for providing a transport network which is efficient, 
accessible to all and sensitive to the local environment and sustainability.  
Planning and transport policies including those for parking have a key role to play 
in sustaining this balance as well as having regard to the obligation to improve air 
quality.

2.2 In the process of adopting the Core Strategy it was considered that the parking 
guidelines for new developments should be reviewed and amended where 
necessary in order to reflect current transport trends and wider policy.  The 
parking guidelines also play an instrumental part in the West Yorkshire Local 
Transport Plan.

2.3 It was felt that the best way to both formalise the current parking policies and 
update the parking guidelines was to produce a Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) covering parking. Several other core cities have already adopted 
such an approach.

2.4 In considering the draft SPD presented, members will be mindful of the policies 
they have approved in the Council’s adopted Core Strategy that relate to parking 
and the use and supply of parking across the city as outlined below:

a) To ensure adequate parking for shoppers and visitors to support the health 
and vitality of the city and town centres;

b) Delivering strategic park and ride for the city which supports the City Centre 
vision and provides greater traveller choice;

c) To support wider transport strategy objectives for sustainable travel and to 
minimise congestion during peak periods;

d) Limiting the supply of commuter parking in areas of high public transport 
accessibility, such as the City Centre.

Page 301



2.5 In recognition of the adopted policies outlined above, the SPD is intended to 
elaborate and expand on the parking policies contained within the Core Strategy. 
At present, parking policy is contained within a number of saved policies from the 
UDP. The SPD is a natural progression from the policies within the UDP, rather 
than a change in direction, and does not represent a further tightening. 

2.6 The SPD contains the following elements:

 Parking Strategy for the City Centre including policy on the provision of 
new car parks.

 Guidance on the provision of parking for cycles and motorcycles.

 Car, bicycle, motorcycle and disabled parking guidelines for new 
developments.

 Guidance on provision for electric vehicles, car share and car club 
parking.

 Supporting policies.

2.7 The SPD consultation document included a number of changes from the UDP 
standards for general car parking. In summary these were:

a) A revised geography for the Core and Fringe parking areas for the City Centre. 
The boundary of the Core area was expanded to cover the area south of the 
river reflecting the development proposals for the city centre

b) The removal of the Prestige developments category which had higher levels of 
parking provision. Prestige development areas were included in the UDP but 
are not included in the Core Strategy or publication draft Site Allocations Plan. 
This reflects the adopted Core Strategy Policy T1 by ensuring the 
sustainability of new office developments within the city centre as a whole and 
not having an artificial distinction between locations.

c) The removal of separate, more restrictive parking standards for designated 
local centres, in order to encourage development in these locations by having 
more generous parking provision

d) The simplification of the standards by removing size thresholds for non-retail 
use classes and therefore creating a more legible hierarchy

e) The use of expected standards rather than maximum standards outside the 
Core and Fringe areas. This allows more flexibility in agreeing levels of 
provision

f) The addition of expected parking standards for houses in multiple occupancy -  
a category that wasn’t included in the UDP  - reflecting known issues with the 
impacts of this type of  development

Page 302



g) Creation of a more generous parking standard for B1 offices that are to be 
operated as call centres, reflecting the higher levels of peak parking demand 
associated with shift working and experience of parking issues associated with 
these sites

h) Amendments to the size thresholds for retail developments to mirror those 
already used as triggers in the Travel Plan SPD for the production of a travel 
plan

i) Minor amendments to individual use class ratios to aid development control 
and improve legibility.

2.8 The revised disabled parking guidelines have been based on relevant British 
Standards and now give flexibility for conversion of spaces once a development is 
occupied. The disabled parking guidelines now apply to all developments, 
irrelevant of size. The cap on the maximum provision has also been removed.

2.9 For electric car and car club parking spaces a recommendation is given for 
residential and business class developments on the level of provision that 
developers should consider. These measures have a key role to play in 
addressing air quality issues and developers will be required to justify why these 
alternative forms are not being considered if that is the case. The recommended 
level of EV changing points is based on the draft West Yorkshire Low Emissions 
Strategy which has recently been out for public consultation.

2.10 The SPD also gives details of supporting policies of the Council, such as the 
promotion of travel plans, signing and information regarding car parks.

2.11 Executive Board approved the public consultation exercise for the draft Leeds 
Parking SPD in July 2014. The consultation was subsequently run during late 
Summer and Autumn of 2014.

3 Main issues

3.1 The key purpose of the SPD is to help nurture the growing Leeds economy, 
reflecting the need to ensure that growth occurs sustainably and issues such as 
air quality and traffic congestion are taken into account. Members will recall that 
October’s Executive Board considered a report on improving air quality within the 
city. The report highlighted the release of DEFRA’s public consultation document 
which states that currently Leeds will be one of 7 locations in England that will not 
meet the EU air quality standards by 2020. Importantly transport accounts for a 
minimum of 60% of all emissions.

3.2 The consultation attracted feedback from a wide range of respondents with a 
number of different viewpoints. Nevertheless, the SPD takes as a starting point 
the adopted Core Strategy and seeks to achieve a balance between competing 
demands. On the whole it represents an evolution of the policies in the UDP, and 
does not represent a tightening in the guidance.  

3.3 Consultation took place for 8 weeks during August to October 2014. The 
promotion of the exercise was undertaken via Social Media, the Council’s website, 

Page 303



Talking Point and direct email invitation to over 900 individuals or groups who had 
previously responded to consultations on the Core Strategy or commuter parking 
interim policy.

3.4 41 separate responses were received from members of the public, local ward 
members, interest groups and the business community. In total 25% were from 
businesses or business organisations

3.5 The responses have been catalogued and recommendations are being brought 
forward by officers as to whether changes to the content of the SPD are needed. 
Generally, the suggested changes are minor amendments or clarifications of 
detail.

3.6 A large proportion of responses were aimed at issues such as car parking prices 
or charging at evenings or weekends which are outside the scope of the SPD.

3.7 As a result of the comments made, the key changes to the SPD are as follows:

a) Clarification of the methodology used to define the Core and Fringe 
boundaries. This is based on travel distance from Leeds City Station.

b) Clarifying what is meant by ‘a sufficient supply of commuter car parking’ 
within the city centre, specifically a presumption that there will be no net 
increase in permanent long stay commuter car parking within the city 
centre but that provision of up to 500 spaces (around 5%) would be 
permitted under certain circumstances. This reflects Core Strategy Policy 
T1 and the strategy for the delivery of park and ride sites.

c) Inclusion of text relating to rail station car parking in the city centre, 
including the proposed HS2 station. Parking for rail users will be 
considered on its own merits and will not be subject to the controls on 
commuter parking.

d) Wording relating to motorcycle parking strengthened to encourage and 
support use of this mode. 

e) Reference made to the use of planning conditions to secure appropriate 
cycle parking and thereby support the continued growth in this sustainable 
mode.

f)    Inclusion of long stay cycle parking standards for all use classes 
independent of the size of development. Previously, where the travel plan 
threshold was exceeded this was subject to negotiation based on the 
targets in the travel plan.

g) Wording included to ensure that consideration is made to the provision of 
safely designed drop-off facilities at school sites.

h) Parking requirements changed for medical services use class to provide for 
patient parking as well as staff.

Page 304



i)    Increased expected parking provision at schools to a rate of 1:1 based on 
full time equivalent (FTE) staff to ensure sufficient parking is provided and 
prevent overspill onto local roads.

j)    Removal of business park standards from car parking guidelines as land is 
not being allocated to this use in the publication draft Site Allocations Plan. 
B1 office development is now covered by a single use class.

k) More relaxed standards for Houses in Multiple Occupancy converting to 
other residential units to support the strategic aim of reducing 
concentrations of HMOs in Headingley and Hyde Park.

l)    Amendments to the cycle parking standards for higher/further education 
establishment, related to the number of students and to provide for future 
growth.

3.8 Further details of the consultation process and amendments to the detail of the 
SPD can be found in the consultation statement (attached).

3.9 It is considered that the consultation exercise has been a success, allowing a 
range of stakeholders to influence the future policy of Leeds City Council with 
regard to parking. In the context of the wider Transport Vision, ongoing 
discussions with stakeholders including businesses will continue around a number 
of topic areas including parking.

4 Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement 

4.1.1 The draft parking SPD has been the subject of a comprehensive public 
consultation exercise, as described in the attached consultation statement.

4.1.2 Given the limited nature of the changes made to the Parking SPD, as a result of 
feedback from the consultation, it is not considered necessary to undertake further 
consultation on the final version.

4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 Previous reports taken to Highways Board and Executive Board have undertaken 
an Equality and Diversity screening. The result of this screening is still valid and 
on balance it was felt that the SPD had a positive impact. A copy of the Equality 
and Diversity screening document is attached as an appendix to this report.

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The Leeds Parking SPD supports the best council objective of ‘promoting 
sustainable and inclusive economic growth’. It also feeds into the breakthrough 
project titled ‘Rethinking the city centre’.

4.3.2 The Core Strategy contains several policies which are supported and expanded 
upon by the Parking SPD. Reference has been made to the relevant Core 
Strategy policies within the sections of the draft Parking SPD.

Page 305



4.3.3 The SPD complements the adopted Travel Plans SPD which seeks to promote 
best practise in delivering sustainable development.

4.3.4 The SPD supports the objectives of the West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan 
2011-26. The proposals fit within the Choices Theme ‘to encourage more 
sustainable travel choices by managing demand for car travel and enabling 
people to make informed choices that meet their needs’. It specifically supports 
LTP Proposal 11 ‘Strengthen demand management and enforcement to gain 
maximum benefit from measures to enable more sustainable choices’.

4.3.5 In addition, it also contributes towards the Connectivity Theme: ‘to deliver an 
integrated, reliable transport system that enables people and goods to move 
around as efficiently and safely’.

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 The only call on staff time will be in relation to the final production and publication 
of the SPD document. A limited cost will be incurred in relation to the printing of 
copies to be held at the Development Enquiry Centre.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The Leeds Parking SPD has been prepared in accordance with the statutory 
requirements of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.The adoption 
of the Parking SPD production process is a key decision and is eligible for call in.

4.6 Risk Management

4.6.1 No significant risks are envisaged with the adoption of the SPD.

5 Conclusions

5.1 The Parking SPD aims to support economic growth through the provision of an 
appropriate quantity of parking of the right quality and type and relevant to the 
location across the city centre and wider District.  The standards also reflect the 
balance of sustainability with other transport modes particularly for those locations 
where extremely good public transport links are available, either through proximity 
to the rail station or the core bus network. This is achieved through a natural 
evolution of the UDP parking polices that it will replace to reflect present and 
emerging development needs.

5.2 It is also important to recognise the obligation to improve air quality in Leeds city 
centre. Given that Leeds is one of only 7 locations in England that is forecast to 
not meet the EU air quality standards by 2020, it is important that the council’s 
planning for car parking provision has regard to this significant issue.

5.3 It is considered that, following a public consultation exercise and subsequent re-
drafting, the Leeds Parking SPD is now in an appropriate state to become an 
adopted planning document and used as such during the planning process.

Page 306



6 Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board is recommended to:

i) note the contents of this report and the associated consultation statement.

ii) adopt the Leeds Parking Supplementary Planning Document in the form 
annexed to this report pursuant to section 23 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended).

iii) note that the Chief Planning Officer will publish the Leeds Parking SPD and 
associated documents in accordance with the Town and Country planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.  

7 Background documents1 

7.1 None.

8 Appendices

8.1 Consultation Statement.

8.2 Leeds Parking SPD – Final Draft.

8.3 Equality and Diversity screening

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 307



This page is intentionally left blank



Leeds City Council 
CAR PARKING DRAFT SPD 

 
Consultation Statement – November 2015 

 
 
 
1. Summary 

 
1.1. This document sets out the public consultation process undertaken for the 

production of the Leeds Parking Supplementary Planning Document. The 
process is described along with the key points raised and the resulting 
alterations made to the document. 

 
2. Consultation Process 

 
2.1. The Consultation documents produced and available for the public were the 

Draft Parking SPD and associated consultation statement. 
 

2.2. The consultation period was between the 22nd of August and 17th October 2014. 
The standard 6 week consultation period for planning documents was extended 
by two weeks due to the summer holiday period in which the consultation began. 

  
2.3. The consultation was open to any member of the public and promoted via the 

Leeds Talking Point webpage. Over 900 individuals or groups were also invited 
to contribute via email, including: 

 
 Local Ward Members 
 Parish Councils 
 Highways England (was Highways Agency at that time) 
 Environment Agency 
 Neighbouring Local Planning Authorities 
 West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
 Chamber of Commerce/Property Forum 
 Planning/Transport Consultants 
 Previous respondents from consultations on parking and Core Strategy 
 Local MPs 
 Local interest groups 

 
 

2.4. The consultation documents were available to download via the Leeds City 
Council website, available in all libraries and paper copies were also available in 
the development enquiry centre in the Leonardo Building. Promotion was 
undertaken via a press release, social media and via email to all local ward 
members and mailing lists of interested parties from the previous consultations 
on the core strategy and commuter parking interim policy. 

 
 

Page 309



3. Consultation responses  
 

3.1. 41 separate responses were received from the following parties: 
 11 individual members of the public 
 Highways Agency (now Highways England) 
 Sustrans 
 Conservative Group, Leeds City Council 
 Leeds Cycling Campaign 
 Aireborough Civic Society 
 MEPC 
 English Heritage 
 Elite Parking 
 Cllr Colin Campbell, Liberal Democrat member for Otley & Yeadon 
 Carlsberg UK 
 Aireborough Neighbourhood Forum 
 Environment Agency 
 Wakefield Council 
 BAM Monkbridge Ltd 
 The Theatres Trust 
 Leeds Civic Trust 
 Arla Foods 
 Holbeck Neighbourhood Forum 
 Little Woodhouse Community Association 
 Sainsburys 
 Network Rail 
 Leeds Residential Property Forum 
 Road Haulage Association 
 University of Leeds 
 Leeds Chamber of Commerce 
 Natural England 
 West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
 Cllr Ron Grahame, Labour member for Burmantofts & Richmond Hill 
 Caddick Developments 
 Liberal Democrat ward members for Weetwood  
 

4. Issues raised 
 

General Support 
4.1. The following expressed general support for the principle of the SPD, although 

in many cases this was caveated with more detailed comments which are 
considered further in this report: 
 Highways Agency (now Highways England) 
 Sustrans 
 Aireborough Civic Society 
 MEPC 
 Aireborough Neighbourhood Forum 
 Leeds Civic Trust 
 Leeds Chamber of Commerce 

Page 310



 West Yorkshire Combined Authority 
 JM Bradford 

 
Principles 
 
Parking Hierarchy 
 

4.2. Comments were raised in relation to the ‘Parking Hierarchy’ at section 3.1.  
These comments correctly pointed out that disabled, cycle, motorcycle, and 
car club parking were not on the hierarchy.  It also did not contain any 
reference to park and ride.  These comments are accepted and the hierarchy 
has been revised. 

 
Disabled parking 
 

4.3. The LCC Access Officer and several others commented that disabled parking 
was not given enough consideration within the document.  This is partially 
accepted, as although disabled parking standards are, for the first time clearly 
set out in chapter 9, the importance of such parking is not defined earlier in 
the SPD.  Additional references to disabled parking have been added in 
chapters 1, 2, 3, and 4. 

 
Servicing and truck parking 
 

4.4. The Road Haulage Association raised concerns about the lack of reference to 
the needs of commercial vehicles.  This can be split into two distinct areas; 
firstly servicing provision with the city and local centres, and secondly longer 
term ‘truckstop’ type parking.  Servicing is not the intended focus of the SPD – 
existing provision, or the lack of it is a traffic management function and all new 
development is considered in terms of servicing provision.  However it is 
considered that further references should be added to the SPD to reinforce 
the principle that new development should be able to demonstrate adequate 
servicing provision and the importance servicing to successful town and local 
centres.  Servicing is a separate issue to parking - trucks should only be 
parking in centres to facilitate servicing.  ‘Truck stops’ for rest and other 
facilities are provided at key points on the strategic highway network. 
 

4.5. Additional references to the importance of servicing needs have been added 
in sections 4, 7 and 9. 

 
Strategic Road Network 
 

4.6. The Highways Agency provided a detailed and lengthy response with the 
common theme being in relation to potential impact on the Strategic Road 
Network.  The Council consults with the HA on all schemes that may impact 
on the SRN and the points raised are fully noted.  Specific responses are 
provided in the detailed comments below. 
 

Boundary of Core and Fringe zones 
 

Page 311



4.7. The City Centre has been divided into three areas in terms of parking 
guidelines – these are the Public Transport Box, Core, and Fringe areas.  The 
PT Box remains as previously defined in the UDP and no comments have 
been received in relation to its boundary.  The Core and Fringe areas have 
been redefined and this has raised comments / objections from three parties: 
 BAM Monkbridge – contend that their site on Whitehall Road should be 

classified as Fringe rather than Core as per the previous UDP  
 Caddick Developments – contend that their site at Quarry Hill should be 

reclassified and not in the Core.  It was previously a Prestige 
Development Area (no longer recognised by the Core Strategy). 
 

4.8. In both cases above the developers face more restrictive long stay parking 
maximum parking standards for any new planning application than previously.  
Notwithstanding that both sites have extant permissions which could be built 
out; it is considered that both are within easy walking distance of the station, 
with Quarry Hill immediately adjacent to the Bus and Coach Station as well.  
The type of development proposed is of a ‘Core’ City Centre type.  Therefore 
it is considered that they are correctly positioned within the Core boundary.  In 
the case of Quarry Hill short stay parking to serve shopping, commercial and 
leisure uses in the vicinity could be provided in addition to the long stay 
maximum. 
 

4.9. Holbeck Neighbourhood Forum support the principle of defining the Core and 
Fringe Parking zones but suggest that the Fringe is extended to cover the 
whole of the Holbeck Neighbourhood Plan area.  This additional area is 
mainly residential with some limited employment sites.  There is no observed 
problem with commuter parking within the area.  At this is stage it is not 
considered necessary to extend the Fringe controls to cover this area.  The 
SPD would be subject to regular review through the Annual Monitoring 
Programme and if problems arose in the future then the Fringe could be 
extended at that point. 
 

4.10. It is accepted the SPD wording around the definition of Core and Fringe and 
the methods for deriving this could be improved and this action has been 
undertaken. 
 
Airport car parking 
 

4.11. It was suggested by LCC Highways Development Services that the SPD 
document should include a policy to secure a s106 car parking levy for each 
additional new space associated with the airport usage (on or off site) per year 
for the lifetime of the development.  This could then be used to support public 
transport services and sustainable travel initiatives. 
 

4.12. While such a levy has been successfully used elsewhere in the UK it is not 
considered to be required as contributions towards sustainable travel modes 
have been secured for all recent new car parks and airport development.  
These lump sums are more flexible in nature as they can be used to fund 
infrastructure as well as subsidising public transport services. 
 

Page 312



Economic Principles 
 
 Importance of car parking to economic vitality 
 
4.13. A number of consultees welcome and support the wording in the SPD relating 

to the importance of the link between car parking and economic vitality.  
Issues of parking charges are considered further in paragraphs 4.25 to 4.28.  
However both Sustrans and the Leeds Cycling Campaign questioned the 
importance of this link and the lack of evidence pointing to various studies 
highlighting the role of walking and cycling trips.  The Portas Review is 
criticised for lack of objective evidence.  The Cycling Campaign set out that 
‘Vibrant, successful local, town and city centres would be created by focussing 
on 'placemaking' and ensuring that our streets are welcoming and safe places 
to walk and dwell, rather than simply roads where pedestrians and cyclists are 
subservient to the requirement to ensure smooth flow of traffic.’ 
 

4.14. The Portas report (para 3.3.2) refers to both, the importance of 'free controlled 
parking schemes that work for their town centres (recommendation no.9) as 
well as 'Town Teams should focus on making high streets accessible, 
attractive and safe (recommendation no.10).  It is not considered that these 
recommendations are contradictory - a good and vibrant centre will have both 
and the Council will continue to seek environmental improvements to centres 
through other funding streams.  An appropriate level of long and short stay 
parking is important to the city and local centres, along with good urban 
design and pedestrian and cycling accessibility.  The SPD seeks to confirm 
this through the use of maximum car parking standards in the city centre, and 
policies of no parking within the Public Transport Box.  In addition minimum 
standards for cycle and motorcycle parking are proposed. 
 

Parking Policies 
 
 City Centre Parking 
 
4.15. The Highways Agency, Aireborough Civic Society, Leeds Civic Trust, WYCA, 

Sustrans and S Lightfoot all considered that the proposed policies in the City 
Centre were not robust enough with the following issues raised: 
 Concerns in regard to encouragement of short and medium stay car 

parks in the city centre 
 Vague references to 'sufficient' supply of commuter parking 
 Lack of references to parking pricing as a means to control demand 
 Turnover needed to ensure efficient use of parking spaces 
 Temporary commuter car parking within the fringe is undesirable given 

current congestion levels at peak times. It also discourages the 
development of brown field sites for economically useful purposes. 

 Caveats in Policy LPP3 (section 6.6) in respect of the Fringe are too 
vague 

 The Council should specify more clearly the criteria for granting car 
parking permissions on vacant sites. Para 6.6.3 is too vague 

Page 313



 The LTP sets out the presumption that City Centre long stay parking 
should be re allocated as short stay parking – this should be more explicit 
in the SPD 

 Rather than use valuable City Centre land / road space on short and 
medium stay car parking this space would be better utilised in place-
making projects aimed at increasing levels of sustainable travel. The key 
to saving our high streets is to make them more pleasant, safe and 
accessible places, not a parking free for all. 

 LCC should retain the ambition of working towards zero car parking 
provision in the ‘Public Transport Box’ and implement an ambitious 
deadline for this to be achieved. 

 There should be no temporary commuter parking permissions granted in 
or around the Leeds city centre and the aim of the SPD should be to 
reduce such car parks rather than allow more. 
 

4.16. The Chamber of Commerce argued that for varying reasons not everyone can 
take advantage of public transport and given the limited progress in delivering 
these alternatives there was a need for sufficient commuter car parking capacity. 

 
4.17. Several respondees (Leeds Chamber of Commerce, BAM Monkbridge Ltd 

(GVA), Carlsberg UK and Elite Parking Ltd) argued for greater flexibility in the 
treatment of temporary cleared site commuter parking. 

  
4.18. The SPD aims to balance the comments above with those that call for more 

relaxed levels of parking. The references in the document to 'sufficient commuter 
supply' of parking in the city centre are there to ensure a balanced and thriving 
economy. The SPD contains a presumption of no net increase in permanent 
public commuter car parking, but now allows for the re-provision of existing 
permanent parking and additionally the provision under certain circumstances of 
up to 500 permanent public commuter spaces during the Plan period (a 5% 
increase on current levels). 
 

4.19. It is agreed that commuter parking in the city centre fringe has negative 
impacts, however until adequate alternatives are in place it is considered 
appropriate in supporting the city economy. 

 
4.20. The South Bank proposals include for significant areas of new public realm 

and a 'city park', this will include areas that are currently used for car parking 
such as Meadow Lane.   

 
4.21. Amendments have been made to the wording on commuter car parking to 

make the policies within the SPD clearer. LPP3 now includes planning 
considerations in the list of 'merits' that are to be taken into account when 
deciding on permissions. 

 
4.22. The renewal of current temporary planning permission for certain cleared site 

commuter car parks is being considered separately by officers. It is proposed 
that the reduction of the number of these spaces will take place in a managed 
way, depending on the delivery of alternative travel options via public transport 
and park and ride. 

Page 314



 
Parking in Local Centres 
 

4.23. Representations concerning the parking policy in local centres were received 
from the Conservative Group of Leeds City Council, City Councillor Colin 
Campbell, Aireborough Neighbourhood Forum, Little Woodhouse Community 
Association and D.Bonnett. The comments were as follows: 
 

 The Conservative Group would not support any increase in parking 
charges in town and district centres. 

 District Centres should be dealt with on an individual basis to ensure there 
is sufficient parking to meet each centre’s needs. 

 New commercial developments should be encouraged to provide the 
parking they require and measures put in place to prevent overspill car 
parking onto surrounding streets. 

 If charging is to be introduced for Council run car parks in town centres 
consideration must be given to the impact this will have on the local 
community.  

 Any charging in local centres would damage their vitality. 
 Charging in local centres will only encourage people to shop and visit 

elsewhere. 
 

4.24. Management of local and town centre car parks managed by Leeds City 
Council will continue to be undertaken with full consultation with Ward members 
and local stakeholders.  There are a range of mechanisms to improve the 
efficiency of limited car parking spaces if required.  These would be considered 
on a site by site basis. 
 

4.25. Considerations of parking for commercial uses needs to balance economic 
prosperity, local amenity, environmental impacts, best use of land, sustainable 
travel patterns etc.  The SPD promotes a degree of flexibility but there is an 
important change to 'expected' from 'minimum' levels of parking to reflect such 
concerns. 

 
City Centre Parking Charges on Evenings and Sundays 
 

4.26. A significant number of responses were received regarding the parking 
charges at Leeds City Council on street and off street parking locations in the 
city centre. 
 

4.27. The decision made in 2013 to charge for on street parking on evenings and 
Sundays still proves to be controversial. Aireborough Civic Society gave 
comments of support, however the following respondents felt that the charges 
were having a negative impacting upon the City Centre economy: 

 
 G Langley 
 K Lloyd Baxter 
 Conservative Group 
 J Thompson 

Page 315



 Little Woodhouse Community Association 
 Leeds Chamber of Commerce 

 
4.28. There is no evidence that evening and Sunday charging is impacting on the 

city centre economy.  The charges are modest at £2 flat fee 6pm to 10pm and £1 
for up to 4 hours on Sunday and £4 over 4 hours.  The charges have helped 
generate turnover of spaces and make finding a space easier.  Footfall in the city 
centre (inc evenings and Sundays) is larger than ever.  The £2 charge for night 
time workers is small and not considered a deterrent.  In comparison, workers 
during the day would have to pay much higher charges. 
 

4.29. The SPD does not therefore propose any changes to the current 
arrangements. 

 
Cost of City Centre Parking 
 
 

4.30. The SPD sets out the rational for the pricing of car parking which is under the 
control of Leeds City Council. A variety of responses were received, supporting 
both higher and lower charges. 
 

4.31. The principle of charging more for parking than public transport fares was 
supported and should be strengthened according to comments from Aireborough 
Civic Society, Highways Agency and the West Yorkshire Combined Authority. 
Charges were felt to be too high by the Conservative Group and D Bonnett.  

 
4.32. Most off street parking in the city centre is privately controlled and the costs 

market driven.  The Council seeks to balance the needs of users, the economy, 
sustainable travel and congestion, competition, and income in setting its parking 
charges. 

 
Charging at out of town centres 
 
 

4.33. Two respondents, Aireborough Civic Society and J Thompson, commented 
that charging should occur at out of town shopping centres to enable fairer 
competition with the city centre and local town centres. It is not possible to 
retrospectively introduce car parking charges in existing out of town centres as 
these are private car parks. The Council supports a centres-first approach where 
retailing is directed to the City Centre and designated town and local centres in 
order to promote their vitality and viability as the focus for shopping. This is 
subject to sequential assessment which, in principle, allows for out of town 
shopping centres where it can be demonstrated that no other suitable sites are 
available in the primary shopping areas and then its edge, followed by the 
relevant designated centres and then edge of centre locations. Similarly, out of 
centre retailing is subject to impact assessment, where applicants are required to 
demonstrate that no significant adverse impact would arise on the vitality and 
viability of designated centres or proposals within them. 
 
 

Page 316



Parking Guidelines 
 

4.34. A large portion of the Parking SPD is concerned with the detailed guidelines 
regarding the level of parking expected at new developments. As such, there 
were detailed responses from a number of parties as follows: 
 

4.35. Highways Agency, Sustrans and Aireborough Civic Society felt that the 
separate parking standard for call centres should be removed. Experience 
shows that call centres typically have a higher employee density than other office 
uses and often work on overlapping shift patterns which can create overspill 
parking problems.  The SPD sets out that any such application must be 
accompanied by a robust travel plan and conditions may be placed upon any 
permission requiring a reduction in parking should the use be changed. 

 
4.36. Comments were received from both the Conservative Group and Councillor 

Campbell regarding the adequacy of the guidelines for housing developments. It 
was felt that the levels were too low and consequently caused problems of 
overspill parking on street. The Parking SPD does not include parking standards 
for residential developments, beyond student and HMO uses, as this is 
contained within the adopted Street Design Guide. 

 
4.37. The Parking SPD and Street Design Guide seek to ensure that residential 

development is adequately served by parking. The methodologies for calculating 
parking provision, outlined in the Street design Guide, take account of car 
ownership levels, property size and type of parking proposed.  

 
4.38. It is acknowledged that there has been a legacy issue in some residential 

developments, stemming from national policy which imposed maximum parking 
standards. The approach in recent years is felt to give a more appropriate level 
of parking as restrictions are not imposed by the Council and individual sites are 
taken on their merits when agreeing the level of parking to be provided.  

 
4.39. The standards proposed for student housing/HMO developments were 

contested by Leeds Property Forum and the University of Leeds. They felt that 
the definitions set out in chapter 9 for student accommodation and HMOs 
required clarification and that the expected parking requirements set out are 
unachievable and unnecessary given the level of car ownership for HMO and 
students. 

 
4.40. As per standard planning management process, change of use is defined as 

new development.  Therefore the guidelines set out in chapter 9 apply to change 
of use / conversion as well as new build development.  The definition of HMO 
use is clearly set out within the planning system as C4 usage. Purpose built 
student accommodation falls within the C3 land use category, but in many cases 
is restricted to students only through planning obligations. 

 
4.41. Given the comments from government, regarding appropriate levels of 

parking being provided in residential developments, the standards set out for 
HMOs are justified. 

 

Page 317



4.42. Detailed comments on the standards proposed for specific use classes were 
received as follows: 

 
 Lack of reasoning behind caps on short stay provision for cycle parking. 
 A greater recognition of the Parking Guidelines as precisely guidelines, 

accepting that there may be flexibility within individual schemes. 
 Hot food takeaways and private hire operations to provide parking 

spaces. 
 1:1 staff car parking not required for Higher/Further Education 
 Queries over whether the guidelines provide enough parking for offices 

and residential uses. 
 The standard size of parking spaces in supermarkets is too small. 

 
4.43. It is accepted that the draft SPD gives no reasoning for the cap on short stay 

cycle parking. The cap is proposed to ensure that cycling provision is not over 
specified, for example a large supermarket would require over 30 short stay 
spaces using the 1:250 ratio, the cap is considered a reasonable level of 
provision allowing the developer to provide higher quality provision.  Through the 
travel plan process additional spaces should be provided if required. 
 

4.44. The SPD already acknowledges the need to have some flexibility in 
considering parking numbers for new development, which will require justification 
from developers and consideration first of other strategies such as Travel 
Planning. 

 
4.45. Table 1 within the SPD shows the expected parking levels for new hot food 

takeaway.  Private hire would fit within the sui generis use and applications will 
be considered on their merits. 

 
4.46. As stated within section 9 of the SPD, the guidelines for three D1(Non-

Residential Institutions) use classes are based upon the number of staff. 
However it is intended that this provision would not be solely for staff but for the 
establishment as a whole and allocated/controlled within the context of their 
travel plan. 

 
4.47. Office densities do vary but the Employment Densities Guide (OffPAT 2010), 

gives a general office density of one FTE per approx 15sqm (gross external).  
Once absences are included for this equates to approximately one parking 
space per two staff in out of city centre locations.  More generous parking 
provision is allowable for call centres. 
 

4.48. The Street Design Guide methodology 2 uses census car ownership data to 
calculate parking demand in residential development.  This is therefore up to 
date and area specific. 

 
4.49. The increasing size of certain cars is noted (although there has also been a 

recent trend for small cars), however the very large majority still fit within a 
2.4x4.8m parking space (Ford Galaxy, for example, is 4.81m x 2.15m including 
mirrors).  It would not be reasonable or land efficient to design car parks around 
excessively large cars. 

Page 318



 
Park and Ride 
 

4.50. Comments were received on the park and ride section of the SPD which gives 
a general description of the strategy and characteristics of a successful park and 
ride scheme. Generally the comments received support and mirror the strategy 
for park and ride, with a number of specific thoughts on how the sites should 
operate. 
 

4.51. Network Rail felt that rail station parking for park and ride had been missed 
from the SPD. This was also raised by the Liberal Democrat ward members for 
Weetwood. This is a valid point and has been addressed. 
 

4.52. Negative comments on the viability and security of park and ride sites in 
Leeds were received from 2 respondees. Given that Leeds City Council has 
successfully brought into operation a new park and ride site at Elland Road, 
which has seen steady growth in usage over a year and no security issues, it is 
not felt that these points are valid. 

 
Motorcycle parking 
 

4.53. Responses were received stating that the motorcycle parking references 
within the SPD did not correspond with current provision and there was not 
enough support being given to this form of transport. 
 

4.54. It is accepted that motorcycle parking across the district and particularly the 
city centre could and should be improved.  The SPD aims to help facilitate that 
improvement. The wording of the document has been strengthened with regard 
to parking for powered two wheelers. 

 
Cycle parking 
 
 

4.55. Support was received for the definition of quality short and long stay cycle 
parking for new developments from Sustrans and Leeds Cycle Campaign. 
 

4.56. Leeds Cycle Campaign disagreed with the approach to long stay parking at 
hotels, believing that provision should be made for guests. While long stay 
parking for hotels is primarily aimed at staff the ratio of 1 space per 8 bedrooms 
would actually provide a good provision which should also be available to 
customers 

 
4.57. One response stated the view that the parking guidance was not strong 

enough and would not provide cycle parking of sufficient quality. Chapter 5 has 
been amended to include a reference to the use of planning conditions to secure 
the right quantum and quality of cycle parking. 

 
 
 
 

Page 319



Supporting Measures 
 

4.58. Issues around school parking were raised by Mr G Hall, who called for greater 
measures around schools as follows: 

 to submit a detailed travel plan which encourages the use of car share 
and/or use of School “Mini Bus transport for the use of staff – Reason - to 
reduce private car dependency and onsite parking space. 

 Only “Permit” parking shall be allowed within the School Grounds – 
Reason - to prevent unauthorised parking.   

 On street parking, either long term or drop off, will be discouraged  within 
a 200 metre radius of School Grounds by imposing traffic regulation 
orders; Reason - in the interest of child and pedestrian safety. 

 
4.59. Current policies, such as the travel plan SPD, are felt to cover these items 

and amendments have been made in the text of the Parking SPD to make this 
clearer. 
 

4.60. Wording has been added which addresses the issue of drop off provision for 
school sites. 
 

4.61. Comments were received that disputed the value of promoting car sharing 
and car clubs. It is acknowledged that car sharing is not the sole solution to 
promoting sustainable travel, but is an important tool that will work for some 
individuals and particularly larger organisations. Evidence from car clubs 
suggests that membership leads to reduced annual car driver mileage, reduced 
carbon emissions due to the newer car fleet and higher levels of usage of 
sustainable modes of travel amongst members.1 

 
4.62. Although not a primary part of the SPD, Residents permit parking was raised 

by several city councillors, Mrs M Thompson and the Little Woodhouse 
Community Association.  

 
4.63. It was felt that permits should not be charged for by the Council and short stay 

parking should be allowed. Councillors gave a range of responses from wanting 
more control through to reducing the number of permit areas. It was not felt that 
permits were a positive solution to the overspill parking issues created by a lack 
of parking. Administration issues were also raised. 

 
4.64. The SPD seeks to ensure that the underlying reasons for these overspill 

parking problems are not repeated in new development. The creation of permit 
parking areas is undertaken by the traffic management section and is bespoke to 
the area in question and can include short stay parking if appropriate. 

 
4.65.  The administration of permits is undertaken by parking services and follows 

an established procedure for guest permits etc. The SPD does not cover this 
area of parking. 

 

                                            
1 Carplus Annual Survey of Car Clubs 2014/15 – produced by SDG 

Page 320



4.66. The introduction of a workplace parking levy was called for by Sustrans. 
There is no current expectation or aspiration within the Leeds transport vision 
that a workplace parking levy will be introduced in Leeds.  However, the SPD 
does not rule this out as a longer term measure. 

 
4.67. A query was made as to the evidence relating to the 1:10 ratio recommended 

for electric vehicle parking. This ratio was based on a historic forecast for take up 
of electric vehicles and although take up has been slower than expected, given 
the challenges with air quality it is considered that it is nevertheless important to 
maintain this ambitious approach. 

 
4.68. The proposed green parking scheme was supported by the Chamber of 

Commerce and more details on its operation have been added as a result. 
 

Technical changes 
 

4.69. The consultation process also revealed some technical or wording issues 
which have been corrected. The key changes being: 

 Parking requirements changed for medical services use class to allow for 
patient parking. 

 Increased expected parking provision at schools to a rate of 1:1 based on 
full time equivalent (FTE) staff. 

 Removal of business park standards from car parking guidelines. 
 More relaxed standards for HMOs converting to other residential units. 
 Amendments to the cycle parking standards for higher/further education 

establishment, reflecting the needs of students. 
 

 
5. Conclusions 
5.1. This report has described the process of public consultation carried out in order 

for the views of interested parties to be taken on board when shaping the SPD. 
 

5.2. A reasonable number of contributions were received, considering the generally 
technical nature of the content. 

 
5.3. Much of the points raised have been taken on board and shaped the final 

version of the document. Generally there has not been a shift in the guidance 
described by the SPD, however details have been altered as well as additional 
description on certain points. 

 
5.4. It is considered that the consultation exercise has been a success, allowing a 

range of stakeholders to influence the future policy of Leeds City Council with 
regard to parking. 

 

Page 321



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1

 
Leeds Parking Policy  

 Supplementary Planning Document 

 
1  Introduction .......................................................................................................... 2 

2  Policy Context ...................................................................................................... 4 

3  Context ................................................................................................................ 8 

4  City Centre Parking .............................................................................................. 9 

5  Bicycle & Motorcycle Parking ............................................................................ 11 

6  Off-Street Parking .............................................................................................. 13 

7  On-Street Parking .............................................................................................. 17 

8  Park and Ride .................................................................................................... 18 

9  Parking in New Developments ........................................................................... 21 

10  Supporting Measures ...................................................................................... 35 

1  Appendix 1 –City Centre Parking Areas inset maps .......................................... 38 

2  Appendix 2 - Parking Guidelines - References .................................................. 46 

 

Page 323



 

 2

1 Introduction 

1.1 Purpose of this document 
1.1.1 The SPD aims to achieve the following through parking policy: 

 Support for the growth of the economy in the City Centre and the continuing viability 
of town centres by ensuring the provision of an appropriate quantity, quality and 
type of parking 

 A transport network which allows for the efficient movement of goods and people 
through the reduction of congestion on the roads and a greater choice of more 
sustainable modes of travel 

 Supporting local communities by ensuring that parking does not cause local 
amenity problems for residents 

1.1.2 The geographic scope of this document is the entire Leeds Metropolitan District 
which includes the City Centre as well as the main urban area of Leeds and many 
designated town centres. 

1.1.3 This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is designed to bring together and 
amplify a number of elements and policies relating to parking, previously contained 
within various sections of the Unitary Development Plan (Review 2006) (RUDP), 
and taken forward in the adopted Core Strategy. 

1.2 Contents of this document 
1.2.1 The SPD is not intended to cover every aspect of parking, as documents produced 

by the Parking Services section of Leeds City Council are already available 
covering the technicalities of parking use and enforcement, such as the A to Z of 
parking. 

1.2.2 The intention of the SPD is to provide more detailed guidance on how the policy 
objectives of higher level planning and transport planning documents such as the 
Core Strategy and Local Transport Plan may be put into effect. 

1.2.3 This document sets out: 

 The policy context 

 Guidance for the future management of parking in the City Centre 

 How cycle & motorcycle parking is catered for in Leeds 

 How on and off-street parking contributes to the strategy 

 The importance of correctly designed disabled parking in appropriate numbers 

 How park & ride contributes to the strategy 

 How parking provision for new developments will be managed 

 How other transport interventions assist the parking strategy 

1.3 Key Points 
1.3.1 The contents of this SPD are mainly the amalgamation of existing Council policies. 

The following points detail the current and emerging policy: 

 Future changes in parking prices at Leeds City Council operated City Centre car 
parks should take into account relevant Council and Local Transport Plan policies 

Page 324



 

 3

 New short and medium stay public car parks will be encouraged to support the 
vitality of the City Centre as a place of business and a visitor, leisure and retail 
attraction. A sufficient supply of commuter parking should be complemented by a 
range of travel options for daily travel into the City Centre. 

 The City Centre is split into zones (Public Transport Box, Core and Fringe) with 
appropriate parking guidelines set out for each 

 Introduction of on-street parking charges and / or other management measures, in 
areas beyond the City Centre, will be considered where it is felt that this would 
encourage turnover of parking and therefore support economic activity. 

 Car parking standards are now primarily expressed as expected levels rather than 
maximums. 

 Parking standards for new developments in S2 district centres have been relaxed 
in order to give more generous levels of parking, therefore encouraging 
development in these centres. 

 Call centre developments have been identified as needing a greater level of 
parking provision than general offices and have been given a more relaxed 
maximum parking standard. 

 Houses in Multiple Occupation and student accommodation have been given an 
expected level of car parking to reduce on-street parking problems. Student 
accommodation in the Core is not expected to have any general car parking due to 
the greater levels of public transport accessibility. 

 Disabled parking guidelines are now based on a proportion of the general car 
parking provision. Guidelines now follow the appropriate British Standards. 

 A cap has been introduced for the level of short stay parking that must be provided 
at a new development.  

 Supporting measures are outlined which will help improve travel choices. A green 
parking scheme is suggested that allows low emission vehicles to park for free in 
Leeds City Council parking places. 

1.3.2 The SPD sets out ‘Leeds Parking Policies’ (LPP) to amplify and support Core 
Strategy Policy T1. 

Page 325



 

 4

2 Policy Context 

2.1 Introduction 
2.1.1 The policy context for land use planning in the UK is set at national level by the 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and at local and district level by the 
Leeds Core Strategy (adopted November 2014).  

2.1.2 The West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan (LTP3) informs local planning policy and 
provides the transport policy context at the sub-regional level for the district’s 
parking policies.   

2.1.3 The Leeds Growth Strategy sets out the economic aims of the City forming a 
manifesto for economic growth in Leeds. 

2.1.4 Relevant public policies relating to parking are considered below: 

2.2 National Policy  
2.2.1 The key objective of the NPPF is to promote sustainable development, and the 

document sets out three dimensions to this (NPPF para 7): 

 an economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth and innovation; and by identifying and 
coordinating development requirements, including the provision of infrastructure; 
 

 a social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by providing the 
supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and future generations; 
and by creating a high quality built environment, with accessible local services that 
reflect the community’s needs and support its health, social and cultural well-being; 
and 
 

 an environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built 
and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve biodiversity, use 
natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt 
to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy. 

2.2.2 Chapter 4 of the NPPF details Transport and Parking specifically. The framework 
sets out the following guidance regarding parking standards (para 39): 

 

2.2.3 The NPPF also contains a theme of safeguarding and improving the vitality of town 
centres. With regard to parking in town centres the document states (para 40): 

 

If setting local parking standards for residential and non-residential development, local 
planning authorities should take into account: 

 the accessibility of the development; 
 the type, mix and use of development; 
 the availability of and opportunities for public transport; 
 local car ownership levels; and 
 an overall need to reduce the use of high-emission vehicles. 

Local authorities should seek to improve the quality of parking in town centres so that it 
is convenient, safe and secure, including appropriate provision for motorcycles. They 
should set appropriate parking charges that do not undermine the vitality of town centres. 
Parking enforcement should be proportionate. 

Page 326



 

 5

2.3 Sub-Regional Policy 
West Yorkshire Local Transport Plan (2011) 

2.3.1 The Local Transport Plan is a strategic plan for managing and investing in the local 
transport system.  The ‘MyJourney West Yorkshire’ Plan for 2011-26 contains a 15 
year strategy for transport, supported by a series of 3 year Implementation Plans for 
the five district Councils (Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees, Leeds and Wakefield) and 
Metro (now the West Yorkshire Combined Authority).   

2.3.2 The three key objectives of the LTP emphasise the importance of moving towards a 
low carbon, sustainable transport system, improving connectivity to support 
economic growth, and enhancing quality of life. 

2.3.3 Parking policies have a role to play in the delivery of these objectives through the 
implementation of a transport strategy which seeks to reduce emissions, minimise 
congestion, increase the use of sustainable modes of travel and support access to 
services, facilities and employment.  

2.3.4 The LTP3 document sees demand management as a key supporting policy. It is 
identified in Proposal 11 as follows: 

Proposal 11 
 

Leeds City Region  

2.3.5 The Leeds City Region Transport Strategy (2009) forms the framework for the West 
Yorkshire LTP in recognition of the increasing emphasis on the role of the Leeds 
City Region’s economy. Over the life of the LTP the aspiration is to deliver the 
priorities in the Leeds City Region Transport Strategy together with targeted 
improvements to the network.   

2.3.6 The Leeds City Region Transport Strategy includes spatial transport priorities based 
on the performance of existing transport networks together with the location of 
planned major employment and housing growth, which will be reviewed in line with 
the development of LDFs. 

2.3.7 In 2010, the Coalition Government invited local authorities and business to come 
together to establish 'Local Enterprise Partnerships' (LEPs). Their purpose is to 
promote jobs, growth and prosperity at a local level. LEPs cover ‘functional 
economic areas’, for which are recognised defined is travel to work areas.  

2.3.8 On 18 September 2012, the Government and Leeds City Region signed a City Deal 
which is the basis for a transfer of powers and funding from national to local 
government. It provides local government greater control over spending and 
decision-making in line with key priorities for growth in the city region. The areas 
focused on in this first City Deal are skills, transport, investment funds, trade and 
inward investment as well as new robust governance arrangements to help with the 
efficient delivery of objectives. 

2.3.9 In response to the government’s invitation to all Local Enterprise Partnerships 
(LEPs) to agree a Local Growth Deal for their area, the Leeds City Region has 

Strengthen demand management and enforcement to gain maximum benefit from 
measures to enable more sustainable choices. 

 
While the Choices agenda is focused on the needs of customers to help them make more 
sustainable choices, research shows that for some journeys, harder edged demand 
management measures will be needed to encourage change. The aim is to use appropriate 
demand management measures alongside the softer measures at the appropriate time, and 
in a way which supports all the plan’s objectives including economic growth. 

Page 327



 

 6

developed a Strategic Economic Plan (SEP). The consultation SEP was published 
at the end of January 2014 and agreed with Government in July 2014 as part of the 
Local Growth Deal. 

2.3.10 The key focus of the region is economic growth, benefiting residents and 
businesses alike.  Transport is at the heart of this process and clearly there is a key 
role for Transport Policy, such as the Parking SPD, to help encourage sustainable 
economic growth throughout the City. Availability of parking can be critical for 
workers, clients and customers of a range of business sectors. The appropriate 
management of parking also goes some way towards creating an urban 
environment which enhances quality of life and is attractive for living and visiting. 

2.4 Local Policy 
 

Leeds Local Development Framework (LDF) 

2.4.1 The Local Development Framework (LDF) is the name given to the new system of 
Development Plans introduced by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 

2.4.2 The original Leeds Unitary Development Plan (UDP) was drawn up in the 1990s 
and approved in 2001; it was reviewed in 2006. The UDP has now been replaced, 
subject to the retention of certain ‘saved’ policies and the emerging Site Allocations 
Plan, by the Leeds Core Strategy which was adopted in November 2014. Saved 
policies include T16 and T17 relating to park and ride sites and facilities; and T29 
and T29a relating to lorry parking and coach layover. 

2.4.3 The LDF takes the form of a portfolio of documents which comprise Development 
Plan Documents and Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs). This SPD on 
parking policies forms part of the Leeds LDF.  

 

Leeds LDF Core Strategy 

2.4.4 The Core Strategy is the overarching and central document in the LDF process. 
The Core Strategy sets out the Council’s vision for the future development of Leeds 
over the next 20 years and provides broad policies to shape development.   

2.4.5 The Core Strategy is set within the context of national, regional and local policy and 
has been informed by an extensive evidence base and consultation process. The 
focus of the strategy is to seek to address a wide range of environmental, social 
and economic considerations as part of the challenges and opportunities which 
Leeds faces. 

2.4.6 The principal theme of the transport chapter of the Core Strategy is ‘a well 
connected district’, based on the delivery of an accessible and integrated transport 
system to support communities and economic competitiveness.  The Core Strategy 
aims to increase the use of sustainable forms of transport by facilitating the delivery 
of infrastructure and the use of demand management and ensure new development 
takes place in locations that are or will be accessible by a choice of means of 
transport, including walking, cycling, and public transport.  

2.4.7 The Core Strategy at para 5.4.2 states: 

A Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) containing parking policies for Leeds 
District, is being prepared in-line with national guidance and local policies. The 
Parking SPD will outline policies which seek to ensure that there is adequate 
provision of parking across the City for shoppers, visitors and commuters to support 
the vitality of the City and Town Centres as well as the wider transport strategy 

Page 328



 

 7

objectives for Leeds. Detailed parking standards to achieve the Policy objectives 
will be outlined in the Parking SPD, which will replace the UDP parking standards. 

2.4.8 The following parts of Policy T1 of the Core Strategy relate to parking: 

(i) Parking policies controlling the use and supply of car parking across the city: 

a) To ensure adequate parking for shoppers and visitors to support the health and 
vitality of the city and town centres. 

b) Delivering strategic park and ride for the city which supports the City Centre 
vision and provides greater traveller choice. 

c) To support wider transport strategy objectives for sustainable travel and to 
minimise congestion during peak periods. 

d) Limiting the supply of commuter parking in areas of high public transport 
accessibility, such as the City Centre. 

 

2.4.9 Part (v) of Policy T2 of the Core Strategy states: 

Parking provision will be required for cars, motorcycles and cycles in accordance 
with current guidelines. 

2.4.10 Spatial Policy 11 part xi sets out a series of transport priorities including ‘Provision 
for people with impaired mobility to improve accessibility.’  The parking hierarchy, at 
section 3.1 below, places disabled parking at the top and the provision of such 
facilities should always be a priority. 

2.4.11 The district’s parking policies are a strategic measure which form part of the 
transport strategy for Leeds.   

2.5   Leeds Growth Strategy 
2.5.1 The Leeds Growth Strategy (2011) is a high level document that sets out the 

opportunities for economic growth in Leeds and how these will be exploited. 

2.5.2 The strategy focuses on seven distinct sector priorities; 

  • health and medical 

• financial and business services 

• low carbon manufacturing 

• creative, cultural and digital 

• retail and leisure 

• housing and construction 

• social enterprise and the third sector 

2.5.3 These are the key opportunities that will drive future growth. They are not silos. 
Each will have underlying needs and drivers that underpin development across all 
sectors. For instance, skills, innovation and enterprise are crucial as is increasing 
exports. There are strong connections between the key priorities and with the rest 
of the city’s diverse economy. Leeds’ economic growth will go hand in hand with 
other aspects of its development too, whether that is to do with transport, planning 
and housing, education and services or the environment. 

2.5.4 Parking provision, particularly within the City Centre, has to cater for many needs 
and has to help promote growth, while not adding to congestion, which has 
environmental and economic impacts. 

Page 329



 

 8

3   Context 

3.1 Parking Hierarchy  
3.1.1 A parking hierarchy defines the prioritisation of different types of parking that on 

many occasions will be competing for the same limited space on or off the highway. 

3.1.2 The hierarchy of parking types are set out below, with the level of consideration 
being higher towards the top of the list. These act as a framework for decisions to 
be made, however it is accepted that local circumstances may require the hierarchy 
to be adapted to suit. 

 Disabled car parking 

 Local resident car parking 

 Cycle, motorcycle and car club parking 

 Local business essential car parking/servicing need 

 Park and Ride 

 Short stay shopper/visitor car parking 

 Commuter car parking 

3.1.3 In many situations, it may be possible for two parking types to share the same 
space harmoniously, for example residents parking and short stay visitor parking. 
This will be encouraged where appropriate, in order to make best use of the 
available road space available. 

3.2   Definitions 
3.2.1 Throughout this document parking will be referred to in a number of ways, 

definitions are provided below for clarity. 

3.2.2 Short stay parking is defined as less than 2 hours, while medium stay parking is 
between 2 and 5 hours in length. This primarily caters for shoppers and visitors to a 
destination. 

3.2.3 Commuter parking is defined as over 5 hours. In general, this type of parking is 
associated with peak period travel, due to the typical working day of 9am to 5pm. 

3.2.4 Public parking is that which is available for any member of the public to use on a 
first come first served basis, however it may be charged for and could be run by 
either the Council or a private operator. Some Council parking of this type has a 
restriction on the length of stay, while others allow parking of any duration. Public 
parking can be found both on and off-street, with all on-street parking managed by 
the Council. 

3.2.5 Off-street public parking is typically either ‘at grade’, meaning it is at ground level 
only, or multi-storey, with multiple floors of parking. 

3.2.6 Private Non Residential (PNR) parking is associated with a specific development, 
such as an office, and as such is only available for employees or visitors to that 
development. Customer parking is also considered to be a form of PNR, as it is 
generally for the exclusive use of users/workers of the shop, office etc which it is 
associated with. 

3.2.7 Residential parking is a mix of on-street and off-street, the type of parking 
depending upon the nature of properties. In terraced streets the parking will be 
predominantly on-street, while in other areas it will be off-street. While the Council 

Page 330



 

 9

does not have a duty to provide on-street parking, in some residential areas, it may 
prioritise this through resident permit schemes. 

3.2.8 Other forms of parking are less well defined, for example hospital and train station 
car parks could be used by any member of the public, however on the whole they 
are only used by visitors to the destination due to pricing etc. Contract parking 
exists in other places, in which parking places are let to specified users, usually 
over a long term.  

3.3   Economic Context 
3.3.1 The Town & Local centres of Leeds, as defined by the Core Strategy are all reliant 

to a lesser or greater extent on a supply of public parking. The traditional role of a 
local centre is changing, with a greater emphasis on the leisure and service offer 
such as cafes, restaurants, hairdressers etc. This means that trips to these centres 
are becoming less frequent but lengthier and the demand for parking is moving 
towards medium stay.  

3.3.2 The Mary Portas report which looked at the health of Town and City Centres 
recognised the importance of parking, recommending that it should be free for the 
exclusive use of shoppers. This was one of many recommendations made that 
would potentially improve town centres such as; 'Town Teams should focus on 
making high streets accessible, attractive and safe’. In a town centre, parking must 
attempt to meet the demand from commuters, workers, shoppers and other visitors 
and it is rarely acceptable or feasible to make car parks exclusive for a single group. 

3.3.3 Out of town retail centres and supermarkets do not generally charge for parking, 
which is perceived as an advantage they hold over the City Centre and Town & 
District Centres where parking is charged. Free parking is however only one of 
many factors that sets these developments apart from the City, Town, and Local 
centres, such as the quantity of parking available, retail and leisure offer, 
environment, management etc. 

3.3.4 Charging for parking in the City Centre is also a reflection of the economic 
prosperity of Leeds, as both private firms as well as the Council charge for parking 
as a result of the demand for car travel to the Centre. In certain areas of the City 
Centre, local high value businesses have called for higher on-street parking costs 
so that spaces are available for them to use and they can maintain a competitive 
advantage. 

3.3.5 Section 55 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 restricts expenditure of surplus 
parking income to making good any charges against an authority’s general fund, 
provision and maintenance of off-street parking, highway improvements and public 
transport schemes. This has been updated by section 95 of the Traffic Management 
Act 2004 to allow local environmental schemes to be added to the list of permissible 
uses for parking surpluses. 

3.3.6 Revenues from Penalty Charge Notices are ring-fenced for parking, transport and 
environmental improvements. 

4    City Centre Parking  
 
4.1 Supporting: Core Strategy (T1) 

4.1.1 In line with the Core Strategy this SPD details City Centre parking based on 
management of both supply and demand.  

Page 331



 

 10

4.1.2 Core Strategy policy (T1) Transport Management includes the following 
components relating to controlling the use and supply of parking: 

a) To ensure adequate parking for shoppers and visitors to support the health 
and vitality of the city and town centres. 

b) Delivering strategic park and ride for the city which supports the City Centre 
vision and provides greater traveller choice. 

c) To support wider transport strategy objectives for sustainable travel and to 
minimise congestion during peak periods. 

d) Limiting the supply of commuter parking in areas of high public transport 
accessibility, such as the City Centre. 

4.1.3 To achieve policy T1 the following policy components and supporting initiatives are 
to be used:  

 Continued support for new short and medium stay parking in the City Centre, which 
would be primarily used by shoppers and visitors (see Section 6). 

 Management of on-street spaces will continue primarily as a source of short stay 
parking but with flexibility to be altered to medium stay to support the economic 
vitality of different areas of the City Centre (See Section 7). 

 Priority for on-street space given to disabled, cycle, motorcycle and car club parking 
along with local servicing requirements and public transport needs. 

 Leeds City Council will actively pursue the implementation of a number of bus 
based Park and Ride sites at the outer ring road and close to the motorways, to 
create extra capacity for parking with reduced congestion impacts. Rail based Park 
and Ride will also be supported and actively pursued (See Section 0). 

 Future demand for commuter travel will be catered for by a mix of travel choices. 
For car based commuting, the options will be: PNR parking, existing public car 
parks and new bus, rail or NGT based Park and Ride. Remaining demand for travel 
will be catered for by walking/cycling, NGT and bus for shorter journeys and 
increases in rail capacity for longer distance commuters. Proposals in the Core 
Strategy for additional City Centre living will also have a significant effect on 
reducing the commuting demand.  

 Promotion of a range of supporting measures aiming to make best use of the 
currently available parking and offer viable transport choices for accessing the City 
Centre (see Section 10). 

4.1.4 Policy T1 refers to: Limiting the supply of commuter parking in areas of high public 
transport accessibility, such as the City Centre. The policy set out within this SPD 
interprets this by defining a maximum amount of PNR parking at new City Centre 
developments alongside controlling public off street commuter parking to current 
levels. This is summarised below: 

 The continued use of maximum car parking standards for new developments in the 
City Centre to encourage modal shift and sustainable travel to work (see Section 9). 

 It is not proposed to make provision for any significant net increase in permanent 
public commuter car parking in the City Centre (See Section 6.4). 

 The principle of no new parking of any type within the Public Transport Box (as 
previously set out in UDP Policy T28) will be continued. 

 Commuter parking on cleared development sites will not be allowable within the 
Core (See Section 9.2 for definition). Non Commuter parking will be permissible 

Page 332



 

 11

within the Core while temporary permissions for commuter parking will be allowable 
within the Fringe. Policy LPP3 contains full details (See Section 6.6). 

4.1.5 It should be noted that surveys of City Centre users show that less than half of 
visitors use a car to travel to the City Centre and the number of commuters 
travelling by car fell by 9% between 2001 and 2011 against a background of 
increased City Centre employment. 

5   Bicycle & Motorcycle Parking 

5.1 Bicycle Parking – Supporting: Core Strategy T1(iii), T2(v) and 
P10(iv) 

5.1.1 Secure bicycle parking is a key element for the promotion and continued uptake of 
cycling as a sustainable mode of travel. The Council will promote the provision of 
cycle parking in places where demand exists or is expected in future. 

5.1.2 Public cycle parking is provided in Leeds City Centre at convenient locations. A 
significant increase in on-street provision is being provided as part of the planned 
City Connect scheme. In addition to on-street spaces, the Cyclepoint at Leeds City 
Station provides 300 secure parking spaces with bike maintenance and related 
facilities.  

5.1.3 As part of the guidelines on parking for new developments, shown in section 9.6, 
minimum requirements for provision of short stay and long stay cycle parking are 
set out. The outline of what is considered to be suitable for long and short stay 
bicycle parking is described below, (for details see Chapter 11 of Local Transport 
Note 2/08 on Cycle Infrastructure Design.) 

5.1.4 The provision of cycle parking facilities need not be expensive, but it is very 
important that the correct type of facility is introduced, and that it is situated in the 
right place for convenience and security. For security reasons it is recommended 
that a "Sheffield Stand" type is used for short stay provision, which accommodates 
two bicycles, one at either side of the stand, and consists of hooped lengths of 50 
mm pipe which can be stainless steel, plastic coated or painted. This form enables 
both the cycle wheels and frame to be secured to the stand, but does not provide 
security for accessories or luggage, and consequently is not suitable for long-term 
parking. They must be carefully positioned with sufficient space so that they can be 
used, as identified in LTN 2/08, and so that they are not an obstruction to other road 
users. There are a number of alternative proprietary facilities such as slotted paving 
slabs and "butterfly holders" which provide little or no security, and can damage the 
parked cycle. These will not be regarded as acceptable alternatives. 

5.1.5 Sheffield Stands need to be securely installed, preferably concreted into the ground, 
so they cannot be removed. Short stay cycle parking needs to be conveniently 
located close to building entrances. Preferably the short stay cycle parking should 
be covered. 

5.1.6 For long stay provision it is recommended that lockers or caged lockable enclosures 
are provided, although it may also be possible to make secure provision in part of a 
building or within the curtilage of a building. Careful thought will need to be given to 
the design, location, access, management and landscaping of lockers and caged 
enclosures to achieve security and convenience.  

5.1.7 The provision of cycle parking should be considered at an early stage in the design 
of a development. Thought should be given to positioning cycle parking in order to 
make use of the buildings features such as areas of cover and points which are 
naturally observed by passers by. The site should be close to entrance points of the 

Page 333



 

 12

building and covered by CCTV and lighting, to enhance the security of parked 
cycles. The use of ‘Grampian’ style planning conditions to ensure appropriate cycle 
parking is encouraged. 

5.1.8 In the future it may be necessary to provide a further hub for secure parking within 
the City Centre, to complement the growth in cycling within the city. The Council will 
support this when demand is high enough. 

 
 

LPP1: SECURE CYCLE PARKING, REFLECTING THE GUIDELINES CONTAINED IN 
SECTION 9.6, WILL BE REQUIRED IN ASSOCIATION WITH NEW DEVELOPMENTS. 
 
______________________________________________________________ 

5.2 Motorcycle Parking – Supporting : Core Strategy T1(iii)and T2(v) 
5.2.1 Secure powered two wheeler (PTW) parking is a key element for the promotion and 

continued uptake of this mode as a more sustainable alternative to single 
occupancy car use.  

5.2.2 Motorcycles take up less road space than cars and can filter through stationary or 
slow moving traffic, as well as generally emitting less CO2. An increase in the 
provision of parking facilities will help those choosing motorcycling as an alternative 
mode of transport. The Council will promote the provision of PTW parking in places 
where demand exists or is expected in future. 

5.2.3 Motorcycles can be extremely valuable vehicles that are prone to theft. They can be 
readily lifted into another vehicle, and hence may be subject to organised theft. 
Security should be one of the foremost considerations for those providing parking 
facilities for motorcycles. 

5.2.4 Specific guidelines on the number of motorcycle parking spaces that should be 
provided with new developments are shown in section 9.7. 

5.2.5 A recommended guide for the acceptable standard of motorcycle parking is 
produced by the Institute of Incorporated Engineers. Chapter 5 of ‘Guidelines for 
Motorcycling’ deals specifically with motorcycle parking. On-street parking bays 
should be designed so that the motorcycle’s back wheel is facing the footway kerb 
and the front wheel facing the carriageway. This not only saves on space but also 
allows motorcycles to be parked against the camber of the carriageway reducing 
the chance of the motorcycle toppling over. An individual motorcycle parking bay 
should ideally measure 2.8 x 1.3 metres in order to accommodate all sizes of 
motorcycles. Locking facilities are either raised or ground level. With ground level 
provision the anchor point remains below the surface, often concealed by a hinged 
steel plate set flush with the road surface. The plate is raised by the user, allowing a 
loop to be lifted up and the user's own lock passed through, with raised provision a 
horizontal bar is provided at a height of approximately 40-60 cm. This style is 
generally provided at the edge of the carriageway and again requires the user to 
use their own lock. Locking facilities, either raised or ground level, should not 
represent a trip hazard to pedestrians  

5.2.6 If a development is large enough, the motorcycle parking area should be able to 
hold a minimum of 6 motorcycles. Given that motorcycles are prone to theft, riders 
are more confident parking in larger motorcycle parking areas. This would not be 
achieved if the parking bays were smaller and dispersed across a number of 
locations.  

 

Page 334



 

 13

 

 

LPP2: SECURE MOTOR CYCLE PARKING, REFLECTING THE GUIDELINES 
CONTAINED IN SECTION 9.7, WILL BE REQUIRED IN ASSOCIATION WITH NEW 
DEVELOPMENTS. 
 
______________________________________________________________ 

6 Off-Street Parking  
Supporting: Core Strategy T1(iii) 

6.1 Leeds City Council Car Parks 
6.1.1 Leeds City Council operates a number of off-street car parks within the City Centre. 

In the City Centre, the use of off-street car parks is charged for as a way of 
managing demand for parking and peak period car use. Charging for parking also 
provides an income stream for the Council, and makes best use of the Council’s 
assets.  

6.1.2 Leeds City Council also manages a number of car parks in the town centres around 
the district. The current management of these car parks is usually without charge. 
The permissible length of stay varies between no restriction and a short maximum 
stay, e.g. 2 hours. Where the efficiency of a car park is affected by a lack of 
available spaces, charging or other demand management measures may be 
considered in town centres as an effective management tool. 

6.1.3 The Council’s car parks will be managed in a way that aims to increase the 
efficiency of the car parks and helps to maintain the vitality of the City Centre and 
Town Centres, in accordance with the NPPF ‘so that it is convenient, safe and 
secure’. They should also contribute to the transport objectives of the documents 
described in Section 2. 

6.2 Charging Policy 
6.2.1 In order to help control congestion and reflect the available highway capacity on 

routes into and through the City Centre, the Council will aim to ensure that the 
overall weighted average price of commuter car parking is greater than public 
transport fares. However, the Council should review each car park on a site by site 
basis. 

6.2.2 Parking prices for short and medium stay parking in the City Centre and all parking 
in the town centres will be maintained at a price which reflects demand and makes 
the car park work as efficiently as possible.  

6.2.3 Car parking charges are reviewed on an annual basis in accordance with the 
Council’s fees and charges policy. Unlike private operators, the Council’s objective 
is not to maximise revenue, rather it aims to use pricing as a tool to manage traffic 
flows in the city and to maintain the vitality of the City Centre. The Council sets 
prices taking into account a number of factors including: 

 The Council’s overall  policy objectives  

 Levels of demand, determined on a street by street basis and with reference to the 
off-street occupancy surveys  

 Budget expectations as determined by the Council’s annual budget strategy  

 Levels of actual and forecast income  

Page 335



 

 14

 Prices of surrounding car parks in the area 

 Public transport fares 

6.2.4 As at March 2014, less than 20% of the City Centre off-street parking was under the 
control of the Council, therefore the prices charged by LCC have a limited influence 
on the pricing of privately operated car parks. Generally the advertised price of the 
privately run car parks are greater than those in the Council car parks. This should 
also be taken into account when making changes to Council parking prices. 

6.2.5 It should be noted that parking charges may need to be raised in order to cover 
increased costs relating to parking management. 

6.2.6 Income from car parking activities is to be ring fenced to expenditure on improving 
transport infrastructure, including Park and Ride schemes. 

6.3   Private Non-Residential Parking 
6.3.1 Currently 60% of parking spaces in the City Centre are defined as private non-

residential. Leeds City Council acts to control the level of parking associated with 
new developments via the parking standards as described in section 9. However, 
developments that currently exist have a variety of levels of parking with some at 
higher levels of provision than would be permissible under current standards. 

6.3.2 The reduction of current demand for parking will be tackled via the continued 
promotion of travel planning, as described in section10.2. 

6.4   New Permanent Public Car Parks 
6.4.1 The provision of new permanent car parks not associated with specific development 

will be viewed differently depending upon location. The various scenarios are 
described below. 

6.4.2 Within the City Centre Public Transport Box there is a presumption against new 
permanent car parking of any kind (whether associated with development or not).   

6.4.3 Within the City Centre Core and Fringe parking areas, as defined in section 9, there 
is a presumption that the re-provision of existing public commuter car parking 
between and within the PT Box, Core and Fringe is acceptable providing that no net 
increase in public parking occurs.  This does not apply to cleared site car parks 
situated on development sites.  A modest increase in permanent public commuter 
car parking above this, but not exceeding 500 spaces1 over the Local Development 
Plan period, may be permitted in certain circumstances.  

6.4.4 New short and medium stay public car parks will be encouraged to support the 
vitality of the City Centre as a visitor and retail attraction. Planning conditions on 
opening times, length of stay and pricing will be required in order to ensure that 
these car parks do not create adverse demand for peak period travel into the City 
Centre.  Proposals relating to car parking for Leeds Railway Station will be 
considered on their own merits in the context of promoting rail Park and Ride and 
future High Speed rail connections. 

6.4.5 The provision of a strategic car park within Holbeck Urban Village or the South 
Bank2, which caters for both commuters and short stay uses, would be permissible 
where it is not feasible to provide the appropriate level of Private non Residential 

                                            
1 Current permanent long stay city centre parking (March 2015) comprises 9,959 spaces. 500 spaces 
therefore represents an approximate 5% latitude 
2 Areas as defined by Holbeck Urban Village SPD and South Bank Planning Statement 

Page 336



 

 15

(PNR) parking within individual sites. In this situation, PNR parking from a number 
of developments could be aggregated into one multi-storey car park provided that it 
accords with the parking standards contained in section 9. 

6.4.6 Within designated town centres, the provision of new off-street public car parking 
will be encouraged to meet excess demand, provided that changes to the 
management of existing car parks and measures to reduce unnecessary parking 
demand are investigated first. It should be noted that the provision of new car parks 
is expensive and therefore the budget constraints of the Council would need to be 
taken into account with any proposal. 

6.4.7 Outside these areas there is a general presumption against new permanent parking 
not associated with development, however individual cases will be considered on 
their merits taking into account travel planning initiatives; road safety and local 
amenity issues and comparisons against the guidelines in section 9. 

6.4.8 The provision of new parking related to Park and Ride sites is covered separately in 
section 0. 

6.5  Parking within the Public Transport Box 
6.5.1 Within the City Centre Public Transport Box3, there are significant levels of public 

and PNR parking. The need for access to these car parks creates a conflict with the 
generally pedestrianised City Centre and requires cars to cross the Public Transport 
Box, conflicting with bus traffic. 

6.5.2 Within the City Centre Public Transport Box there is a presumption against new 
permanent car parking of any kind (whether associated with development or not).   

6.5.3 If at any time, current off-street parking within the Public Transport Box is proposed 
to be redeveloped, there will be a presumption against its replacement. If 
necessary, replacement parking should be located outside the Public Transport 
Box, this would allow the enhancement of the City Centre environment through 
expansion of the pedestrianised zone. 

6.6 Temporary use of Cleared Development Sites for Parking 
6.6.1 In recent years some vacant sites that have been earmarked for development, 

particularly to the south of the City Centre, have been used for unauthorised 
commuter car parking. 

6.6.2 In 2010, enforcement action was taken against a number of unauthorised commuter 
car parks. The outcome of this action prompted a policy review. Given that 
expected public transport infrastructure improvements had not been delivered, the 
City Council adopted an informal policy to temporarily regularise a limited number of 
commuter car parking spaces. 

6.6.3 By the time the temporary permissions end in 2017, a review will have taken place 
to assess the public transport provision at that time and reduce the number of 
cleared site parking spaces on a managed basis. 

6.6.4 Policy T1 of the Core Strategy outlines the need to limit the supply of commuter car 
parking in areas of high public transport accessibility, such as the City Centre. The 
continuation of a policy which limits the amount of commuter parking on cleared 
sites is necessary in order to minimise congestion during peak periods and support 
sustainable travel. Policy LPP3 gives the details regarding cleared site parking. 

                                            
3 The Public Transport Box is defined as the area within and including The Headrow, Vicar Lane, Boar Lane 
and Park Row. 

Page 337



 

 16

 

 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  

LPP3: PROPOSALS FOR CAR PARKING ON VACANT OR CLEARED 

SITES WILL BE CONSIDERED AS FOLLOWS: 

 

i. PUBLIC TRANSPORT BOX: 

 

THERE WILL BE A PRESUMPTION AGAINST ANY NEW PERMANENT OR 
TEMPORARY CAR PARKING WITHIN THE PUBLIC TRANSPORT BOX 

 

ii. CORE CAR PARKING POLICY AREA: 

 

THERE WILL BE A PRESUMPTION AGAINST THE USE OF VACANT OR CLEARED 
SITES FOR COMMUTER PARKING. NON COMMUTER PARKING WILL GENERALLY 
BE ACCEPTABLE; A PLANNING CONDITION WILL BE APPLIED PRECLUDING 
OPENING OF THE CAR PARK BETWEEN THE HOURS OF O630 AND 0930 HOURS 
EACH MORNING AND RESTRICTING ANY PARKING THAT TAKES PLACE BEFORE 
1300 HOURS TO A MAXIMUM STAY OF 5 HOURS. 

 

iii. FRINGE CITY CENTRE COMMUTER PARKING CONTROL AREA  

USE FOR COMMUTER PARKING WILL ONLY BE SUPPORTED ON A TEMPORARY 
BASIS. 

PROPOSALS (INCLUDING RENEWAL OF TEMPORARY PERMISSIONS) WILL BE 
JUDGED ON THEIR MERITS TAKING ACCOUNT OF: 

 

A. ACCESSIBILITY OF THE IMMEDIATE AREA BY PUBLIC TRANSPORT; 

 

B.IMPACTS ON HIGHWAY EFFICIENCY, CONGESTION LEVELS, AIR QUALITY AND 
ROAD SAFETY; 

 

C. PROGRESS IN THE DELIVERY OF NEW PUBLIC TRANSPORT CAPACITY AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE; 

 

D. IMPACTS ON THE VIABILITY OF PUBLIC TRANSPORT, INCLUDING INITIATIVES 
SUCH AS PUBLIC PARK AND RIDE; 

 

E. VISUAL APPEARANCE, BIODIVERSITY, AND CONTRIBUTION TO OTHER 
TEMPORARY USES; 

 

Page 338



 

 17

F. IMPACTS ON THE IMPLEMENTATION OF TRAVEL PLANS. 

 

iv. AREAS OUTSIDE THE FRINGE 

ALL APPLICATIONS TO BE CONSIDERED ON THEIR INDIVIDUAL MERITS. 

 

6.6.5 Due to their temporary nature, any sites approved under LPP3 would not be 
expected to provide spaces for car club vehicles or electric charging points as 
detailed in section 9. 

 

6.7 Residential Parking 
6.7.1 Guidelines on parking in new residential development are included in the Council’s 

Street Design Guide (adopted August 2009). The Street Design guide sets out at 
para 3.180 that:  
Car parking provision should be based on expected car ownership and the need to cater 
for visitors, and should be provided to suit the nature and location of the development. 
 

6.7.2 The Street Design Guide sets out two methodologies for calculating appropriate 
levels of car parking for new residential development which take into account levels 
of car ownership and size of residence. 

 

7 On-Street Parking  
Supporting: Core Strategy T1(a) and (d) 

7.1 Introduction 
7.1.1 On-street parking is managed by the Parking Services section of Leeds City 

Council. Details of the way in which parking is managed in Leeds can be found in 
the A to Z of parking, which can be found on the Leeds City Council website. 

7.1.2 The strategic level of management of on-street parking is described in the following 
sections. On-street parking gives drivers the greatest level of access to 
destinations, due to the close proximity of the highway to shops and services. As 
such the management of these spaces is more complex and flexible in order to 
reflect the higher relative value of these parking spaces. 

7.1.3 Priority for on-street space will be given in line with the hierarchy set out at section 
3.1, subject to site specific needs and constraints. 

7.2 Duration of Stay 
7.2.1 In order to manage on-street car parking spaces, the primary tool will be the 

restriction of the duration of stay. The balance of short, medium and commuter 
parking needed on-street will be determined based on local destinations and their 
relative turnover of visitors. 

7.2.2 The City Centre on-street spaces have different restrictions depending on their 
location, with the City Centre divided into several zones. Those in the most central 
area are currently restricted to short or medium stay use, with a 2 hour maximum 
stay on weekdays and 5 hour maximum stay on Saturdays. Sunday parking is also 
subject to a simple charging regime for stays of under or over 4hours. Pay and 
Display spaces outside the central zone allow for commuter parking. 

Page 339



 

 18

7.2.3 If Pay and Display spaces in the central zone are not well used, it will be 
permissible for the length of stay to be increased to medium stay. Medium stay 
parking prices on-street should be more expensive than those at nearby off-street 
car parks, to reflect the premium of using an on-street space that could otherwise 
be used by a greater number of short stay users. The primary purpose of the central 
zone on-street Pay and Display should still remain as a short stay parking resource 
for visitors to nearby destinations. 

7.3   Charging Policy 
7.3.1 Currently, charging for use of on-street spaces occurs within the City Centre 

between the hours of 8am and 10pm on Monday to Saturday and 10am to 10pm on 
Sunday. Charging will also be considered as a management tool where it is felt that 
this would encourage turnover of parking, e.g. in other areas of Leeds District.  

7.3.2 Charging for on-street spaces has been proven to have a positive effect on a 
centre, as it increases the level of parking availability and hence reduces the time 
spent searching for a parking space. Charging for parking after 6 pm is intended to 
have a positive effect on the night time economy by freeing up on-street spaces 
near to bars, cafes and restaurants. The same principle of increasing parking 
availability for visitors applies to Sunday, which is increasingly becoming a key day 
for City Centre retail and leisure. 

7.3.3 On-street parking charges should continue to be reviewed on a regular basis to 
ensure that charges are more responsive to changes in demand. 

7.4   Parking Controls and Traffic Regulation Orders 
7.4.1 On-street controls of parking are necessary in order to legally manage the road 

space under Leeds City Council’s responsibility. A Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) is 
the legal tool which is used to control parking with measures such as double yellow 
lines, pay and display bays etc. TROs cannot be implemented without justification 
such as safety issues, highway efficiency and congestion, local amenity and 
strategic transport policy reasons. 

7.4.2 On-street controls complement other parking measures. For example, the restriction 
of parking for new developments, as described in section 9, is of little use as a 
demand management tool if nearby on-street parking is not controlled. 

 
8   Park and Ride  
Supporting: Core Strategy Spatial Policy 11 and T1(b) 

8.1 Context 
8.1.1 The Council strategy for Public Park and Ride is set out below, driven by its 

identification as a spatial priority in Spatial Policy 11 of the Core Strategy, as well as 
T1(b). 

8.1.2 The anticipated growth in demand for travel to Leeds City Centre presents a range 
of challenges. If a significant proportion of this growth is anticipated to be 
accommodated by the use of private cars then there are issues with both physical 
access to the City Centre and the availability of parking spaces. 

8.1.3 An alternative to the provision of additional highway and parking capacity in the City 
Centre is the creation of a range of Public Park and Ride locations around the urban 
area of Leeds. The primary market for such provision is expected to be those 

Page 340



 

 19

travelling to the City Centre from locations outside the urban area of Leeds and 
outside Leeds District. 

8.1.4 A mix of both rail and bus based Public Park and Ride provision is anticipated in 
order to accommodate future demand. In this context bus based park and ride is 
taken to include rapid transit. 

8.2   Characteristics of Public Park and Ride sites 
8.2.1 The highly desirable characteristics of a successful Public Park and Ride facility for 

Leeds City Centre are considered to be:4: 

 high visibility site with easy highway access from a main radial route; 
 reliable high quality bus service with at least a 15 minute frequency, but aiming for a 

high frequency service enabling users to turn up and use the service without an 
undue waiting time,  (with service operating an ‘extended working day’ enabling car 
to be ‘recovered’ at any reasonable time in case of users’ change of plans during 
the day); 

 journey times competitive with the car; 
 good ‘fit’ with City Centre trip-ends; 
 significant degree of parking control in town/City Centre with a combination of 

constrained supply for long-stay parking, relatively high price, and little free 
peripheral car parking within walking distance of the centre, combined with good 
enforcement of regulations/payment; 

 secure environment for car parking with minimal risk of vehicle damage vandalism 
or theft; 

 attractive pricing for Park and Ride that provides money saving for most single car 
commuters who currently use public car parking in town/City Centre; 

 effective marketing based on local market research supported by good publicity; 
 commitment to support the scheme long-term. 
 

8.2.2 The desirable characteristics are: 

 location at intersection of radial and orbital routes to draw in traffic from more than 
one radial; 

 well-designed car park layout that provides: adequate surfacing, marking out and 
drainage; 

 short access times between car parking and bus stop; 
 segregation between car and bus access/egress points; 
 complementary adjacent/shared land-uses – such as retail/leisure, to promote 
 joint use, combined trip purpose use and reverse flows; 
 adequate capacity to cope with demand at all times of day at the busiest period of 

the year. 
 attractive bus service incorporating new high specification vehicles; 
 good customer care; 
 traffic priority on the route into the centre leading to peak journey times shorter than 

car journeys with no (or very few) intermediate stops en route; 
 good penetration of central area with limited stops; 

                                            
4 Steer Davies Gleave (2007). STOURTON BUS-BASED PARK & RIDE STUDY. Final Report. March 2007. 
Transport Policy, City Development, 2 Rossington Street, LEEDS, LS2 8HD. 

 

 

Page 341



 

 20

 some form of premium service on board – for instance refreshments / newspapers. 
 good passenger facilities at both ends of the route incorporating: comfortable 

waiting and information facilities at Park & Ride site (preferably with time to next 
departure prominently displayed); 

 facilities, such as sales kiosk, toilets, change giving; 
 staff presence to answer passenger queries, exercise operational control and 

generally raise passenger confidence; 
 attractive pricing structure with combined ticketing for both parking and journey 

elements: 
 attractive off-peak rates to encourage shopper use; 
 multi-journey and season tickets at attractive rates (10%+ discounts) to encourage 

loyalty. 
 Electric vehicle charging points 

 
 
8.2.3 In order to progress a park and ride site in the short term, not all the characteristics 

above may be achievable. In the long term the highly desirable characteristics 
should be a minimum. 

8.3 Existing Policy 
8.3.1 Policy T16 of the Revised UDP is a ‘saved policy’ and still relevant to the provision 

of Park and Ride facilities within Leeds. 

8.3.2 Policy T17 of the Revised UDP, also a ‘saved policy’ identifies specific sites for 
consideration. These are identified within the Core Strategy within the key diagram 
and Map9 – key elements of Leeds transport strategy. 

Page 342



 

 21

9 Parking in New Developments   
Supporting: Core Strategy policy T2 – Accessibility Requirements and 
New Development 

(v) Parking provision will be required for cars, motorcycles and cycles in accordance 
with current guidelines. 

9.1 Context 
9.1.1 The NPPF (para 39) states that when setting local parking standards for residential 

and non-residential development, local planning authorities should take into 
account: 

● the accessibility of the development; 
● the type, mix and use of development; 
● the availability of and opportunities for public transport; 
● local car ownership levels; and 
● an overall need to reduce the use of high-emission vehicles. 

9.1.2 The development of an SPD presents an opportunity to restate and revise the 
parking standards for new developments as previously outlined in the RUDP. The 
restatement allows a consideration of the existing standards in light of changes that 
may have taken place in government policy, planning practice and population and 
employment demographics. Where the existing policies are consistent with these 
changes then the existing policy has been retained and alternatively, where 
necessary, it has been revised based on the evidence considered. 

9.1.3 The Leeds Street Design Guide (adopted Aug 2009) sets out the parking guidelines 
for new residential development in Leeds. This section of the Parking SPD should 
be read in conjunction with the Street Design Guide. 

9.1.4 Section 3.1 sets out a parking hierarchy.  All new development will be expected to 
provide disabled, cycle, motorcycle and car club spaces as set out in the following 
tables.  In addition, full consideration must be given to the servicing needs of 
development at the planning application stage. 

9.2 Application of parking guidelines within the City Centre 
9.2.1 In applying the parking guidelines, the City Centre has been divided into Public 

Transport Box, Core and Fringe zones. 

9.2.2 The boundaries for the Public Transport Box, Core and Fringe zones are presented 
in Figure 1 (the Core and Fringe vary from those boundaries previously set out in 
the UDP). Detailed inset maps showing the exact boundaries are contained within 
Appendix 1. The shape and extent of the City Centre has clearly changed and 
expanded since the first draft of the UDP.  The new Core and Fringe zone 
boundaries have been informed by a consideration of the accessibility of the City 
Centre from Leeds Rail Station, based on surveyed distances and adjusted to 
reflect logical boundaries such as roads and site boundaries.  

9.2.3 The on-street parking provision within the Core zone (inc Public Transport Box) is 
generally restricted to uses such as pay & display, disabled, limited waiting, coach 
parking, cycle and motorcycle parking etc. Thus parking controls are already found 
within this area and the continuation of these will be supported in order to mirror the 
strictest parking standards applicable within the Core zone.  

9.2.4 In the Fringe zone, on-street restrictions should aim to control on-street commuter 
parking, particularly where it proves to be a problem. 

Page 343



 

 22

9.2.5 Development proposed within the Fringe zone, should have its impact upon on-
street parking considered. If it is felt likely that a detrimental level of on-street 
parking will occur as a result of the development, once occupied, planning 
obligations should be used to ensure that the developer pays for any future TROs 
that are required to control on-street parking. The area for potential TRO 
implementation should include the 800m buffer as shown in Figure 1. 

 

Page 344



 

 23

Figure 1 – Core and Fringe Parking zones with Public Transport Box and 800m buffer 

 

P
age 345



 

 24

9.3 Application of parking guidelines outside the City Centre 
9.3.1 The area outside the Core and Fringe is treated uniformly. The standards here are 

generally expressed as an expected level of parking rather than a maximum. 

9.3.2 The B use classes do not include a standard for business parks, as this is contrary 
to Core Strategy policy SP8. In order to allow for the completion of existing 
allocated sites at Thorpe Park and Leeds Valley Park the previous UDP guidelines 
still apply. 

9.3.3 Whilst the standards for general car parking vary by location, the minimum 
standards that relate to disabled, bicycle and motorcycle parking do not vary by 
geographic location. 

9.4 Guidelines for allocation of general parking spaces 
9.4.1 Outside the Core and Fringe, the standards define expected levels of parking, 

allowing for flexibility for reduced or increased parking dependant on the individual 
location, expected levels of car ownership, public transport accessibility, walking 
catchment, and specific end user. It should be noted that significant departures from 
the expected levels of parking may be accepted where clear and justifiable reasons 
can be demonstrated and that there will be no detrimental impact on surroundings 
streets. 

9.4.2 Within the Core and Fringe, the standards are stated as the maximum that would be 
permissible. Accordingly, there is no expectation that a minimum level of spaces 
should be provided, as long as it can be demonstrated that this would not result in 
detrimental problems on the local highway. 

9.4.3 The retail class is differentiated by size of development. There are two size 
thresholds which are consistent with the floor area thresholds used in the Travel 
Plans SPD for determining whether a Travel Plan is required.  

9.4.4 For food retail, the guidelines differentiate parking standards based on external 
gross floor area. The lowest size below 250m2 is expected to cover “corner shop” 
type developments and the middle range of 250m2 to 800m2 to cover the newer 
“metro” style food stores; the above 800 m2 range is for traditional supermarkets 
and stand alone retail outlets. 

9.4.5 The allocation of the level of parking between the various thresholds is cumulative, 
for example an A1 development within the Core of 1000sqm (external Gross Floor 
Area) would be allowed 11 spaces: 1 for the first 250m2, 8 for the next 250m2 to 
800m2 and 2 for the remaining 200m2. Also, where necessary at the end of any 
calculations the number of parking spaces should be rounded up to the nearest 
whole number. 

9.4.6 A parking standard has been defined for call centre type operations in order to 
reflect their need for greater levels of parking. This standard will apply where a new 
development is explicitly marketed and operated as a call centre facility within the 
general use class B1(a/b). Planning conditions may be applied to prevent the use 
reverting from call centre use to generic B1(a/b) without a reduction in parking to 
reflect the maximum provision associated with generic B1(a/b). It is recognised that 
greater on-site car parking can often create undesirable landscapes, therefore, call 
centre sites should firstly apply robust travel planning before committing a greater 
area to parking. 

9.4.7 An expected parking standard has been defined for Houses in Multiple Occupancy 
(HMO). Student accommodation outside the Core also has an expected parking 
standard. The expectation is that student residences in the Core zone will contain 

Page 346



 

 25

no residential parking provision, except for disabled spaces and some provision for 
start / end of term pick up. 

9.4.8 Where flats are being created as a result of change of use or redevelopment of 
HMOs in Headingley and Hyde Park, the expected amount of car parking may be 
relaxed subject to optimising opportunity for off-street parking in redevelopment 
schemes and avoiding creation of highway safety problems in all cases.  This is to 
help further the strategic aim of reducing the concentration of HMOs in the area. 

9.4.9 Other than for dedicated student residences and HMOs the residential parking 
standards will operate as expected provision for allocated and unallocated spaces 
as defined by the Street Design Guide (SPD adopted 2007). This approach is itself 
based on the methodology set out by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government in ‘Residential Car Parking Research’ (May 2007). 

 

 

LPP4: CAR PARKING ASSOCIATED WITH NEW DEVELOPMENTS WILL BE 
REQUIRED TO FOLLOW THE GUIDELINES CONTAINED IN TABLE 1. 
 
______________________________________________________________ 
9.4.10 For Class C2 which includes ‘hospitals’ under residential Institutions, the number of 

parking spaces in Table 1 is in relation to the total bed spaces, including treatment 
rooms. 

9.4.11 Parking standards for several uses in Class D1 refer to provision based on the 
number of staff at the establishment. However it is intended that this provision 
would not be used solely for staff but for the establishment as a whole and 
allocated/controlled within the context of their travel plan. 

9.4.12 For school parking standards, the guidelines are not expected to be a strict 
maximum, and the parking provision for each school site will be assessed 
individually based on its own merits in conjunction with the travel plan. 

9.4.13 School sites will need to consider a parent drop off and pick up point within the 
school grounds along with a range of other traffic management measures. Car 
parking should, where possible, be provided outside the school grounds away from 
the main pedestrian entrance with a safe walking route from the car park drop to the 
school entrance.   

9.4.14 Car parks to accommodate parent drop off should be appropriately designed to 
ensure the safety of children at all times and may need to be submitted with a 
supporting safety audit.  Designs will need to incorporate paved walkways/holding 
areas for children to safely walk to school and should avoid reversing vehicle / 
pedestrian conflict if possible. 

9.4.15 Car parks should not be built at the expense of sustainable forms of travel and 
should only be installed in conjunction with adequate cycle storage for staff, visitors 
and cycle / scooter storage for pupils, as well as appropriate pedestrian facilities. 
Safety considerations also need to be fully assessed. 

 

9.4.16 For mixed use type developments the requirement is that the maximum (or 
expected) car parking provision should be calculated independently for each 
element of the development and the total for the entire development should be the 
sum of these figures. However, where there exists the possibility of spaces being 
used flexibly, particularly for residential and workplace uses on the same site, some 
consideration should be given to adopting a lower total to reflect this possibility. 

Page 347



 

 26

Table 1 - Car Parking Guidelines 

Code Use Instance Unit 

Core  

(Maximum  spaces) 

Fringe 

 (Maximum spaces) 

Remaining  

(Expected spaces) 

  

External Gross Floor 
Area (GFA) Size 
Thresholds 

 
Below 

250m2 

250m2 

to 

800m2 

Above 

800m2 

Below 

250m2 

250m2 

to 

800m2 

Above 

800m2 

Below 

250m2 

250m2 

to 

800m2 

Above 

800m2 

A1  Shops Food GFA m2 
1 

space 
1:70 1:100 1:30 1:35 1:14 1:25 1:15 1:14 

    Non-Food GFA m2 
1 

space 
1:70 1:100 1:30 1:45 1:25 1:25 1:25 1:25 

A2  
Financial and Professional 

Services 
  GFA m2 1 space 1:30 1:10 

A3 Restaurants and Cafés   GFA m2 1:9 1:3 1:3 

A4 Drinking Establishments   GFA m2 1:9 1:3 1:3 

A5 Hot Food Takeaways   GFA m2 1:9 1:3 1:3 

B1 Business Offices GFA m2 1:175 1:100 1:33 

  Call Centre GFA m2 1:120 1:70 1:22 

    Light Industry GFA m2 1:680 1:388 1:66 

B2 General Industrial   GFA m2 1:680 1:388 1:66 

B8 Storage or distribution   GFA m2 1:680 1:388 1:80 

C1 Hotels   bedrooms 1:3 2:3 1:1 

C2 Residential Institutions Hospitals Beds 3:2 3:2 3:2 

    Care homes Residents 1:3 1:3 1:3 

C2A Secure Residential Institution   Individual applications considered on their merits 

       

     

       

 

P
age 348



 

 27

Code Use Instance Unit 

Core  

(Maximum spaces) 

Fringe  

(Maximum spaces) 

Remaining  

(Expected spaces) 

C3 

(a-c) 

Dwellinghouses 

Student (expected) 

Students No spaces except 

disabled and drop off 

provision 

1:8 1:8 

  Other Unit Refer to street design guide 

C4 
Houses in multiple 

occupation  
HMO (expected) Bedrooms 1:2 1:2 1:2 

D1 Non-Residential Institutions Schools Staff (FTE)* 1:1  1:1 1:1 

    Higher/Further Education Staff (FTE)* 1:2 1:2 1:2 

    

Medical Services 

 

 

Staff(FTE)* 

Consulting/ 

treatment 

rooms 

1:1 

1:3 

1:1 

1:3 

1:1 

1:3 

    
Museums / Public 

Galleries 
GFA m2 1:700 1:200 1:60 

    Other GFA m2 Individual applications considered on their merits  

D2 Assembly and Leisure Cinemas  Seats 1:10 1:10 1:5 

  Stadia / Arenas Seats 1:15 1:15 1:15 

    
Leisure Centres / 

Bowling Alleys 
GFA m2 1:50 1:50 1:22 

    Other GFA m2 Individual applications considered on their merits 

 Sui Generis   Individual applications considered on their merits 

 

* See 9.4.2, 9.4.10 and 9.4.11 for further details on application of these standards.

P
age 349



 

 28

9.5 Guidelines for Minimum Allocation of Disabled Parking Spaces 
Supporting : Core Strategy policy T2 (v) 

9.5.1 The guidelines specified here are based on those recommended in BS 
8300:2009+A1:2010 (British Standards, 2010). This bases the minimum level of 
disabled parking on three requirements. The first requirement is that, when known, 
one space should be provided for each disabled employee. The second is that an 
additional fixed percentage (5% or 6%) of the actual provision should be initially 
provided for visitors or customers and thirdly that a remaining percentage (5% or 
4%) of spaces should be laid out so that there is the potential for their conversion to 
disabled spaces when required. For sport leisure uses BS 8300:2009+A1:2010 
makes reference to Sport England guidance (Sport England, 2010).  

9.5.2 For leisure uses where there is multiple provision within the same building or 
complex, the minimum amount of disabled parking will be summed across all uses. 

9.5.3 Table 2 contains the minimum guidelines for provision of disabled parking. The 
calculated number of spaces should always be rounded up. The provision should 
be taken from the general parking provision rather than in addition. 

9.5.4 The access, size and layout of the spaces should conform to those specified in 
BS8300:2009+A1:2010 paragraphs 4.2.2 (Access to and location of designated off-
street parking spaces), 4.2.3 (Design and layout of designated off-street parking 
spaces) and where appropriate 4.2.4 (Multi-storey car parks). 

9.5.5 Consideration should be given to safe storage and charging point locations for 
mobility scooters when designing Retirement/Sheltered Housing Developments. 

 

 

LPP5: DISABLED CAR PARKING WILL BE REQUIRED WITHIN NEW 
DEVELOPMENTS, FOLLOWING THE GUIDELINES CONTAINED IN TABLE 2. 
 
______________________________________________________________ 

Page 350



 

 29

Table 2 - Disabled Parking Guidelines 

Use code Instance Unit  Initial allocation Convertible

A1 A2 A3 
A4 A5  
C1 D1 

Shopping, recreation and leisure Actual parking 
provision 

6% + 1 per 
disabled 
employee 

4%

B1 B2 B8 Workplaces Actual parking 
provision 

5% + 1 per 
disabled 
employee 

5%

C3 Flats 
 
 
Student Flats 

Actual parking 
provision 
 
No. of units5 
 

5%  
 
 
10%  

5%

D1 Religious Buildings and 
Crematoria 

Actual parking 
provision 

The greater of 2 
spaces or 6% 

4%

D2 Clubhouse/pavilion 
Full-size synthetic pitch 
Multi-use games area 
Fitness suit 
Gymnastics hall 

Actual parking 
provision 

The greater of 2 
spaces or 6%  

None

Indoor bowls Actual parking 
provision 

The greater of 2 
spaces or 8%  

None

Outdoor bowls Actual parking 
provision 

The greater of 4 
spaces or 6% 

None

Four court sports hall 
Indoor cricket 
Tennis 
Table tennis 
Athletics 
20m swimming pool 

Actual parking 
provision 

The greater of 4 
spaces or 8% 

None

Six court sports hall Actual parking 
provision 

The greater of 6 
spaces or 8% 

None

Nine court sports hall or larger 
25m swimming pool 
50m swimming pool 

Actual parking 
provision 

The greater of 8 
spaces or 8% 

None

 Other Actual parking 
provision 

Individual applications 
considered on their merits 

n/a Railway and Other Public Car 
Parks6 

Actual parking 
provision 

5%+ 1 per 
disabled 

employee 

5% 

     

Sui 
Generis 

Individual applications considered on their merits 

 

                                            
5 In the case of a student hall of residence where bed spaces are not grouped in to ‘cluster flats’ the 
assumption should be that 5 bed spaces equates to one flat. 
6 For bus based park and ride car parks, the initial quantity of disabled parking may be lower than that shown 

Page 351



 

 30

9.6 Guidelines for Minimum Allocation of Bicycle Parking Spaces 
Supporting: Core Strategy policy T2 (v) 

9.6.1 For bicycle parking, separate provision will be required for short stay parking for 
customers or visitors and long stay parking for employees, pupils, students or 
residents. 

9.6.2 For the short stay parking element, a cap is specified that is the most that the 
minimum requirement can be, but this cap does not preclude greater provision if the 
developer wishes to provide more.  

9.6.3 Where there is no garage or direct access to the rear garden/yard of a residential 
property the long stay secure provision needs to be designed into each property. 
However, where development involves conversion of an existing building, it is 
recognised that it may not be physically possible to deliver the full complement of 
bicycle spaces, but all financially viable options should be explored to maximise 
spaces.  For schools it is recommended that provision for the storage of micro 
scooters is provided as well as the long stay provision for bicycles. 

9.6.4 All schools, are assumed to have a requirement for a travel plan, as outlined in the 
travel plan SPD, within which cycle parking provision numbers will be agreed in 
partnership with the Council. The provision of any agreed long stay cycle parking 
should include separate elements for use by both staff and pupils. In educational 
institutions it is desirable for staff and student cycle parking to be physically 
separated.  

9.6.5 At nurseries or schools with nursery provision it would be desirable for trailer 
storage to be provided. This would allow for a parent to bring children using a trailer 
and then travel on by bike without the trailer. 

9.6.6 Guidance on the quality of short and long stay provision is described previously in 
section 5.1.  

9.6.7 The provision of sufficient cycle parking of suitable quality has a key synergy with 
the successful implementation of travel plans for new developments. 

 

Table 3 - Bicycle Parking Guidelines 

Code Use Instance 

Unit for Cycle 

Parking ratio 

Short stay/ Visitor 

parking 
Long stay  

ratio cap ratio 

A1 Food Retail / Non Food Retail  GFA - m2 1:250 20 1:500 

A2 Financial / Professional Services   GFA - m2 1:250 10 1:500 

A3 Restaurants and Cafes   GFA - m2 1:40 10 1:65 

A4 Public Houses / Wine Bars   GFA - m2 Each case to be considered on its merits 

A5 Hot Food Takeaway   GFA - m2 Each case to be considered on its merits 

B1 Business Offices GFA - m2 1:1000 10 1:150 

    Light Industry GFA - m2 1:500 20 1:300 

B2 General Industry   GFA - m2 1:500 20 1:300 

B8 Warehouse / Storage   GFA - m2 1:2000 10 1:1000 

C1 Hotels   bedrooms 1:50* 10 1:8** 

C2 Residential Institutions Hospitals beds 1:20 20 1:30 

    Nursing homes beds 1:20 10 1:6 

  
Residential Educational Facilities 
and other residential institutions 

N/A Each case to be considered on its merits 

C3 Private Residential Flats (unallocated) dwellings 1:10 40 1:1 

Page 352



 

 31

    Houses / Bungalows (unallocated) dwellings 1:40 20 1:1 

    Student students 1:15 20 1:5 

    Retired / Sheltered dwellings 1:10 20 1:5 

C4 HMO   bedrooms NA NA 1:1 

D1 Non-Residential Primary schools pupils 1:100 10 1:10 

  Secondary schools pupils 1:100 20 1:5 

    Higher/Further Education 

Undergraduate 
students/staff & 
postgraduate 
students*** 

1:10 - 1:10 

    Medical Services staff 1:10 20 1:3 

    Museums / Public Galleries GFA - m2 1:60 40 1:720 

    Other N/A Each case to be considered on its merits 

D2 Leisure Cinemas / Theatres / Arenas seats 1:10 20 1:100 

    Leisure Centres / Bowling Alleys GFA - m2 1:60 20 1:2400 

    Other GFA - m2 1:60 20 1:800 

 Sui Generis  Individual applications considered on their merits 

* If hotel bars or restaurants are open to the general public, then the short stay provision should revert to that 
shown for the A3/A4 use classes 
** Long stay cycle parking provision at hotels is aimed at providing for employees' needs only, although 
additional provision may need to be considered for guests in appropriate locations. 
*** Short stay parking provision to be based on undergraduate student numbers, long stay based on 
postgraduate and staff numbers. 
  

Page 353



 

 32

9.7 Guidelines for Minimum Allocation of Motorcycle Parking Spaces 
Supporting : Core Strategy policy T2 (v) 

9.7.1 Table 4 contains the minimum standards with associated comments for motorcycle 
parking. These do not differentiate by short and long stay durations. The standards 
set out only apply for developments which exceed the size thresholds set out in the 
travel plan SPD. 

9.7.2 Given the joint considerations on access and security, thought should be given to 
integrating both bicycle and motorcycle parking at the same location or within the 
same structure. It should be emphasised that this should not be a justification for 
reducing the minimum requirement of either type of parking but to allow more 
flexibility and convenience of provision. However, the location of the parking should 
not be compromised as a result. 

9.7.3 A recommended resource for the quality of provision is produced by the Institute of 
Incorporated Engineers concerning Guidelines for Motorcycling. Chapter 5 of this 
document deals specifically with motorcycle parking.  

9.7.4 Where there is no garage or direct access to the rear garden/yard of a residential 
property the long stay secure provision needs to be designed into each property. 
However, where development involves conversion of an existing building, it is 
recognised that it may not be physically possible to deliver the full complement of 
motorcycle spaces, but all financially viable options should be explored to maximise 
spaces 

  

Page 354



 

 33

Table 4 - Motorcycle Parking Guidelines 

Cod

e Use Instance 

Travel plan 

threshold 

(External GFA 

unless otherwise 

stated) Unit 

Minimum requirement 

ratio Comment 

A1 Retail / Food Shops  800m2/1500m2 GFA - m2 
1:1000 

Minimum of 

1 space  A2 Financial / Professional Services   2,500m2 GFA - m2 

A3 Restaurants and Cafes   2,500m2 GFA - m2 1:200  

A4 Public Houses / Wine Bars   

N/A 

GFA - m2 

Individual applications 

considered on their 

merits 

A5 Hot Food Takeaway   

N/A 

GFA - m2 

Individual applications 

considered on their 

merits 

B1 Business Offices 1,500m2 GFA - m2 1:1000  

    Light Industry 2,500m2 GFA - m2 1:1000  

B2 General Industry   4,000m2 GFA - m2 1:1000  

B8 Warehouse / Storage   5,000m2 GFA - m2 1:5000  

C1 Hotels   100 bedrooms bedrooms 1:40  

C2 Residential Institutions Hospitals 50 beds beds 1:50  

    Care homes 75  beds residents 1:20  

  

Residential Educational 

Facilities and other residential 

institutions 

150 students N/A 

Individual applications 

considered on their 

merits 

C3 Private Residential Flats (unallocated) 50 dwellings dwellings 1:10  

    
Houses/Bungalows 

(unallocated) 
50 dwellings dwellings 

Own 

merits 
 

    Student 150 dwellings students 1:10  

C4 HMO  N/A bedrooms 

Individual applications 

considered on their 

merits 

D1 Non-Residential Primary schools 500m2 staff 1:20  

  Secondary schools 500m2 staff 1:20  

    Higher/Further Education 500m2 students 1:200  

    Medical Services 1,000m2 staff 1:20  

    Museums / Public Galleries 1,000m2 staff 1:20  

    Other N/A GFA - m2 

Individual applications 

considered on their 

merits 

D2 Leisure Cinemas / Theatres / Arenas 1,500m2 seats 1:200  

    Leisure Centres / Bowling Alleys 1,500m2 GFA - m2 1:2000  

    Other 1,500m2 GFA - m2 1:2000  

Page 355



 

 34

9.8 Car Club, Car Share and Electric/Hybrid Vehicle Parking 
9.8.1 Leeds’ car club seeks to reduce car ownership especially in the City Centre, by 

allowing members access to a car when they want one. Car clubs provide easy and 
affordable access to vehicles 24/7. Just book, drive and return the car. Cars are 
located in reserved parking spaces throughout the City Centre and with an 
expanding list in the surrounding area. 

9.8.2 Car club provisions should be considered for residential, student and business uses 
(B1 and C3). For these developments a recommended level of permanent provision 
is set out below and these alternative forms of provision should be actively 
considered in the planning application. If the recommended level of parking is not 
adopted, then a reasoned justification should be provided. For non-B1 and C3 use 
classes, developers are simply asked to consider some level of appropriate 
provision for these modes of travel. 

9.8.3 The provision of car parking spaces for car club vehicles will need to be in a visible 
location within the development and be accessible to the public 24hours a day. To 
accommodate this space in the City Centre the developer maybe required to pay for 
the conversion and compensation for the loss of a pay and display bay. The Travel 
Plan SPD Model Section 106 Agreement gives further details on the definitions/ 
clauses associated with car clubs. On-street car club parking provision should 
normally provide a minimum of 2 parking bays at each location to allow for ease of 
expansion as demand increases. Cycle parking is also provided at each site to 
improve mode integration. 

9.8.4 The Council wishes to encourage the use of ultra-low emission vehicles due to their 
air quality benefits. The Core Strategy policy SP11 (viii) supports ‘the development 
of infrastructure for new low carbon technologies’. The Council is seeking to work 
with developers and providers to arrange the inclusion of charging points for electric 
vehicles in relation to new developments where long stay parking would be 
expected. Table 5 below gives recommendations, based on the standards 
described in the West Yorkshire Low Emission Strategy under “Air Quality and 
Emissions, Technical Planning Guidance”.  In facilitating delivery, all new 
development should ensure that the electricity infrastructure is sufficient to enable 
supply to be provided for up to 10% of spaces to be electric charging ready.  This 
would thereby ensure the capacity to meet the demand for power and parking 
spaces at the rapid charging standard.  The delivery of these provisions needs to be 
considered in relation to the development process on a case by case basis within 
the context of local circumstances and evidence.  

9.8.5 The recommendations are not expected to be applied for sites where only a small 
number of parking spaces are to be delivered. Land uses outside the broad 
categories in Table 5 will be examined on their individual merits. 

 

  

Page 356



 

 35

Table 5 - Recommended Provision of Car Club, Car Share and Electric Car parking 

Type of Provision Recommendation 

Parking spaces for Car Club vehicles 
1 in 20 spaces in core area (subject to agreement 
with car club operator) each case in the Fringe and 
Remaining areas to be considered on its merits. 

Parking spaces reserved for Car Sharing  
1 in 20 spaces (preferential spaces to be as close to 
the building entrance as possible.) 

Electric car charging points*  

Residential: 

1 charging point per unit (dwelling with dedicated 
parking) or 1 charging point per 10 spaces 
(unallocated parking). 

Commercial/Industrial/Retail: 

1 charging point per 10 parking spaces. 

 

 See paragraph 9.8.4 

9.9  Taxi provision 
9.9.1 Taxi/Private Hire Vehicle provision is particularly important at public transport 

interchanges and other sites such as hotels, hospitals and health facilities, major 
visitor destinations, large food and retail developments. The facility should be 
located as close as possible to the building’s main entrance/exit and include a 
shelter if feasible. Consideration of these facilities will form part of the 
development’s Transport Assessment/ Travel Plan. 

10 Supporting Measures 
Supporting: Core strategy Policy T1(c) 

10.1 Introduction 
10.1.1 In order for the parking policies described previously to be effective, other 

complementary forms of transport intervention are necessary, these are described 
below.  

10.2 Travel Plans 
10.2.1 The use of travel plans as a way of promoting sustainable travel will be continued in 

line with the Travel Plan SPD. The NPPF sets out that those developments 
generating significant travel demand should be accompanied by a travel plan.  
Travel plans both support and are supported by the parking guidelines for new 
developments set out in section 9 and the recommendations on parking for car club, 
car share and electric vehicles.  

10.2.2 There is also a link to the need for on-street parking controls, with a well executed 
travel plan possibly mitigating the need for such measures. Conversely, on-street 
controls may be needed in order for a travel plan to perform well against its targets 
for single occupancy car mode share. 

10.3 Green Parking scheme 
10.3.1 In order to promote the use of low emission vehicles, the Council will investigate 

ways of encouraging their use through parking incentives and infrastructure 
provision. This could take the form of specific parking bays for eligible vehicles, 

Page 357



 

 36

reduced cost or free parking on-street and in LCC car parks or provision of public 
charging points for electric vehicles. 

10.4 Car Share & Car Clubs 
10.4.1 Currently 80% of cars travelling into Leeds City Centre in the morning peak period 

contain only one occupant. With increased levels of car sharing there is a potential 
reduction on the need for parking spaces as well as a reduction in congestion on 
the highway network. 

10.4.2 The use of car club vehicles can potentially mean that car ownership in residential 
locations can be reduced, with a commensurate reduction in the need for parking 
spaces. In City Centre locations they can be used for business purposes, again 
reducing the need for private car use and the need for parking at an employment 
location. 

10.4.3 Support from Leeds City Council for the further uptake of car sharing and use of car 
clubs will be in the following form: 

 Recommended levels of car share and car club spaces for new developments, 
marked up and allocated for staff that car share (see 9.8); 

 Continued provision of on-street spaces for Leeds City Council Car Club Provider;  

 Promotion of car sharing through provision of High Occupancy Vehicle Lanes; 

 Continued provision and promotion of the Car Share website wycarshare.com; 

10.5 Signing/Information/Maps 
10.5.1 Signing to the City Centre car parks will be reviewed regularly to ensure signing is 

legible, consistent and up to date. Only permanent car parks will be signed from the 
highway. Signs required for new car parks will be funded by the applicant. 

10.5.2 Information on car parking is contained on the Leedstravelinfo website. Up to date 
details on pricing in Leeds City Council on and off-street spaces will be published 
on the Council website. 

10.5.3 Dynamic signing for City Centre car parks is provided in a number of locations. This 
alerts drivers to the number of vacant spaces available and suggests alternative 
parking locations if a car park is full. Any new permanent City Centre car parks will 
be required to link to dynamic signing. 

10.6 Information Collection & Monitoring 
10.6.1 Data collection is important in order to give an evidence base for creating car 

parking policy and strategy. Data collection also provides a tool for monitoring the 
effect of strategy changes over time. 

10.6.2 At present, data on car park capacity and usage include: 

 Occupancy surveys of key car parks in the City Centre every six months  

 Inventories of all City Centre car parking spaces (last carried out in 2007) 

 Monitoring of City Centre private car parking charges at least every six months 

10.6.3 The six monthly spot checks on car park occupancy will be continued. The 
inventory of all spaces will be repeated, dependent on funding, and updated every 5 
years. It will be extended to include pricing information in addition to capacity and 
usage data. 

10.6.4 Parking Services will continue to monitor car parking charges in the privately 
operated car parks in the City Centre. This will provide evidence for the alteration of 

Page 358



 

 37

Leeds City Council car parking charges, and also give justification for changes in 
usage of Council car parks. 

10.6.5 A review of the policy included in this SPD will be undertaken as appropriate, 
utilising the parking monitoring information, along with more generalised transport 
data. A review may also be necessary to ensure consistency with changes in 
national and local transport and land use planning policy. 

10.6.6 Monitoring of the use of cycle, motorcycle, electric vehicle and car club parking will 
be undertaken on an ad hoc basis as well as being incorporated into the City Centre 
inventory. Developers will be required to monitor cycle and motorcycle parking as 
part of the travel planning process. 

10.6.7 The production of an annual report is a requirement of the Traffic Management Act 
2004. The report details the enforcement activities of the city including statistical 
and financial information. The report will set out the Council’s performance on 
parking enforcement and demonstrate how the parking policy and enforcement is 
achieving its objectives. 

 

Page 359



 

 38

1 Appendix 1 –City Centre Parking Areas inset maps 
 

P
age 360



 

 39

 

P
age 361



 

 40

 

P
age 362



 

 41

 

P
age 363



 

 42

 

P
age 364



 

 43

 

P
age 365



 

 44

 

P
age 366



 

 45

P
age 367



 

 46

2 Appendix 2 - Parking Guidelines - References 
AEA (2010). Market outlook to 2022 for battery electric vehicles and plug-in 
hybrid electric vehicles Final report. 
http://design.open.ac.uk/documents/EV2020MarketOutlook.pdf 

British Standards (2009). Design of buildings and their approaches to meet 
the needs of disabled people – Code of practice. British Standards Institute. 

Department for Communities and Local Government (2007). Residential Car 
Parking Research. 
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/planningandbuilding/residentialca
rparking 

Hammer, C and Cairns, S (2010). Carplus annual survey of car clubs 
2009/10. Published Project Report PPR476, Transport Research Laboratory. 

Leeds City Council (2005a). Leeds UDP Review Inspector’s Report. 

Leeds City Council (2005b). Leeds Unitary Development Plan (Review 2006). 
Volume 2; Appendices. Development Department. 

Leeds City Council (2009a) Street Design Guide, Leeds Local Development 
Framework.  
http://www.leeds.gov.uk/Business/Planning/Planning_policy/Street_Design_G
uide__Supplementary_Planning_Document_.aspx 

Leeds City Council (2009b). Core Strategy. Leeds Local Development 
Framework. Development Plan Document. Preferred Approach. October – 
December 2009. 

Leeds City Council (2011). Travel Plans, Supplementary Planning Document. 
Draft for Consultation. August 2011. 

Planning and Climate Change Coalition (2010). Planning for climate change – 
guidance and model policies for local authorities. Town and Country Planning 
Association. http://www.rtpi.org.uk/download/10400/pccc_guidance_web.pdf 

Sport England (2010). Accessible Sports Facilities (Formally known as 
Access for Disabled People) Update 2010 guidance. Sport England. 

 

Page 368



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: City Development Service area: Highways & 

Transportation 
 

Lead person: Tim Harvey 
 

Contact number: 2478507 

 
1. Title: Leeds Parking Policy Supplementary Planning Document 
 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
The Council currently has a number of policies on parking, contained in the Unitary 
Development Plan and other documents. 

In the process of adopting the Core Strategy it was considered that the parking 
guidelines for new developments should be reviewed and amended where 
necessary in order to reflect current transport trends and wider policy. 

It was felt that the best way to both formalise the current parking policies and update 
the parking guidelines was to produce a supplementary planning document covering 
parking. Several other core cities have already adopted such an approach. 

The Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is intended to elaborate on the 
details of the broader parking policies contained within the Core Strategy. 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

x   

Page 369



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

2

 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

X  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 370



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

3

 
 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details  for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
Internal consultation has taken place with the Council’s access officers specifically with 
regard to disabled parking provision. 
 
Changes to the parking standards for new developments have been subject to public 
consultation as part of the statutory process for adopting an SPD. 
 
The amendments to disabled parking guidelines for new developments are in line with 
British Standards aimed at catering for the specific demand for disabled parking at a 
destination. These amendments will have a positive impact for people with a disability as 
the guidelines now apply for developments of all sizes and there is no cap on the 
maximum number of spaces to be provided.   
 
The continued promotion of short stay parking in the City Centre is likely to have a 
positive impact for shoppers, visitors to the city and part time workers. Female workers 
are likely to particularly benefit from this as they are more likely to be part time 
employees. 
 
Associated measures to encourage the increased use of sustainable travel modes are 
proposed to support the parking SPD. 40% of women (compared to 25% men) do not 
drive as they either do not have a license and/or do not have access to a car; because of 
this, women are more reliant on public transport than men. Within Leeds, more than half 
of people from black and minority ethnic (BME) groups (54%) use buses at least once 
per week compared to 42% of all Leeds residents. These associated improvements to 
public transport will therefore particularly benefit women, people from BME groups and 
those on lower incomes, as these groups tend to be most reliant on public transport.  
 
Minimum requirements for cycle parking provision at new developments are set out in the 
parking SPD. Men are more likely to cycle than women and hence are more likely to 
benefit from this aspect of the SPD.  
 
The parking SPD includes the potential to increase parking charges as appropriate to 
reflect demand and to cover the increased costs relating to parking management. This is 
likely to have a negative impact, particularly for those on lower incomes and those most 
reliant on private car use. It should be noted that users with a disability and a valid blue 
badge can generally park for free in Council car parks and on street. 
 
Whilst there may be negative impacts associated with increasing parking charges, this is 

Page 371



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

4

implemented as a means of managing demand for parking. This will encourage the 
increased turnover of spaces, which will provide accessibility improvements as motorists 
are more easily able to find a space to park. This aspect may particularly benefit people 
with a disability or mobility difficulty who may struggle to walk from more outlying spaces.   
 
There are proposals to limit the provision of public car parks within the public transport 
box, as these come up for redevelopment. This may have a negative impact for people 
with mobility difficulties who currently rely on the car parking spaces within this area. 
However, these measures will also have a positive benefit to pedestrians and public 
transport users as current conflicts between cars and buses are reduced, and greater 
pedestrianisation can progress.  
 
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
Positive Impacts 

 Disabled motorists are likely to benefit from the revised disabled parking 
guidelines included in the SPD. These will cater for the specific demand for 
disabled parking at a destination meaning disabled users will have better access 
to disabled parking facilities. The guidelines now apply for developments of all 
sizes and there is no cap on the maximum number of spaces to be provided.   

 The SPD contains measures to increase the turnover of spaces in central areas, 
through the use of parking charges to better reflect demand, which will have a 
generally positive benefit as all motorists will be better able to find a space closer 
their destinations. This will also have a positive benefit to accessibility particularly 
for disabled motorists, those with mobility impairments, the elderly and carers 
supporting wheelchairs/pushchairs and who may particularly struggle to travel on 
foot from more outlying parking spaces.   

 Public transport users (primarily women, people from BME groups and people on 
lower incomes) and pedestrians are likely to benefit through the implementation of 
supporting measures to encourage use of sustainable transport modes, and from 
the limitation of car parking in the public transport box.  

 Women are also likely to benefit due to the continued promotion of short stay 
parking.  

 Cyclists (currently predominantly males) are likely to benefit due to the 
amendments to cycle parking provision at new developments. 

 
Negative Impacts 

 The potential increase in parking charges is likely to have a negative impact for 
those on a lower income. However, mobility impaired visitors may benefit from 
measures, such as parking charges, which are used to manage the demand for 
parking and to encourage turnover.  

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 

Page 372



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

5

 
Feedback from public consultation has been taken into account when redrafting the SPD. 
Continued dialogue with the Council’s access officers will take place to ensure that any 
negative effects are reduced to a minimum. 

 
 

 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Tim Harvey 
 

Principal Transport 
Planner (Policy) 

19/11/15 

 
 
7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing 
 
Date screening completed  

 
Date sent to Equality Team 
 

 

Date published 
(To be completed by the Equality Team) 

 

 

Page 373



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Report of Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Children’s Services 

Report to Executive Board 

Date: 16th December 2015 

Subject: Children’s Services transport policy: consultation on 
transport assistance for Post-16 students with Special 
Educational Needs and/or Disabilities (SEND) 

Are specific electoral Wards affected?    Yes   No 

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s):   

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration? 

  Yes   No 

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No 

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes   No 

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number: 

Appendix number: 

Summary of main issues  

1 Transport for children and young people with special educational needs and/or 
disabilities (SEND) is deployed by Civic Enterprise Leeds (CEL) on behalf of 
Children’s Services (for transport to learning settings) and Adult Social Care (ASC) 
(for day centre transport and respite care.) The cost of the transport is £14m 
annually and 1600 adults and 1500 children are provided transport every year.  

2 There are considerable pressures on the Passenger Transport Service of CEL 
relating to the rise in the number of some client groups and the complexity of their 
needs. Whilst it is essentially a parent’s responsibility to make their own transport 
arrangements for children in Post-16 education, the authority has continued to 
provide substantial discretionary assistance for students with SEND.Provision of 
assistance generally involves transporting students either in council fleet vehicles or 
by contracting private hire firms to transport students. The Authority maximises 
opportunities to achieve the best possible value through the procurement and 
tendering processes in place and has significant buying power. However, if the 
authority instead enabled parents to make their own arrangements, it would 
maximise the value of every pound spent and increase the choice and flexibility 
available to families.  

3 Great success has already been achieved in empowering students, improving their 
outcomes and promoting social inclusion through innovative change. For example 
450 students have undertaken Independent Travel Training (ITT) to use public 

 Report author:  Sue Rumbold 

Tel:  0113 37 83634 

Page 375

Agenda Item 18



 

2 
 

transport independently, with the support and agreement of their families. ITT 
significantly increases a student’s ability to a lead more active, fulfilling life, while 
reducing transport costs to the authority (by approximately £1.3m last year.) Our ITT 
service earned the Authority the Learning Award at the national Children & Young 
People Now awards in 2014, and a place on the shortlist for the Children’s Services 
Team of the Year Award. Travel training is now being provided to adults with 
learning disabilities, minimising the risk of them becoming lifetime ASC transport 
users and thus improving outcomes. The project applies risk assessment and 
safeguarding rigorously. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4 New ideas to extend choice and flexibility for students and their families similarly 
present an opportunity to achieve a further £1m of efficiencies in the provision of 
transport assistance. This will help to prioritise investment in a range of other 
services for children with complex needs such as contracted provision and Direct 
Payments for short breaks activities and individual support work. 

5 In July 2014 The Executive Board agreed that in partnership, and with the 
assistance of Children & Families Scrutiny, a consultation exercise be undertaken to 
consider proposals for a new post-16 SEND transport offer. The proposals centred 
on the introduction of a means test for the provision of transport assistance. 

6 The first stage of a consultation was conducted between October and December 
2014, with the main aims of sharing information with key stakeholders on the 
process, and to be clear with parents of children with special needs about the likely 
actual costs for transport. This was intended to ensure that parents could give a 
fully informed view on the options presented at a second stage of consultation 

7 Stage 2 of the consultation commenced in February 2015 and was scheduled to 
finish in April 2015. A number of factors led to this stage of the consultation being 
temporarily paused: 

 

‘Adnan’ has learning disabilities and struggles to retain information or follow 
instructions, and is very shy & reserved in social situations.  
 
After really struggling with ITT during the first two weeks, he began to grow in 
confidence and began overcoming daily personal challenges; he began to recognise 
landmarks, overcame a fear of ringing the bell and learned to ask for and pay his own 
fare. He began to lead his own journeys and gradually became less reliant on his buddy 
to be ‘in charge’. He has now completed travel training, and not only makes his own 
way to his usual learning setting but he also travels independently to college one day a 
week with great confidence. 
 
Adnan doesn’t communicate verbally but when asked if he felt feel good travelling by 
himself he smiled a huge smile a gave a thumbs up. When asked if he was pleased that 
he’d done ITT he nodded ecstatically and put 2 thumbs up. 
 
His parents have said, “We are so proud that he can travel on his own now.” When he 
was handed his certificate at the sign-off meeting his dad had Adnan stand tall holding 
his certificate and took his picture to send to family and display in the home. 

Page 376



 

3 
 

A. A need to secure legal advice emerged during the consultation. It was 
found that the means-testing proposals would need to apply differently to 
those learners aged 18 and over, resulting in a confusing two-tier policy. 
The impact on families and the budgetary implications were not readily 
recognisable.  
 

B. An insufficient number of families followed up their initial intentions to 
engage with a ‘real-world’ impact assessment of the means-testing 
models that had been developed. There was therefore a lack of 
meaningful data on which to properly assess the impact on children and 
families 
 

C. After the consultation started a separate citywide transport review 
commenced and it was recognised that it would be advantageous to align  
a Children’s Services policy with this. 

8 In April 2015 the Service Lead and the Service Manager for Children’s Transport 
retired and new arrangements for the leadership of children’s transport were put in 
place.  

9 A review of the passenger transport services provided by Civic Enterprise Leeds 
has been completed. This examined council policy on eligibility for transport, its 
application and review, and the discretionary transport provided. 

10 Analysis of Nov 2015 showed that 288 post-16 SEND students were in receipt of 
such support. The support is provided on a discretionary basis, as the statutory duty 
to provide any transport assistance ceases when children complete their statutory 
education at age 16. It is currently projected that £1.7m will be spent on this 
transport assistance during 2015/16. It is not considered that continuing to provide 
transport assistance in the current way continues represent the best use of 
resources or value for money in context of the Best Council Plan. Providing 
transport for students instead of giving families choice and flexibility to make their 
own arrangements is also contrary to strategic aims as set out in the Children & 
Young People’s Plan and our principles of restorative practice. It is Children’s 
Services view that we can support strategic aims and retain a compassionate 
transport offer, whilst reducing this area of spending by £1m. 

 
11 A further review of the policy has now also been undertaken and a new set of 

proposals have been drawn up for Executive Board to consider, with a view to 
approval being sought to begin a new consultation.  

 
12 The purpose of the consultation would be to assess the possible impact upon young 

people and their families. The findings of the consultation would then inform future 
policy proposals, which are planned to be presented to Executive Board in July 
2016 for approval.  

 
13 Simultaneously, consideration will be given to the possible impact on other services, 

for example ASC transport. These findings will also be taken into account in the 
preparation of a new transport offer. 

 

Page 377



 

4 
 

Recommendations 

14 The Executive Board is asked to approve the recommendations outlined below: 

14.1 To note the completion of the review of special needs passenger transport within 
the authority which is deployed by CEL on behalf of Children’s Services and Adult 
Social Care. 

14.2 To note the opportunities for further promoting inclusion in travel options through 
ITT, while reducing costs and dependency. 

14.3 To note the demographic pressures relating to the increase in the number of 
children with an Education Health and Care Plan (which replaced the statement of 
Special Educational Needs) 

14.4 Agree that a new consultation takes place during January-April 2016 to assess the 
likely impact on young people and families of new proposals. Consultation will 
centre on a range of options, each of which may be subject to a final round of 
detailed analysis of the granular data prior to consultation commencing. The 
following options for consultation will involve ceasing the direct organisation and 
provision of transport for post-16 SEND students, and instead offer: 

A. A personal transport budget equivalent to the cost of one or two Metro 
passes, dependent on whether a student would need accompanying on 
their journey 

B. A personal transport budget comprising the offer of a mileage allowance 
to parents, typically in the range of 50p - £1 per mile 

C. A personal transport budget based on a rate-banding system that takes 
into account the differing levels of need of students and the opportunity 
this would give parents to make their own arrangements in a more cost 
effective way. 

14.5 Agree that the findings of the consultation be used, if appropriate, in the preparation 
of a new Post-16 SEND transport offer. It is currently planned for this to be 
presented to a future Executive Board for approval anticipated to be in July 2016 

14.6 Note the officer responsible for implementation is the Head of Commissioning and 
Contracting. 

 

1. Purpose of this report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Executive Board in relation to proposals 
 for the future provisions of transport assistance available to post-16 students with 
 SEND 

1.2 To seek permission for a new consultation to take place, to assess the likely impact 
on young people and families of the proposals. Consultation would take place in the 
period January-April 2016 

Page 378



 

5 
 

1.3  To seek permission for the findings of the consultation to be used, if appropriate, in 
the preparation of a new post-16 SEND transport offer, for approval at a future 
Executive Board. It is currently planned that approval for a new policy would be 
sought from Executive Board in July 2016 

 

2. Background information  

2.1 In July 2014 the Executive Board agreed that in partnership, and with the 
assistance of Scrutiny, a consultation exercise be undertaken to consider future 
discretionary provisions in the post-16 SEND transport offer. The first stage of a 
consultation was carried out between October and December 2014 and a second 
stage commenced in February 2015. For the reasons detailed in the report 
summary (above), this consultation was paused. 

2.2 In April 2015 the Service Lead and the Service Manager for Children’s Transport 
retired and new arrangements for the leadership of children’s transport were put in 
place.  

2.3 A further review of the policy has been undertaken and a new set of proposals have 
been drawn up for Executive Board to consider, with a view to approval being 
sought to begin a new consultation. The purpose of the consultation would be to 
assess the likely impact on young people and families of the new proposals. Subject 
to the consultation findings, a new post-16 SEND transport offer will be prepared 
and presented to a future Executive Board for approval. 

2.4 Simultaneously, consideration will be given to the possible impact on other services, 
for example ASC transport. These findings will also be taken into account in the 
preparation of any new transport offer. 

 

3.  Main issues 

 Part A: Passenger Transport Services 

3.1 Special needs passenger transport is deployed by CEL on behalf of ASC and 
Children’s Services, and a review has been carried out by lead commissioners and 
stakeholders to consider: 

 
• The provisions of transport policy within the authority and the extent to which 

provision is discretionary or statutory 
• The application of policy at service level 
• Whether the model of provision promotes access and inclusion for users and 

also meets carers’ needs 
• Whether the directly provided service represents value for money and 

exploits other enterprise activity, to reduce costs to the authority. 
 
3.2 The review found that both children’s and adult’s transport requests are properly 

reviewed in line with policy. Resources in both areas have been set aside to 
implement and challenge decisions based not just on cost avoidance, but also 

Page 379



 

6 
 

developing the most socially inclusive options for clients. ITT particularly stands out 
in this respect and ways of extending the reach of this programme are continually 
being sought. 

 
3.3 Similarly, systematic and resourced programmes of review of transport 

arrangements are also now being put in place.  There has been a real step change 
in the commitment to this resourcing activity in both Directorates. 

  
3.4 The integration of special needs passenger transport for adults and children dates 

back 12 years.  The service manages a £14m budget.  It employs 510 staff. 
 
3.5 It has delivered year on year efficiencies in procurement and largely been able to 

quickly reduce expenditure in line with activity / passenger numbers.  This shows 
considerable flexibility in the public sector, where reducing costs usually lag 
reduced activity (as direct and overhead costs take time to reduce.)  Leeds has the 
largest passenger transport section in local government, deploys industry standard 
software, Trapeze; is ISO9000 and RoSPA accredited.  It enjoys very positive 
relationships with clients and trades unions. 

 
3.6 Nevertheless there are issues around a potential plateauing of delivery 

improvement activity in some areas: 
 

A. Accessible private hire and taxi supply is falling: the service becoming more 
reliant on one or two major contractors, resulting in tender prices not being as 
competitive as we would otherwise expect. 

B. There are supply issues with passenger assistant recruitment, particularly 
specialist ones who can support clients with greater medical needs / more 
complex dependencies. 

C. There is still insufficient demand available throughout the day to optimise 
fleet productivity, though this has substantially improved: the service provides 
transport for the city wide community meals service which delivers an 
average 400 meals a day. 

 
3.7 Internal Audit was commissioned to look at these issues and a range of activity has 

taken place: in particular a benchmarking meeting with other local authority 
providers; and benchmarking and discussions with other operators (notably the 
West Yorkshire Combined Authorities.) 

 
3.8 The review noted internal transport costs are cheaper than external costs; 

opportunities for further increasing income are being exploited through delivering 
the community meals service (60% of new referrals are private individuals.)  This 
income is passported to ASC. There are further opportunities for collaboration 
across the region and through the West Yorkshire Combined Authorities to increase 
income and defer cost pressures. ITT is a significant contribution to client’s inclusion 
and is now being offered to adults, as well as school and college students 

 
3.9 The Children’s and ASC transport policies have addressed a range of transport 

services previously funded by the local authority. This has included reviewing 
respite and day care transport for adults e.g. identifying the most efficient ways of 
sharing transport to and from facilities and removing several elements of 
discretionary support in the mainstream children’s transport policy. 

Page 380



 

7 
 

 
 
Part B: Post 16 SEND Transport 
 
3.10 Children’s Services has historically provided considerable support to a small 

number of post-16 students with special educational needs and/or disabilities 
(SEND).  This has included transporting students either in council fleet vehicles or 
by contracting private hire firms to transport students. Analysis of Nov 2015 showed 
that 288 students were in receipt of such support. The support is provided on a 
discretionary basis, as the statutory duty to provide any transport assistance ceases 
when children complete their statutory education at age 16.  
 

3.11 It is projected that £1.7m will be spent on this discretionary transport assistance 
during 2015/16, largely through directly providing taxi journeys and in-house fleet 
vehicle support. In the context of a rising population the provision of assistance in 
this way is not only restrictive and limiting for families, it is also increasingly 
unsustainable.  

 
3.12 Whilst it is essentially a parent’s responsibility to make their own transport 

arrangements, the authority has continued to provide this substantial discretionary 
assistance. It remains an intention to retain a discretionary transport offer which will 
empower families and meet our Best Council aspirations, whilst delivering 
efficiencies. This will be consistent with our aspirations set out in the Children & 
Young People’s Plan and the underpinning principles of Restorative Practice. A 
central objective of the Children & Young People’s plan is to create a new social 
contract between the state and our citizens so that the emphasis of all our practice 
is on working restoratively with families, rather than doing things for them or to 
them. This involves high support and high challenge so that families find their own 
lasting solutions to the challenges they face. In addition to offering choice and 
flexibility, it develops life skills and independence and equips families with the 
resilience to move forward successfully. 

 
3.13 In keeping with this strategic aim, in recent years Children’s Services has 

significantly stepped up the ITT scheme. This involves providing a young person 
with a travel buddy to lead students through a personalised training programme, 
which gives young people the skills needed to travel independently on public 
transport. Approximately 450 young people have successfully achieved travel 
independence, supporting our ambitions in the Best City Plan to reduce the number 
of 16 to 18-year-olds that are not in education, employment or training.  

 
3.14 In addition, closer working between Children’s Transport, Children’s Social Work 

Service and the Complex Needs service has seen a considerable fall in the number 
of children looked after and children with complex needs relying on the council to 
organise their transport. This has been achieved by ensuring closer working with 
foster carers and families to empower them to make their own arrangements, in the 
process reducing spending by over £1m per year. 

 
3.15 A new contract for the provision of ITT is currently being tendered, and in 

partnership with ASC the offer will be further extended to adults with additional 
learning needs in receipt of transport assistance. The purpose of this is to support 
ASC in improving outcomes for older travellers. This will also extend the reach of 

Page 381



 

8 
 

the programme to those young people who transfer to ASC services but were not 
ready to enter ITT whilst in further education, or who may be retrained for new 
journeys when transferring to ASC services. On this basis, it is expected that the 
new ITT contract will improve outcomes for a further group of young people and 
help to reduce demand for ASC transport. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.16 We know from parents themselves there are occasions when the most efficient 
arrangements that can be put in place by the council seem illogical. We therefore 
know there are opportunities to give parents freedom to do things more efficiently. 
Whilst CEL is shown to be a highly skilled and flexible transport provider, 
opportunities are restricted to arrange transport more efficiently than families could 
for themselves. For example, neighbours with similar needs who live a few doors 
apart but who receive different types of assistance have no insight into our 
contractual and fleet arrangements, our scheduling demands or our safeguarding 
duties, and we also recognise there will be many occasions when parents could 
work together to make their own arrangements. 

 
3.17 An example of the flexibility and restorative approach that is often taken is the 

informal arrangement to pay parents of eligible children across all age ranges a 50p 
per mile mileage allowance. This is payable where a child or young person is 
eligible for transport assistance but parents request the opportunity to make their 
own transport arrangements. Such requests are agreed where it is efficient for the 
authority to do so and as of November 2015 there were 40 families benefiting from 
this. We know therefore, that there are clear opportunities for families to efficiently 
take control of their own transport arrangements as an alternative to the council 
providing it for them. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

‘Vicki’ had completed travel training whilst in Further Education but was unable to 
continue travelling independently after leaving college. Having built closer working links 
with Adults Social Care, Children’s Transport were able to give Vicki some extra travel 
training for a longer, more complicated journey using two buses. This meant she could 
reach a work placement and do an NVQ in catering. It has given her even more 
independence and broadened her social skills, and she’s now aiming for a job in the 
catering industry.  
 
Vicki has told us, “I love ITT and have done 2 different journeys now, one to college and 
one to work. I can walk to the bus station by myself too… and I like it now because my 
mum has given me my own house key so I can let myself in at home if she is running 
late, I am very proud of myself” 
 
Vicki’s mum: “Her confidence has grown so much since participating in ITT. This is a 
wonderful programme. The buddy was brilliant; she was patient, committed and always 
highly professional even when Vicki was being stubborn. We just wish we knew about the 
buddy scheme years ago and would certainly recommend it to others” 

Page 382



 

9 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.18 It is now intended that we prepare a transport offer that gives parents choice and 

flexibility to implement their own lasting solutions to their children’s post-16 transport 
needs, instead of having transport provided for them. 

 
3.19 Building on previous successes, new proposals have been developed on which it is 

proposed that consultation takes place in order to understand the possible impact 
on young people and their families. Our aim is to consult on ways in which we could 
provide any necessary transport assistance: 

 
a) In the least restrictive way 
b) In a way that promotes greater transport independence for families 
c) In a way that promotes greater self-determination among families in respect 

 of transport when making post-16 educational choices 
d) In a way that means transport arrangements are made with families, rather 

 being something that is done for them 
e) In a way that reduces dependence on the authority for providing transport. 

 
3.20 Several options for an amended transport offer for students with SEND have been 

considered and discounted and do not form part of the proposals intended for 
consultation for the reasons set out below.  

 
3.21 Consideration has been given to raising charges to parents as a contribution to the 

cost of providing transport. The charges considered were equal to the cost of one or 
two weekly travel passes, dependent on whether a student would need a passenger 
assistant when being transported. It was considered reasonable to explore the 
setting of fees at this level as they are the public transport costs mainstream 
students would need to find, so post-16 SEND students would not be incurring more 
costs than their age peers.  This option has now been discounted as, whilst it could 
generate savings of up to £330,000, it would place additional demand on the 
administration of the relevant services. There would also be the risk of some 
families defaulting on payments and drawing the council into other protracted 
proceedings and potentially threatening the continuity of a learner’s education. 
These options were also incompatible with aims set out in the Best Council Plan, 
the Children & Young People’s Plan (CYPP), and do not represent a restorative 
approach. 

 
3.22 Other options considered centred upon creating an offer for students of 6th-form age 

and a different offer for students above 6th-form age at 19-25, including a blended 

‘Beth’ (5) attends a primary school about 1.5 miles from home. Her mother has become 
very poorly over the last 12 months and is no longer able to take her child to school. As 
mum is not well enough to be left home alone Beth’s father is also unable to walk to 
school with her. Under these exceptional circumstances transport assistance was agreed. 
Passenger transport were able to reschedule an existing minibus run for the morning 
journey but had to go out to tender for a private hire vehicle to make the afternoon trip. 
The cheapest quote for the short journey, which needed a passenger assistant, was £20 
per day until the end of term. Following a conversation with the parents it was agreed that 
a personal transport budget would be awarded until the end of the term. This allows the 
parents to make their own arrangements (achieving a saving to the council of around 
40%) while they make arrangements for their children to attend a nearer school from next 

Page 383



 

10 
 

range of ‘parent to pay’ contributions as above. The cost of administering these 
options, the risks outlined in the previous paragraph, and the fact these options did 
not meet the aims of the CYPP or Restorative Practice led to these options also 
being disregarded.  

3.23 The Children and Families Act (2014) requires local authorities to offer a personal 
budget and direct payment to parents (or young people) to meet their assessed 
needs and outcomes as detailed in a Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP). This 
has required Children’s Services to consider cashable alternatives to the direct 
provision of transport. 

3.24 Consideration is therefore now being given to consulting on a set of options to 
provide Personal Transport Budgets (PTB’s). Each of these options are alternatives 
to  Passenger Transport organising and providing transport for families, and would 
involve families instead finding their own transport solutions assisted by a cash 
PTB. 

 
3.25 The first option, a Cost Equivalent option, would be an award of the equivalent cost 

of one or two Metro passes, dependent on whether a student would need 
accompanying on their journey. The value of such an award would be £880 - £1,160 
per year. Such awards would be an extension of the ITT offer whereby young 
people who learn to make their own way to their learning setting are provided with a 
weekly travel pass by the authority, and the offer of an additional amount equal to a 
weekly adult pass would enable parents to accompany those children unable to 
complete ITT. Whilst it would not be an expectation that personal transport budgets 
be used to purchase weekly passes, the budget is designed to reflect the fact that 
these are the public transport costs mainstream students would need to pay; 
however, this would be an amount paid to parents of students with SEND rather 
than an amount they would need to find from their household budget. This option 
would generate sustainable savings of over £1m. 

 
3.26 Consideration is also being given to the provision of a PTB comprising the offer of a 

mileage allowance to parents. Analysis of November 2015 indicates that an award 
of a personal transport budget to families of £1 per mile would also generate 
savings of £1m. In this scenario, the personal transport budget for a student making 
the average the average journey of 6.5 miles would be in the region of £2,500 per 
year.  

 
3.27 A further option under consideration is a ‘banding’ option that takes into account the 

differing levels of need of students and the opportunity this would give parents to 
make their own arrangements in a more cost effective way. Because this would also 
result in Passenger Transport no longer directly providing transport the bands would 
be established through a one-off assessment of current spending and used as a 
benchmark in future years. The setting of bands is based on a basic starting point 
that the current cost of providing transport is broadly related to level of need e.g: 

 
 Children with the lowest level of need have more learning settings available 

to them (therefore shorter journeys) and may be supervised by a shared 
escort rather than needing a one-to-one escort. 

 Some children need one-to-one escorts e.g. because of behaviour 
 Some children need a medical escort 

Page 384



 

11 
 

 Some children need a (more expensive) wheelchair accessible vehicle 
 Some children need to travel longer distances because a higher level of need 

means they have to travel further to reach somewhere that can meet those 
needs. 

 
3.28 Establishing a set of bands for the award of PTB’s would involve a detailed analysis, 

possibly on a case by case review of current packages, prior to and/or during 
consultation. This detailed analysis would assess the varying costs associated with 
the different transport solutions put in place to meet the differing needs bullet-
pointed above. The PTB’s subsequently awarded would reflect the fact that parents 
are in a position to find their own solutions more efficiently than through the 
Authority directly providing it for them. This option also has the potential to generate 
sustainable savings of £1m. A summary of all options considered is at appendix 1 
and an example of a banded package, for illustration, is at Appendix 2. 

 
4. Corporate Considerations 

 
4.1 Consultation and Engagement  

 
4.1.1 A full consultation exercise will take place during January – April 2016 and an 

outline of the process, items for consideration and summary timetable are contained 
at appendix 3. 
 

4.1.2 A Children & Families Scrutiny Working Group has been convened, and an initial 
meeting has taken place. A broad discussion about the proposals was held and 
advice & support in respect of approaching a consultation exercise was provided by 
the group. Particular recommendations of the working group were noted for 
consideration in the consultation process, including: 
 

 The appropriate involvement of young people 
 Learning the lessons of previous consultation in terms increasing the reach 

of consultation 
 Securing the support of a range of agencies in maximising consultation reach 

and effective communications 
 A focus on the possible impact on those with the highest level of need 
 Identifying avenues through which to minimise possible impact on other 

services 
 

4.1.3 The working group will be reconvened during the consultation process. 
 

4.1.4 For each of the options under consideration one of the consultation aims would be 
to gain an understanding of the impact on different families, taking into account that 
students have a wide range of different needs and abilities, and that journey lengths 
vary between less than one mile to nearly 20 miles.   
 

4.1.5 The consultation exercise will include an assessment of the possible impact on 
students and families. In addition, in keeping with our values and our commitments 
within the CYPP, we would aim to incorporate other proposals provided by families 
during consultation. We would also seek the views of partner agencies within and 
outside the council to consider the impact on other services. 

Page 385



 

12 
 

 
4.1.6 Any subsequent policy change would be phased in and we would communicate with 

families well in advance to ensure that parents had sufficient time to plan ahead 
when thinking about their child’s transition from statutory education to post-16 
education. We would aim to secure views through consultation about the impact 
and management of transition through education milestones. 

4.2 Equality and Diversity/Cohesion and Integration (EDCI)  

4.2.1 An equality screening form has been completed which is attached as Appendix 4.  
The screening has identified the need to carry out a full Equality Impact Assessment 
(EIA). The full EIA will help to inform the necessary steps to ensure that the Council 
complies with its equality duties. 

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan 

4.3.1 The proposals contribute to the Best Council aspiration of being an enterprising and 
efficient council; one that is economically successful whilst retaining a 
compassionate discretionary transport offer for Post-16 SEND students.  They will 
increase the proportion of people who use services who have control over their daily 
lives.   

 
4.3.2 The proposals meet with our aspiration in the Children and Young People’s Plan 

(C&YPP) to create a new social contract between the state and our citizens so that 
the emphasis of all our practice is on working with children and families, rather 
than doing things to them or for them.  The proposals present an opportunity for 
families find their own lasting solutions to the challenges they face, and to be 
equipped with the resilience to move forward successfully 

 
4.3.3 Ensuring the continued efficient use of resources as outlined will ensure that 

investment in a range of other services for children with complex needs may be 
retained, such as contracted provision and Direct Payments for short breaks 
activities and individual support work. 

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1  The current total expenditure on discretionary post 16 SEN transport is 
approximately £1.7m. It is not considered that this expenditure continues to 
represent the best use of resources or value for money in context of the Best 
Council Plan.  
 

4.4.2 As a result of the delay in implementing previously planned changes any future 
savings will now be delayed until phasing in of any new policy may commence in 
the 2016/17 academic year. Savings will continue to be made through alternative 
service provision such as Independent Travel Training 
 

4.4.3 The impact of demographic growth is already being felt in a growing demand for 
statutory transport provision among children of statutory school age; this increases 
the need to deliver a more efficient post-16 SEND transport offer now, in order to 
sustain that offer into the future. 

Page 386



 

13 
 

4.4.4 Rigorous gate-keeping procedures will continue to be used to check that all 
expenditure in this area is legitimate and proportionate to need.  

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In 

4.5.1 Whilst there is no statutory requirement for the provisions of post-16 SEND 
transport the authority has historically made a generous discretionary arrangement. 
This does not mean that the authority cannot change the provision.  The authority is 
mindful of the impact changes may have. As part of the process there would need 
to be an assessment of the likely impact change would have on learners wishing to 
continue in post-16 education. We must be mindful of the Authority’s public sector 
equality duty. Consultation is key as well as the necessary equality impact 
assessment.  

4.5.2 This report is subject to call in. 

4.6 Risk Management 

4.6.1 Previous experience of implementing change in other areas of discretionary 
mainstream transport assistance suggest that changing the offer to post-16 SEND 
students will be unpopular.  

4.6.2 There is a risk that changing the offer of transport assistance for post-16 SEND 
students will result in a change in the numbers participating in education. This risk is 
reduced by the increased ITT offer which has been functioning at an increasing 
level during the last 12 months having successfully been scaled up. This will ensure 
that every child who has the potential to complete ITT will have the opportunity to do 
so. With work currently underway to retender the ITT Buddy contract, our ITT will 
extend to students transferring to ASC services who were not ready to travel train 
whilst in post-16 education or who need a small amount of retraining for new 
journeys. 

4.6.3 It is currently the case that after completing studies at 6th form age the number of 
students continuing in Further Education begins to diminish year-on-year as they 
and their parents make new choices about their futures leading up to their 25th 
birthday. Analysis of November 2015 shows that just 55 post-19 students have 
transport provided for them, whilst approximately 230 are in the 16-19 age band. As 
students move on from 6th form some of them are likely to enter ASC services and 
receive transport assistance to alternative settings. This risk is mitigated by the 
opportunities offered by ITT and the retention of some level of discretionary support.   

4.6.4 Whereas it is intended to increase choice and flexibility for parents, it is possible 
that some students may transfer at an earlier age into ASC services. Whilst it is 
important that we increasingly move towards supporting families to fulfil their 
responsibilities in finding their own transport solutions, in the process removing 
reliance upon the authority to do it for them, attendance in Further Education needs 
to remain a viable option for young people wherever possible. This will be taken into 
consideration during consultation. 

4.6.5 To further minimise the impact on ASC transport, Children’s Services have 
developed a closer working relationship in the management of ITT during the last 
year. Children’s Transport is now in the process of retendering the contract for 

Page 387



 

14 
 

travel buddies for the coming 3-5 years. The new contract will extend the offer of 
travel training to younger recipients of ASC services, in the process reducing the 
cost of transport for ASC and simultaneously increasing the availability of ITT for 
learners right through the 16-25 age range and beyond. This close collaboration 
between the two services will ensure that all those with potential for independent 
travel during the transition from childhood to adulthood will have the opportunity to 
receive it. 

5 Conclusions 

5.1 There is an aim to introduce changes to the children’s transport policy for post-16 
SEND students. It is intended to extend choice and flexibility whilst spending money 
wisely and retaining a compassionate offer. 

5.2 It was necessary to pause a previous public consultation on future post-16 SEND 
transport policy, pending the preparation of new proposals for consultation. 

5.3 New proposals have now been prepared for consultation. These proposals each 
involve ceasing to arrange and provide transport for students and to instead work 
restoratively and empower families to find their own lasting transport solutions 
through the provision of a personal transport budget. 

5.3 Existing SEN transport policy will be preserved pending the preparation of a new 
policy to be submitted for the approval of a future Executive Board. 

6. Recommendations 

6.1 The Executive Board is asked to approve the recommendations outlined below: 

6.1.2 To note the completion of the review of special needs passenger transport 
within the authority which is deployed by CEL on behalf of Children’s 
Services and Adult Social Care. 

6.1.3 To note the opportunities for further promoting inclusion in travel options 
through ITT, while reducing costs and dependency. 

6.1.4 To note the demographic pressures relating to the increase in the number of 
children with an EHC plan (which replaced the statement of Special 
Educational Needs.) 

6.1.5  Agree that a new consultation takes place during January-April 2016 to 
assess the likely impact on young people and families of new proposals. 
Consultation will centre on a range of options, each of which may be subject 
to a final round of detailed analysis of the granular data prior to consultation 
commencing. The following options for consultation will involve ceasing the 
direct organisation and provision of transport for post-16 SEND students, and 
instead offer:  

• A personal transport budget equivalent to the cost of one or two Metro 
passes, dependent on whether a student would need accompanying 
on their journey 

Page 388



 

15 
 

• A personal transport budget comprising the offer of a mileage 
allowance to parents, typically in the range of 50p - £1 per mile 

• A personal transport budget based on a rate-banding system that 
takes into account the differing levels of need of students and the 
opportunity this would give parents to make their own arrangements in 
a more cost effective way. 

 

6.1.6 Agree that the findings of the consultation be used, if appropriate, in the 
preparation of a new Post-16 SEND transport offer. It is currently planned for 
this to be presented to a future Executive Board for approval anticipated to 
be in July 2016 

6.1.7 Note the officer responsible for implementation is the Head of 
Commissioning and Contracting. 

7. Background documents1 

7.1 None 

                                            
1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works. 

Page 389



 

16 
 

Appendix 1 

 

Option 
Projected 
Saving 

Summary of Considerations 

1: Disregarded as an Option: No change to 
policy 

£0  Does not support Best Council Plan 

2:  Disregarded as an Option: 

 Continue to provide current levels of 
assistance 

 Charge each student the equivalent cost 
of one or two metro cards, depending on 
whether they need accompanying on 
journeys 

£173,000 ‐ 
£337,000 

 Would require administrative 
resources 

 Risk of default and subsequent 
action needed 

 Does not empower families to 
make their own decisions 

3: Disregarded as an Option:  

 Retain existing support for SEND 
students of 6th form age but  

 stop providing transport  for students 
above 6th form age (post‐19) and offer a 
personal budget equivalent to the cost of 
one or two Metro cards instead, 
depending on whether they need 
accompanying on journeys 

£320,000 ‐ 
£400,000 

 Would maintain a level of 
discretionary assistance for all 
Post‐16 SEND students above that 
offered to mainstream students 

 Empowers families with post‐19 
students to make their own 
decisions  

 Incompatible with Best Council 
Plan and C&YP Plan 

4: For Consultation 

 Stop providing transport for all post‐16 
students  

 Provide a personal budget equivalent to 
the cost of one or two Metro cards, 
depending on whether they need 
accompanying on journeys 

£1.3m ‐ £1.5m 

 Would maintain a level of 
discretionary assistance for all 
Post‐16 SEND students above that 
offered to mainstream students 

 Empowers families to make their 
own decisions in keeping with  the 
aims of the C&YP Plan and 
Restorative working 

5: For Consultation 

 Stop Providing transport for all students  

 Award a mileage allowance of 50p ‐ £1 
per mile  

 £1m ‐ £1.35m 
 

 Would maintain a level of 
discretionary assistance for all 
Post‐16 SEND students above that 
offered to mainstream students 

 Empowers families to make their 
own decisions in keeping with  the 
aims of the C&YP Plan and 
Restorative working 

6: For Consultation 

 Stop providing transport for all post‐16 
SEND students 

 Introduce a rate‐banding system that 
takes into account the differing levels of 
need of different students and the 
opportunity for parents to make their 
own arrangements in a more cost 
effective way 

£1m 
(see appendix 2 

for an 
example model) 

 

 Would maintain a needs‐based 
level of discretionary assistance for 
all Post‐16 SEND students above 
that offered to mainstream 
students 

 Empowers families to make their 
own decisions in keeping with  the 
aims of the C&YP Plan and 
Restorative working 

Page 390



 

17 
 

Appendix 2 – Banding Option 
 

The potential for awarding a Personal Transport Budget (PTB) that takes some account of 
individual need. This is based on the premise that the current cost of providing transport is 
broadly related to level of need. Typical examples include: 
 

 Some children may travel in a shared vehicle 
 Some children may need some supervision when travelling in a shared vehicle 
 Some children need an ‘enhanced’ escort e.g. because of behaviour or medical 

needs 
 Some children need one-to-one arrangements with additional support 

 
Process: 
 

1. A one-off exercise to assess the current cost of different types of transport provision 
to use as a benchmark for future years 

2. Stop providing transport 
3. Award a Personal Transport Budget (PTB) based on a rate-banding system that 

takes into account the differing levels of need of students and the opportunity this 
would give parents to make their own arrangements in a more cost effective way. 

 

Band Groupings 
No. in 
Cohort 

In House Unit 
Trip Cost 

Current 
Total Cost 

Rate Banded 
PTB 

Future Cost 

      £ £ £   £ 

A Driver and Vehicle 125 11.29     550,410 
 

1,750   
 

       
218,750  

B 
Driver , vehicle and 
escort 

90 17.02 
     

597,525  

 
2,750 

 

       
247,500  

C 
Driver, vehicle , 
Enhanced escort or 
Nurse 

59 19.93 
     

458,681  

 
3,250 

 

       
191,750  

D 
One to one transport 
(assume enhanced 
escort) 

13 21.93     111,172 
 

4,000 
 

   52,000  

  287  1,717,788  710,000 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 391



 

18 
 

Appendix 3 

Outline for Post-16 SEND Transport Consultation 

1.0  Key considerations: 

1.1 We will ensure that we are as clear as possible on what decisions those 
consulted can affect. This will include where are we still to complete further 
analysis on overall delivery options, or details of delivery, or ways to mitigate 
impact 

1.2 We will be clear on what information we need to help us make those 
decisions. In this instance it will be information on the likely impact and 
viability of each delivery option, from the perspective of each consultee. 

1.3 We will be clear who the stakeholders are – who we need to consult with – 
and their roles. It is intended that partner organisations such as SILCs and 
any organised representative parent/families groups will be engaged before 
service users (within an overall consultation period), for the following 
reasons: 

A. To benefit from their expert views on our proposals, allowing revision 
prior to consulting service users 

B. To demonstrate our values in action, of working with partners and 
listening.  

C. To design the best ways to engage service users, with the active 
support of partners’ networks and influence 

1.4 We will be clear what other high-level delivery options we have already 
considered and discarded, with brief explanation why this has been the case 
(as in Appendix 1 of the report). Recent Supreme Court rulings on 
consultation processes make this a vital component of the process. 

1.5 We will ensure the consultation and all supporting information is accessible to 
all consultees, by offering a range of self-service or supported ways to take 
part.  

1.6 We will allow open space in the consultation for service users to offer their 
own refinements to each delivery option, but be clear that whilst entirely new 
proposals may be incorporated into proposals they may problematic to 
consider exclusively in isolation.  

1.7 We will be clear from the outset how all consultees will receive feedback on 
the overall findings and proposed actions arising from the consultation. 

1.8 We will consider if there are opportunities for ongoing involvement of service 
users in the design of mitigation once we start to implement the agreed 
delivery model.  

Page 392



 

19 
 

1.9 We will consider if there are advantages of using a skilled independent third 
party to deliver aspects on this consultation. While there is likely to be a cost, 
this may further increase confidence in the objectivity and impartiality of the 
consultation.  

2.0 Advice provided by the Children and Families Scrutiny Working Group has 
been noted and will additionally be incorporated into the consultation 
process, with particular reference to: 

 The appropriate involvement of young people 

 Learning the lessons of previous consultation in terms increasing the 
reach of consultation 

 Securing the support of a range of agencies in maximising 
consultation reach and effective communications 

 A focus on the possible impact on those with the highest level of need 

 Identifying avenues through which to minimise possible impact on 
other services 

 
2.1 A further Scrutiny Working Group will be convened during the consultation 

process 

3.0 Proposed outline timetable for consultation. 

   

W/C 18th January 
2016 

CONSULTATION OPENS 
Begin consultation with key partners to refine detail of Delivery 
Options and gain support for delivery of consultation to service users 

W/C 1st February  Finalise content of letters, info and questions to families 

W/C 8th February  Begin 8‐week consultation with young people and families – ensure 
all are contacted on Day 1. 

Sunday 3rd April  
 

CONSULTATION CLOSES  

End Friday 8th 
April 

Collation of survey feedback 

11th April – 29th 
April 

Analyse feedback, write recommendations into Exec board report, 
Complete EIA 

  Time allowed for slippage additional analysis 

Mid June  Submission of Draft Exec Board Report etc 

Mid July  Exec Board Meeting (Proposed) 

Late July  Call in period 

Early Aug  Update Webpage and contact consultees with outcome 

Monday 7th Sept  Start of new academic year – reminder of one year notice of changes 

  Changes needed to admissions booklet  

   

 

Page 393



 

20 
 

4.0 Possible structure of consultation lines of enquiry 

4.1 Reaction to Delivery Option 1 
 

a) Level of empowerment offered 
b) Impact on child  
c) Impact on work patterns/lifestyle 
d) Impact on finances 
e) Other impacts  
f) Suggestions for revision or mitigation (not replacement) of Option 
 

4.2  Reaction to Delivery Option 2 - as for 3.1 
 

4.3  Reaction to Delivery Option 3 - as for 3.1 
 
4.4 Overall preferred Delivery Option 

4.5 Other relevant Comments 

4.6 Equality monitoring 

4.7 Invitation to stay involved 

Page 394



 

21 
 

Appendix 4 
 
 

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and Integration Screening 

Page 395



 

22 
 

As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, diversity, 

cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the process 
and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines relevance for 
all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. Completed at the earliest 
opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has already 
been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate:  Strategy & Resources and 
Children’s Services 

Service area:  Civic Enterprise Leeds 
and Children’s Transport 

Lead person:  Julie Meakin / Sue 
Rumbold 

Contact number:  39 50074 / 37 83634 

 
1. Title: Children’s Services transport policy - discretionary post-16 SEND transport 
consultation process 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
The provisions of the Children’s Services transport policy as they apply to 
discretionary post-16 SEND transport assistance.  
 
It is intended to consult the public on possible alternative methods of providing 
transport assistance. Currently, where post-16 students with special educational 
needs and/or disabilities (SEND) are eligible for discretionary transport assistance, 
the council provides this transport in the majority of cases. It is intended to consult on 
a range of options which centre on the provision of a personal transport budget 
(PTB) to empower parents and young people to find their own lasting transport 
solutions as an alternative to the council doing this for them. 
 
 

3. Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 

 x  

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 
 

Page 396



 

23 
 

relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation. Also those areas that 
impact on or relate to equality: tackling poverty and improving health and well-being. 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

x  

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

x  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

x  

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 x 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

x  

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion 
and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 

 
 

Page 397



 

24 
 

5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

Jan – April 2016 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

April 2016 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

John Bradshaw, Children’s 
Transport Policy Lead 

 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Sue Rumbold 
 
 
Julie Meakin  

Chief Officer Partnership 
Development ＆ Business Support 
 
Chief Officer Civic Enterprise 
Leeds 
 

 

Date screening completed  
 

 
7. Publishing 
Though all key decisions are required to give due regard to equality the council only 
publishes those related to Executive Board, Full Council, Key Delegated 
Decisions or a Significant Operational Decision.  
 

A copy of this equality screening should be attached as an appendix to the decision 
making report:  

 Governance Services will publish those relating to Executive Board and Full 
Council. 

 The appropriate directorate will publish those relating to Delegated Decisions 
and Significant Operational Decisions.  

 A copy of all other equality screenings that are not to be published should be 
sent to equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk  for record. 

 

Complete the appropriate section below with the date the report and attached 
screening was sent: 
For Executive Board or Full Council – sent to 
Governance Services  
 

Date sent:23/11/2015 

For Delegated Decisions or Significant Operational 
Decisions – sent to appropriate Directorate 
 

Date sent: 
 
 

All other decisions – sent to  
equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk 
 

Date sent: 

 
 
 
 

Page 398



Report of Director of Children’s Services / Deputy Chief Executive / Director of City 
Development

Report to Executive Board

Date: 16 December 2015

Subject:  Outcome of consultation to increase primary school places 
in Pudsey/Swinnow

Are specific electoral Wards affected?   Yes   No

If relevant, name(s) of Ward(s)

Pudsey 

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and 
integration?

 Yes   No

Is the decision eligible for Call-In?   Yes   No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?   Yes  No

If relevant, Access to Information Procedure Rule number:

Appendix number:

Summary of main issues 

This report contains details of proposals brought forward to meet the local authority’s duty 
to ensure sufficiency of school places. The changes that are proposed form prescribed 
alterations under the Education and Inspections Act 2006. The School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013 and 
accompanying statutory guidance set out the process which must be followed when 
making such changes.  The statutory process to make these changes varies according the 
nature of the change and status of the school and the process followed in respect of these 
proposals is detailed in this report. The decision maker in these cases remains the local 
authority. 

Consultation on a proposal to expand Park Spring (Community) Primary School from a 
capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils by increasing the admission number from 45 to 60 with 
effect from September 2017 took place from 8 June to 3 July 2015.  At its meeting on 23 
September 2015 the Executive Board gave permission for the local authority, as proposer 
to publish a Statutory Notice in respect of the proposals.  The statutory notice period 
commenced on 5 October 2015 and concluded on 9 November 2015, and provided the 
opportunity for respondents to make representations regarding the proposals.  A final 
decision must be made within two months of expiry of the notice, therefore by 9 January 
2016. This report gives details about the representations received and seeks a final 
decision from Executive Board.

Report author:  Viv Buckland
Tel:  51344

Page 399

Agenda Item 19



Recommendations

Executive Board is asked to:

 Approve the expansion of Park Spring Primary School from a capacity of 315 
pupils to 420 pupils, increasing the admission number from 45 to 60 with effect 
from September 2017.

 Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Capacity Planning and 
Sufficiency Lead.

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 This report contains details of proposals brought forward to meet the local 
authority’s duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. This report describes the 
outcome of a statutory notice regarding proposals to expand primary school 
provision at Park Spring and seeks a final decision on these proposals.  

2 Background information

2.1 At its meeting in September 2015 the Executive Board considered the outcome 
of consultation on the proposal to expand Park Spring Primary School from a 
capacity of 315 pupils to 420 pupils, increasing the admission number from 45 to 
60 with effect from September 2017

2.2 Executive Board gave permission to publish a statutory notice on this proposal, 
which was brought forward under Education and Inspections Act 2006 and in 
accordance with the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained 
Schools) (England) Regulations 2013. The notice was published on 5 October 
2015 and expired on 9 November 2015. A final decision must be made within 2 
months of the expiry of the notice, therefore by 9 January 2016. The Executive 
Board is the decision maker for these proposals 

2.3 Brief notices were published in the Yorkshire Evening Post and placed on the 
school gates. The full proposal was placed on the school website and council 
website. Awareness of the publication of the statutory notice was raised by the 
school through an email to parents. Stakeholders had the opportunity to make 
comments in writing, by letter or by email. 

3 Main issues

3.1 No representations were received during the Statutory Notice period.

3.2 During the consultation period there were 30 written responses received and one 
response submitted via Talking Point. In total there were 30 responses in support 
of the proposal with one response neither supporting nor opposing it. 

Page 400



3.3 The concerns raised during consultation were addressed in the report to 
Executive Board in September 2015.

3.4 It is proposed that existing modular accommodation, which has reached the end 
of its design life, will be demolished to make way for a purpose-built 
accommodation block. The work would also include the development of a new 
access point onto the school site which would alleviate current highways 
congestion along Wellstone Avenue.  

3.5 Expansion of this school is proposed because the projected numbers of children 
requiring school places in the Pudsey/Swinnow area is consistently higher than 
the number of places available. Additional places are required in the area to 
ensure sufficient primary school places are available for local children.

3.6 The governing body continues to support the expansion and to engage in 
conversations regarding the process of planning the additional accommodation 
which would be required, should the proposal proceed. No other information has 
emerged to suggest that the proposal should not proceed.

4  Corporate Considerations

4.1 Consultation and Engagement

4.1.1 Consultation was managed in accordance with all relevant legislation and local 
good practice. The notice was publicised in the Yorkshire Evening Post and 
copies were placed on all the school entrances. The full proposal was placed on 
the school and council websites.

4.1.2 Stakeholders had the opportunity to make comments in writing, by letter or by 
email.

4.1.3 Ward members were formally consulted during the public consultation stage and 
were offered the opportunity to comment at statutory notice phase. Ward 
members continue to give their support to the proposals.

 4.2 Equality and Diversity / Cohesion and Integration

4.2.1 The EDCI screening forms have been completed and were attached as an 
Appendix to the original Executive Board report of 23 September 2015. They are 
therefore not attached to this report.

4.3 Council policies and Best Council Plan

4.3.1 The proposals are being brought forward to meet the Council’s statutory duty to 
ensure there are sufficient school places for all the children in Leeds. Providing 
places close to where children live allows improved accessibility to local and 
desirable school places, and thus reduces the risk of non-attendance.

4.3.2       The proposal contributes to the city’s aspiration to be the Best Council and the 
Best City in which to grow up; a Children Friendly City. The delivery of pupil 

Page 401



places through the Basic Need Programme is one of the baseline entitlements of 
a Child Friendly City, by creating good quality local places. A good quality school 
place contributes to the achievement of targets within the Children and Young 
People’s Plan such as our obsession to ‘improve behaviour, attendance and 
achievement’. It is therefore important that when bringing any proposal forward, 
there is a degree of certainty that any change would not have a negative impact 
on the teaching and learning in the school. Park Spring Primary School was rated 
‘Good’ by Ofsted at its most recent inspection. 

4.3.3 The proposal contributes towards the objectives of the Best Council Plan 2015-
2020. The proposal aims to offer choice and diversity for local families and is 
promoted by responding to the needs of communities, by delivering additional 
school places in the areas where families need them. Meeting these expectations 
while demonstrating the five values underpinning all we do is key to the basic 
need programme. 

4.4 Resources and value for money 

4.4.1 An indicative budget for the proposed Park Spring Primary School expansion 
project is estimated at £3.9m based on a high-level calculation that considers the 
amount of new build, external works and associated fees. Once the feasibility 
stage is complete and moves towards the detailed design phase the budget will 
be realigned to reflect the design freeze or pre-tender estimate which will take 
account of site investigations and survey information. To facilitate the proposed 
expansion of Park Spring Primary School some existing modular 
accommodation, which has reached the end of its design life, will be demolished 
to make way for a purpose-built accommodation block. The work would also 
include the development of a new access point onto the school site which would 
alleviate current highways congestion along Wellstone Avenue. During the 
proposed works, temporary classroom accommodation would be provided some 
distance from the building works to support the continued delivery of the 
curriculum and allow a safe construction compound.

4.5 Legal Implications, Access to Information and Call In

4.5.1 The processes that have been and will be followed are in accordance with the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 as set out in the School Organisation 
(Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2007, and 
amended by School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) 
(England) Regulations 2013.

4.5.2  This report is subject to call in.

4.6   Risk Management

4.6.1 The statutory time limit for a final decision on the proposal detailed in this report 
is 9 January 2016. The proposals to increase primary provision in 
Pudsey/Swinnow have been brought forward in time to allow places to be 
delivered for 2017. Any significant change to the proposals at this stage would 
preclude the delivery of places for 2017, and the authority’s ability to meet its 

Page 402



statutory duty for sufficiency of school places in the short term may also be at 
risk.

4.6.2 A detailed risk register would be established and would be maintained for the 
project, if approved. It is necessary to progress feasibility design work at risk 
during the statutory notice phase; however the decision to proceed to detailed 
design stages would not commence until a final decision has been made.  Any 
delay to the statutory process would increase the risk of delayed delivery of the 
building solution or financial risk of abortive fees being incurred.

4.6.3 There is a corporate risk associated with failing to provide sufficient school places 
in good quality buildings that meet the needs of local communities.

5  Conclusions

5.1 Our ambition is to be the best city in the country. As a vibrant and successful city 
we will attract new families to Leeds, and making sure that we have enough 
school places for the children is one of our top priorities. These proposals have 
been brought forward to meet that need, and following the appropriate 
consultation we now seek to move them to the next stage. They would ensure 
that children in Leeds would have the best possible start to their learning, and so 
deliver our vision of a child friendly city.

5.2 The proposal to expand Park Spring Primary School is a strong one. It would 
provide additional school places for local children in the Pudsey/Swinnow area.  
No objections were raised at the statutory notice stage and the concerns raised 
at the consultation stage were addressed in the September report to Executive 
Board.

5.3 It is therefore recommended that the proposals be approved

6 Recommendations

6.1 Executive Board is asked to:

 Approve the expansion of Park Spring Primary School from a capacity of 315 
pupils to 420 pupils, increasing the admission number from 45 to 60 with 
effect from September 2017.

 Note the responsible officer for implementation is the Capacity Planning and 
Sufficiency Lead.

7 Background documents1

7.1 None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the Council’s website, 
unless they contain confidential or exempt information.  The list of background documents does not include 
published works.

Page 403



This page is intentionally left blank



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

1

 
As a public authority we need to ensure that all our strategies, policies, service and 
functions, both current and proposed have given proper consideration to equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration. 
 
A screening process can help judge relevance and provides a record of both the 
process and decision. Screening should be a short, sharp exercise that determines 
relevance for all new and revised strategies, policies, services and functions. 
Completed at the earliest opportunity it will help to determine: 

 the relevance of proposals and decisions to equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration.   

 whether or not equality, diversity, cohesion and integration is being/has 
already been considered, and 

 whether or not it is necessary to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Directorate: Children’s Services Service area: Capacity Planning and 

Sufficiency  
 

Lead person: Janet Carter 
 

Contact number: 2475793 

 
1. Title:  
Park Spring Primary School 
Is this a: 
 
     Strategy / Policy                    Service / Function                 Other 
                                                                                                                
 
 
If other, please specify 
Proposal to expand Park Spring Primary School from a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 
pupils with an increase in the admission number from 45 to 60 with effect from September 
2017. 
 
2. Please provide a brief description of what you are screening 
 
Proposal to expand Park Spring Primary School from a capacity of 315 pupils to 420 
pupils with an increase in the admission number from 45 to 60 with effect from 
September 2017. 
 
This will involve physically expanding the school. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and 
Integration Screening 

  X 

Page 405



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

2

3.  Relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 

All the council’s strategies/policies, services/functions affect service users, employees or 
the wider community – city wide or more local.  These will also have a greater/lesser 
relevance to equality, diversity, cohesion and integration.   
 
The following questions will help you to identify how relevant your proposals are. 
 
When considering these questions think about age, carers, disability, gender 
reassignment, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation and any other relevant 
characteristics (for example socio-economic status, social class, income, unemployment, 
residential location or family background and education or skills levels). 
 
Questions Yes No 
Is there an existing or likely differential impact for the different 
equality characteristics?  

 X 

Have there been or likely to be any public concerns about the 
policy or proposal? 

X  

Could the proposal affect how our services, commissioning or 
procurement activities are organised, provided, located and by 
whom? 

 X 

Could the proposal affect our workforce or employment 
practices? 

 X 

Does the proposal involve or will it have an impact on 
 Eliminating unlawful discrimination, victimisation and 

harassment 
 Advancing equality of opportunity 
 Fostering good relations 

 X 

 
If you have answered no to the questions above please complete sections 6 and 7 
 
If you have answered yes to any of the above and; 

 Believe you have already considered the impact on equality, diversity, 
cohesion and integration within your proposal please go to section 4. 

 Are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration within your proposal please go to section 5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 406



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

3

 
4. Considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and integration 
 
If you can demonstrate you have considered how your proposals impact on equality, 
diversity, cohesion and integration you have carried out an impact assessment.  
 
Please provide specific details for all three areas below (use the prompts for guidance). 

 How have you considered equality, diversity, cohesion and integration? 
(think about the scope of the proposal, who is likely to be affected, equality related 
information, gaps in information and plans to address, consultation and engagement 
activities (taken place or planned) with those likely to be affected) 
 
The proposal is to increase the number of places at Park Spring Primary School.  The 
demographics of the area were considered when working up the proposal as were 
projections and it was concluded that additional capacity in this area is required.  The 
types of schools in the area were also considered, to ensure we adhere to our legal duty 
of ensuring parents are offered choice and diversity. 
 
We consulted those affected by this proposal in June 2015, including parents, governors 
and staff of the school and nearby schools, Councillors and local residents.  All of those 
who responded who expressed a view (29 responses) supported the expansion of the 
school.   
 

 Key findings 
(think about any potential positive and negative impact on different equality 
characteristics, potential to promote strong and positive relationships between groups, 
potential to bring groups/communities into increased contact with each other, perception 
that the proposal could benefit one group at the expense of another) 
 
Age – if the proposal is agreed a further 15 reception places would be created in the 
Pudsey/Swinnow area from September 2017 onwards and the school would grow from 
reception upwards over a period of 7 years. 
Disability – any new accommodation would meet DDA guidelines 
Choice and diversity – the proposal would have a positive impact on promoting choice 
and diversity 
.  
 
 

 Actions 
(think about how you will promote positive impact and remove/ reduce negative impact) 
 
If the proposal is taken forward, the extra places will be made available in reception from 
September 2017, parents will therefore have the option of applying for these places or 
choosing alternative schools. 
 
During the consultation period, all views and responses were considered equally. 
 

 
 
 

Page 407



EDCI Screening  Updated February 2011 
   
   

4

 
 
5.  If you are not already considering the impact on equality, diversity, cohesion and 
integration you will need to carry out an impact assessment. 
 
Date to scope and plan your impact assessment: 
 

 

Date to complete your impact assessment 
 

 

Lead person for your impact assessment 
(Include name and job title) 

 

 
 
6. Governance, ownership and approval 
Please state here who has approved the actions and outcomes of the screening 
Name Job title Date 
Darren Crawley 
 

Sufficiency Manager - 
Strategic 

7th Aug 2015 

 
 
7. Publishing 
This screening document will act as evidence that due regard to equality and diversity 
has been given. If you are not carrying out an independent impact assessment the 
screening document will need to be published. 
 
Please send a copy to the Equality Team for publishing 
 
Date screening completed 7th Aug 2015 
If relates to a Key Decision send to Corporate 
Governance 

20th Aug 2015 

Any other decision please send to Equality 
Team (equalityteam@leeds.gov.uk) 

 

 

Page 408


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Out of the Shadows - Time to Shine Project
	Time to Shine Appx B EDCI 19 11 15

	7 Telecare equipment for the Leeds Telecare Service 2015/16
	Telecare Appendix 1 EDCI 19 11 15

	8 Delivering the Better Lives Strategy Adult Social Care - BME Day Services
	Delivering Better Lives BME Report Appendix 1 261115
	Delivering Better Lives BME Report Appendix 2 EIA 261115

	9 Initial Budget Proposals for 2016/2017
	10 European Capital of Culture 2023 - Progress Report
	ECOC Report Appendix A 071215

	11 State of the City 2015: Driving Skills for the Manufacturing Sector
	12 Financial Health Monitoring 2015/16 - Month 7
	13 Safeguarding in Taxi & Private Hire Licensing - 12 Month Review of Progress
	14 Emerging 2016/17 Best Council Plan priorities, tackling poverty and deprivation
	15 Update on Cutting Carbon and Improving Air Quality Breakthrough Project
	Cutting Carbon Report Appendix EIA 271115

	16 Response to Sir David Higgins' decision about the HS2 station location
	HS2 Report Appendix 1 071215
	CS427 The Yorkshire Hub V8 Web
	The Yorkshire Hub
	Background
	Redeveloping Leeds Station
David Higgins, Chairman, HS2 Ltd
	Option 1
	Benefits and drawbacks
	Option 2
	Benefits and drawbacks
	Option 3
	Benefits and drawbacks
	Conclusion – David Higgins, Chairman, HS2 Ltd
	Creating national and city region transport hub in Leeds


	HS2 Report Appendix 2 071215.
	HS2 Report Plan A 071215
	HS2 Report Plan B 071215

	17 Leeds Parking Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) - Adoption
	Parking SPD Report Appendix 1 071215
	Parking SPD Report Appendix 2 071215
	Parking SPD Report Appendix 3 EIA 071215

	18 Children's Services Transport Policy: Consultation on Transport Assistance for  Post-16 Students with  Special Educational Needs and/or Disabilities (SEND)
	19 Outcome of Consultation to increase Primary School Places in Pudsey/Swinnow
	Park Spring Report Appendix EDCI 261115




